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Cautionary Note Concerning Forward-Looking Statements  

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, 
as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These forward 
looking statements are intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 
and speak only as of the time this Annual Report on Form 10-K was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. You can 
identify forward-looking statements by the use of forward-looking terminology such as, “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “intends,” “plans,” 
“should,” “could,” “seeks,” “pro forma,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “continues,” or other variations thereof, including their use in the negative, 
or by discussions of strategies, opportunities, plans or intentions. In addition, any statements that refer to projections of our future financial 
performance, trends in our businesses, or other characterizations of future events or circumstances are forward-looking statements. We have 
based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations based on information currently available to us and projections about 
future events and trends affecting the financial condition of our business. These Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and 
uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified. Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s actual results may differ materially from the 
results projected in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to:  
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  •   our ability to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for and market our products;  
  •   our ability to continue to grow sales revenue of our marketed products;  
  •   risks associated with doing business internationally;  
  •   our ability to generate and maintain sufficient cash resources to fund our business;  
  •   our ability to enter into strategic alliances with partners for manufacturing, development and commercialization;  
  •   efforts of our development partners;  
  •   the ability of our manufacturing partners to meet our timelines;  
  •   the ability to timely deliver product supplies to our customers;  
  •   our ability to identify new product candidates and to successfully integrate those product candidates into our operations;  
  •   the timing and/or results of pending or future clinical trials, and our reliance on contract research organizations;  
  •   our ability to protect our intellectual property rights;  
  •   competition in the marketplace for our drugs;  
  •   delay in approval of our products or new indications for our products by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA;  
  •   actions by the FDA and other regulatory agencies, including international agencies;  
  •   securing positive reimbursement for our products;  
  •   the impact of any product liability, or other litigation to which we are, or may become a party;  

  
•   the impact of legislative or regulatory reform of the healthcare industry and the impact of recently enacted healthcare reform 

legislation;  

  
•   the availability and price of acceptable raw materials and components from third-party suppliers, and their ability to meet our 

demands;  

  

•   our ability, and that of our suppliers, development partners, and manufacturing partners, to comply with laws, regulations and 
standards, and the application and interpretation of those laws, regulations and standards, that govern or affect the pharmaceutical 
and biotechnology industries, the non-compliance with which may delay or prevent the development, manufacturing, regulatory 
approvals and sale of our products;  

  
•   defending against claims relating to improper handling, storage or disposal of hazardous chemical, radioactive or biological materials 

which could be time consuming and expensive;  



   

   

In addition, past financial or operating performance is not necessarily a reliable indicator of future performance, and you should not use our 
historical performance to anticipate results or future period trends. We can give no assurances that any of the events anticipated by the forward-
looking statements will occur or, if any of them do, what impact they will have on our results of operations and financial condition. Except as 
required by law, we do not undertake to update any such forward-looking statements and expressly disclaim any duty to update the information 
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the “Company”, “we,” “us,” “our,” 
“Spectrum” and “Spectrum Pharmaceuticals” refer to Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries and other consolidated entities, as a 
consolidated entity. We primarily conduct our business activities as Spectrum Pharmaceuticals.  

***  

Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. , FUSILEV , FOLOTYN , ZEVALIN , MARQIBO , EOquin , and RenaZorb are registered 
trademarks of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Redefining Cancer Care , Turning Insights Into Hope , RIT Oncology, 
LLC , RIT , RRZ , and our logos are trademarks owned by Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries. All other trademarks and 
trade names are the property of their respective owners.  

PART I  
   

Company Overview  

Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (“Spectrum”, the “Company”, “we”, “our”, or “us”), is a biotechnology 
company with fully integrated commercial and drug development operations with a primary focus in hematology and oncology. Our strategy is 
comprised of acquiring, developing and commercializing a broad and diverse pipeline of late-stage clinical and commercial products.  

We currently market four oncology drugs:  
   

   

   

   

We also have ongoing indication expansion studies with several of our marketed products, and a diversified pipeline of product candidates 
in advanced-stage Phase 2 and Phase 3 studies. We have assembled an integrated in-house scientific team, including formulation development, 
clinical development, medical affairs, regulatory affairs, biostatistics and data management, and have established a commercial infrastructure for 
the marketing of our drug products. We also leverage the expertise of our worldwide partners to assist in the execution of our business strategy 
described in detail below.  

Business Strategy  

Our business strategy is comprised of the following three initiatives:  
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  •   our ability to maintain the services of our key executives and technical and sales and marketing personnel;  
  •   the difficulty in predicting the timing or outcome of product development efforts and regulatory approvals; and  
  •   demand and market acceptance for our approved products.  

ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

  
•   FUSILEV injection for patients in the U.S. with advanced metastatic colorectal cancer and to counteract certain side effects of 

methotrexate therapy;  
  •   ZEVALIN injection for patients in the U.S. and various international markets with follicular non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma;  
  •   FOLOTYN injection for patients in the U.S. with relapsed or refractory peripheral T-cell lymphoma; and  
  •   MARQIBO injection for patients in the U.S. with relapsed Philadelphia chromosome–negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia.  

  •   Maximizing the revenue potential of our four currently-marketed drugs for the treatment of cancer.  

® ® ® ® ® ® ® 

TM TM 

TM TM TM 



Our near-term outlook largely depends on sales and marketing successes for our four marketed drugs. It is this base business, along 
with potential additional indications for these drugs, that provides the working capital needed to operate our daily business and 
provides the necessary capital for opportunistic acquisitions.  

   

Our strategy for our development portfolio is to focus on late-stage development drugs. We strive to complete clinical studies to 
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of these drugs in order to obtain regulatory approval in a timely manner. Upon obtaining 
approval, our sales and marketing function educates physicians on the safety of the drug and its effectiveness in treating patients for 
the approved indication, with the goal of achieving maximum commercial success.  

   

It is our goal to identify new strategic opportunities that are synergistic with our currently-marketed drugs. We will continue to 
(i) explore strategic collaborations as they relate to drugs that are either in clinical trials or are currently on the market, and 
(ii) identify and secure drugs that have significant growth potential – through enhanced marketing and sales efforts and/or through 
pursuit of additional clinical development. We may also identify and pursue partnerships for out-licensing certain of our drugs in 
development.  

Cancer Background and Market Size  

Cancer is a group of diseases characterized by the uncontrolled growth and spread of abnormal cells, which can result in death. The 
development of cancer is multi-factorial and includes both external factors (tobacco, infectious organisms, chemicals, and radiation) and internal 
factors (inherited mutations, hormones, immune conditions, and mutations that occur from exposure to environmental factors or errors in making 
DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) during normal cell division). These causal factors may act together or in sequence to initiate or promote the 
development of cancer. Ten or more years often pass between exposure to these factors and the development of detectable cancer. Cancer is 
treated through surgery, radiation, chemotherapy, hormone therapy, immune therapy, and/or targeted drug therapy.  

According to the American Cancer Society’s publication Cancer Facts & Figures 2014 , cancer is the second leading cause of death in the 
U.S. (only behind heart disease). In the U.S., approximately 1.7 million new cancer cases are expected to be diagnosed in 2014 and over 
585,000 persons are expected to die from the disease in 2014. Anyone can develop cancer. Since the risk of being diagnosed with cancer 
increases with age, most cases occur in adults who are middle aged or older. About 77% of all cancers are diagnosed in people 55 years of age 
and older. In the U.S., men have slightly less than a 1 in 2 lifetime risk of developing cancer; for women, the risk is a little more than 1 in 3. 
These probabilities are estimated based on the overall experience of the general population. Individuals within the population may have higher or 
lower risk because of differences in exposures (e.g., smoking), and/or genetic susceptibility. In addition, currently available treatments are 
variably effective in the different cancers and individual patients. Together these patients’ risks and the treatment limitations suggest a 
significant current and long-term demand for improved and novel cancer treatments.  

All cancers involve the malfunction of genes that control cell growth and division. Only a small proportion of cancers are strongly 
hereditary, in that an inherited genetic alteration confers a very high risk for developing cancer. Inherited factors play a larger role in determining 
risk for some cancers (e.g., colorectal, breast, and prostate) than for others. It is now thought that many familial cancers arise from the interplay 
between common gene variations and lifestyle/environmental risk factors. However, most cancers do not result from inherited genes but rather 
from damage to genes occurring during a person’s lifetime. Genetic damage may result from internal factors, such as hormones or the 
metabolism of nutrients within cells, or external factors, such as tobacco, or excessive exposure to chemicals, sunlight, or ionizing radiation.  

Cancer cell growth is different from normal cell growth. Instead of being regulated and stopping to grow in a controlled manner, cancer 
cells continue to grow and form new, abnormal cells. Cancer cells can also invade (grow into) other tissues, something that normal cells do not 
do. Cells become cancer cells because of DNA damage. DNA is in every cell and it directs all of the cell’s actions. In a normal cell, when DNA 
is damaged, the cell either repairs the damage, or the cell dies. In cancer cells, the damaged DNA is not repaired, and the cell doesn’t die. 
Instead, it continues to make new cells in an uncontrolled manner that the body doesn’t require. People can inherit abnormal DNA, but most 
DNA damage is caused by abnormal cellular reproduction, usually triggered by environmental causes. In most cases, the cancer cells form a 
tumor, though some cancers, like leukemia, involve the blood and blood-forming organs and circulate through other tissues where they grow.  
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  •   Developing and commercializing the drugs for the treatment of cancer within our pipeline.  

  •   Expanding our pipeline of development-stage and commercial-stage drugs through business development activities.  



Cancer cells often travel to other parts of the body where they begin to grow and form new tumors. This happens when the cancer cells get 
into the body’s bloodstream or lymph vessels; this process of cancer spreading is called metastasis. No matter where a cancer may spread, it is 
always named for the place where it originated. For example, breast cancer that has spread to the liver is called metastatic breast cancer, not liver 
cancer. Likewise, prostate cancer that has spread to the bone is called metastatic prostate cancer, not bone cancer. Different types of cancer can 
behave very differently. For instance, lung cancer and skin cancer are very different diseases. They grow at different rates and respond to 
different treatments.  

Product Portfolio  

We have a product portfolio consisting of both commercial stage and development stage products that address various cancer types (see 
“Research & Development” section below for our pipeline of cancer therapeutics that are in various development stages). We remain committed 
to growing the sales of our currently marketed products, as we strive to maintain a robust development pipeline.  

Commercialized Products  

Our commercialized drug products, and their approved indications, are summarized in the following table:  
   

  

FUSILEV  

FUSILEV (levoleucovorin), a novel folate analog formulation and the pharmacologically active isomer (the levo -isomer) of the racemic 
compound, calcium leucovorin. Leucovorin is a mixture of equal part of both isomers: the pharmacologically active levo -isomer and the inactive 
dextro -isomer. Preclinical studies have demonstrated that the inactive dextro -isomer may compete with the active levo -isomer for uptake at the 
cellular level. By removing the inactive dextro form, the dosage of FUSILEV is one-half that of leucovorin and patients are spared the 
administration of an inactive substance. FUSILEV is approved as a ready-to-use solution, and as freeze-dried powder.  

FUSILEV has the following indications for use:  
   

   

   

The product similar to FUSILEV is marketed outside the U.S. by Pfizer, Sanofi-Aventis, and Takeda.  
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  •   in combination chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil in the palliative treatment of patients with advanced metastatic colorectal cancer.  
  •   for rescue after high-dose methotrexate therapy in osteosarcoma.  

  
•   to diminish the toxicity and counteract the effects of impaired methotrexate elimination and of inadvertent overdosage of folic acid 

antagonists.  



FOLOTYN  

FOLOTYN, (pralatrexate injection), a folate analogue metabolic inhibitor, was discovered by Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, 
SRI International and Southern Research Institute and developed by Allos Therapeutics, Inc. (“Allos”). In September 2009, the FDA granted 
accelerated approval for FOLOTYN for use as a single agent for the treatment of patients with relapsed or refractory peripheral T-cell lymphoma 
(“PTCL”). FOLOTYN was the first chemotherapy approved by the FDA for the treatment of relapsed or refractory PTCL and has been available 
to patients in the U.S. since October 2009.  

According to the Lymphoma Research Foundation, lymphoma is the most common blood cancer. Hodgkin’s lymphoma and non-
Hodgkin’s lymphoma (NHL) are the two main forms of lymphoma. Lymphoma occurs when lymphocytes, a type of white blood cell, grow 
abnormally and accumulate in one or more lymph nodes or lymphoid tissues. The body has two main types of lymphocytes that can develop into 
lymphomas: B-lymphocytes (B-cells) and T-lymphocytes (T-cells). PTCL comprises a group of rare and aggressive NHLs that develop from 
mature T-cells. PTCL accounts for approximately 10 to 15% of all NHL cases in the United States.  

Based on preclinical studies, we believe that FOLOTYN selectively enters cells expressing RFC, a protein that is frequently over expressed 
on cancer cells compared to normal cells. Once inside cancer cells, FOLOTYN is efficiently polyglutamylated, which makes it less susceptible 
to efflux-based drug resistance and leads to high intracellular drug retention compared to other antifolates. Inside the cell, FOLOTYN targets the 
inhibition of DHFR, an enzyme critical in the folate pathway, thereby interfering with DNA and RNA synthesis and triggering cancer cell death.  

We are exploring additional settings for FOLOTYN where methotrexate (“MTX”), a drug in the same category as FOLOTYN, has been 
successfully used for decades in the treatment of breast cancer, bladder cancer, and lung cancer. We will be testing FOLOTYN’s benefits in 
these settings because FOLOTYN is designed to provide greater activity than MTX. In addition to its use alone as a single agent, we are 
evaluating FOLOTYN as part of different chemotherapy combinations.  

ZEVALIN  

ZEVALIN (ibritumomab tiuxetan) injection for intravenous use is a prescription medication that is part of a three step treatment regimen 
consisting of: two treatments of rituximab and one treatment of Yttrium-90 (Y-90) ZEVALIN. Rituximab is used to reduce the number of B-
cells in the blood and Y-90 ZEVALIN is then given to treat non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. It is currently approved in the U.S. and more than 40 
countries outside the U.S. including countries in Europe, Latin America and Asia for the treatment of patients with:  
   

   

We are currently working towards a new indication for ZEVALIN for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (“DLBCL”). An estimated 40,000 
new cases of DLBCL were diagnosed in major markets in 2010. The need for improved treatments for DLBCL is high because the two-year 
progression-free survival rate is only approximately 55% and the estimated two-year overall survival rate is 71%.  

ZEVALIN would be used as an add-on to frontline therapy in which there is currently no competitor. A number of Phase 2 studies have 
been completed by investigators with high response rates in this indication. We plan to complete our Phase 3 study enrollment in early 2016 and 
file a supplemental Biologics License Application (“sBLA”) in 2018.  

MARQIBO  

MARQIBO is a novel, sphingomyelin/cholesterol liposome-encapsulated formulation of the FDA-approved anticancer drug vincristine. 
MARQIBO’s approved indication is for the treatment of adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia 
(“ALL”) in second or greater relapse or whose disease has progressed following two or more lines of anti-leukemia therapy. In the U.S., 
approximately 6,000 patients per year are diagnosed with ALL, of which approximately 1,600 can be categorized as ALL in second or greater 
relapse.  

MARQIBO is also currently being explored for the treatment of the broader ALL indication as well as in NHL in addition to its approved 
treatment for Philadelphia chromosome-negative ALL. During 2014, we also intend to conduct an additional Phase 2 study for MARQIBO in 
patients with NHL.  
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  •   Recurring, low-grade or follicular B-cell NHL, after other anticancer drugs are no longer working.  
  •   Newly diagnosed follicular NHL following a response to initial anticancer therapy.  



Product Pipeline  

BELEODAQ  

BELEODAQ (belinostat) is a histone deacytelase, (“HDAC”) inhibitor that is being studied in multiple clinical trials, both as a single drug 
and in combination with chemotherapeutic drugs for the treatment of various hematological and solid tumors. Its anticancer effect is thought to 
be mediated through multiple mechanisms of action, including the inhibition of cell proliferation, induction of apoptosis (programmed cell 
death), inhibition of angiogenesis, induction of differentiation, and the activity in tumors that had become resistant to anticancer agents such as 
the platinums, taxanes and topoisomerase II inhibitors. We are currently seeking FDA approval for the treatment of patients with relapsed or 
refractory peripheral T-cell lymphoma.  

BELEODAQ is differentiated from other HDAC inhibitors that selectively inhibit a single class of HDAC enzymes because it inhibits all 3 
classes of the zinc-dependent HDAC enzymes (Class I, Class II and Class IV); this leads to different alterations in histone and non-histone 
protein acetylation that, in turn, could importantly influence chromatin accessibility, gene transcription, and activity in different cancer patients, 
including those who develop drug resistant disease.  

Based on the data from the clinical studies, we believe there are many potential attributes associated with BELEODAQ that separate it 
from other currently marketed HDACs, including efficacy when used alone and in combination, less toxicities (when compared to the reported 
rates of some adverse events with the other currently-marketed HDACs), including less bone marrow toxicity, and a lack of other severe side 
effects, such as mucositis, that may enable full dose combinations of this drug with several other cytotoxic agents. Hence, BELEODAQ is 
currently being investigated in multiple indications, both as monotherapy and in combination with other treatment regimens. Numerous studies 
have been conducted, or are ongoing, through the National Cancer Institute (the “NCI”) and other well-known oncologic academic institutions. 
Additionally, we have a comprehensive development plan for BELEODAQ, which includes both hematologic indications, such as PTCL, and 
solid tumor indications, such as ovarian cancer, colorectal cancer and non-small cell lung cancer. Based upon the foregoing, we believe 
BELEODAQ potentially has broad applicability and hence, commercial potential beyond that of its currently targeted indication.  

BELEODAQ is currently the only HDAC inhibitor in clinical development with multiple potential routes of administration, including 
intravenous administration, continuous intravenous infusion and oral administration, which we believe may afford BELEODAQ a significant 
competitive advantage.  

In December 2013, we filed our NDA with the FDA. Our application was subsequently accepted by the FDA with Priority Review in 
February 2014.  

Captisol-Enabled MELPHALAN  

Captisol-enabled MELPHALAN (“C-E MELPHALAN”) is a novel intravenous formulation of MELPHALAN that has the potential to 
offer multiple advantages for clinicians and patients in the multiple myeloma transplant setting. Multiple myeloma is a cancer of plasma cells, a 
type of white blood cell present mainly in the bone marrow that produces antibodies. In multiple myeloma, a group of plasma cells (myeloma 
cells) become cancerous and multiply, raising the number of plasma cells to a higher-than-normal level, which can crowd out normal blood cells 
and lead to abnormally high proteins in the blood or urine. Per NCI and the ACS, there were an estimated 22,000 new cases of multiple myeloma 
in the U.S. in 2013, with the incidence of new cases increasing by approximately 1.7% per year. The current intravenous MELPHALAN market 
is approximately $130 million annually, with predominant use in stem cell transplants. The rate of autologous stem cell transplantation for 
patients with multiple myeloma is growing by approximately 3.3% annually.  

The C-E MELPHALAN formulation avoids the use of propylene glycol (“PG”), which is required as a co-solvent in the current 
MELPHALAN formulation; PG has been reported to cause renal and cardiac side-effects that limit the ability to deliver higher quantities of 
intended therapeutic compounds. The use of Captisol technology to reformulate MELPHALAN is anticipated to allow for longer administration 
durations and slower infusion rates, potentially enabling clinicians to safely achieve a higher dose intensity for pre-transplant chemotherapy.  

C-E MELPHALAN was granted Orphan Drug status by the FDA for use as a high-dose conditioning regimen prior to hematopoietic 
progenitor (stem) cell transplantation. If approved, the propylene glycol-free formulation of MELPHALAN will be the first product approved for 
this indication.  

Currently, C-E MELPHALAN is a Phase 2B drug (Pivotal Trial) with an NDA filing anticipated in 2014.  
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APAZIQUONE  

APAZIQUONE is an anti-cancer agent that becomes activated by certain enzymes often present in higher amounts in cancer cells than in 
normal cells. It is currently being investigated for the treatment of Non- muscle Invasive Bladder Cancer (“NMIBC”), which is a cancer that is 
only in the innermost layer of the bladder and has not spread to deeper layers of the bladder.  

The ACS estimated that the 2013 incidence and prevalence of bladder cancer in the U.S. was approximately 74,690 and over 500,000 
respectively. According to Botteman et al., (PharmacoEconomics 2003), bladder cancer is the most expensive cancer to treat on a lifetime basis.  

The initial treatment of this cancer is to attempt a complete surgical removal of the tumor. However, bladder cancer is a highly recurrent 
disease with approximately 75% of patients recurring within 5 years, and a majority of patients recurring within 2 years. This high recurrence 
rate is attributed to:  
   

   

   

Despite evidence in the published literature and guidance from the American and European Urology Associations, instillation of a 
chemotherapeutic agent immediately following surgery is not a standard clinical practice. Currently, there are no FDA approved drugs for this 
indication which may, in part, explain the difference between the literature and urology guidelines and actual clinical management of this 
disease. For more than 30 years, no new drugs have been introduced in the market for treatment of NMIBC.  

APAZIQUONE is a bio-reductive alkylating indoloquinone that is enzymatically activated by enzymes that are over expressed by bladder 
tumors that is being tested in NMIBC. Pharmacokinetic studies have verified that APAZIQUONE is rarely detectable in the bloodstream of 
patients when it is administered either after surgical resection or as a part of a delayed multi-instillation protocol. APAZIQUONE is inactivated 
in the systemic circulation by the red blood cell fraction. The proposed dose therefore carries a minimal risk of systemic toxicity that could arise 
from absorption of a drug through the bladder wall into the bloodstream. These features of APAZIQUONE are distinct from other intravesical 
agents currently in use for the treatment of recurrent bladder cancer. An immediate instillation of APAZIQUONE may help by:  
   

   

   

We expect to commence a confirmatory Phase 3 study for APAZIQUONE in 2014 and expect to prepare and submit a NDA at the end of 
2014.  

SPI-2012  

SPI-2012, our third biologic drug, is used for the treatment of chemotherapy-induced neutropenia. In January 2012, we entered into a co-
development and commercialization agreement with Hanmi Pharmaceutical Company, for SPI-2012 based on Hanmi’s proprietary 
LAPSCOVERY™ Technology. Chemotherapy can cause myelosuppression and unacceptably low levels of white blood cells, making patients 
prone to infections, hospitalizations, and interruption of additional chemotherapy treatments.  

Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, or GCSF, stimulates the production of white blood cells by the bone marrow. A recombinant form 
of GCSF is used in appropriate cancer patients to accelerate recovery from neutropenia after chemotherapy, allowing higher-intensity treatment 
regimens to be given at full-dose and on schedule. We believe the worldwide market for GCSF-related drugs was over $5.0 billion in 2013.  

We are currently enrolling a Phase 2 study with clinical trial results expected in the second half of 2014.  
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  (1) the highly implantable nature of cancer cells that are dispersed during surgery, 

  (2) incomplete tumor resection, and 

  (3) tumors present in multiple locations in the bladder which may be missed or too small to visualize at the time of resection. 

  (1) reducing tumor recurrence by destroying dispersed cancer cells that would otherwise re-implant onto the inner lining of the bladder, 

  (2) by destroying remaining cancer cells at the site of tumor resection (also known as chemo-resection), and 

  (3) by destroying tumors not observed during resection (also known as chemo-ablation). 



Manufacturing  

We currently do not have internal manufacturing capabilities; therefore, all of our products are manufactured on a contract basis. We 
expect to continue to contract with third-party providers for manufacturing and packaging services, including active pharmaceutical ingredients 
(“API”) and finished-dosage products. We believe that our current agreements with third-party manufacturers provide for sufficient operating 
capacity to support the anticipated commercial demand for our products. However, we have only one approved contract manufacturer for each 
aspect of the manufacturing process for ZEVALIN and MARQIBO. We have multiple drug product contract manufacturers for FUSILEV and 
FOLOTYN.  

We believe these third-party manufacturers have the capability to meet our projected worldwide clinical trial and commercial requirements 
for our products. We attempt to prevent disruption of supplies through supply agreements, appropriate forecasting, maintaining stock levels and 
other strategies. We believe that the market for such manufacturers and suppliers is such that we could quickly enter into another supply or 
manufacturing agreement on substantially similar terms if we were required to do so.  

Sales and Marketing  

We market and sell our drugs through a direct sales force in the U.S., and through distributors in Europe and Japan. We divide the U.S. 
market between “corporate accounts” and “oncology accounts.” The primary decision makers for our products are oncologists and 
hematologists. As of December 31, 2013, our U.S. sales force (management, representatives, and direct support) numbered 81 employees.  

Our corporate accounts are divided among four regions and 20 territories, led by our Vice President of Corporate Accounts and Executive 
Director of Corporate Accounts Sales. Each region is managed by an Associate Director of Corporate Accounts who oversees four Regional 
Business Managers.  

Our oncology accounts are divided among six regions and 40 territories, led by our Vice President of Sales. Each region is managed by a 
Regional Sales Director who oversees six or seven Oncology Account Managers (sales representatives), an Oncology Nurse Specialist (sales 
support), and a Clinical Logistical Specialist (sales support).  

Customers  

Our product sales are concentrated to large pharmaceutical distributors (that ship and bill to hospitals and clinics). The customers that 
represent 10% or more of our total product sales in 2013, 2012, and 2011 are as follows:  
   

   

We are exposed to credit risk associated with trade receivables that result from these product sales. We do not require collateral or deposits 
from our customers due to our assessment of their creditworthiness and our long-standing relationship with them. We maintain reserves for 
potential bad debt, though credit losses have historically been nominal and within management’s expectations. A summary of our customers that 
represent 10% or more of our accounts receivables, net, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follows:  
   

Competition  

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapidly-evolving biotechnology and intense competition, which we expect will continue. 
Many companies are engaged in research and development of compounds that are similar to ours – both commercialized and in development. In 
the event that one or more of our competitor’s programs are successful, the market for some of our drug products could be reduced or eliminated. 
Any product for which we obtain FDA approval must also compete for market acceptance and market share.  
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     2013     2012     2011   
Oncology Supply       35.4 %      26.5 %      57.0 %  
McKesson Specialty       19.8 %      23.2 %      19.1 %  
ICS       15.8 %      19.4 %      *    
Cardinal Health       *        15.7 %      *    

* Less than 10% 

     

December 31, 
 

2013     

December 31, 
 

2012   

Oncology Supply       37.7 %      37.7 %  
McKesson Specialty       30.7 %      26.0 %  
ICS       10.3 %      19.1 %  



Successful marketing of branded products depends primarily on the ability to communicate the effectiveness, safety, and value of the 
products to healthcare professionals in private practice, group practices, hospitals, academic institutions, and managed care organizations. 
Competition for branded drugs is less driven by price and is more focused on innovation in treatment of disease, advanced drug delivery, and 
specific clinical benefits over competitive drug therapies. Unless our products are shown to be differentiated, i.e., have a better safety profile, 
efficacy, and cost-effectiveness, as compared to other alternatives, they may not gain acceptance by medical professionals and may therefore 
never be commercially successful.  

Companies that have products on the market or in research and development that target the same indications as our product targets include, 
among others, Astra Zeneca PLC, Bayer AG, Endo Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Eli Lilly and Co., Novartis AG, Genentech, Inc. (Roche), Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company, GlaxoSmithKline, Biogen-IDEC Pharmaceuticals, Inc., OSI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Astellas Pharma), Cephalon, Inc. 
(Teva Pharmaceuticals), Sanofi-Aventis, Inc., Pfizer, Inc., Genta Incorporated, Merck, Celgene Corporation, BiPar Sciences, Inc., Genzyme 
Corporation, Shire Pharmaceuticals, Abbott Laboratories, Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Johnson & Johnson.  

Each of the aforementioned companies may be more advanced in development of competing drug products. Many of these competitors are 
large and well-capitalized companies focusing on a wide range of cancers and drug indications, and have substantially greater resources and 
expertise than we do.  

The general competitive landscape for each of our commercialized products is summarized below:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

We are aware of multiple investigational agents that are currently being studied in clinical trials for PTCL, including BELEODAQ 
and alisertib, which, if approved, may compete with FOLOTYN in the United States. Because of the natural history of PTCL with 
repeated treatment failures, it is likely that many patients would receive treatment with more than one agent, e.g., BELEODAQ and 
FOLOTYN. In addition, there are many existing approaches used in the treatment of relapsed or refractory PTCL, including 
combination chemotherapy and single agent regimens, which represent competition for FOLOTYN.  
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(a) FUSILEV is the levo-isomeric form of the racemic compound calcium, leucovorin, a product already approved for the same 

indication as FUSILEV. As there are currently three generic companies approved by the FDA to sell the leucovorin product, we are 
competing with a low-cost alternative. 

  (b) ZEVALIN has three competitive products for its currently approved indications: 

  

•   Rituxan (rituximab), marketed by Genentech and Biogen, is indicated for the treatment of patients with relapsed or 
refractory, low-grade or follicular, CD20-positive, B-cell NHL as a single agent; previously untreated follicular, CD20-
positive, B-cell NHL in combination with CVP (cyclophosphamide, vincristine and prednisone combination) chemotherapy; 
and non-progressing (including stable disease), low-grade, CD20-positive B-cell NHL, as a single agent, after first-line CVP 
chemotherapy. Rituxan is administered as a part of various chemotherapy regimens and schedules, the vast majority of which, 
could be used in concert with other therapeutic agents, such as ZEVALIN, as part of a treatment plan.  

  
•   Treanda (bendamustine hydrochloride) for Injection, for Intravenous Infusion, marketed by Cephalon, is indicated for the 

treatment of patients with indolent B-cell NHL that has progressed during or within six months of treatment with rituximab or 
a rituximab-containing regimen.  

  

•   Bexxar therapeutic regimen (Tositumomab and Iodine I Tositumomab), a radiopharmaceutical marketed by 
GlaxoSmithKline, is indicated for the treatment of patients with CD20 antigen-expressing relapsed or refractory, low-grade, 
follicular, or transformed NHL, including patients with Rituximab-refractory NHL. In August 2013, the manufacturer of this 
product announced the discontinuation of both the manufacture and sale of Bexxar as of February 20, 2014.  

  
(c) FOLOTYN, the first agent approved by the FDA for treatment of patients with relapsed or refractory PTCL, has two competitive 

products for its currently approved indications: 

  

•   Romidepsin, marketed by Celgene, Inc., was granted accelerated approval by the FDA in June 2011 for the treatment of 
patients with PTCL who have received at least one prior therapy. This was the second indication approved for romidepsin, 
which was initially approved by the FDA in November 2009 for the treatment of patients with CTCL who have received at 
least one prior systemic therapy.  

  

•   Brentuximab vedotin, marketed by Seattle Genetics, Inc., was also granted accelerated approval by the FDA in August 2011 
for two indications, one of which was for the treatment of patients with systemic anaplastic large cell lymphoma (“ALCL”) 
after failure of at least one prior multi-agent chemotherapy regimen. ALCL is one of the subtypes of PTCL included in the 
labels of both FOLOTYN and romidepsin.  

® 

® 

® 131 



Research and Development  

New drug development is the process whereby drug product candidates are tested for the purpose of filing a new drug application (“NDA”) 
or a Biologistics License Application (“BLA”) in the U.S. (or similar filing in other countries). Obtaining marketing approval from the FDA or 
similar regulatory authorities outside of the U.S., is an inherently uncertain, lengthy and expensive process that requires several phases of clinical 
trials to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the appropriate regulatory authorities that the products are both safe and effective for their respective 
indications. Our development focus is primarily based on acquiring and developing late-stage development drugs as compared to new drug 
discovery, which is particularly uncertain and lengthy.  

Our in-development products are summarized below:  
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(d) MARQIBO is a next generation liposomal form of standard vincristine. In its current indication, MARQIBO is approved for adult 

patients with relapsed or refractory Ph-ALL who have not responded or relapsed after two prior treatments. Currently, standard 
vincristine is not approved for the same indication as MARQIBO. 



Our research and development expenses for drug development are comprised of personnel expenses, contract services, license fees and 
milestone payments, clinical trials, laboratory supplies and drug products, and certain allocations of corporate costs. The below table summarizes 
our research and development expenses by project in 2013, 2012, and 2011:  
   

Patents and Proprietary Rights  

Our Patents and Proprietary Rights  

We in-license from third parties certain patent and related intellectual property rights related to our proprietary drug products. Under most 
of these license arrangements, we are generally responsible for all development, patent filing and maintenance costs, sales, marketing and 
liability insurance costs related to the drug products.  

In addition, these licenses and agreements may require us to make royalty and other payments and to reasonably exploit the underlying 
technology of applicable patents. If we fail to comply with these and other terms in these licenses and agreements, we could lose the underlying 
rights to one or more of our potential products, which would adversely affect our product development and harm our business.  

The protection, preservation and infringement-free commercial exploitation of these patents and related intellectual property rights are very 
important to the successful execution of our strategy. However, the issuance of a patent is neither conclusive as to its validity nor as to the 
enforceable scope of the claims of the patent. Accordingly, our patents and the patents we have licensed may not prevent other companies from 
developing similar or functionally equivalent products or from successfully challenging the validity of our patents. If our patent applications are 
not allowed or, even if allowed and issued as patents, if such patents or the patents we have in-licensed are circumvented or not upheld by the 
courts, our ability to competitively exploit our patented products and technologies may be significantly reduced. Also, such patents may or may 
not provide competitive advantages for their respective products or they may be challenged or circumvented by competitors, in which case our 
ability to commercially exploit these products may be diminished.  
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Research and Development Expenses for the Year Ended  
December  31,  
(in thousands)   

     2013     2012     2011   

APAZIQUONE     $ 1,078      $ 6,642      $ 7,695    
BELEODAQ       6,733        3,742        7,207    
FUSILEV       4,517        1,416        1,239    
FOLOTYN       2,992        1,586        —     
ZEVALIN       8,572        5,040        167    
SPI-2012       1,403        1,049        —     
LUCANTHONE       795        792        —     
MARQIBO       4,099        —         —     
MELPHALAN       3,400        —          —      
OZARELIX       247        724        740    
ORTATAXEL       421        554        107    
RenaZorb       346        1,299        476    
Other development drugs       1,823        4,695        1,417    

                               

Total — Direct costs       36,426        27,539        19,048    
Add: Indirect costs (including stock-based compensation 

of $2,000, $1,800, and $1,600, respectively)       13,335        21,404        16,502    
(Less): Reimbursements from development partners       (804 )      (7,383 )      (8,888 )  
(Less): Mundipharma deferred payment contingency       (2,287 )      —          —      

                               

Total – Research and development expenses     $ 46,670      $ 41,560      $ 26,662    
         

  

        

  

        

  



From time-to-time, we may need to obtain licenses to patents and other proprietary rights held by third parties to develop, manufacture and 
market our products. If we are unable to timely obtain these licenses on commercially reasonable terms, our ability to commercially exploit such 
products may be inhibited or prevented.  

We believe that our patents and licenses are critical to operating our business, as summarized below by commercialized and in-
development drugs products.  

FUSILEV: We have one U.S. composition of matter patent that expires in March 2022.  

ZEVALIN: We have sublicensed U.S. patents that cover the processes and tools for making monoclonal anti-bodies or MABs, in general, 
licensed U.S. patents that cover the CD-20 MAB in ZEVALIN as well as the use of ZEVALIN to treat NHL, and acquired patents covering the 
ZEVALIN compounding process (i.e., process of linking the CD-20 MAB to a radioactive isotope to make the patient-ready dosage form of 
ZEVALIN). These patents expire over a wide range of dates, but the licensed patents covering the CD-20 MAB itself do not begin to expire until 
2015. Additionally, we have U.S. patents covering the compounding process expiring in 2019, and will consider filing more patent applications, 
if the opportunity arises.  

FOLOTYN: We have a composition of matter patent due to expire in 2022 following a five-year patent term extension in U.S. The 
composition of matter patent is due to expire in Europe in 2017 but is eligible for a similar patent term extension following regulatory approval 
in Europe. We also have patents covering the use of FOLOTYN for PTCL that will not expire until 2025. Additionally, we have issued patents 
and pending patent applications in U.S. and many other countries claiming different uses of FOLOTYN, and we may consider filing new patent 
applications if the opportunity arises.  

MARQIBO: We have patents covering the use of MARQIBO for leukemia, lymphoma and melanoma and a patent claiming Marqibo kit in 
US that expire in 2020. We have filed an application for patent term extension through December 2024 for one of the patents covering the use of 
MARQIBO for relapsed leukemia and lymphoma in the U.S. However, it is not certain if the patent term extension will be granted by the 
USPTO. We also have issued patents covering the use of MARQIBO in Europe and other countries that expire in 2020. We have recently filed a 
PCT application claiming a method of encapsulating vincristine sulphate into liposomes  

BELEODAQ: The composition of matter patents that cover BELEODAQ and related compounds do not begin to expire until 2021. 
Currently, there are multiple U.S. and foreign patent applications pending that cover BELEODAQ formulations, uses and manufacturing and 
synthesis processes. We plan to file additional U.S. and foreign patent applications covering new formulations, uses and manufacturing and 
synthesis processes, where appropriate.  

APAZIQUONE: The U.S. formulation patent does not expire until 2022, and method of treatment of bladder cancer using a stabilized 
formulation that does not expire until 2024. Formulation patents outside U.S. are due to expire in 2022. We have filed and plan to file additional 
U.S. and foreign patent applications covering new formulations and/or uses for this product.  

OZARELIX: In the U.S. as well as outside the U.S., a composition of matter patent expires in 2020, and a formulation patent expires in 
2023. We also have method of use patent applications on file.  

ORTAXTEL: Two U.S. composition patents expired in 2013. Corresponding European patents expire in 2014, while multiple 
manufacturing and synthesis patents in U.S. and Europe do not begin to expire until 2021. We anticipate filing new method of use and 
formulation patent applications in the future.  

LUCANTHONE: Our U.S. method of use patent expires in 2019.  

RENAZORB: We have one method of use patent that is expiring in 2024, and pending U.S. and foreign patent applications covering 
compositions of matter, manufacturing process, and methods directed to treating hyperphosphatemia.  

SPI-1620: We have filed method of use patent applications in the U.S. and Europe. We also have multiple U.S. method of use patents that 
expire in 2024, and there is ongoing prosecution for their European counterparts. We have also filed another method of use patent applications in 
the U.S. and Europe, and anticipate filing future patent applications pending the continued development of new methods of use and new 
formulations.  

SPI-2012: Composition of matter patents covering SPI-2012 are due to expire in 2025 in the U.S. and in 2024 outside the U.S. SPI-2012 is 
also covered by additional patents claiming various aspects of the technology that are due to expire between 2024 and 2030 and recently-filed 
patent applications for its formulation.  
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C-E MELPHALAN: Melphalan is covered by issued patents claiming improved Captisol technology that are due to expire between 2025 
and 2029 in the U.S. Outside the U.S., we have issued patents that cover improved Captisol technology that are due to expire in 2025 and 
pending applications with anticipated expiry in 2029, if issued. We also have a recently filed patent application covering Captisol-based 
formulation of melphalan in the U.S. and a number of other countries.  

***  

We are constantly evaluating our patent portfolio and are currently prosecuting patent applications for our drug products and are 
considering new patent applications in order to maximize the life cycle of each of our products.  

While the U.S. and the European Union are currently the largest potential markets for most of our products, we also have patents issued 
and patent applications pending outside of the U.S. and Europe. Limitations on patent protection in these countries, and the differences in what 
constitutes patentable subject matter in countries outside the U.S., may limit the protection we have on patents issued or licensed to us outside of 
the U.S. In addition, laws of foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property to the same extent as would laws in the U.S.  

To minimize our costs and expenses and to maintain effective protection, we usually focus our patent and licensing activities within the 
U.S., the European Union, Canada and Japan. In determining whether or not to seek a patent or to license any patent in a certain foreign country, 
we weigh the relevant costs and benefits, and consider, among other things, the market potential and profitability, the scope of patent protection 
afforded by the law of the jurisdiction and its enforceability, and the nature of terms with any potential licensees. Failure to obtain adequate 
patent protection for our proprietary drugs and technology would impair our ability to be commercially competitive in these markets.  

In conducting our business generally, we rely upon trade secrets, know-how, and licensing arrangements and use customary practices for 
the protection of our confidential and proprietary information such as confidentiality agreements and trade secret protection measures. It is 
possible that these agreements will be breached or will not be enforceable in every instance, and that we will not have adequate remedies for any 
such breach. It is also possible that our trade secrets or know-how will otherwise become known or independently developed by competitors. 
The protection of know-how is particularly important because the know-how is often the necessary or useful information that allows us to 
practice the claims in the patents related to our proprietary drug products.  

In addition to the specific intellectual property subjects discussed above, we have trademark protection in the U.S. for Spectrum 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. , FUSILEV , MARQIBO , EOquin , Spectrum Therapy Access Resources, STAR, ZEVALIN , FOLOTYN flower 
design associated with FOLOTYN and RenaZorb . We also have the FOLOTYN trademark and the associated flower design registered in 
Europe and other countries. Additionally, for some other of these and other works related to our business, we have pending U.S. and ex-U.S. 
trademark applications.  

The Patent Process  

The U.S. Constitution provides Congress with the authority to provide inventors the exclusive right to their discoveries. Congress codified 
this right in U.S. Code Title 35, which gave the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, the right to grant patents to inventors and defined 
the process for securing a U.S. patent. This process involves the filing of a patent application that instructs a person having ordinary skill in the 
respective art how to make and use the invention in clear and concise terms. The invention must be novel (not previously known) and non-
obvious (not an obvious extension of what is already known). The patent application concludes with a series of claims that specifically describe 
the subject matter that the patent applicant considers his invention.  

The USPTO undertakes an examination process that can take from one to seven years, or more, depending on the complexity of the patent 
and the problems encountered during examination.  

In exchange for disclosing the invention to the public, for all U.S. patent applications filed after 1995, the successful patent applicant is 
currently provided a right to exclude others from making, using or selling the claimed invention for a period of 20 years from the effective filing 
date of the patent application.  

Under certain circumstances, a patent term may be extended. Patent extensions are most frequently granted in the pharmaceutical and 
medical device industries under the Drug Price Competition and Pricing Term Restoration Act of 1984, or Hatch 1984, or Hatch-Waxman Act, 
to recover some of the time lost during the FDA regulatory process, subject to a number of limitations and exceptions. The patent term may be 
extended up to a maximum of five years; however, as a general rule, the average extension period granted for a new drug is approximately three 
years. Only one patent can be extended per FDA approved product, and a patent can only be extended once.  
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Product Exclusivity  

Under the Hatch-Waxman Act, drug products are provided exclusivity whereby the FDA will not accept applications to market a generic 
form of an innovator reference listed drug product until the end of the prescribed period. A product is granted a five-year period of exclusivity if 
it contains a chemical entity never previously approved by the FDA either alone or in combination, although generic applications may be 
submitted after four years if they contain a certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement as further discussed below. A three-year period 
of exclusivity is granted to a previously approved product based on certain changes, e.g., in strength, dosage form, route of administration or 
conditions of use, where the application is supported by new clinical investigations that are essential to approval. In addition, in 1997 Congress 
amended the law to provide an additional six months of exclusivity as a reward for studying drugs in children. This pediatric exclusivity, which 
can be obtained during the approval process or after approval, effectively delays the approval of a generic application until six months after the 
expiration of any patent or other exclusivity that would otherwise delay approval, thus providing an additional six months free of generic 
competition. In order to qualify for pediatric exclusivity, the FDA must make a written request for pediatric studies, the application holder must 
agree to the request and complete the studies with required timeframe, and the studies must be accepted by the FDA based on a determination 
that the studies fairly respond to the request. The provisions were enacted with a five-year sunset date, and have been reauthorized in 2002, 2007 
and 2012.  

Generic Approval and Patent Certification  

The Hatch-Waxman Act also created the abbreviated new drug application, or ANDA, approval process, which permits the approval of a 
generic version of a previously approved branded drug without the submission of a full new drug application, or NDA, and based in part on the 
FDA’s finding of safety and effectiveness for the reference listed drug. Applicants submitting an NDA are required to list patents associated with 
the drug product, which are published in the FDA Orange Book, and the timing of an ANDA approval depends in part on patent protection for 
the branded drug. When an ANDA is filed, the applicant must file a certification for each of the listed patents for the branded drug, stating one of 
the following: (1) that there is no patent information listed; (2) that such patent has expired; (3) that the patent will expire on a particular date 
(indicating that the ANDA may be approved on that date); or (4) that the drug for which approval is sought either does not infringe the patent or 
the patent is invalid, otherwise known as paragraph IV certification. If an ANDA applicant files a paragraph 4 certification, it is required to 
provide the patent holder with notice of that certification. If the patent holder brings suit against the ANDA applicant for patent infringement 
within 45 days of receiving notice, the FDA may not approve the ANDA until the earlier of (i) 30 months from the patent holder’s receipt of the 
notice (the 30-month stay) or (ii) the issuance of a final, non-appealed, or non-appealable court decision finding the patent invalid, unenforceable 
or not infringed.  

The Hatch-Waxman Act also provided an incentive for generic manufacturers to file paragraph 4 certifications challenging patents that 
may be invalid unenforceable, or not infringed, whereby the first company to successfully challenge a listed patent and receive ANDA approval 
is protected from competition from subsequent generic versions of the same drug product for 180 days after the earlier of (1) the date of the first 
commercial marketing of the first-filed ANDA applicant’s generic drug or (2) the date of a decision of a court in an action holding the relevant 
patent invalid, unenforceable, or not infringed. These 180-day exclusivity provisions have been the subject of litigation and administrative 
review, and the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, or MMA, amended the provisions in several ways, 
including by providing that an ANDA applicant entitled to 180-day exclusivity may lose such exclusivity if any of the following events occur: 
(1) failure to market; (2) withdrawal of the ANDA; (3) change in patent certification; (4) failure to obtain tentative approval; (5) illegal 
settlement agreement; and (6) patent expiration.  

With respect to the illegal settlement prong, the MMA amendments require that certain types of settlement agreements entered into 
between branded and generic pharmaceutical companies related to the manufacture, marketing and sale of generic versions of branded drugs are 
required to be filed with the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of Justice for review of potential anti-competitive practices. This 
requirement could affect the manner in which generic drug manufacturers resolve intellectual property litigation and other disputes with branded 
pharmaceutical companies, and could result generally in an increase in private-party litigation against pharmaceutical companies. The impact of 
this requirement, and the potential governmental investigations and private-party lawsuits associated with arrangements between brand name and 
generic drug manufacturers, remains uncertain and could adversely affect our business. In addition, Congress has considered enacting legislation 
that would prohibit such settlements between brand name and generic drug manufacturers. Such a provision was considered as part of the Patient 
Protection and Affordable Care Act, or PPACA, signed into law on March 23, 2010. However, Congress removed the provision prior to passage. 
It is possible that Congress will again consider a ban on such settlements between brand name and generic drug manufacturers in the future.  
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The PPACA provides exclusivity protections for certain innovator biological products and a framework for FDA review and approval of 
biosimilar and interchangeable versions of innovator biologic products. The PPACA provides that no application for a biosimilar product may be 
approved until 12 years after the date on which the innovator product was first licensed, and no application may be submitted until four years 
after the date of first licensure. Products deemed interchangeable (as opposed to biosimilar) are also eligible for certain exclusivity.  

Orphan Drug Designation  

Some jurisdictions, including Europe and the U.S., may designate drugs for relatively small patient populations as “orphan” drugs. The 
FDA may grant orphan drug designation to a drug intended to treat a rare disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the 
U.S., and a drug may also be considered an orphan even if the drug treats a disease or condition affecting more than 200,000 individuals in the 
U.S. where the drug has no expected profitability. Orphan drug designation does not necessarily convey any advantage in, or shorten the 
duration of, the regulatory review and process for marketing approval. If a product with an orphan drug designation subsequently receives the 
first FDA approval for the indication for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to seven years of orphan drug exclusivity, during 
which time FDA will not approve any other application to market the same drug for the same indication except in limited circumstances, such as 
a showing of clinical superiority to the product with orphan exclusivity. Also, competitors are not prohibited from receiving approval to market 
the same drug or biologic for a different indication than that which received orphan approval.  

Under European Union medicines laws, the criteria for designating an “orphan medicinal product” are similar in principle to those in the 
U.S. Criteria for orphan designation are set out in Article 3 of Regulation (EC) 141/2000 on the basis of two alternative conditions. A medicinal 
product may be designated as orphan if it is intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of a life-threatening or chronically debilitating 
condition affecting not more than five in 10 thousand persons in the European Union, or EU, when the application is made. This is commonly 
known as the “disease prevalence criterion” Alternatively, a product may be so designated if it is intended for the diagnosis, prevention or 
treatment of a life-threatening, seriously debilitating or serious and chronic condition in the EU and if without incentives it is unlikely that the 
marketing of the product in the EU would generate sufficient return to justify the necessary investment. This is commonly known as the 
“insufficient return criterion.”  

These two alternative criteria must cumulatively meet the second condition that there exists no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention 
or treatment of the condition in question that has been authorized in the EU, or if such a method exists, the product will be of significant benefit 
to those affected by the condition. “Significant benefit” is defined in Regulation (EC) 847/2000 as a clinically relevant advantage or a major 
contribution to patient care.  

Upon grant of a marketing authorization, orphan medicinal products are entitled to ten years of market exclusivity in respect of the 
approved therapeutic indication. Within the period of market exclusivity, no competent authority in the EU is permitted to accept an application 
for marketing authorization, a variation or a line-extension for the same approved therapeutic indication in respect of a similar medicinal product 
pursuant to Article 8.1 of Regulation 141/2000 unless one of derogations set out in Article 8.3 of the same Regulation applies. In order to 
determine whether two products are considered similar, Regulation 847/2000 requires an assessment of the principal molecular structure and the 
underlying mode of action. Any minor variation or modification of the principal molecular structure would not ordinarily render the second 
product dissimilar to the first authorized product.  

In order for the second applicant to break the market exclusivity granted to the first authorized similar medicinal product in respect of the 
same therapeutic indication, the second applicant would principally rely upon data to demonstrate that his product is safer, more efficacious or 
clinically superior to the first product pursuant to Article 8.3I of Regulation 141/2000. Ordinarily, such an assessment will require a head-to-
head comparative clinical trial for the purpose of demonstrating clinical superiority.  

The 10-year market exclusivity may be reduced to 6 years if at the end of the fifth year it is established that the product no longer meets the 
criteria for orphan designation on the basis of available evidence.  

FUSILEV has been granted orphan drug designations for its use in conjunction with high dose methotrexate in the treatment of 
osteosarcoma and for its use in combination chemotherapy with the approved agent 5-fluorouracil in the palliative treatment of metastatic 
adenocarcinoma of the colon and rectum (colorectal cancer). In addition, FOLOTYN has been granted an orphan drug designation for PTCL and 
CTCL and BELEODAQ has been granted an orphan drug designation for PTCL. As discussed above, a drug with orphan designation status may 
obtain orphan exclusivity upon marketing approval under specified conditions set out in the applicable laws and regulations.  
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Governmental Regulation  

The development, production and marketing of our proprietary and generic drug and biologic products are subject to regulation for safety, 
efficacy and quality by numerous governmental authorities in the U.S. and other countries. In the U.S., drugs and biologics are subject to 
rigorous regulation. The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as amended from time to time, and the regulations promulgated there under, as 
well as other federal and state statutes and regulations, govern, among other things, the development, approval, manufacture, safety, labeling, 
storage, record keeping, distribution, promotion, and advertising of our products. Product development and approval within this regulatory 
framework, including for drugs already at a clinical stage of development, can take many years and require the expenditure of substantial 
resources, and to obtain FDA approval, a product must satisfy mandatory quality, safety and efficacy requirements. In addition, each drug-
manufacturing establishment must be registered with the FDA. Domestic manufacturing establishments must comply with the FDA’s current 
good manufacturing practice (“GMP”), regulations and are subject to inspections by the FDA. To supply drug ingredients or products for use in 
the U.S., foreign manufacturing establishments must also comply with GMP and are subject to inspections by the FDA or by other regulatory 
authorities in certain countries under reciprocal agreements with the FDA.  

General Information about the Drug Approval Process and Post-Marketing Requirements  

The U.S. system of new drug and biologics approval is a rigorous process. Only a small percentage of compounds that enter the pre-
clinical testing stage are ever approved for commercialization. Our strategy focuses on in-licensing clinical stage drug products that are already 
in or about to enter human clinical trials. A late-stage focus helps us to effectively manage the high cost of drug development by focusing on 
compounds that have already passed the many hurdles in the pre-clinical and early clinical process.  

The following general comments about the drug approval process are relevant to the development activities we are undertaking with our 
proprietary products.  

Pre-clinical Testing:  During the pre-clinical testing stage, laboratory and animal studies are conducted to show biological activity of a 
drug or biologic compound against the targeted disease. The compound is evaluated for safety. While all of our compounds are currently in 
clinical trials, it is possible that additional pre-clinical testing could be requested by a regulatory authority for any of our compounds.  

Investigational New Drug Application:  After certain pre-clinical studies are completed, an Investigational New Drug (“IND”) application 
is submitted to the FDA to request the ability to begin human testing of the drug or biologic. An IND becomes effective thirty days after the 
FDA receives the application (unless the FDA notifies the sponsor of a clinical hold), or upon prior notification by the FDA.  

Phase 1 Clinical Trials:  These trials, typically involving small numbers of healthy volunteers or patients and usually define a drug 
candidate’s safety profile, including the safe dosage range.  

Phase 2 Clinical Trials:  In Phase 2 clinical trials, controlled studies of human patients with the targeted disease are conducted to assess 
the drug’s effectiveness. These studies are designed primarily to determine the appropriate dose levels, dose schedules and route(s) of 
administration, and to evaluate the effectiveness of the drug or biologic on humans, as well as to determine if there are any side effects on 
humans to expand the safety profile following Phase 1. These clinical trials, and Phase 3 trials discussed below, are designed to evaluate the 
product’s overall benefit-risk profile, and to provide information for physician labeling.  

Phase 3 Clinical Trials:  This phase usually involves larger number of patients with the targeted disease. Investigators (typically 
physicians) monitor the patients to determine the drug candidate’s efficacy and to observe and report any adverse reactions that may result from 
long-term use of the drug on a large, more widespread, patient population. During the Phase 3 clinical trials, typically the drug candidate is 
compared to either a placebo or a standard treatment for the target disease.  

New Drug Application or Biologic License Application:  After completion of all three clinical trial Phases, if the data indicates that the 
drug is safe and effective, a NDA or BLA is filed with the FDA requesting FDA approval to market the new drug as a treatment for the target 
disease.  
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Fast Track and Priority Review:  The FDA has established procedures for accelerating the approval of drugs to be marketed for serious or 
life threatening diseases for which the manufacturer can demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs. BELEODAQ has received 
both Fast Track status and its NDA as a Priority Review.  

Abbreviated New Drug Application:  An ANDA is an abbreviated new drug application for generic drugs created by the Hatch-Waxman 
Act. When a company files an ANDA, it must make a patent certification regarding the patents covering the branded product listed in the FDA’s 
Orange Book. The ANDA drug development process generally takes less time than the NDA drug development process since the ANDA process 
usually does not require new clinical trials establishing the safety and efficacy of the drug product.  

NDA/BLA and ANDA Approval:  The FDA approves drugs and biologics that are subject to NDA and BLA review based on data in the 
application demonstrating the product is safe and effective in its proposed use(s) and that the product’s benefits outweigh its risks. The FDA will 
also review the NDA or BLA applicant’s manufacturing process and controls to ensure they are adequate to preserve the drug’s identity, 
strength, quality, and purity. Finally, the FDA will review and approve the product’s proposed labeling. As for the ANDA approval process, 
these “abbreviated” applications are generally not required to include preclinical or clinical data to establish safety and effectiveness. Rather, an 
ANDA must demonstrate both chemical equivalence and bio-equivalence (the rate and extent of absorption in the body) to the innovator drug — 
unless a bio-equivalence waiver is granted by the FDA.  

Phase 4 Clinical Trials:  After a drug has been approved by the FDA, Phase 4 studies may be conducted to explore additional patient 
populations, compare the drug to a competitor, or to further study the risks, benefits and optimal use of a drug. These studies may be a 
requirement as a condition of the initial approval of the NDA or BLA.  

Post-Approval Studies Requirements under FDAAA:  The Food and Drug Administration Amendments Act of 2007, or FDAAA 
significantly added to the FDA’s authority to require post-approval studies. Under the FDAAA, if the FDA becomes aware of new safety 
information after approval of a product, they may require us to conduct further clinical trials to assess a known serious risk, signals of serious 
risk or to identify an unexpected serious risk. If required to conduct a post-approval study, periodic status reports must be submitted to the FDA. 
Failure to conduct such post-approval studies in a timely manner may result in administrative action being taken by FDA, including substantial 
civil fines.  

Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy Authority under FDAAA:  The FDAAA also gave the FDA new authority to require the 
implementation of a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, for a product when necessary to minimize known and preventable 
safety risks associated with the product. The FDA may require the submission of a REMS before a product is approved, or after approval based 
on “new safety information,” including new analyses of existing safety information. A REMS may include a medication guide, patient package 
insert, a plan for communication with healthcare providers, or other elements as the FDA deems are necessary to assure safe use of the product, 
which could include imposing certain restrictions on distribution or use of a product. A REMS must include a timetable for submission of 
assessments of the strategy at specified time intervals. Failure to comply with a REMS, including the submission of a required assessment, may 
result in substantial civil or criminal penalties.  

Other Issues Related to Product Safety:  Adverse events that are reported after marketing approval also can result in additional limitations 
being placed on a product’s use and, potentially, withdrawal of the product from the market. In addition, under the FDAAA, the FDA has 
authority to mandate labeling changes to products at any point in a product’s lifecycle based on new safety information derived from clinical 
trials, post-approval studies, peer-reviewed medical literature, or post-market risk identification and analysis systems data.  

FDA Enforcement  

The development of drug and biologic products, as well as the marketing of approved drugs and biologics, is subject to substantial 
continuing regulation by the FDA, including regulation of adverse event reporting, manufacturing practices and the advertising and promotion of 
the product. Failure to comply with the FDA and other governmental regulations can result in fines, unanticipated compliance expenditures, 
recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production and/or distribution, suspension of the FDA’s review of NDAs, BLAs, 
ANDAs or other product applications, enforcement actions, injunctions and criminal prosecution. Under certain circumstances, the FDA also has 
the authority to revoke previously granted drug approvals. Although we have internal compliance programs, if these programs do not meet 
regulatory agency standards or if our compliance is deemed deficient in any significant way, it could have a material adverse effect on our 
business.  
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With respect specifically to information submitted to FDA in support of marketing applications, the FDA, under its Fraud, Untrue 
Statements of Material Facts, Bribery and Illegal Gratuities Policy, can significantly delay the approval of a marketing application, or seek to 
withdraw an approved application where it identifies fraud or discrepancies in regulatory submissions. Such actions by the FDA may 
significantly delay or suspend substantive scientific review of a pending application during validity assessment or remove approved products 
from the market until the assessment is complete and questions regarding reliability of the data are resolved. In addition, the Generic Drug 
Enforcement Act of 1992 established penalties for wrongdoing in connection with the development or submission of an ANDA. Under this Act, 
the FDA has the authority to permanently or temporarily bar companies or individuals from submitting or assisting in the submission of an 
ANDA, and to temporarily deny approval and suspend applications to market generic drugs. The FDA may also suspend the distribution of all 
drugs approved or developed in connection with certain wrongful conduct and/or withdraw approval of an ANDA and seek civil penalties.  

Healthcare Reform  

Continuing studies of the proper utilization, safety and efficacy of pharmaceuticals and other health care products are being conducted by 
industry, government agencies and others. Such studies, which increasingly employ sophisticated methods and techniques, can call into question 
the utilization, safety and efficacy of previously marketed products and in some cases have resulted, and may in the future result, in the 
discontinuance of their marketing.  

The Patient Centered Outcomes Research Institute, a private, non-profit corporation created as a result of the PPACA, is tasked with 
assisting patients, clinician, purchasers, and policy-makers in making informed health decisions. One of the Institute’s initiatives will be to 
conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, which is defined as “research evaluating and comparing health outcomes and the clinical 
effectiveness, risks, and benefits of 2 or more medical treatments, services, and items.” It is important to note that the Institute would not be 
permitted to mandate coverage, reimbursement, or other policies for any public or private payer, however the outcome of the Institute’s 
initiatives could influence prescriber behavior.  

Foreign Regulation  

Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain approval of a product by the comparable regulatory authorities of 
foreign countries before we can commence clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries. The approval process varies from 
country/region to country/region, and the time may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval. The requirements governing the 
conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement also may vary, sometimes significantly, from country/region to 
country/region.  

Under the EU regulatory systems, we may submit marketing authorization applications either under a centralized procedure or 
decentralized procedure or the mutual recognition procedure. The centralized procedure is mandatory for medicines produced by a 
biotechnological process. The procedure is also mandatory for new active substances which are indicated for treatment of several diseases or 
conditions, including cancer and orphan conditions. Companies may apply for centralized assessment if the product contains a new active 
substance or the product constitutes significant therapeutic, scientific or technical innovation or the granting of authorization under the 
centralized procedure is in the interests of the EU patients. A centralized marketing authorization is valid in all European Union member states. 
This marketing authorization is issued in the form of a European Commission decision which is legally binding in its entirety to which it is 
addressed.  

Directive 2004/27/EC introduced two parallel procedures to the centralized procedure to allow a product to be progressively authorized in 
each of the member states of the EU. They are the decentralized procedure and the mutual recognition procedure. The mutual recognition 
procedure applies where the product has already been authorized in a member state of the EU that will act as reference member state. The 
national marketing authorization granted by the reference member state forms the basis for mutual recognition in the member states chosen by 
the applicant. In the decentralized procedure, the product in question is not authorized in any one the EU member states. In such a situation, the 
applicant company will request a member state to act as the reference member state to lead the scientific assessment for the benefit/risk balance 
for agreement by the concerned member states. In both cases, the concerned member states have up to 90 days to accept or raise reasoned 
objections to the assessment made by the reference member state.  

In addition, pricing and reimbursement is subject to negotiation and regulation in most countries outside the U.S. Increasingly, adoption of 
a new product for use in national health services is subject to health technology assessment under the national rules and regulations to establish 
the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a new treatment. In some countries, in order to contain health care expenditures, reference 
price is introduced in order for the national healthcare providers to achieve a price comparable to the reference price in the same therapeutic 
category. We may therefore face the risk that the resulting prices would be insufficient to generate an acceptable return to us.  
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Third Party Reimbursement and Pricing Controls  

In the U.S. and elsewhere, sales of pharmaceutical products depend in significant part on the availability of reimbursement to the consumer 
from third-party payers, such as government and private insurance plans. Third-party payers are increasingly challenging the prices charged for 
medical products and services. It is time-consuming and expensive for us to go through the process of seeking reimbursement from Medicare 
and private payers. Our products may not be considered cost effective, and coverage and reimbursement may not be available or sufficient to 
allow us to sell our products on a competitive and profitable basis.  

The PPACA enacted significant reforms, including revising the definition of “average manufacturer price” for reporting purposes, 
increasing Medicaid rebates, expanding the 340B drug discount program, and making changes to affect the Medicare Part D coverage gap, or 
“donut hole.” In the coming years, additional significant changes could be made to governmental healthcare programs, and the U.S. healthcare 
system as a whole, that may result in significantly increased rebates, decreased pricing flexibility, diminished negotiating flexibility, coverage 
and reimbursement limitations based upon comparative and cost-effectiveness reviews, and other measures that could significantly impact the 
success of our products.  

In many foreign markets, including the countries in the EU, pricing of pharmaceutical products is subject to governmental control. In the 
U.S., there have been, and we expect that there will continue to be, a number of federal and state proposals to implement similar governmental 
pricing control. While we cannot predict whether such legislative or regulatory proposals will be adopted, the adoption of such proposals could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and profitability.  

Employees  

As of December 31, 2013, we had 226 employees (as compared to 193 employees as of December 31, 2012), 13 of whom hold an M.D. 
degree, and eight of whom hold a Ph.D. degree. We believe that the success of our business will depend, in part, on our ability to attract and 
retain qualified personnel. Our employees are not subject to any collective bargaining agreements. We believe that we have good relations with 
our employees.  

General Information  

We are a Delaware corporation. We originally incorporated in Colorado in December 1987 as Americus Funding Corporation. We changed 
our corporate name in August 1996 to NeoTherapeutics, Inc., and reincorporated in Delaware in June 1997. We changed our corporate name in 
December 2002 to Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  

Our principal executive office is located at 11500 South Eastern Avenue, Suite 240, Henderson, Nevada 89052. Our telephone number is 
(702) 835-6300. Our website is located at www.sppirx.com and www.spectrumpharm.com . The information on, or that can be accessed through, 
our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should not be considered to be a part hereof.  

We make our proxy statements, annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K (and related 
amendments to these reports, as applicable) available on our website free of charge as soon as practicable after filing or furnishing with the SEC. 

All such reports are also available free of charge via EDGAR through the SEC website at www.sec.gov . In addition, the public may read 
and copy materials filed by us with the SEC at the SEC’s public reference room located at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C., 20549. 
Information regarding operation of the SEC’s public reference room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.  

   

Before deciding to invest in our company, or to maintain or increase your investment, you should carefully consider the risks described 
below, in addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other reports we have filed with the SEC. The 
risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we 
currently deem immaterial, may also affect our business operations. If any of these risks are realized, our business, financial condition, or results 
of operations could be seriously harmed and in that event, the market price for our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of 
your investment.  
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 



These risk factors should be considered in connection with evaluating the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. These factors could cause actual results and conditions to differ materially from those projected in our forward-looking statements.  

Risks Related to Our Business  

Our drug product FUSILEV may not be more cost-effective than competing drugs and otherwise may not have any competitive advantage, 
which could adversely affect sales performance.  

FUSILEV is a novel folate analog formulation and the pharmacologically active isomer (the levo-isomer) of the racemic compound 
calcium leucovorin, a product already approved for the same indications for which FUSILEV is approved. Leucovorin has been sold as a generic 
product on the market for a number of years. There are generic companies currently selling the product and therefore, FUSILEV competes 
against a low-cost alternative. Also, FUSILEV is offered as part of a treatment regimen, and that regimen may change to exclude FUSILEV. 
Accordingly, it may not continue to be accepted by the medical field or remain commercially successful.  

Our revenue may not be sustainable and our customer concentration for FUSILEV AND FOLOTYN is significant. The loss of, or 
significant reduction or cancellation in sales to, any one of these customers could adversely affect our results of operations.  

There is no assurance that FUSILEV sales will be sustainable at their current levels. Our customer concentration of FUSILEV is high. A 
summary of our FUSILEV customers that represent 10% or more of our total consolidated gross product sales in 2013, 2012, and 2011 is as 
follows:  
   

   

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, three companies affiliated with AmerisourceBergen Corporation accounted for 
substantially all of Allos Therapeutics’ FOLOTYN sales. We expect significant customer concentration to continue for the foreseeable future. 
The loss of any large customer, a significant reduction in sales we make to them, any cancellation of orders they have made with us or any 
failure to pay for the products we have shipped to them could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, as it would likely take 
time for those sales to transition to another customer.  

If the distributors that we rely upon to sell our products fail to perform, our business may be adversely affected.  

Our success depends on the continued customer support efforts of our network of distributors. In the United States, we sell our products to 
a small number of distributors who in turn sell-through to patient health care providers. These distributors also provide multiple logistics services 
relating to the distribution of our products, including transportation, warehousing, cross-docking, inventory management, packaging and freight-
forwarding. We do not promote products to these distributors and they do not set or determine demand for products. The use of distributors 
involves certain risks, including, but not limited to, risks that these distributors will:  
   

   

   

   

Any such actions may result in decreased sales of our products, which would harm our business.  
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     2013     2012     2011   
Oncology Supply       32.0 %      25.8 %      57.0 %  
McKesson Specialty       19.8 %      23.2 %      19.1 %  
ICS       *        16.1 %      *    
Cardinal Health       *        15.7 %      *    

* Less than 10% 

  
•   not provide us with accurate or timely information regarding their inventories, the number of patients who are using our 

products or complaints about our products;  
  •   not purchase sufficient inventory on hand to fulfill end user orders in a timely manner;  
  •   be unable to satisfy financial obligations to us or others; and  
  •   cease operations.  



Wholesaler actions could increase competitive and pricing pressures on pharmaceutical manufacturers, including us.  

We sell certain of our products primarily through wholesalers. These wholesale customers comprise a significant part of the distribution 
network for pharmaceutical products in the U.S. A small number of large wholesale distributors control a significant share of the market, which 
can increase competitive and pricing pressures on pharmaceutical manufacturers, including us. In addition, wholesalers may apply pricing 
pressure through fee-for-service arrangements, and their purchases may exceed customer demand, resulting in reduced wholesaler purchases in 
later quarters. We cannot assure you that we can manage these pressures or that wholesaler purchases will not decrease as a result of this 
potential excess buying.  

Even though we have obtained accelerated approval to market FOLOTYN for the treatment of patients with relapsed or refractory PTCL, 
we are subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and review, including post-approval requirements.  

FOLOTYN was approved for the treatment of patients with relapsed or refractory PTCL under the FDA’s accelerated approval regulations, 
which allow the FDA to approve products for cancer or other serious or life threatening diseases based on initial positive data from clinical trials. 
Under these provisions, we are subject to certain post-approval requirements pursuant to which we are required to conduct two randomized 
Phase 3 trials to confirm FOLOTYN’s clinical benefit in patients with T-cell lymphoma. The FDA has also required that we conduct two Phase 
1 trials to assess whether FOLOTYN poses a serious risk of altered drug levels resulting from organ impairment. Failure to complete the studies 
or adhere to the timelines established by the FDA could result in penalties, including fines or withdrawal of FOLOTYN from the market. The 
FDA may also initiate proceedings to withdraw approval or request that we voluntarily withdraw FOLOTYN from the market if our Phase 3 
studies fail to confirm FOLOTYN’s clinical benefit. Further, the FDA may require us to amend the FOLOTYN package insert, including by 
strengthening the warnings and precautions section or institute a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy based on the results of these studies or 
clinical experience. We are also subject to additional, continuing post-approval regulatory obligations, including the possibility of additional 
clinical studies required by the FDA, safety reporting requirements and regulatory oversight of the promotion and marketing of FOLOTYN. In 
addition, we or our third-party manufacturers are required to adhere to the FDA’s current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP. The cGMP 
regulations cover all aspects of the manufacturing, storage, testing, quality control and record keeping relating to FOLOTYN. Furthermore, we 
or our third-party manufacturers are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities to ensure compliance with 
cGMP or other applicable government regulations and corresponding foreign standards. We have limited control over a third-party 
manufacturer’s compliance with these regulations and standards. If we or our third-party manufacturers fail to comply with applicable regulatory 
requirements, we may be subject to fines, suspension, modification or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products, 
operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.  

Our collaboration partner, Mundipharma, may not be successful in obtaining regulatory approval for FOLOTYN in a number of 
countries and FOLOTYN is subject to numerous complex regulatory requirements.  

Our collaboration partner, Mundipharma, may not be successful in obtaining regulatory approval for FOLOTYN in a number of countries 
and FOLOTYN is subject to numerous complex regulatory requirements. Failure to comply with, or changes to, the regulatory requirements that 
are applicable to FOLOTYN outside the United States may result in a variety of consequences, including the following:  
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  •   restrictions on FOLOTYN or our manufacturing processes;  
  •   warning letters;  
  •   withdrawal of FOLOTYN from the market;  
  •   voluntary or mandatory recall of FOLOTYN;  
  •   fines against us;  
  •   suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals for FOLOTYN;  
  •   suspension or termination of any of our ongoing clinical trials of FOLOTYN;  
  •   refusal to permit import or export of FOLOTYN;  
  •   refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;  
  •   denial of permission to file an application or supplement in a jurisdiction;  
  •   product seizure;  
  •   injunctions, consent decrees, or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties against us.  



If actual future payments for allowances, discounts, returns, rebates and chargebacks exceed the estimates we made at the time of the sale 
of our products, including, without limitation, due to a change in the composition of our sales over time, our financial position, results of 
operations and cash flows may be materially and negatively impacted.  

We recognize product revenue net of estimated allowances for discounts, returns, rebates and chargebacks. Such estimates require our most 
subjective and complex judgment due to the need to make estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain. Based on industry practice, 
pharmaceutical companies, including us, have liberal return policies. Generally, we are obligated to accept from customers the return of 
pharmaceuticals that have reached their expiration date up to twelve months after their expiration. We authorize returns for damaged products 
and exchanges for expired products in accordance with our return goods policy and procedures. In addition, like our competitors, we also give 
credits for chargebacks to wholesale customers that have contracts with us for their sales to hospitals, group purchasing organizations, 
pharmacies or other retail customers. A chargeback is the difference between the price the wholesale customer (in our case, the GPOs) pays 
(wholesale acquisition cost) and the price that the GPO’s end-customer pays for a product (contracted customer). For instance, our products are 
subject to certain programs with federal government qualified entities whereby pricing on products is discounted to such entities and results in a 
chargeback claim to us. To the extent that our sales to discount purchasers, such as federal government qualified entities, increases, our 
chargebacks will also increase. We do not have significant historical data on returns and allowances given our limited commercial distribution 
history. Although we believe that we have estimated the allowances very conservatively, actual results may differ significantly from our 
estimated allowances for discounts, returns, rebates and chargebacks. Changes in estimates and assumptions based upon actual results may have 
a material impact on our results of operations and/or financial condition. Such changes to estimates will be made to the financial statements in 
the year in which the estimate is charged. In addition, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows may be materially and 
negatively impacted if actual future payments for allowances, discounts, returns, rebates and chargebacks exceed the estimates we made at the 
time of the sale of our products.  

Reports of adverse events or safety concerns involving our products or similar agents could delay or prevent us from obtaining or 
maintaining regulatory approval or negatively impact sales.  

Certain of our products may cause serious adverse events. Discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse 
events of unanticipated severity or frequency, could interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials of such products, including the FDA-required post-
approval studies, and could result in the FDA or other regulatory authorities denying or withdrawing approval of our products for any or all 
indications. The FDA, other regulatory authorities or we may suspend or terminate clinical trials at any time. We may also be required to update 
the package inserts based on reports of adverse events or safety concerns or implement a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy, which could 
adversely affect such products acceptance in the market. In addition, the public perception of our products might be adversely affected, which 
could harm our business and results of operations and cause the market price of our common stock to decline, even if the concern relates to 
another company’s product or product candidate. Our planned trials to demonstrate efficacy in a variety of indications and to better manage side 
effect profiles of certain of our products may not be successful.  

The marketing and sale of our products may be adversely affected by the marketing and sales efforts of third parties who sell our products 
or similar products outside of our territories.  

We have only licensed the rights to develop, market and our products in limited territories. Other companies market and sell the same 
products in other parts of the world. If, as a result of other companies’ actions, negative publicity is associated with our products or similar 
products, our own efforts to successfully market and sell our products in our markets may be adversely impacted.  

Our sales depend on coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors and a reduction in the coverage and/or reimbursement for our 
products could have a material adverse effect on our product sales, business and results of operations.  

Sales of our products are dependent on the availability and extent of coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors, including 
government programs and private insurance plans. Governments and private payors may regulate prices, reimbursement levels and/or access to 
our products to contain costs or to affect levels of use. We rely in large part on the reimbursement of our products through government programs 
such as Medicare and Medicaid in the United States, and a reduction in the coverage and/or reimbursement for our products could have a 
material adverse effect on our product sales, business and results of operations.  
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A substantial portion of our U.S. business relies on reimbursement from the U.S. federal government under Medicare Part B coverage. 
Most of our products furnished to Medicare beneficiaries in both a physician office setting and hospital outpatient setting are reimbursed under 
the Medicare Part B Average Sales Price, or ASP, payment methodology. ASP-based reimbursement of our products under Medicare may be 
below or could fall below the cost that some medical providers pay for such products, which could materially and adversely affect sales of our 
products. We also face risks relating to the reporting of pricing data that affect the U.S. reimbursement of and discounts for our products. ASP 
data are calculated by the manufacturer based on a formula defined by statute and regulation and are then submitted to the Centers for 
Medicare & Medicaid Services, the agency responsible for administering the Medicare program, or CMS, on a quarterly basis. CMS uses those 
ASP data to determine the applicable reimbursement rates for our products under Medicare Part B. However, the statute, regulations and CMS 
guidance do not define specific methodologies for all aspects of the reporting of ASP data. For example, CMS has not provided specific 
guidance regarding administrative fees paid to group purchasing organizations, or GPOs, in the ASP calculation. CMS directs that manufacturers 
make “reasonable assumptions” in their calculation of ASP data in the absence of specific CMS guidance on a topic. As a result, we are required 
to apply our reasonable judgment to certain aspects of calculating ASP data. If our submitted ASP data are incorrect, we may become subject to 
substantial fines and penalties or other government enforcement actions, which could have a material adverse impact on our business and results 
of operations.  

We are aware of several competitors attempting to develop and market products competitive to our products, which may reduce or 
eliminate our commercial opportunities.  

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries are intensely competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological changes, and 
a number of companies are pursuing the development of pharmaceuticals and products that target the same diseases and conditions that our 
products target. We cannot predict with accuracy the timing or impact of the introduction of potentially competitive products or their possible 
effect on our sales. Certain potentially competitive products to our products are in various stages of development, some of which have pending 
applications for approval with the FDA or have been approved by regulatory authorities in other countries. Also, there are many ongoing studies 
with currently marketed products and other developmental products, which may yield new data that could adversely impact the use of our 
products in their current and potential future indications. The introduction of competitive products could significantly reduce our sales, which, in 
turn would adversely impact our financial and operating results.  

Servicing our debt requires a significant amount of cash, and we may not have sufficient cash flow from our business to pay our 
substantial debt.  

We had $120 million of long term debt as of December 31, 2013. Any such indebtedness will require the dedication of a portion of our 
expected cash flow from operations to service our indebtedness, thereby reducing the amount of our cash flow available for other purposes. In 
addition, our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness, including our 
convertible notes, depends on our future performance, which is subject to regulatory, economic, financial, competitive and other factors beyond 
our control, and our ability to raise equity capital. Our business may not continue to generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient to 
service our debt and make necessary capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more 
alternatives, such as selling assets, restructuring debt or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our 
ability to refinance our indebtedness will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to engage 
in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on our debt obligations.  

Clinical trials may fail to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our drug products, which could prevent or significantly delay obtaining 
regulatory approval.  

Prior to receiving approval to commercialize any of our drug products, we must demonstrate with substantial evidence from well-
controlled clinical trials, and to the satisfaction of the FDA, and other regulatory authorities in the U.S. and other countries, that each of the 
products is both safe and effective. For each drug product, we will need to demonstrate its efficacy and monitor its safety throughout the process. 
If such development is unsuccessful, our business and reputation would be harmed and our stock price would be adversely affected.  

All of our drug products are prone to the risks of failure inherent in drug development. Clinical trials of new drug products sufficient to 
obtain regulatory marketing approval are expensive, uncertain, and take years to complete. We may not be able to successfully complete clinical 
testing within the time frame we have planned, or at all. We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the clinical 
trial process that could delay or prevent us from receiving regulatory approval or commercializing our drug products. In addition, the results of 
pre-clinical studies and early-stage  
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clinical trials of our drug products do not necessarily predict the results of later-stage clinical trials. Later-stage clinical trials may fail to 
demonstrate that a drug product is safe and effective despite having progressed through initial clinical testing. Even if we believe the data 
collected from clinical trials of our drug products is promising, data are susceptible to varying interpretations, and such data may not be 
sufficient to support approval by the FDA or any other U.S. or foreign regulatory approval. Pre-clinical and clinical data can be interpreted in 
different ways.  

Accordingly, FDA officials could interpret such data in different ways than we or our partners do which could delay, limit or prevent 
regulatory approval. The FDA, other regulatory authorities, our institutional review boards, our contract research organizations, or we may 
suspend or terminate our clinical trials for our drug products. Any failure or significant delay in completing clinical trials for our drug products, 
or in receiving regulatory approval for the sale of any drugs resulting from our drug products, may severely harm our business and reputation. 
Even if we receive FDA and other regulatory approvals, our drug products may later exhibit adverse effects that may limit or prevent their 
widespread use, may cause the FDA to revoke, suspend or limit their approval, or may force us to withdraw products derived from those drug 
products from the market.  

Moreover, the commencement and completion of clinical trials may be delayed by many factors that are beyond our control, including:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

We could encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us, the IRBs of the clinical trial sites in which such trials are 
being conducted, or by the FDA or other regulatory authorities. Such authorities may impose such a suspension or termination due to a number 
of factors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols, inspection of the 
clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety 
issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a drug, changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions 
or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial. For example, any delay in final data results in the second quarter of 2014 in the pivotal 
trial of our Captisol-enabled MELPHALAN product candidate for use as a conditioning treatment prior to autologous stem cell transplant for 
patients with multiple myeloma could delay a new drug application filing with respect to that product candidate.  

Our supply of active pharmaceutical ingredients, or APIs, and drug products will be dependent upon the production capabilities of 
contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, component and packaging supply sources, other third-party suppliers, and other 
providers of logistical services, some of whom are based overseas and, if these parties are not able to meet our demands and FDA scrutiny, 
we may be limited in our ability to meet demand for our products, ensure regulatory compliance or maximize profit on the sale of our 
products.  

We have no internal manufacturing capacity for APIs or our drug products, and, therefore, we have entered into agreements with CMOs 
and other suppliers to supply us with APIs and our finished dose drug products. Success in the development and marketing of our drug products 
depends, in part, upon our ability to maintain, expand and enhance our  
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  •   delays obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial;  
  •   reaching agreement on acceptable terms with contract research organizations, or CROs, and clinical trial sites;  
  •   obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, approval at each site;  
  •   slower than anticipated patient enrollment;  
  •   scheduling conflicts with participating clinicians and clinical institutions;  
  •   lack of funding;  
  •   negative or inconclusive results;  
  •   patient noncompliance with the protocol;  
  •   adverse medical events or side effects among patients during the clinical trials;  
  •   negative or problematic FDA inspections of our clinical operations or manufacturing operations; and  
  •   real or perceived lack of effectiveness or safety of mifepristone.  



existing relationships and establish new sources of supply. Some of the third-party manufacturing facilities used in the production of APIs and 
our drug products are located outside the U.S. The manufacture of APIs and finished drug products, including the acquisition of compounds used 
in the manufacture of the finished drug product, may require considerable lead times. We have little or no control over the production processes 
of third-party manufacturers, CMOs or other suppliers. Our ability to source APIs and drug products is also dependent on providers of logistical 
services who may be subject to disruptions that we cannot predict or sufficiently plan around. Accordingly, while we do not currently anticipate 
shortages of supply, circumstances could arise in which we will not have adequate supplies to timely meet our requirements or market demand 
for a particular drug product could outstrip the ability of our supply source to timely manufacture and deliver the product, thereby causing us to 
lose sales. In addition, our ability to make a profit on the sale of our drug products depends on our ability to obtain price arrangements that 
ensure a supply of product at favorable prices.  

Additionally, we are in the process of transitioning to a new supplier for ZEVALIN cold kits, and currently no qualified alternative 
suppliers exist. Furthermore, we have multiple but a limited number of suppliers of FUSILEV. If problems arise during the production of a batch 
of our drug products, that batch of product may have to be discarded. This could, among other things, lead to increased costs, lost revenue, 
damage to customer relations, time and expense spent investigating the cause and, depending on the cause, similar losses with respect to other 
batches or products. If problems are not discovered before the product is released to the market, recall and product liability costs may also be 
incurred. To the extent that one of our suppliers experiences significant manufacturing problems, this could have a material adverse effect on our 
revenues and profitability.  

Finally, reliance on CMOs entails risks to which we would not be subject if we manufactured products ourselves, including reliance on the 
third party for regulatory compliance and adherence to the FDA’s current Good Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, requirements, the possible 
breach of the manufacturing agreement by the CMO and the possibility of termination or non-renewal of the agreement by the CMO, based on 
its own business priorities, at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us. Before we can obtain marketing approval for our drug products, our 
CMO facilities must pass an FDA pre-approval inspection. In order to obtain approval, all of the facility’s manufacturing methods, equipment 
and processes must comply with cGMP requirements. The cGMP requirements govern all areas of record keeping, production processes and 
controls, personnel and quality control. In addition, our CMOs will be subject to on-going periodic inspection by the FDA and corresponding 
state and foreign agencies for compliance with cGMP regulations, similar foreign regulations and other regulatory standards. We do not have 
control over our CMOs’ compliance with these regulations and standards. Any failure of our third party manufacturers or us to comply with 
applicable regulations, including an FDA pre-approval inspection and cGMP requirements, could result in sanctions being imposed on them or 
us, including warning letters, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of regulatory authorities to grant marketing approval of our products, 
delay, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product, operation restrictions and criminal prosecutions, 
any of which could significantly and adversely affect our business.  

Adverse economic conditions may have material adverse consequences on our business, results of operations and financial condition.  

Unpredictable and unstable changes in economic conditions, including recession, inflation, increased government intervention, or other 
changes, may adversely affect our general business strategy. We rely upon our ability to generate positive cash flow from operations to fund our 
business. If we are not able to generate positive cash flow from operations, we may need to utilize sources of financing or other sources of cash. 
We may need to raise additional funds through public or private debt or equity financings in order to fund existing operations or to take 
advantage of opportunities, including acquisitions of complementary businesses or technologies. In addition, if our business deteriorates, we may 
not be able to maintain compliance with any covenants or representations and warranties in any such financings which could result in reduced 
availability of such financings, an event of default under such financings, or could make other sources of financing unavailable to us. Any such 
event would have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.  

While we believe we have adequate capital resources to meet current working capital and capital expenditure requirements, an economic 
downturn or an increase in our expenses could require additional financing on less than attractive rates or on terms that are excessively dilutive 
to existing stockholders. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a timely manner and on favorable terms could have a material adverse 
effect on our growth strategy, financial performance and stock price and could require us to delay or abandon clinical development plans or plans 
to acquire additional technology.  

Volatile economic conditions may not only limit our access to capital, but may also make it difficult for our customers and us to accurately 
forecast and plan future business activities, and they could cause businesses to slow spending on our products, which would delay and lengthen 
sales cycles. Furthermore, during challenging economic times, our customers may face issues gaining timely access to sufficient credit, which 
could result in an impairment of their ability to make timely payments to us. In addition, adverse economic conditions could also adversely 
impact our suppliers’ ability to provide us with materials which would negatively impact on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.  
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Our dependence on key executives, scientists and sales and marketing personnel could impact the development and management of our 
business.  

We are highly dependent upon our ability to attract and retain qualified scientific, technical sales and marketing and managerial personnel. There 
is intense competition for qualified personnel in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, and we cannot be sure that we will be able to 
continue to attract and retain the qualified personnel necessary for the development and management of our business. Although we do not 
believe the loss of one individual would materially harm our business, our business might be harmed by the loss of the services of multiple 
existing personnel, as well as the failure to recruit additional key scientific, technical and managerial personnel in a timely manner. Much of the 
know-how we have developed resides in our scientific and technical personnel and is not readily transferable to other personnel. While we have 
employment agreements with each of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Operating Officer, we do not have employment agreements 
with any of our other key scientific, technical and managerial employees.  

As we evolve from a company primarily involved in development to a company also involved in commercialization, we may encounter 
difficulties in managing our growth and expanding our operations successfully.  

Our commercial sales history is limited and we have had to increase our personnel to accommodate such sales, including establishing a 
direct sales force and complete commercial team. In addition, as we advance our drug products through clinical trials, we will need to expand 
our development, regulatory, manufacturing, marketing and sales capabilities or contract with third parties to provide these capabilities for us. As 
our operations expand, we expect that we will need to manage additional relationships with such third parties, as well as additional collaborators 
and suppliers. Maintaining these relationships and managing our future growth will impose significant added responsibilities on members of our 
management. We must be able to: manage our development efforts effectively; manage our clinical trials effectively; hire, train and integrate 
additional management, development, administrative and sales and marketing personnel; improve our managerial, development, operational and 
finance systems and expand our facilities, all of which may impose a strain on our administrative and operational infrastructure. If we are not 
able to effectively manage our growth, our product sales and resulting revenues will be negatively impacted.  

Expansion into international markets is important to our long-term success, and our inexperience in international operations increases 
the risk that our international expansion efforts will not be successful.  

We currently maintain offices outside of the United States and have sales personnel or independent consultants in several countries. 
Additionally, we conduct clinical trials and manufacture our drug products internationally. We have limited experience operating in foreign 
jurisdictions and are rapidly building our international operations. Managing a global organization is difficult, time consuming and expensive. 
Our inexperience in operating our business outside of the United States increases the risk that any international expansion efforts that we may 
undertake will not be successful. In addition, conducting international operations subjects us to new risks that we have not generally faced in the 
United States, many of which are beyond our control. These risks include, among other things:  
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  •   challenges caused by distance, language and cultural differences;  
  •   maintaining compliance with foreign legal requirements, including employment law;  
  •   unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirements, including quality standards and other certification requirements;  

  
•   potentially adverse tax consequences, including the complexities of foreign value added tax systems and restrictions on the 

repatriation of earnings;  
  •   tariffs, customs, duties and other trade barriers;  
  •   increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;  
  •   changing economic conditions in countries where our products are manufactured;  
  •   exchange rate risks;  
  •   product liability, intellectual property and other claims;  
  •   reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;  
  •   political and social instability;  

  •   new export license requirements; and  
  •   difficulties in managing and staffing foreign operations.  



Operating in international markets also requires significant management attention and financial resources. The investment and additional 
resources required to establish operations and manage growth in other countries may not produce the desired levels of revenue or profitability, 
which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We may not be able to successfully integrate our recent acquisitions and any additional businesses we may acquire.  

We regularly evaluate and, as appropriate, may make selective acquisitions of businesses that we believe complement or augment our 
existing business. In September 2012, we acquired Allos Therapeutics, pursuant to which we obtained FOLOTYN, and in July 2013, we 
acquired Talon, pursuant to which we obtained MARQIBO. We may not be able to integrate any acquired business successfully or operate any 
acquired business profitably. Issues that could delay or prevent integration of the acquired business into our own include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

If we are unable to successfully integrate our acquisitions with our existing business, we may not obtain the advantages that the 
acquisitions were intended to create, which may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash 
flows, our ability to develop and introduce new products and the market price of our stock. Actual costs and sales synergies, if achieved at all, 
may be lower than we expect and may take longer to achieve than we anticipate. Furthermore, the products of companies we acquire may 
overlap with our products or those of our customers, creating conflicts with existing relationships or with other commitments that are detrimental 
to the integrated businesses.  

Our collaborations with outside scientists may be subject to change, which could limit our access to their expertise.  

We work with scientific advisors and collaborators at research institutions. These scientists are not our employees and may have other 
commitments that would limit their availability to us. If a conflict of interest between their work for us and their work for another entity arises, 
we may lose their services, which could negatively impact our research and development activities.  

We may rely on contract research organizations and other third parties to conduct clinical trials and, in such cases, we are unable to 
directly control the timing, conduct and expense of our clinical trials.  

We may rely, in full or in part, on third parties to conduct our clinical trials. In such situations, we have less control over the conduct of our 
clinical trials, the timing and completion of the trials, the required reporting of adverse events and the management of data developed through the 
trial than would be the case if we were relying entirely upon our own staff. Communicating with outside parties can also be challenging, 
potentially leading to mistakes as well as difficulties in coordinating activities. Outside parties may have staffing difficulties, may undergo 
changes in priorities or may become financially distressed, adversely affecting their willingness or ability to conduct our trials. We may 
experience unexpected cost increases that are beyond our control. Problems with the timeliness or quality of the work of a contract research 
organization may lead us to seek to terminate the relationship and use an alternative service provider. However, making this change may be 
costly and may delay our trials, and contractual restrictions may make such a change difficult or impossible. Additionally, it may be impossible 
to find a replacement organization that can conduct our trials in an acceptable manner and at an acceptable cost.  
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  •   conforming standards, controls, procedures and policies, business cultures and compensation structures;  
  •   conforming information technology and accounting systems;  
  •   consolidating corporate and administrative infrastructures;  
  •   consolidating sales and marketing operations;  
  •   retaining existing customers and attracting new customers;  
  •   retaining key employees;  
  •   identifying and eliminating redundant and underperforming operations and assets;  
  •   minimizing the diversion of management’s attention from ongoing business concerns;  
  •   coordinating geographically dispersed organizations;  
  •   managing tax costs or inefficiencies associated with integrating operations; and  

  
•   making any necessary modifications to operating control standards to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and 

regulations promulgated thereunder.  



We may have conflicts with our partners that could delay or prevent the development or commercialization of our drug products.  

We may have conflicts with our partners, such as conflicts concerning the interpretation of preclinical or clinical data, the achievement of 
milestones, the interpretation of contractual obligations, payments for services, development obligations or the ownership of intellectual property 
developed during our collaboration. If any conflicts arise with any of our partners, such partner may act in a manner that is adverse to our best 
interests. Any such disagreement could result in one or more of the following, each of which could delay or prevent the development or 
commercialization of our drug product, and in turn prevent us from generating revenues from such drug product:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Given these risks, it is possible that any collaborative arrangements which we have or may enter into may not be successful.  

Our efforts to acquire or in-license and develop additional drug products may fail, which might limit our ability to grow our business.  

To remain competitive and grow our business, our long-term strategy includes the acquisition or in-license of additional drug products. We 
are actively seeking to acquire, or in-license, additional commercial drug products as well as drug products that have demonstrated positive pre-
clinical and/or clinical data. We have certain criteria that we are looking for in any drug product acquisition and in-license and we may not be 
successful in locating and acquiring, or in-licensing, additional desirable drug products on acceptable terms.  

To accomplish our acquisition and in-license strategy, we intend to commit efforts, funds and other resources to research and development 
and business development. Even with acquired and in-licensed drug products, a high rate of failure is inherent in the development of such 
products. We must make ongoing substantial expenditures without any assurance that our efforts will be commercially successful. Failure can 
occur at any point in the process, including after significant funds have been invested. For example, promising new drug product candidates may 
fail to reach the market or may only have limited commercial success because of efficacy or safety concerns, failure to achieve positive clinical 
outcomes, inability to obtain necessary regulatory approvals, limited scope of approved uses, excessive costs to manufacture, the failure to 
establish or maintain intellectual property rights or infringement of the intellectual property rights of others.  
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  •   unwillingness on the part of a partner to pay us milestone payments or royalties that we believe are due to us under a collaboration;  

  
•   uncertainty regarding ownership of intellectual property rights arising from our collaborative activities, which could prevent us from 

entering into additional collaborations;  

  
•   unwillingness by the partner to cooperate in the development or manufacture of the product, including providing us with product data 

or materials;  

  
•   unwillingness on the part of a partner to keep us informed regarding the progress of its development and commercialization activities 

or to permit public disclosure of the results of those activities;  
  •   initiation of litigation or alternative dispute resolution options by either party to resolve the dispute;  
  •   attempts by either party to terminate the collaboration;  
  •   our ability to maintain or defend our intellectual property rights may be compromised by our partner’s acts or omissions;  

  
•   a partner may utilize our intellectual property rights in such a way as to invite litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our 

intellectual property rights or expose us to potential liability;  

  
•   a partner may change the focus of its development and commercialization efforts due to internal reorganizations, mergers, 

consolidations and otherwise;  

  
•   unwillingness of a partner to fully fund or commit sufficient resources to the testing, marketing, distribution or development of our 

products;  

  
•   unwillingness or ability of a partner to fulfill their obligations to us due to the pursuit of alternative products, conflicts of interest that 

arise or changes in business strategy or other business issues; and/or  
  •   we may not be able to guarantee supplies of development or marketed products.  



In addition, many other large and small companies within the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry seek to establish collaborative 
arrangements for product research and development, or otherwise acquire products in late-stage clinical development, in competition with us. 
We face additional competition from public and private research organizations, academic institutions and governmental agencies in establishing 
collaborative arrangements for drug products in late-stage clinical development. Many of the companies and institutions that compete against us 
have substantially greater capital resources, research and development staffs and facilities than we have, and greater experience in conducting 
business development activities. These entities represent significant competition to us as we seek to expand our portfolio through the in-license 
or acquisition of compounds. Finally, while it is not feasible to predict the actual cost of acquiring and developing additional drug products, that 
cost could be substantial and we may need to raise additional financing for such purpose, which may further dilute existing stockholders.  

From time to time we may need to license patents, intellectual property and proprietary technologies from third parties, which may be 
difficult or expensive to obtain.  

We may need to obtain licenses to patents and other proprietary rights held by third parties to successfully develop, manufacture and 
market our drug products. As an example, it may be necessary to use a third party’s proprietary technology to reformulate one of our drug 
products in order to improve upon the capabilities of the drug product. If we are unable to timely obtain these licenses on reasonable terms, our 
ability to commercially exploit our drug products may be inhibited or prevented.  

We are a small company relative to our principal competitors, and our limited financial resources may limit our ability to develop and 
market our drug products.  

Many companies, both public and private, including well-known pharmaceutical companies and smaller niche-focused companies, are 
developing products to treat many, if not all, of the diseases we are pursuing or are currently distributing drug products that directly compete 
with the drugs that we sell or that we intend to develop, market and distribute. Many of these companies have substantially greater financial, 
research and development, manufacturing, marketing and sales experience and resources than us. As a result, our competitors may be more 
successful than us in developing their products, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing their products to consumers.  

Competition for branded or proprietary drugs is less driven by price and is more focused on innovation in the treatment of disease, 
advanced drug delivery and specific clinical benefits over competitive drug therapies. We may not be successful in any or all of our current 
clinical studies; or if successful, and if one or more of our drug products is approved by the FDA, we may encounter direct competition from 
other companies who may be developing products for similar or the same indications as our drug products. Companies that have products on the 
market or in research and development that target the same indications as our products target include, among others, Abraxis Bioscience, Inc., 
Astra Zeneca LP, Bayer AG, Endo Pharmaceuticals, Eli Lilly and Co., Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Genentech, Inc., Bristol-Myers 
Squibb Company, GlaxoSmithKline, Biogen-IDEC Pharmaceuticals, Inc., OSI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Cephalon, Inc., Sanofi-aventis, Inc., Pfizer, 
Inc., Genta Incorporated, Merck, Celgene Corporation, BiPar Sciences, Inc., Genzyme Corporation, Shire Pharmaceuticals, Abbott Laboratories, 
Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Roche Pharmaceuticals and Johnson & Johnson who may be more advanced in the development of competing 
drug products or are more established. Many of our competitors are large and well-capitalized companies focusing on a wide range of diseases 
and drug indications, and have substantially greater financial, research and development, marketing, human and other resources than we do. 
Furthermore, large pharmaceutical companies have significantly more experience than we do in pre-clinical testing, human clinical trials and 
regulatory approval procedures, among other things.  

The potential size of the market for our drug products is uncertain.  

We often provide estimates of the number of people who suffer from the diseases that our drugs are targeting. However, there is limited 
information available regarding the actual size of these patient populations. In addition, it is uncertain whether the results from previous or future 
clinical trials of drug products will be observed in broader patient populations, and the number of patients who may benefit from our drug 
products may be significantly smaller than the estimated patient populations.  
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Changes in our effective income tax rate could adversely affect our profitability.  

We are subject to federal and state income taxes in the U.S. and our tax liabilities are dependent upon the distribution of income among 
these different jurisdictions. Various factors may have favorable or unfavorable effects on our effective income tax rate. These factors include, 
but are not limited to:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

The impact on our income tax provision resulting from the above-mentioned factors may be significant and could have an impact on our 
profitability.  

Earthquakes or other natural or man-made disasters and business interruptions could adversely affect our business.  

Our operations are vulnerable to interruption by fire, power loss, floods, telecommunications failure and other events beyond our control. 
In addition, our operations are susceptible to disruption as a result of natural disasters such as earthquakes. So far we have never experienced any 
significant disruption of our operations as a result of earthquakes or other natural or man-made disasters. Although we have a contingency 
recovery plan, any significant business interruption could cause delays in our drug development and future sales and harm our business.  

Risks Related to Our Industry  

If we are unable to adequately protect our technology or enforce our patent rights, our business could suffer.  

Our success with the drug products that we develop will depend, in part, on our ability and the ability of our licensors to obtain and 
maintain patent protection for these products. We currently have a number of U.S. and foreign patents issued and pending, however, we 
primarily rely on patent rights licensed from others. Our license agreements generally give us the right and/or obligation to maintain and enforce 
the subject patents. We may not receive patents for any of our pending patent applications or any patent applications we may file in the future. If 
our pending and future patent applications are not allowed or, if allowed and issued into patents, if such patents and the patents we have licensed 
are not upheld in a court of law, our ability to competitively exploit our drug products would be substantially harmed. Also, such patents may or 
may not provide competitive advantages for their respective products or they may be challenged or circumvented by our competitors, in which 
case our ability to commercially exploit these products may be diminished.  

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual 
questions. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in pharmaceutical and biotechnology patents has emerged to date in the 
U.S. The laws of many countries may not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as U.S. laws, and those countries may lack 
adequate rules and procedures for defending our intellectual property rights. Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on all our products or 
product candidates throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions and may not 
be covered by any of our patent claims or other intellectual property rights.  

Changes in either patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the U.S. and other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual 
property. We do not know whether any of our patent applications will result in the issuance of any patents, and we cannot predict the breadth of 
claims that may be allowed in our patent applications or in the patent applications we license from others.  
   

31  

  •   interpretations of existing tax laws;  
  •   the accounting for stock options and other share-based compensation;  
  •   changes in tax laws and rates;  
  •   future levels of research and development spending;  
  •   changes in accounting standards;  
  •   changes in the mix of earnings in the various tax jurisdictions in which we operate;  
  •   the outcome of examinations by the Internal Revenue Service and other jurisdictions;  
  •   the accuracy of our estimates for unrecognized tax benefits;  
  •   realization of deferred tax assets; and  
  •   changes in overall levels of pre-tax earnings.  



The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited protection and may not 
adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For example:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Moreover, an issued patent does not guarantee us the right to practice the patented technology or commercialize the patented product. 
Third parties may have blocking patents that could be used to prevent us from commercializing our patented products and practicing our 
patented technology. Our issued patents and those that may be issued in the future may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, which could 
limit our ability to prevent competitors from marketing related product candidates or could limit the length of the term of patent protection of our 
product candidates. For example, on January 20, 2012 and February 17, 2012, respectively, we filed suit against Sandoz Inc. and Innopharma 
Inc, respectively following Paragraph IV certifications in connection with their filing separate Abbreviated New Drug Applications, or ANDAs, 
to manufacture a generic version of FUSILEV. On December 9, 2013, three parties collaborating with Innopharma were joined to Innopharma 
case: Mylan Teoranta, Mylan Institutional LLC; and Mylan Institutional, Inc. (collectively “Mylan”). While we believe our patent rights are 
strong, the ultimate outcome of these cases is uncertain, and if we do not prevail in the litigation, Sandoz Inc. and Innopharma Inc.,/Mylan, 
subject to fulfilling the applicable regulatory requirements, may be able to launch a generic version that would compete with FUSILEV, which 
could result in an immediate and substantial decrease in our revenues. In addition, our competitors may independently develop similar 
technologies. Moreover, because of the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review of a potential product, it is 
possible that, before any of our product candidates can be commercialized, any related patent may expire or remain in force for only a short 
period following commercialization, thereby reducing any advantage of the patent.  

We also rely on trade secret protection and contractual protections for our unpatented, confidential and proprietary technology. Trade 
secrets are difficult to protect. While we enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants and others, these agreements may 
not successfully protect our trade secrets or other confidential and proprietary information. It is possible that these agreements will be breached, 
or that they will not be enforceable in every instance, and that we will not have adequate remedies for any such breach. Likewise, although we 
conduct periodic trade secret audits of certain partners, vendors and contract manufacturers, these trade secret audits may not protect our trade 
secrets or other confidential and proprietary information. It is possible that despite having certain trade secret audited security measures in place, 
trade secrets or other confidential and proprietary information may still be leaked or disclosed to a third party. It is also possible that our trade 
secrets will become known or independently developed by our competitors.  

We also rely on trademarks to protect the names of our products. These trademarks may be challenged by others. If we enforce our 
trademarks against third parties, such enforcement proceedings may be expensive. Some of our trademarks, including ZEVALIN are owned by, 
or assignable to, our licensors and, upon expiration or termination of the applicable license agreements, we may no longer be able to use these 
trademarks.  

If we are unable to adequately protect our technology, trade secrets or proprietary know-how, or enforce our patents and trademarks, our 
business, financial condition and prospects could suffer.  

Intellectual property rights are complex and uncertain and therefore may subject us to infringement claims.  

The patent positions related to our drug products are inherently uncertain and involve complex legal and factual issues. We believe that 
there is significant litigation in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. A patent 
does not provide the patent holder with freedom to operate in a way that infringes the  
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•   in certain jurisdictions, we or our licensors might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our or our 

licensors’ pending patent applications and issued patents, and we may have to participate in expensive and protracted interference 
proceedings to determine priority of invention;  

  •   we or our licensors might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions;  

  
•   others may independently develop similar or alternative product candidates or duplicate any of our or our licensors’ product 

candidates;  
  •   our or our licensors’  pending patent applications may not result in issued patents;  

  
•   our or our licensors’ issued patents may not provide a basis for commercially viable products or may not provide us with any 

competitive advantages or may be challenged by third parties;  

  
•   others may design around our or our licensors’ patent claims to produce competitive products that fall outside the scope of our or our 

licensors’  patents;  
  •   we may not develop or in-license additional patentable proprietary technologies related to our product candidates; or  

  
•   the patents of others may prevent us from marketing one or more of our product candidates for one or more indications that may be 

valuable to our business strategy.  



patent rights of others. We may be accused of patent infringement at any time. The coverage of patents is subject to interpretation by the courts, 
and the interpretation is not always uniform. If we are sued for patent infringement, we would need to demonstrate that our products or methods 
do not infringe the patent claims of the relevant patent and/or that the patent claims are invalid or unenforceable, and we may not be able to do 
this. Proving invalidity, in particular, is difficult since it requires a showing of clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption of 
validity enjoyed by issued patents in the U.S.  

Although we are not aware of any infringement by any of our drug products on the rights of any third party, there may be third party 
patents or other intellectual property rights, including trademarks and copyrights, relevant to our drug products of which we are not aware. Third 
parties may assert patent or other intellectual property infringement claims against us, or our licensors and collaborators, with products. Any 
claims that might be brought against us relating to infringement of patents may cause us to incur significant expenses and, if successfully 
asserted against us, may cause us to pay substantial damages and result in the loss of our use of the intellectual property that is critical to our 
business strategy.  

In the event that we or our partners are found to infringe any valid claim of a patent held by a third party, we may, among other things, be 
required to:  
   

   

   

   

   

Rapid bio-technological advancement may render our drug products obsolete before we are able to recover expenses incurred in 
connection with their development. As a result, some of our drug products may never become profitable.  

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapidly evolving biotechnology. Biotechnologies under development by other 
pharmaceutical companies could result in treatments for diseases and disorders for which we are developing our own treatments. Several other 
companies are engaged in research and development of compounds that are similar to our research. A competitor could develop a new 
biotechnology, product or therapy that has better efficacy, a more favorable side-effect profile or is more cost-effective than one or more of our 
drug products and thereby cause our drug products to become commercially obsolete. Some of our drug products may become obsolete before 
we recover the expenses incurred in their development. As a result, such products may never become profitable.  

Failure to obtain regulatory approval outside the U.S. will prevent us from marketing our product candidates abroad.  

We intend to market certain of our existing and future product candidates in outside of the U.S. In order to market our existing and future 
product candidates in the European Union and many other foreign jurisdictions, we must obtain separate regulatory approvals according to the 
applicable domestic laws and regulations. We have had limited interactions with foreign regulatory authorities, and the approval procedures vary 
among countries and can involve additional testing, and the time required to obtain approval may differ from that required to obtain FDA 
approval. Approval by the FDA does not guarantee approval by regulatory authorities in other countries, and approval by one or more foreign 
regulatory authorities does not necessarily ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or by the FDA. A failure or delay in 
obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process in others. The foreign regulatory 
approval process may include all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval as well as other risks specific to the jurisdictions in which 
we may seek approval. We may not obtain foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basis, if at all. We may not be able to file for foreign 
regulatory approvals and may not receive necessary approvals to commercialize our existing and future product candidates in any market.  
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  •   pay damages, including up to treble damages and the other party’s attorneys’  fees, which may be substantial;  

  
•   cease the development, manufacture, use and sale of our products that infringe the patent rights of others through a court-imposed 

sanction such as an injunction;  
  •   expend significant resources to redesign our products so they do not infringe others’  patent rights, which may not be possible;  
  •   discontinue manufacturing or other processes incorporating infringing technology; or  
  •   obtain licenses to the infringed intellectual property, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.  



Competition for patients in conducting clinical trials may prevent or delay product development and strain our limited financial resources. 

Many pharmaceutical companies are conducting clinical trials involving patients with the disease indications that our drug products target. 
As a result, we must compete with them for clinical sites, physicians and the limited number of patients who fulfill the stringent requirements for 
participation in clinical trials. Also, due to the confidential nature of clinical trials, we do not know how many of the eligible patients may be 
enrolled in competing studies and who are consequently not available to us for our clinical trials. Our clinical trials may be delayed or terminated 
due to the inability to enroll enough patients. Patient enrollment depends on many factors, including the size of the patient population, the nature 
of the trial protocol, the proximity of patients to clinical sites and the eligibility criteria for the study. The delay or inability to meet planned 
patient enrollment may result in increased costs and delays or termination of the trial, which could have a harmful effect on our ability to develop 
products.  

Even after we receive regulatory approval to market our drug products, the market may not be receptive to our drug products upon their 
commercial introduction, which would negatively impact our ability to achieve profitability.  

Our drug products may not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors and the medical community. The degree 
of market acceptance of any approved drug products will depend on a number of factors, including:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

If our drug products receive regulatory approval but do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, healthcare payors and 
patients, we may not generate drug product revenues sufficient to attain profitability.  

Guidelines and recommendations published by various organizations can reduce the use of our products.  

Government agencies such as the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services promulgate regulations, and issue guidelines, directly 
applicable to us and to our products. In addition, third parties such as professional societies, practice management groups, insurance carriers, 
physicians, private health/science foundations and organizations involved in various diseases from time to time may publish guidelines or 
recommendations to healthcare providers, administrators and payors, and patient communities. Recommendations may relate to such matters as 
utilization, dosage, route of administration and use of related therapies and coverage and reimbursement of our products by government and 
private payors. Third-party organizations like the above have in the past made recommendations about our products. Recommendations or 
guidelines that are followed by patients and healthcare providers could result in decreased utilization and/or dosage of our products, any of 
which could adversely affect our product sales and operating results materially.  

The sale of our products is subject to regulatory approvals, and our business is subject to extensive regulatory requirements, and if we are 
unable to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, or if we fail to comply with governmental regulations we will be limited 
in our ability to commercialize our products and product candidates and/or subject us to penalties.  

We are not permitted to market or promote any of our product candidates before we receive regulatory approval from the FDA or 
comparable foreign regulatory authorities, and we may never receive such regulatory approval for any of our product candidates. Obtaining 
regulatory approval of a new drug is an uncertain, lengthy and expensive process, and success is never guaranteed. Despite the time, resources 
and effort expended, failure can occur at any stage. In order to receive approval from the FDA for each product candidate, we must demonstrate 
that the new drug product is safe and effective for its intended use and that the manufacturing processes for the product candidate comply with 
the FDA’s cGMPs. cGMPs include requirements related to production processes, quality control and assurance, and recordkeeping. The FDA 
has substantial discretion in the approval process for human medicines.  

The FDA and comparable agencies in foreign countries impose many requirements related to the drug development process through 
lengthy and rigorous clinical testing and data collection procedures, and other costly and time consuming compliance procedures. While we 
believe that we are currently in compliance with applicable FDA regulations, if our partners, the contract research organizations or contract 
manufacturers with which we have relationships, or we fail to comply with the regulations applicable to our clinical testing, the FDA may delay, 
suspend or cancel our clinical trials, or the FDA might not accept the test results. The FDA, an institutional review board, third party 
investigators, any comparable regulatory agency in another country, or we, may suspend clinical trials at any time if the trials expose subjects 
participating in such  
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  •   the effectiveness of the drug product;  
  •   the prevalence and severity of any side effects;  
  •   potential advantages or disadvantages over alternative treatments;  
  •   relative convenience and ease of administration;  
  •   the strength of marketing and distribution support;  
  •   the price of the drug product, both in absolute terms and relative to alternative treatments; and  
  •   sufficient third-party coverage and reimbursement.  



trials to unacceptable health risks. Further, human clinical testing may not show any current or future drug product to be safe and effective to the 
satisfaction of the FDA or comparable regulatory agencies, or the data derived from the clinical tests may be unsuitable for submission to the 
FDA or other regulatory agencies. Once we submit an application seeking approval to market a drug product, the FDA or other regulatory 
agencies may not issue their approvals on a timely basis, if at all. If we are delayed or fail to obtain these approvals, our business and prospects 
may be significantly damaged. In addition, any regulatory approvals that we receive for our future product candidates may also be subject to 
limitations on the indicated uses for which they may be marketed or contain requirements for potentially costly post-marketing follow-up studies 
and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product.  

If we obtain regulatory approval for our drug products, we, our partners, our manufacturers, and other contract entities will continue to be 
subject to extensive requirements by a number of national, foreign, state and local agencies. These regulations will impact many aspects of our 
operations, including testing, research and development, manufacturing, safety, effectiveness, labeling, storage, quality control, adverse event 
reporting, record keeping, approval, advertising and promotion of our future products. FDA and foreign regulatory authorities strictly regulate 
the promotional claims that may be made about prescription products and our product labeling, advertising and promotion is subject to 
continuing regulatory review. Physicians may nevertheless prescribe our product to their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the 
approved label, or that is off-label. The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion 
of off-label uses, and if we are found to have improperly promoted off-label uses we may be subject to significant sanctions, civil and criminal 
fines and injunctions prohibiting us from engaging in specified promotional conduct. Moreover, our failure to comply with any applicable 
regulatory requirements could, among other things, result in:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

The discovery of previously unknown safety risks with drug products approved to go to market may raise costs or prevent us from 
marketing such products or change the labeling of our products or take other potentially limiting or costly actions if we or others identify 
safety risks after our products are on the market.  

The later discovery of previously unknown safety risks with our products may result in the imposition of restrictions on distribution or use 
of the drug product, including withdrawal from the market. The FDA may revisit and change its prior determinations with regard to the safety 
and efficacy of our products. If the FDA’s position changes, we may be required to change our labeling or to cease manufacture and marketing 
of the products at issue. Even prior to any formal regulatory action, we could voluntarily decide to cease the distribution and sale or recall any of 
our products if concerns about their safety or effectiveness develop.  

The FDA has significant authority to take regulatory actions in the event previously unknown safety risks are identified or if data suggest 
that our products may present a risk to safety. For example, the FDA may:  
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  •   warning letters;  
  •   fines;  
  •   changes in advertising;  
  •   revocation or suspension of regulatory approvals of products;  
  •   product recalls or seizures;  
  •   delays, interruption, or suspension of product distribution, marketing and sales;  
  •   civil or criminal sanctions;  
  •   suspension or termination of ongoing clinical trials;  
  •   imposition of restrictions on our operations;  
  •   close the facilities of our contract manufacturers; and  
  •   refusals to approve new products.  

  
•   require sponsors of marketed products to conduct post-approval clinical studies to assess a known serious risk, signals of serious risk 

or to identify an unexpected serious risk;  
  •   mandate labeling changes to products, at any point in a product’s lifecycle, based on new safety information; and  

  
•   require sponsors to implement a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, for a product which could include a medication 

guide, patient package insert, a communication plan to healthcare providers, or other elements as the FDA deems are necessary to 
assure safe use of the drug (either prior to approval or post-approval as necessary).  



Failure to comply with a REMS could result in significant civil monetary penalties or other administrative actions by FDA. Further, 
regulatory agencies could change existing, or promulgate new, regulations at any time which may affect our ability to obtain or maintain 
approval of our existing or future products or require significant additional costs to obtain or maintain such approvals.  

Legislative or regulatory reform of the healthcare system and pharmaceutical industry related to pricing, coverage or reimbursement may 
hurt our ability to sell our products profitably or at all.  

Our ability to commercialize any products successfully will depend in part on the availability of coverage and reimbursement from third-
party payors such as government authorities, private health insurers, health maintenance organizations including pharmacy benefit managers and 
other health care-related organizations, both in the U.S. and foreign markets. Even if we succeed in bringing one or more products to the market, 
the amount reimbursed for our products may be insufficient to allow us to compete effectively and could adversely affect our profitability. 
Coverage and reimbursement by governmental and other third-party payors may depend upon a number of factors, including a governmental or 
other third-party payor’s determination that use of a product is:  
   

   

   

   

   

Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval for a product from each third-party and governmental payor is a time-consuming and 
costly process that could require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical and cost-effectiveness data for the use of our products to each payor. 
We may not be able to provide data sufficient to obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement.  

In both the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been and may continue to be a number of legislative and regulatory proposals 
related to coverage and reimbursement that could impact our ability to sell our products profitably. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care 
Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, collectively referred to as the Healthcare Reform Law, was 
signed into law on March 30, 2010. The Healthcare Reform Law substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and 
private insurers and significantly impacted the pharmaceutical industry. The Healthcare Reform Law included, among other things, an annual, 
nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports specified branded prescription drugs and biologic agents, revisions to the definition 
of “average manufacturer price” for reporting purposes, increases in the amount of rebates owed by drug manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug 
Rebate Program, expansion of the 340B drug discount program that mandates discounts to certain hospitals, community centers and other 
qualifying providers, and changes to affect the Medicare Part D coverage gap, or “donut hole.” The full effects of these provisions will become 
apparent as these laws are implemented and the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services and other agencies issue applicable regulations or 
guidance as required by the Healthcare Reform Law. Moreover, in the coming years, additional changes could be made to governmental 
healthcare programs that could significantly impact the success of our products.  

The high cost of pharmaceuticals continues to generate substantial government interest. It is possible that proposals will be adopted, or 
existing regulations that affect the coverage and reimbursement of pharmaceutical and other medical products may change, that may impact our 
products currently on the market and any of our products approved for marketing in the future. Cost control initiatives could decrease the price 
that we receive for any of our products or product candidates. In addition, third-party payors are increasingly challenging the price and cost-
effectiveness of medical products and services. Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of newly-approved 
pharmaceutical products. Future developments may require us to decrease the price that we charge for our products, thereby negatively affecting 
our financial results.  

In some foreign countries, particularly in the European Union, prescription drug pricing is subject to governmental control. Drug pricing 
may be made against a reference price set by the healthcare providers as a measure for healthcare cost containment. Pricing negotiations with 
governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. If coverage and reimbursement of our 
products are unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels for the purpose of adoption of these products in 
the national health services in these jurisdictions, our profitability will likely be negatively affected.  
   

36  

  •   a covered benefit under its health plan;  
  •   safe, effective and medically necessary;  
  •   appropriate for the specific patient;  
  •   cost-effective; and  
  •   neither experimental nor investigational.  



If we market products in a manner that violates health care fraud and abuse laws, we may be subject to civil or criminal penalties, 
including exclusion from participation in government health care programs.  

As a pharmaceutical company, even though we do not provide healthcare services or receive payments directly from or bill directly to 
Medicare, Medicaid or other third-party payors for our products, certain federal and state healthcare laws and regulations pertaining to fraud and 
abuse are and will be applicable to our business. We are subject to healthcare fraud and abuse by both the federal government and the states in 
which we conduct our business.  

The laws that may affect our ability to operate include the federal health care program Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among 
other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting, or receiving remuneration to induce or in return for purchasing, leasing, 
ordering, or arranging for the purchase, lease or order of any health care item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or other 
federally financed health care programs. This statute applies to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers and prescribers, purchasers 
and formulary managers. Although there are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting certain common activities, 
the exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly, and practices that involve remuneration intended to induce prescribing, purchases or 
recommendations may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor.  

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false claim for payment to the 
federal government, or knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false statement to get a false claim paid. Pharmaceutical companies have 
been prosecuted under these laws for a variety of alleged promotional and marketing activities, such as providing free product to customers with 
the expectation that the customers would bill federal programs for the product; reporting to pricing services inflated average wholesale prices 
that were then used by federal programs to set reimbursement rates; engaging in off-label promotion that caused claims to be submitted to 
Medicaid for non-covered off-label uses; and submitting inflated best price information to the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program.  

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 also created prohibitions against health care fraud and false statements 
relating to health care matters. The health care fraud statute prohibits knowingly and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any health care 
benefit program, including private payors. The false statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a 
material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for health care 
benefits, items or services.  

In addition, there has been a recent trend of increased federal and state regulation of payments made to physicians. The Healthcare Reform 
Law imposed new requirements on manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment is available under 
Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to CMS information related to 
payments or other “transfers of value” made to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors) and 
teaching hospitals, and applicable manufacturers and group purchasing organizations to report annually to CMS ownership and investment 
interests held by physicians (as defined above) and their immediate family members and payments or other “transfers of value” to such physician 
owners and their immediate family members. Manufacturers were required to begin data collection on August 1, 2013 and will be required to 
report such data to the government by March 31, 2014 and by the 90th calendar day of each year thereafter.  

The majority of states also have statutes or regulations similar to these federal laws, which apply to items and services reimbursed under 
Medicaid and other state programs, or, in several states, apply regardless of the payor. In addition, some states have laws that require 
pharmaceutical companies to adopt comprehensive compliance programs. For example, under California law, pharmaceutical companies must 
comply with both the April 2003 Office of Inspector General Compliance Program Guidance for Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and the PhRMA 
Code on Interactions with Healthcare Professionals, as amended. Certain states also mandate the tracking and reporting of gifts, compensation, 
and other remuneration paid by us to physicians and other health care providers. We have adopted and implemented a compliance program 
designed to comply with applicable federal, state and local requirements wherever we operate, including but not limited to the laws of the states 
of California and Nevada.  

Although compliance programs can mitigate the risk of investigation and prosecution for violations of these laws, the risks cannot be 
entirely eliminated. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant 
legal expenses and divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business. Moreover, achieving and sustaining compliance with 
applicable federal and state laws may prove costly.  
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Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the safe harbors, it is possible that some of our business activities could be 
subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. The Healthcare Reform Law also make several important changes to the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute, false claims laws, and health care fraud statute by weakening the intent requirement under the anti-kickback and health care 
fraud statutes that may make it easier for the government, or whistleblowers to charge such fraud and abuse violations. A person or entity no 
longer needs to have actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it. In addition, the Health Care Reform Law provides that the 
government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal anti-kickback statute constitutes a false 
or fraudulent claim for purposes of the false claims statutes. In addition, the Healthcare Reform Law increases penalties for fraud and abuse 
violations. If our past, present or future operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or other similar governmental 
regulations to which we are subject, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment, 
exclusion from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, 
any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and negatively impact our financial results.  

We may be subject to product liability claims, and may not have sufficient product liability insurance to cover any such claims, which may 
expose us to substantial liabilities.  

We may be held liable if any product we or our partners develop causes injury or is found otherwise unsuitable during product testing, 
manufacturing, clinical trials, marketing or sale. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims could result in decreased 
demand for our product candidates, injury to our reputation, withdrawal of patients from our clinical trials, substantial monetary awards to trial 
participants and the inability to commercialize any products that we may develop. These claims might be made directly by consumers, health 
care providers, pharmaceutical companies or others selling or testing our products. Although we currently carry product liability insurance in the 
amount of at least $15.0 million in the aggregate, it is possible that this coverage will be insufficient to protect us from future claims. 
Additionally, our insurance may not reimburse us or may not be sufficient to reimburse us for expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, if 
insurance coverage becomes more expensive, we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to 
protect us against losses due to liability. Failure to maintain sufficient insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
prospects and results of operations if claims are made that exceed our coverage.  

On occasion, juries have awarded large judgments in class action lawsuits for claims based on drugs that had unanticipated side effects. In 
addition, the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, in general, have been subject to significant medical malpractice litigation. A 
successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could harm our reputation and business and financial condition.  

The use of hazardous materials, including radioactive and biological materials, in our research and development and commercial efforts 
imposes certain compliance costs on us and may subject us to liability for claims arising from the use or misuse of these materials.  

Our research and development, manufacturing (including a radiolabeling step for ZEVALIN) and administration of our drugs involves the 
controlled use of hazardous materials, including chemicals, radioactive and biological materials, such as radioactive isotopes. We are subject to 
federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations governing, among other matters, the handling, storage, use and disposal of 
these materials and some waste products. We cannot completely eliminate the risk of contamination or injury from these materials and we could 
be held liable for any damages that result, which could exceed our financial resources. We currently maintain insurance coverage for injuries 
resulting from the hazardous materials we use; however, future claims may exceed the amount of our coverage. Also, we do not have insurance 
coverage for pollution cleanup and removal. Currently the costs of complying with such federal, state, local and foreign environmental 
regulations are not significant, and consist primarily of waste disposal expenses. However, they could become expensive, and current or future 
environmental laws or regulations may impair our research, development, production and commercialization efforts.  

Risks Related to Our Common Stock  

There are a substantial number of shares of our common stock eligible for future sale in the public market. The sale of these shares could 
cause the market price of our common stock to fall. Any future equity issuances by us may have dilutive and other effects on our existing 
stockholders.  

As of December 31, 2013, there were 64,104,173 shares of our common stock outstanding. Security holders held outstanding options, 
warrants, preferred stock and convertible notes which, if vested, exercised or converted, would obligate us to issue up to approximately 
11.9 million additional shares of common stock. A substantial number of those shares, when  
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we issue them upon vesting, conversion or exercise, will be available for immediate resale in the public market. In addition, we have reserved an 
aggregate of 16.2 million shares of our common stock for future issuance under our equity compensation plans. We may also sell additional 
shares of common stock or securities convertible or exercisable into common stock in public or private offerings, which would be available for 
resale in the market. Certain issuances by us of equity securities may be at or below the prevailing market price of our common stock and may 
have a dilutive impact on our existing stockholders. These issuances or other dilutive issuances would also cause our net income, if any, per 
share to decrease in future periods. The market price of our common stock could fall as a result of sales of any of these shares of common stock 
due to the increased number of shares available for sale in the market.  

The convertible note hedge and warrant transactions that we entered into in December 2013 may affect the value of our common stock.  

In connection with the pricing of our convertible notes in December 2013, we entered into convertible note hedge transactions and separate 
warrant transactions with RBC Capital Markets, LLC, or RBC. The convertible note hedge transactions are expected generally to reduce the 
potential dilution upon any conversion of the notes and/or offset any cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of 
converted notes, as the case may be. The warrant transactions could separately have a dilutive effect to the extent that the market price per share 
of our common stock exceeds the strike price of the warrants. RBC and/or its affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into or 
unwinding various derivatives with respect to our common stock and/or purchasing or selling our common stock in secondary market 
transactions prior to the maturity of the convertible notes (and is likely to do so during any observation period related to a conversion of notes). 
This activity could cause or avoid an increase or a decrease in the market price of our common stock.  

In addition, if the convertible note hedge and warrant transactions fail to become effective, through the failure of counterparties to perform 
or otherwise, RBC and/or its affiliates may unwind its hedge positions with respect to our common stock, which could adversely affect the value 
of our common stock. The potential effect, if any, of these transactions and activities on the market price of our common stock will depend in 
part on market conditions and cannot be ascertained at this time. Any of these activities could adversely affect the value of our common stock.  

The market price and trading volume of our common stock fluctuate significantly and could result in substantial losses for individual 
investors.  

The stock market from time to time experiences significant price and trading volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating 
performance of particular companies. These broad market fluctuations may cause the market price and trading volume of our common stock to 
decrease. In addition, the market price and trading volume of our common stock is often highly volatile.  

Factors that may cause the market price and volume of our common stock to decrease include:  
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  •   recognition on up-front licensing or other fees or revenues;  
  •   payments of non-refundable up-front or license fees, or payment for cost-sharing expenses, to third parties;  
  •   adverse results or delays in our clinical trials;  
  •   fluctuations in our results of operations;  
  •   timing and announcements of our technological innovations or new products or those of our competitors;  
  •   developments concerning any strategic alliances or acquisitions we may enter into;  

  
•   announcements of FDA non-approval of our drug products, or delays in the FDA or other foreign regulatory review process or 

actions;  
  •   changes in recommendations or guidelines of government agencies or other third parties regarding the use of our drug products;  

  
•   adverse actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our drug products, clinical trials, manufacturing processes or sales and 

marketing activities;  
  •   concerns about our products being reimbursed;  
  •   any lawsuit involving us or our drug products;  
  •   developments with respect to our patents and proprietary rights;  
  •   public concern as to the safety of products developed by us or others;  



   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Also, certain dilutive securities such as warrants can be used as hedging tools which may increase volatility in our stock and cause a price 
decline. While a decrease in market price could result in direct economic loss for an individual investor, low trading volume could limit an 
individual investor’s ability to sell our common stock, which could result in substantial economic loss as well. Since January 2, 2013 through 
February 28, 2014, the closing price of our common stock ranged between $7.00 and $13.01, and the daily trading volume was as high as 
22,555,500 shares and as low as 143,200 shares.  

Following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation may be instituted against that 
company. Regardless of their merit, these types of lawsuits generally result in substantial legal fees and management’s attention and resources 
being diverted from the operations of a business.  

Provisions of our charter, bylaws and stockholder rights plan may make it more difficult for someone to acquire control of us or replace 
current management even if doing so would benefit our stockholders, which may lower the price an acquirer or investor would pay for our 
stock.  

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, both as amended, may make it more difficult for someone to acquire control of us 
or replace our current management. These provisions include:  
   

   

   

   

   

These provisions may make it more difficult for stockholders to take certain corporate actions and could delay, discourage or prevent 
someone from acquiring our business or replacing our current management, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders. These provisions 
could limit the price that certain investors might be willing to pay for shares of our common stock.  

We have a stockholder rights plan pursuant to which we distributed rights to purchase units of our series B junior participating preferred 
stock. The rights become exercisable upon the earlier of ten days after a person or group of affiliated or associated persons has acquired 15% or 
more of the outstanding shares of our common stock or ten business days after a tender offer has commenced that would result in a person or 
group beneficially owning 15% or more of our outstanding common stock. These rights could delay or discourage someone from acquiring our 
business, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders. We currently have no stockholders who own 15% or more of the outstanding shares of 
our common stock.  

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, which also existed as of 
December 31, 2012, and has not yet been adequately remediated. The continuation of this material weakness, or any others, could impact 
our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements. As a result, our stock price could be adversely impacted and investors’ 
views of us could be harmed.  

We have determined that we have a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting which also existed as of 
December 31, 2012. See Item 9A , Controls and Procedures for a complete discussion of this material weakness in our internal control over 
financial reporting. Although we are undertaking steps to address this material weakness, the  
   

40  

  •   regulatory developments in the U.S. and in foreign countries;  
  •   changes in stock market analyst recommendations regarding our common stock or lack of analyst coverage;  
  •   the pharmaceutical industry generally and general market conditions;  
  •   failure of our results of operations to meet the expectations of stock market analysts and investors;  

  
•   sales of our common stock by our executive officers, directors and five percent stockholders or sales of substantial amounts of our 

common stock;  
  •   hedging or arbitrage transactions by holders of our convertible notes;  
  •   changes in accounting principles; and  
  •   loss of any of our key scientific or management personnel.  

  •   the ability of our board of directors to amend our bylaws without stockholder approval;  
  •   the inability of stockholders to call special meetings;  
  •   the ability of members of the board of directors to fill vacancies on the board of directors;  
  •   the inability of stockholders to act by written consent, unless such consent is unanimous; and  

  
•   the establishment of advance notice requirements for nomination for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that 

can be acted on by stockholders at stockholder meetings.  



existence of a material weakness is an indication that there is more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of our financial 
statements will not be prevented or detected in the current or any future period. There can be no assurance that we will be able to fully 
implement our plans and controls, as described in Item 9A , to address this material weakness, or that the plans and controls, if implemented, will 
be successful in fully remediating this material weakness. In addition, we may in the future identify further material weaknesses in our internal 
control over financial reporting that we have not discovered to date. If we fail to successfully remediate the identified material weakness, or we 
identify further material weaknesses in our internal controls, the market’s confidence in our financial statements could decline and the market 
price of our common stock could be adversely impacted.  

Our publicly-filed SEC reports are reviewed by the SEC from time to time and any significant changes required as a result of any such 
review may result in material liability to us and have a material adverse impact on the trading price of our common stock.  

The reports of publicly-traded companies are subject to review by the SEC from time to time for the purpose of assisting companies in 
complying with applicable disclosure requirements and to enhance the overall effectiveness of companies’ public filings, and reviews of such 
reports are now required at least every three years under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. SEC reviews may be initiated at any time, and we 
could be required to modify or reformulate information contained in prior filings as a result of an SEC review. Any modification or 
reformulation of information contained in such reports could be significant and could result in material liability to us and have a material adverse 
impact on the trading price of our common stock.  

   

None.  

   

We lease our principal executive office in Henderson, Nevada under a lease agreement expiring April 30, 2014. We are in process of 
negotiating an extension to this lease, while also evaluating alternative locations in Henderson for our corporate headquarters.  

In addition, we lease our research and development and administrative facility in Irvine, California, and lease administrative space in 
Colorado, New Jersey, California, Japan, the Netherlands, and India.  

We believe that these leased facilities, and our planned facility alternatives/additions, are adequate to meet our current and future business 
needs.  

   

We are involved with various legal matters arising in the ordinary course of business. We make provisions for liabilities when it is both 
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Such provisions are reviewed at least quarterly 
and adjusted to reflect the impact of any settlement negotiations, judicial and administrative rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other 
information and events pertaining to a particular case. Litigation is inherently unpredictable. Although the ultimate resolution of these various 
matters cannot be determined at this time, we do not believe that such matters, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse 
effect on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.  

FUSILEV ANDA Litigation  

On January 20, 2012 and February 17, 2012, respectively, we filed suit against Sandoz Inc. and Innopharma Inc, respectively following 
Paragraph IV certifications in connection with their filing separate Abbreviated New Drug Applications (“ANDAs”), to manufacture a generic 
version of FUSILEV. We filed the lawsuits in the U.S. District Court for the Districts of Nevada and Delaware seeking to enjoin the approval of 
their ANDAs plus recovery of our fees and costs incurred in such matters. On December 9, 2013, three Mylan entities collaborating with 
Innopharma were joined to Innopharma case. While we believe our patent rights are strong, the ultimate outcome of these cases is uncertain.  

Allos Transaction Class Action Lawsuits  

On April 9, 2012, a putative class action lawsuit captioned Radmore, et al. v. Allos Therapeutics, Inc., et al., No. 1:12-cv-00948-PAB, was 
filed in the United States District Court for the District of Colorado, (“the Radmore Complaint”). The Radmore Complaint named as defendants 
Allos Therapeutics, the members of the Allos board of directors, as well as Spectrum. The plaintiffs alleged that Allos directors breached their 
fiduciary duties to their stockholders in connection with  
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the proposed merger between Allos and Spectrum, and were aided and abetted by Allos and Spectrum. The Radmore Complaint alleged that the 
merger involves an unfair price, an inadequate sales process, unreasonable deal protection devices, and that the defendants entered into the 
transaction to benefit themselves personally. The Radmore Complaint sought injunctive relief, including to enjoin the merger, attorneys’ and 
other fees and costs, and other relief. On April 12, 2012, a putative class action lawsuit captioned Keucher v. Berns, et al., C.A. No. 7419, was 
filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery, alleging similar violations. On April 20, 2012, an Amended Class Action Complaint was filed in the 
Delaware Court of Chancery in the matter captioned Keucher v. Berns, et al., C.A. No. 7419-VCN, adding allegations that the 
Solicitation/Recommendation Statement on Schedule 14D-9, or the Schedule 14D-9, filed by us with the SEC on April 13, 2012, contains 
inadequate, incomplete and/or misleading disclosures.  

On May 7, 2012, the parties to all three actions executed a memorandum of understanding, or MOU, containing the terms for an 
agreement-in-principle to resolve all litigation. The MOU provided that the defendants would agree to make certain supplemental disclosures in 
an amended Schedule 14D-9 and that the parties would use their best efforts to agree upon, enter, and present to the Delaware Chancery court a 
formal stipulation of settlement. The MOU provides for an award to plaintiffs’ counsel of $850,000 for their fees and expenses but did not 
include any payment to stockholders. The parties completed confirmatory discovery on July 18, 2012 and filed a stipulation and agreement of 
compromise and settlement in the Delaware court on November 8, 2012. On February 11, 2013, the Delaware court approved the settlement, 
including the payment of $850,000 to counsel for the stockholders, entered final judgment and dismissed the cases.  

Shareholder Litigation  

John Perry v. Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et al. (Filed March 14, 2013 in United States District Court, District of Nevada; Case 
Number 2:2013-cv-00433-LDG-CWH); Junqian Carroll v. Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et al. (Filed March 22, 2013 in United States District 
Court, District of Nevada; Case Number 2:2013-cv-00498-RBJ-CF); Gary Santi v. Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et al. (Filed March 22, 2013 
in United States District Court, District of Nevada; Case Number 2:2013-cv-00502-LDG-CWH); William Skene v. Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, 
Inc. et al. (Filed April 10, 2013 in United States District Court, District of Nevada; Case Number 3:2013-cv-00175-RBJ-VPC); and Rubin v. 
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et al. (Filed April 24, 2013 in the United States District Court, District of Nevada; Case Number 3:2013-cv-
00212-RCJ-VPC). These putative class actions raise substantially identical claims and allegations against defendants Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, 
Inc., Dr. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, Brett L. Scott, and Joseph Kenneth Keller. The alleged class period is August 8, 2012 to March 12, 2013. The 
lawsuits allege a violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against all defendants and control person liability, as a 
violation of Section 20(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, against the individual defendants. The claims purportedly stem from the 
Company’s March 12, 2013 press release, in which it announced that it anticipated a change in ordering patterns of FUSILEV. The complaints 
allege that, as a result of the March 12, 2013 press release, the Company’s stock price declined. The complaints further allege that during the 
putative class period certain defendants made misleadingly optimistic statements about FUSILEV sales, which inflated the trading price of 
Company stock. The lawsuits seek relief in the form of monetary damages, costs and fees, and any other equitable or injunctive relief that the 
court deems appropriate. The court entered a consolidation order on April 29, 2013, designating the Perry action as the consolidated action.  

Timothy Fik v. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, et al. (Filed April 11, 2013 in United States District Court, District of Nevada; Case Number 2:2013-
cv-00624-JCM-CWH); Christopher J. Watkins v. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, et al. (Filed April 22, 2013 in United States District Court, District of 
Nevada; Case Number 2:2013-cv-00684-JCM-VCF); and Stefan Muenchhagen v. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, et al. (Filed May 28, 2013; Case Number 
2:2013-cv-00942-APG-PAL). These derivative complaints are brought by the respective purported shareholders on behalf of nominal plaintiff 
Spectrum against defendants Krishan K. Arora, Gilles Gagnon, Anton Gueth, Joseph Kenneth Keller, Stuart M Krassner, Luigi Lenaz, Anthony 
E. Maida, Brett L. Scott, and Dr. Rajesh C. Shrotriya. The Fik and Watkins complaints allege six counts against all defendants: breach of 
fiduciary duty for disseminating false and misleading information; breach of fiduciary duty for failing to properly oversee and manage the 
company; unjust enrichment; abuse of control; gross mismanagement; and waste of corporate assets. The Fik and Watkins complaints also allege 
a seventh count for breach of fiduciary duties for insider selling and misappropriation of information against defendants Dr. Raj Shrotriya, Brett 
Scott, and Anthony Maida. The Muenchhagen complaint alleges five counts against all defendants: breach of fiduciary duty for disseminating 
false and misleading information; breach of fiduciary duty for failing to properly oversee and manage the company; abuse of control; gross 
mismanagement; and waste of corporate assets. The Muenchhagen complaint also alleges two counts against defendants Dr. Raj Shrotriya, Brett 
Scott, and Anthony Maida for unjust enrichment and for breach of fiduciary duties for insider selling and misappropriation of information. These 
substantially identical complaints allege that defendants knew or should have known that the Company’s statements about future FUSILEV sales 
were misleadingly optimistic and that these statements inflated the trading price of Company stock. The complaints allege that, as a result of the 
March 12, 2013 press release, the Company’s stock price declined. The complaints seek compensatory damages, corporate governance reforms, 
restitution and disgorgement of defendants’ alleged profits, and costs and fees. On May 15, 2013, the court entered a consolidation order staying 
the actions pending resolution of the federal securities class action.  
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Hardik Kakadia v. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, et al. (Filed April 23, 2013 in the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada in and for 
Clark County; Case Number A-13-680643-B); and Joel Besner v. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, et al. (Filed May 31, 2013; Case Number A-13-682668-
C) (collectively the “State Derivative Actions”). The State Derivative Actions are brought by the respective purported shareholders on behalf of 
nominal plaintiff Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. against defendants Krishan K. Arora, Gilles Gagnon, Anton Gueth, Joseph Kenneth Keller, 
Stuart M Krassner, Luigi Lenaz, Anthony E. Maida, Brett L. Scott and Dr. Rajesh C. Shrotriya. The Kakadia complaint alleges three counts 
against all defendants: breach of fiduciary duty; waste of corporate assets; and unjust enrichment. The Besner complaint alleges five counts 
against all defendants: breach of fiduciary duty for disseminating false and misleading information; breach of fiduciary duty for failing to 
properly oversee and manage the company; abuse of control; gross mismanagement; and waste of corporate assets. The Besner complaint also 
alleges two counts against defendants Dr. Raj Shrotriya, Brett Scott, and Anthony Maida for unjust enrichment and for breach of fiduciary duties 
for insider selling and misappropriation. The complaints similarly allege that defendants knew or should have known that the Company’s 
statements about future FUSILEV sales were misleadingly optimistic and that these statements inflated the trading price of Company stock. The 
complaints allege that, as a result of the March 12, 2013 press release, the Company’s stock price declined. The complaints seek compensatory 
damages, corporate governance reforms, restitution and disgorgement of defendants’ alleged profits, equitable and/or injunctive relief, and costs 
and fees. On July 10, 2013, the court entered a consolidation order staying the actions pending resolution of the federal securities class action.  

Mark J. Sherwin v. Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Filed September 3, 2013 in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware; Case 
Number 8858). The complaint seeks inspection of Spectrum’s books and records under Delaware Code section 220. Specifically, the complaint 
seeks inspection of books and records concerning whether Spectrum’s officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties by causing the 
Company to make false statements concerning the performance of FUSILEV. The complaint also seeks fees and costs. On December 27, 2013, 
plaintiff filed a notice of dismissal of the books and records action. On January 7, 2014, the court granted plaintiff’s dismissal of the action.  

SEC Subpoena  

On April 1, 2013, the Company received a subpoena from the SEC for documents pursuant to a formal order of investigation. The 
subpoena followed the Company’s March 12, 2013 announcement that it anticipated a change in ordering patterns of FUSILEV. The Company 
is cooperating with the SEC investigation. The Company cannot predict when the SEC will conclude its investigation or the outcome of the 
investigation.  

   

Not applicable.  

PART II  
   

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “SPPI.” The high and low closing sale prices of our 
common stock reported by NASDAQ during each quarter ended in 2013 and 2012 were as follows:  
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     High      Low   

Year Ended December 31, 2013:        

First Quarter     $ 13.01       $ 7.01    
Second Quarter     $ 8.55       $ 7.00    
Third Quarter     $ 8.89       $ 7.29    
Fourth Quarter     $ 9.82       $ 8.11    

Year Ended December 31, 2012:        
First Quarter     $ 15.87       $ 12.63    
Second Quarter     $ 15.56       $ 9.51    
Third Quarter     $ 17.05       $ 11.51    
Fourth Quarter     $ 12.31       $ 10.64    



On February 28, 2014, the closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market was $8.35 per share, and there were 
325 holders of record of our common stock.  

Stock Performance Graph 

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on $100 invested, assuming the reinvestment of all dividends, on 
December 31, 2008, the last trading day before our 2009 fiscal year, through the end of fiscal 2013 with the cumulative total return on $100 
invested for the same period in the Russell 2000 index and a Peer Group.  
   

  

The Peer Group consists of the following publicly-traded companies:  
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  •   Alkermes PLC  
  •   Amarin Corporation PLC  
  •   BioMarin Pharmaceutical, Inc.  
  •   Celgene Corporation  
  •   Dendreon Corporation  
  •   Jazz Pharmaceuticals PLC  
  •   Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  
  •   Vertex Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  

     12/31/08      12/31/09      12/31/10      12/31/11      12/31/12      12/31/13   
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.       100.00         297.99         461.07         981.88         760.69         601.83    
Russell 2000       100.00         127.17         161.32         154.59         179.86         249.69    
Peer Group       100.00         113.83         123.34         132.04         181.13         341.09    
  
(1) The information in this section is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed “filed” with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference in 

any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether 
made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any such filing. 

(1)  



Dividend Policy  

We currently intend to retain all earnings, if any, for use in the expansion of our business and therefore do not anticipate paying any 
dividends in the foreseeable future. However, the payment of dividends, if any will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors and subject to 
compliance with any applicable restrictions contained in our agreements.  

   

The following selected consolidated financial data has been derived from our audited Consolidated Financial Statements. The audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 are included elsewhere in this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 and the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto in Item 8 . The information set forth 
below is not necessarily indicative of our future financial condition or results of operations.  
   

   
45  

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

     Year ended December 31,   
Selected Statement of Operations Data:    2013     2012     2011     2010     2009   
     (In thousands, except per share data)   

Total revenues     $ 155,854      $ 267,707      $ 192,963      $ 74,113      $ 38,025    
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Operating costs and expenses:             
Cost of product sales (excludes amortization of intangible assets)       28,580        46,633        33,838        17,439        8,148    
Selling, general and administrative       99,315        89,922        72,197        47,411        33,607    
Research and development       46,670        41,560        26,662        56,660        20,379    
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets       20,074        8,818        3,720        3,720        3,720    

                                                   

Income (loss) from operations       (38,785 )      80,774        56,546        (51,117 )      (27,829 )  
Change in fair value of common stock warrant liability       —         —         (3,488 )      2,731        8,075    
Change in fair value of contingent consideration related to acquisition       2,871       —         —         —         —     
Other (expense) income, net       (722 )      (844 )      577        1,279        662    

                                                   

(Loss) income before provision for income taxes       (36,636 )      79,930        53,635        (47,107 )      (19,092 )  
(Provision) benefit for income taxes       (25,498 )      14,271        (3,704 )      43        (421 )  
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest       —         —         —         —         1,146    

                                                   

Net (loss) income attributable to Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. stockholders    $ (62,134 )    $ 94,201      $ 49,931      $ (47,064 )    $ (18,367 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Net (loss) income per share—basic     $ (1.02 )    $ 1.61      $ 0.94      $ (0.95 )    $ (0.47 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Net (loss) income per share—diluted     $ (1.02 )    $ 1.46      $ 0.86      $ (0.95 )    $ (0.47 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Cash dividend declared per common share     $ —       $ 0.15      $ —       $ —       $ —     
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     As of December 31,   
Selected Balance Sheet Data:    2013      2012      2011      2010      2009   
     (In thousands)   

Working capital (current assets minus total current liabilities)     $ 145,206       $ 141,630       $ 151,443       $ 61,308       $ 87,743    
Total assets     $ 499,155       $ 504,955       $ 280,780       $ 163,631       $ 173,133    
Long term obligations, less current portion     $ 127,565       $ 93,031       $ 14,336       $ 25,833       $ 25,310    
Total stockholders’  equity (including non-controlling interest in 2009)     $ 281,606       $ 288,681       $ 192,086       $ 77,241       $ 109,309    



The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with “Selected Financial Data” and our consolidated financial 
statements and the related notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve 
risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of various 
factors including the risks we discuss in Item 1A of Part I, “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

OVERVIEW  

Our Business  

We are a biotechnology company with fully integrated commercial and drug development operations, with a primary focus in oncology 
and hematology. Our strategy is comprised of acquiring, developing, and marketing a diverse pipeline of late-stage clinical and commercial 
products. We currently market four drugs:  
   

   

   

   

We also have a diversified pipeline of product candidates in advanced-stage Phase 2 and Phase 3 studies. We have assembled an integrated 
in-house scientific team, including formulation development, clinical development, medical research, regulatory affairs, biostatistics and data 
management, and have established a commercial infrastructure for the marketing of our drug products. We also leverage the expertise of our 
worldwide partners to assist in the execution of our business strategies.  

Our business strategy is comprised of the following three initiatives:  
   

Our near-term outlook largely depends on sales and marketing successes for our four marketed drugs. It is this base business, along 
with potential additional indications for these drugs, that provides the working capital needed to operate our daily business and 
provides the necessary capital for opportunistic acquisitions.  

   

Our strategy for our development portfolio is to focus on late-stage development drugs. We strive to complete clinical studies to 
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of these drugs in order to obtain regulatory approval in a timely manner. Upon obtaining 
approval, our sales and marketing function educates physicians on the safety of the drug and its effectiveness in treating patients for 
the approved indication, with the goal of achieving maximum commercial success.  

   

It is our goal to identify new strategic opportunities that will create strong synergies with our currently-marketed drugs, and to 
identify and pursue partnerships for out-licensing certain of our drugs in development. We will continue to (i) explore strategic 
collaborations as they relate to drugs that are either in clinical trials or are currently on the market, and (ii) identify and secure drugs 
that have significant growth potential – through enhanced marketing and sales efforts and/or through pursuit of additional clinical 
development.  
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•   FUSILEV injection for patients in the U.S. with advanced metastatic colorectal cancer and to counteract certain effects of 

methotrexate therapy;  
  •   ZEVALIN injection for patients in the U.S. and various international markets with follicular non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma;  
  •   FOLOTYN injection for patients in the U.S. with relapsed or refractory peripheral T-cell lymphoma; and  
  •   MARQIBO injection for patients in the U.S. with Philadelphia chromosome–negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia.  

  •   Maximizing the revenue potential of our four currently-marketed drugs for the treatment of cancer.  

  •   Developing and Commercializing the drugs for the treatment of cancer within our pipeline.  

  •   Expanding our pipeline of development-stage and commercial-stage drugs through business development activities.  



See Item 1 , “Business,” for a discussion of:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

2013 Overview  

During 2013 we accomplished various critical objectives for our business, which included:  
   

   

   

   

   

CHARACTERISTICS OF OUR REVENUE AND EXPENSES  

The below summarizes the nature of our revenue and operating expense line items within our Consolidated Statements of Operations:  

Revenue  

The majority of our revenue is derived from sales of our drug products to large pharmaceutical wholesalers and distributors upon title 
transfer (which is typically at time of shipment), provided our other revenue recognition criteria have been met. To a lesser extent we also derive 
revenue from license fees (i.e., royalties) and service revenue for our research and development activities conducted for the benefit of third 
parties.  

Cost of Goods Sold  

Cost of goods sold includes production materials and supplies expense, third party manufacturing and packaging service expenses, and 
royalty expenses.  
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  •   Company Overview  
  •   Cancer Background & Market Size  
  •   Product Portfolio  
  •   Manufacturing  
  •   Sales and Marketing  
  •   Customers  
  •   Competition  
  •   Research and Development  

  
•   Acquisitions : We completed two strategic acquisitions, including a FDA-approved, patented, proprietary, oncology drug, 

MARQIBO through the acquisition of a NASDAQ-listed company, Talon Therapeutics, Inc. and we licensed-in a late-stage 
oncology drug, Captisol-enabled MELPHALAN, from Ligand Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  

  
•   Commercial : We executed the launch of MARQIBO in less than seven weeks after acquisition, and we continued to focus on the 

growth of our marketed drugs.  

  
•   Medical : We filed the NDA for BELEODAQ, for which the FDA has granted a Priority Review and has established an action date 

of August 9, 2014. We also completed the enrollment in the pivotal study for Captisol-enabled MELPHALAN and initiated a Phase 2 
study for SPI-2012.  

  
•   Corporate : We strengthened our management team with the additions of our new Chief Financial Officer and new Chief Medical 

Officer. We also continued to invest in our infrastructure for long-term growth and success.  

  
•   Financial : We maintained fiscal discipline during the year, and ended 2013 with nearly $160 million in aggregate cash and 

equivalents and marketable securities.  



Selling, General and Administrative  

Selling, general and administrative expenses primarily consist of compensation (including stock-based compensation) and benefits for our 
sales force and personnel that support our sales and marketing operations, and our general operations such as information technology, executive 
management, financial accounting, and human resources. It also includes costs attributable to marketing our products to our customers and 
prospective customers, patent and legal fees, financial audit fees, insurance, bad debt expense, recruiting fees, and other professional services.  

Research and Development  

Research and development expenses consist of compensation (including stock-based compensation) and benefits for research and 
development and clinical and regulatory personnel, materials and supplies, research and development consultants, and regulatory and clinical 
payments related to studies. Our research and development activities primarily relate to the development and testing of new drugs, and 
conducting studies in order to gain regulatory approval for the commercialization of our drug products.  

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES  

The preparation and presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States 
of America (“GAAP”) requires management to establish policies and make estimates and assumptions that affect (i) the amounts of assets and 
liabilities as of the date presented on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and (ii) the amounts of revenue and expenses for each year 
presented in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

Our management believes its estimates and assumptions are supportable, reasonable, and consistently applied. Nonetheless, estimates are 
by nature inherently uncertain. As a result, our financial position and operating results could materially differ from the amounts reported within 
the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements if management’s estimates require prospective adjustment. Our critical accounting policies 
and estimates arise in conjunction with the following accounts:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Revenue Recognition  

Product Sales : We recognize revenue from product sales when all of the following criteria are met:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

Our product sales are reduced by our gross-to-net (“GTN”) estimates, resulting in our reported “Product sales, net” in the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. We defer revenue recognition in full if/when these estimates are not reasonably determinable at the time 
of sale.  
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  •   Revenue recognition  
  •   Inventories – lower of cost or market  
  •   Fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities  
  •   Goodwill and intangible assets – impairment evaluations  
  •   Income taxes  
  •   Stock-based compensation  
  •   Litigation accruals  

  ( i ) Appropriate evidence of a binding arrangement exists with our customer; 

  ( ii ) Price is substantially fixed and determinable; 

  ( iii ) Collection from our customer is reasonably assured; 

  ( iv ) Our customer’s obligation to pay us is not contingent on resale of the product; 

  ( v ) We do not have significant obligations for future performance to directly bring about the resale of our product; and 

  ( vi ) We have a reasonable basis to estimate future returns. 



Our GTN estimates reduce revenue in the same period that the related sale is recorded and include the following major categories:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

Product Returns Allowances : Our FUSILEV customers are typically permitted to return products within six months after its expiration 
date, subject to certain restocking fees and preauthorization requirements. We estimate potential returns, based on several factors, including 
historical rates of return, customer and end-user ordering patterns, inventory held by distributors, and sell through data of distributor sales to end 
users. In general, returned product is not resold.  

Government Chargebacks : Our products are subject to certain pricing limits under federal government programs. Qualifying entities 
purchase products through our distributors at the discounted price. Our distributors charge the difference between the list price and discounted 
price back to us, for which there may be significant lag time. Due to estimates and assumptions inherent in determining the amount and extent of 
government chargebacks we will incur, which take in account our estimates of which sales will be subject to government chargebacks and the 
amount of such chargebacks, the actual amount of government chargeback claims may be materially different from our estimates.  

Discounts : Discounts (generally prompt payment discounts) are estimated at each reporting period. We review the terms of the contracts, 
specifically price and discount structures, and applicable payment terms to estimate its value.  

Rebates : Rebates are estimated based on the customer’s actual purchase level during the rebate purchase period, and the corresponding 
contractual rebate tier we expect the customer to achieve.  

Medicaid Rebates : Our products are subject to state government-managed Medicaid programs whereby discounts and rebates are provided 
to participating state governments. Our calculations related to these rebate accruals require estimates, including estimates of customer mix 
primarily based on a combination of market and clinical research, to determine which sales will be subject to rebates and the amount of such 
rebates. Our estimate of utilization is based on historical claims and forecasting techniques, and supplemented by management’s judgment with 
respect to many factors, including changes in sales trends, an evaluation of current laws and regulations and product pricing. Due to estimates 
and assumptions inherent in determining the amount of our product sales subject to Medicaid rebates, and the time lag to receive these rebate 
notices (generally several months after the sale is made), the actual amount of these claims may be materially different from our estimates. As a 
result, adjustments may be recorded over several periods after the initial sale is recorded.  

Distribution and Data Fees : Distribution and data fees are paid to authorized wholesalers and specialty distributors of FUSILEV and 
FOLOTYN as a percentage of products sold. The services provided include contract administration, inventory management, product sales 
reporting by customer, returns processing. We estimate these fees based on a percentage of FUSILEV and FOLOTYN revenues that are 
governed by distribution agreements.  

License Fees : We recognize license fees (i.e., royalties) based on the terms of each contractual agreement. In general, this results in 
periodic revenue recognition as the third-party licensee has sales for which we are entitled to a royalty, or in certain cases, a lump-sum fee in 
which revenue is recognized in that period.  

Service Revenue : We receive fees under certain arrangements for our research and development services. These services are generally 
undertaken in connection with a collaboration agreement with another pharmaceutical company. Payment may be triggered by the successful 
completion of a phase of development, results from a clinical trial, acceptance of an NDA or an equivalent filing, and/or regulatory approval. We 
recognize revenue when the corresponding milestone is achieved, or the revenue is otherwise earned through our on-going activities.  
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  (i) Product Returns Allowances 

  (ii) Government Chargebacks 

  (iii) Discounts 

  (iv) Rebates 

  (v) Medicaid Rebates 

  (vi) Distribution and Data Fees 



Inventories – Lower of Cost or Market  

We adjust our inventory value for estimated amounts of excess, obsolete, or unmarketable items. Such assumptions involve projections of 
future customer demand, as driven by economic and market conditions, and the product’s shelf life. If actual demand, or economic or market 
conditions are less favorable than those projected by us, incremental inventory write-downs may be required.  

Fair Value of Acquired Assets and Assumed Liabilities  

The accounting for business combination and asset acquisitions requires extensive use of estimates and judgments to measure the fair value 
of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired, including in-process research and development, and liabilities assumed. Additionally, 
we must determine whether the acquisition meets the criteria for business combination accounting (rather than an asset acquisition), because the 
excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired can only be recognized as “goodwill” in a business combination.  

The fair value of acquired tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities assumed, are based on their estimated fair values at the 
acquisition date and requires extensive use of accounting estimates, judgments, and assumptions, including but not limited to: likelihood, timing, 
and costs to complete the in-process projects, probability of achieving regulatory approvals, cash flows to be derived from the acquired assets, 
and the application of appropriate discount rates. For each acquisition, we engage an independent third-party valuation specialist to assist 
management in determining the fair value of in-process research and development, identifiable intangible assets, and any contingent 
consideration.  

In connection with certain of our acquisitions, we must record a contingent consideration liability for cash or stock payments upon the 
completion of certain future performance milestones. In these cases, a liability is recorded on the acquisition date for an estimate of the 
acquisition date fair value of the contingent consideration by applying the income approach utilizing variable inputs such as probability of 
achievement and risk-free adjusted discount rates. Any change in the fair value of the contingent consideration subsequent to the acquisition date 
is recognized in earnings.  

Goodwill and Intangible Assets – Impairment Evaluations  

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not subject to amortization, but are evaluated for impairment annually as of 
October 1, or whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the asset might be impaired. We evaluate the possible impairment 
(i) if/when events or changes in circumstances occur that indicate that the carrying value of assets may not be recoverable; or (ii) in the case of 
goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets, our annual impairment assessment date of October 1. These evaluations require significant 
judgment by our management in forecasting net cash flows to be derived by these intangible assets in our on-going operations. The discounted 
value of such cash flows (or our market capitalization in the case of goodwill) are compared to each asset’s carrying value to assess whether 
there is an indication of impairment and related charges to record.  

Income Taxes  

Our consolidated balance sheets reflect net deferred tax assets (net of a valuation allowance) that primarily represent the tax benefit of net 
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, and credits and timing differences between book and tax. When it is more likely than not that all or 
some portion of deferred tax assets may not be realized, we establish a valuation allowance for the amount that may not be realized. Each 
quarter, we evaluate the need to retain all or a portion of the valuation allowance on our net deferred tax assets. Our evaluation considers 
historical earnings, estimated future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. Adjustments to the valuation 
allowance increase or decrease net income or loss in the period such adjustments are made. If our estimates require adjustments, it could have a 
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

We recognize stock-based compensation expense for employees and directors over the equity award vesting period, based on its fair value 
at the date of grant. The fair value of equity awards that are expected to vest is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 
period. Stock-based compensation expense recognized is net of an estimated forfeiture rate, which is updated as appropriate.  

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock option grants with service conditions for vesting and 
the Monte Carlo valuation model to value certain equity awards with market conditions and service conditions for vesting. These models require 
the use of highly subjective assumptions, including the probability of the achievement of certain market capitalization levels.  
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Litigation Accruals  

From time-to-time we are involved in various claims and legal proceedings of a nature considered normal and incidental to our business. 
These matters may include product liability, intellectual property, employment, and other general claims. We accrue for contingent liabilities 
when it is probably that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The accruals are adjusted periodically as 
assessments change or as additional information becomes available.  

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

Operations Overview – 2013, 2012, and 2011  
   

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 VERSUS DECEMBER 31, 2012  

Total Revenues  
   

Product sales, net : Gross product revenues are reduced by estimated provisions for product returns, sales discounts and rebates, 
distribution and data fees, and estimates for chargebacks established at the time revenues are recognized to arrive at product sales, net. 
Management considers various factors in determination of such provisions, which are described more in detail within “Critical Accounting 
Policies and Estimates” above.  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
     ($ in thousands)   
Total revenues     $ 155,854        100.0 %    $ 267,707        100.0 %    $ 192,963        100.0 %  

         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Operating costs and expenses:               

Cost of product sales (excludes amortization of intangible assets)       28,580        18.3 %      46,633        17.4 %      33,838        17.5 %  
Selling, general and administrative       99,315        63.7 %      89,922        33.6 %      72,197        37.4 %  
Research and development       46,670        29.9 %      41,560        15.5 %      26,662        13.8 %  
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets       20,074        12.9 %      8,818        3.3 %      3,720        1.9 %  

                                                             

Total operating costs and expenses       194,639        124.9 %      186,933        69.8 %      136,417        70.7 %  
                                                             

(Loss) income from operations       (38,785 )      (24.9 )%      80,774        30.2 %      56,546        29.3 %  
                                                             

Change in fair value of common stock warrant liability       —          —          —          —          (3,488 )      (1.8 %)  
Change in fair value of contingent consideration from acquisition       2,871        1.8 %      —          —          —          —      
Other (expense) income, net       (722 )      (0.5 )%      (844 )      (0.3 )%      577        0.3 %  

                                                             

(Loss) income before income tax       (36,636 )      (23.5 )%      79,930        29.9 %      53,655        27.8 %  
         

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Income tax (expense) benefit       (25,498 )      (16.4 )%      14,271        5.3 %      (3,704 )      (1.9 )%  
                                                             

Net (loss) income     $ (62,134 )      (39.9 )%    $ 94,201        35.2 %    $ 49,931        25.9 %  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

     Year Ended December 31,                
     2013      2012      $ Change     % Change   
     ($ in millions)                

Product sales, net:             

FUSILEV     $ 68.4       $ 204.3       $ (135.9 )      (66.5 )%  
FOLOTYN       44.4         20.4         24.0        >100.0 %  
ZEVALIN       29.4         30.3         (0.9 )      (3.0 )%  
MARQIBO       1.3         —          1.3        >100.0 %  

                                           

   $ 143.5       $ 255.0       $ (111.5 )      (43.7 )%  
License fees and service revenue       12.4         12.7         (0.3 )      (2.4 )%  

                                           

Total revenues     $ 155.9       $ 267.7       $ (111.8 )      (41.8 )%  
         

  

         

  

         

  

        

  



FUSILEV revenue decrease is primarily due to a change in buying patterns of wholesalers, a lower average net sales price, and a decrease 
in underlying demand by end-users, as the shortage in generic leucovorin abated in late 2012. In addition, government rebates as a percentage of 
gross sales increased by 17% as compared to the same period in 2012, driven primarily by a change in customer mix, and to a lesser extent, a 
refinement to our methodology to estimate rebate claims remaining in channel inventory. This revenue decrease was partially offset by a 
refinement in our estimate of future products returns. As compared to 2012, this refinement reduced our percentage of 2013 sales that we expect 
will be subject to reversal for future product returns.  

FOLOTYN revenue increase is due to a full year of recognition of product sales in 2013, as compared to the prior year. We acquired this 
drug through our acquisition of Allos in September 2012.  

ZEVALIN revenue decreased slightly in 2013. The slight decrease is attributable to less U.S. product demand and a minor decrease in our 
average net sales price per unit, which was not fully offset by an increase in European product demand. Beginning in the second quarter of 2013, 
we terminated our ZEVALIN services agreement with Bayer, and transitioned to a sales distribution model in Europe. This transition has had a 
favorable impact on 2013 unit sales in Europe.  

MARQIBO revenue derived in 2013 is a result of our acquisition of Talon in July 2013.  

License fees and service revenue: In 2013 and 2012, we recognized $12.4 million and $12.7 million, respectively, from the amortization 
of deferred revenue that corresponded with our contracted research and development services. This revenue is associated with a $41.5 million 
upfront payment we received from Allergan in 2008, and an aggregate of $16.0 million in upfront payments we received from Nippon Kayaku 
and Handok in 2010. As of December 31, 2013, these upfront payments have been recognized through “license fees and service revenue” in full. 

Operating Expenses  
   

Cost of Product Sales . The decrease in the cost of product sales is primarily driven by an overall 44% decrease in product sales. Gross 
margins in 2013 and 2012 remained largely consistent.  

Selling, General and Administrative . Selling, general and administrative expenses increased due to:  
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     Year Ended December 31,               
     2013      2012     $ Change     % Change   
     ($ in millions)               

Operating expenses:            
Cost of product sales (excludes amortization of intangibles)     $ 28.6       $ 46.6      $ (18.0 )      (38.6 %)  
Selling, general and administrative       99.3         89.9        9.4        10.5 %  
Research and development       46.6         41.6        5.0        12.0 %  
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets       20.1         8.8        11.3        > 100.0 %  

                                          

Total operating costs and expenses     $ 194.6       $ 186.9      $ 7.7        4.1 %  
                                          

Other (expense) income, net     $ 2.1       $ (0.8 )    $ 2.9        > 100.0 %  
                                          

  
•   $1.3 million increase in professional fees which include legal costs for patent and trademark matters, audit fees, and tax consulting 

services.  
  •   $3.0 million increase in legal and professional fees related to our Talon acquisition.  
  •   $3.1 million increase in marketing expenses and commercial costs related to our sales outside the U.S.  
  •   $2.7 million increase in employee severance costs related to the Talon acquisition.  
  •   $5.7 million increase in legal and professional fees related to ongoing shareholder and patent litigation.  

  
•   $1.0 million increase in consulting, compensation and associated benefits, which is mainly attributable to the addition of senior 

management positions, and the inclusion of personnel in Japan and Netherlands, and also includes a $0.5 million increase in 
recruitment fees.  



These increases were partially offset by 2012 expenses that did not recur in 2013, including:  
   

   

Research and Development. Research and development expenses increased due to:  
   

   

   

These increases were partially offset by:  
   

   

   

Amortization and Impairment of Intangible Assets. The amortization and impairment of intangible assets increased $11.3 million in 2013, 
of which $1.0 million is due to the impairment of our FOLOTYN distribution rights as a result of our Mundipharma contract amendment in May 
2013. The remaining amount is due to the amortization of definite-lived intangible assets from our acquisitions of ZEVALIN Rights, Allos, and 
Talon.  

Other Income (Expense), net. Other income (expense), net increased by $2.9 million and was primarily due to the $2.9 million decrease to 
our “acquisition-related contingent obligations” liability, which resulted in an equal credit to our “change in fair value of contingent 
consideration related to acquisition.” This change in value corresponds to our acquisition of Talon and rights to C-E MELPHALAN. This 
amount is partially offset by an increase in “interest expense” from our convertible senior notes issued in December 2013.  
   

Benefit (Provision) for Income Taxes. In 2013 we recognized an income tax provision of $25.5 million. This provision was due to the 
recording of a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2013, we determined that there are uncertainties 
regarding the realization of our deferred tax assets (which were primarily generated by our cumulative net operating losses and from the tax 
attributes of acquired entities) due to multiple quarterly consecutive net losses.  

In 2012, we recorded a $14.3 million tax benefit. The tax benefit in 2012 was the result of a change in judgment in the first quarter of 2012 
regarding the realizability of our deferred tax assets due to positive earnings trends and operating income realized in 2011 and 2012. These 
positive factors resulted in a $44.5 million tax benefit from the release of our valuation allowance on deferred tax assets.  
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•   $0.8 million increase in other expenses consisting of computer software and services, as well as rent and utilities for new facilities in 

Japan, Colorado, and the Netherlands.  

  
•   $5.5 million in legal and professional fees related to our 2012 acquisitions of Allos and rights to market ZEVALIN outside of the 

U.S.  
  •   $1.9 million for Allos employee severance costs.  

  •   $0.9 million increase in continuing medical education grants.  
  •   $1.3 million increase in consulting, compensation and associated benefits.  

  
•   $7.1 million increase in expenses incurred following the amendment of our agreement with Allergan in the first quarter of 2013. This 

resulted in a decrease in the reimbursement of expenses compared to 2012.  

  
•   $2.4 million decrease in 2013 of our “drug development liability” as a result of our amendment to the Mundipharma agreement, 

which had the corresponding effect of reducing 2013 research and development expenses.  
  •   $0.6 million reduction in licensing, quality, and regulatory fees.  
  •   $0.6 million reduction in depreciation.  

     Year Ended December 31,                
     2013     2012      $ Change     % Change   
     ($ in millions)                

Benefit (provision) for income taxes     $ (25.5 )    $ 14.3       $ (39.8 )      >(100.0 %)  
         

  

        

  

         

  

        

  



YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 VERSUS DECEMBER 31, 2011  

Revenue  
   

Product sales, net :  

FUSILEV revenues increased due to FDA approval of FUSILEV for use in the treatment of advanced metastatic colorectal cancer received 
on April 29, 2011 and a supply disruption of generic leucovorin which abated in late 2012.  

FOLOTYN revenues increased due to acquiring the drug through the acquisition of Allos on September 5, 2012.  

ZEVALIN revenues increased between the 2012 and 2011 periods due to an increase in product demand.  

License fees and service revenue : During 2012 and 2011, we recognized $12.7 million and 12.3 million, respectively, of service revenue 
from the amortization of a $41.5 million upfront payment we received from Allergan in 2008, and a $16.0 million upfront payment we received 
from Nippon Kayaku and Handok in the first quarter of 2010.  

Operating Expenses  

Our operating expenses are summarized in the following table:  
   

Cost of Product Sales . The increase in total cost of product sales relates to an increase in product revenues for all products and an increase 
in inventory reserves of approximately $3.0 million, primarily relating to the ZEVALIN inventory estimated to be in excess of anticipated usage. 

Selling, General and Administrative.  Selling, general and administrative expenses increased as a result of the inclusion of Allos and is 
primarily due to:  
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     Year Ended December 31,                 
     2012      2011      $ Change      % Change   
     ($ in millions)                 

Product sales, net              
FUSILEV     $ 204.3       $ 153.1       $ 51.2         33.4 %  
FOLOTYN       20.4         —          20.4         n/a    
ZEVALIN       30.3         27.6         2.7         9.8 %  

                                            

   $ 255.0       $ 180.7       $ 74.3         41.1 %  
License fees and service revenue       12.7         12.3         0.4         3.3 %  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total revenues     $ 267.7       $ 193.0       $ 74.7         38.7 %  
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

     Year Ended December 31,               
     2012     2011     $ Change     % Change   
     ($ in millions)               
Operating expenses:           

Cost of product sales (excludes amortization of purchased 
intangibles)     $ 46.6      $ 33.8      $ 12.8        37.9 %  

Selling, general and administrative       89.9        72.2        17.7        24.5 %  
Research and development       41.6        26.7        14.9        55.8 %  
Amortization of purchased intangible assets       8.8        3.7        5.1        >100.0 %  

                                         

Total operating costs and expenses     $ 186.9      $ 136.4      $ 50.5        37.0 %  
Change in the fair value of common stock warrant liability       —         (3.5 )      (3.5 )      (100.0 %)  
Other (expense) income, net     $ (0.8 )    $ 0.6      $ (1.4 )      > (100.0 %)  

                                         

  
•   $7.0 million increase in compensation and associated benefits, of which $4.3 million is attributable to sales and marketing expenses 

as a result of the expansion of our sales force, and the inclusion of Allos personnel.  
  •   $4.8 million increase in advertising, branding, printing, marketing and promotion.  

  
•   $5.6 million in legal and professional fees related to the Allos acquisition and $0.7 million in transaction costs related to the 

acquisition of ZEVALIN Rights.  



   

   

These increases were partially offset by a $7.6 million decrease in stock compensation expense.  

Research and Development. Research and development expenses increased is primarily due to:  
   

   

   

   

Amortization and Impairment of Intangible Assets. We incurred a non-cash charge of $8.8 million and $3.7 million in 2012 and 2011, 
respectively, due to the amortization of intangibles recognized in the acquisition of ZEVALIN Rights and the amortization of intangibles 
recognized as part of the acquisition of Allos.  

Change in Fair Value of Common Stock Warrant Liability. We recorded a loss of $3.5 million for the change in the fair value of the 
outstanding warrants to non-employees during 2011, which were not outstanding in 2012.  

Other Income (Expense), net. The principal components of other income (expense) consisted primarily of a $0.7 million increase in interest 
expense in connection with the revolving line of credit, an increase of $0.1 million for the sale of property and equipment due to the downsizing 
of the Allos facilities, and a decrease of $0.1 million of interest income due to the sale of marketable securities at the end of the second quarter of 
2012.  
   

Benefit (Provision) for Income Taxes. As of December 31, 2011, we maintained a $44.6 million valuation allowance against our domestic 
deferred tax assets and a $1.0 valuation allowance against our foreign deferred tax assets. Based on the weight of both positive and negative 
evidence, we concluded that it was more likely than not that the domestic net deferred tax assets would be realized, and therefore, we released 
$23.5 million of our domestic valuation allowance as a discrete tax benefit through December 31, 2012 with the remaining $21.1 million 
domestic valuation allowance being released through our annual effective tax rate based upon projected current year earnings.  

The annual effective rate for fiscal 2012 is below the statutory rate principally as a result of tax benefits realized from the release of our 
valuation allowance against domestic deferred tax assets. The year-to-date tax benefit of $14.3 million in 2012 is primarily the result of $44.6 
million in tax benefits recognized through December 31, 2012 related to the release of our valuation allowance on domestic deferred tax assets.  

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  
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  •   $2.0 million increase for transitional services related to sales of ZEVALIN outside the U.S.  
  •   $1.7 million severance and related expenses in connection with the Allos acquisition.  
  •   $1.6 million increase in sales force travel and expenses.  

  
•   $5.0 million increase for drug product and a payment related to the co-development and commercialization agreement with Hamni 

Pharmaceutical Company for SPI-2012.  
  •   $2.7 million increase in compensation and associated benefits.  
  •   $2.2 million increase in on-going clinical trials.  
  •   $1.2 million increase in continuing medical education grants and symposiums.  

     Year Ended December 31,                
     2012      2011     $ Change      % Change   
     ($ in millions)                

Benefit (provision) for income taxes     $ 14.3       $ (3.7 )    $ 18.0         >(100.0 %)  
         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

     December 31,   
     2013      2012   

     
(in thousands, except financial  

metrics data)   
Cash and cash equivalents     $ 156,306       $ 139,698    
Marketable securities     $ 3,471       $ 3,310    
Accounts receivable, net     $ 49,483       $ 92,169    
Total current assets     $ 235,190       $ 264,873    
Total current liabilities     $ 89,984       $ 123,243    
Working capital surplus (a)     $ 145,206       $ 141,630    
Days sales outstanding (“DSO”) (b)       110         121    
Current ratio (c)       2.6         2.1    

  
(a) Total current assets at period end minus total current liabilities at period end. 
(b) Net accounts receivable at period end divided by revenue, net for the fourth quarter multiplie d by 92 days. 
(c) Total current assets at period end divided by total current liabilities at period end. 



Net Cash (Used In) Provided By Operating Activities  

Cash used in operating activities was $2.1 million for 2013, as compared to cash provided by operating activities of $72.0 million in the 
prior year. The decrease in cash provided by operating activities during the current year, as compared to the prior year is primarily a function of 
the working capital drivers of (i) decreased revenue and related collections and (ii) increased payments to our vendors to reduce trade payables 
between these periods.  

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, our cash collections from customers totaled $239.7 million and $301.9 million, 
respectively, representing 154% and 113% of reported net revenue for the same years.  

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, cash payments to our employees and vendors for products, services, and rebates totaled 
$249.7 million and $231.3 million, respectively.  

Net Cash (Used In) Investing Activities  

Net cash used in investing activities of $14.3 million in 2013 was due to (i) our acquisition of Talon for $11.2 million (see Note 10(a) to 
the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements), (ii) our $3.0 million purchase of C-E MELPHALAN rights (see Note 10(b) ), and 
(iii) $0.2 million in purchases of property and equipment.  

Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities  

Net cash provided by financing activities of $35.3 million in 2013 is due to (i) $115.4 million in net proceeds from our 2018 Convertible 
Notes (see below) issuance in December 2013, (ii) proceeds of $7.0 million from Mundipharma towards our continued development of 
FOLOTYN (see Note 13 ), and (iii) $3.6 million in proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options.  

These cash proceeds are partially offset by (i) $75.0 million net repayment of our terminated credit facility, (ii) $13.1 million of net costs 
for derivative instrument purchases to hedge the conversion feature of our 2018 Convertible Notes, and (iii) $1.7 million purchase of treasury 
stock, which was subsequently retired.  

Convertible Senior Notes Due 2018  

On December 17, 2013, we entered into an agreement for the sale of $120.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.75% Convertible 
Senior Notes due December 2018 (the “2018 Convertible Notes”). The 2018 Convertible Notes are convertible into shares of our common stock 
at a conversion rate of 95 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the 2018 Convertible Notes, totaling 11.4 million common shares if fully 
converted. The in-the-money conversion price is equivalent to $10.53 per common share. The conversion rate and conversion price are subject to 
adjustment under certain limited circumstances. Initially, we may only settle conversions of the 2018 Convertible Notes by delivering shares of 
our common stock. However, if we obtain stockholder approval in accordance with applicable NASDAQ rules (which is expected at our Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders in June 2014), we may then settle conversions of the 2018 Convertible Notes by paying or delivering, as the case may 
be, cash, shares of our common stock, or a combination of cash and shares, at our election.  

The 2018 Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 2.75% per year, payable semiannually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each 
year, beginning on June 15, 2014. The 2018 Convertible Notes will mature and become payable on December 15, 2018, subject to earlier 
conversion into common stock at the holders’ option.  

Our December 23, 2013 net proceeds were $115.4 million from the sale of the 2018 Convertible Notes, after deducting banker and 
professional fees of $4.6 million. We used a portion of these proceeds to simultaneously enter into “bought call” and “sold warrant” transactions 
with Royal Bank of Canada (collectively, the “Note Hedge”). We recorded the Note Hedge on a net cost basis of $13.1 million, as a reduction to 
“additional paid-in capital” in our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Under applicable GAAP, the Note Hedge transaction is not 
expected to be marked-to-market through earnings or comprehensive income in future reporting periods.  
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Retired Credit Facility  

On September 5, 2012, we entered into a credit agreement with Bank of America, N.A., as the administrative agent and an initial lender 
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as an initial lender, as amended July 16, 2013 (the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement 
provided us with a committed $50.0 million revolving line of credit facility (the “Credit Facility”). The Credit Facility was to expire on 
September 5, 2014, but was repaid in full and cancelled by us on December 20, 2013.  

The Credit Facility bore interest, at our election, at a rate equal to the London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR), plus an applicable margin 
(2.75% to 4.25%, dependent on a defined liquidity ratio).  

Future Capital Requirements  

We believe that the future growth of our business will depend on our ability to successfully develop and acquire new drugs for the 
treatment of cancer and successfully bring these drugs to market.  

The timing and amount of our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:  
   

   

   

   

   

We believe that our $159.8 million in aggregate cash and equivalents, and marketable securities as of December 31, 2013, will allow us to 
fund our current and planned operations for at least the next twelve to eighteen months. We may seek to obtain additional capital through the sale 
of debt or equity securities, if necessary, especially in conjunction with opportunistic acquisitions or licensing arrangements.  

We may be unable to obtain such additional capital when needed, or on terms favorable to us or our stockholders, if at all. If we raise 
additional funds by issuing equity securities, the percentage ownership of our stockholders will be reduced, stockholders may experience 
additional dilution or such equity securities may provide for rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of the holders of our common stock. 
If additional funds are raised through the issuance of debt securities, the terms of such securities may place restrictions on our ability to operate 
our business.  

Contractual Obligations  

The following table summarizes our contractual and other commitments, including obligations under facility and equipment leases, as of 
December 31, 2013:  
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  •   the need for additional capital to fund future development programs;  
  •   the need for additional capital to fund strategic acquisitions;  
  •   the need for additional capital to fund licensing arrangements;  
  •   our requirement for additional information technology infrastructure and systems; and  
  •   adverse outcomes from potential litigation and the cost to defend such litigation.  

     Total      

Less than 
 

1 Year      2-3 Years      4-5 Years      
After  

5 Years   
     (in thousands)   

Operating lease obligations (1)     $ 4,693       $ 849       $ 1,842       $ 1,711       $ 291    
Purchase obligations (2)       42,925         37,404         4,295         1,226         —      
Contingent milestone obligations (3)       428,438         35,630         21,295         25,729         345,784    
Drug development liability (4)       17,742         3,119         2,413         2,267         9,943    
Debt obligations (5)       136,666         3,273         6,701         126,692         —     

                                                       

Total     $ 630,464       $ 80,275       $ 36,546       $ 157,625       $ 356,018    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

(1) The operating lease obligations are primarily related to the facility lease for our corporate headquarters in Henderson, Nevada, expiring 
April 30, 2014; and our research and development and administrative facility in Irvine, California, expiring May 31, 2019. 

(2) Purchase obligations represent the amount of open purchase orders and contractual commitments to vendors for products and services that 
have not been delivered, or rendered, as of December 31, 2013. 

(3) Milestone obligations are payable contingent upon successfully reaching certain development and regulatory milestones (see Note 14 to the 
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements). Given the unpredictability of the drug development process, and the impossibility of 
predicting the success of current and future clinical trials, the  



Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements (except for operating leases) that provide financing, liquidity, market or credit risk support, or 
involve derivatives. In addition, we have no arrangements that may expose us to liability that are not expressly reflected in the accompanying 
Consolidated Financial Statements.  

As of December 31, 2013, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, often referred to as 
“structured finance” or “special purpose entities,” established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually 
narrow or limited purposes. As such, we are not subject to any material financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we had 
engaged in such relationships.  

   

In the normal course of business, our operations are exposed to risks associated with fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency 
exchange rates.  

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal, while at the same time maximizing yields without significantly 
increasing risk. We do not utilize hedging contracts or similar instruments. Because of our ability to generally redeem these investments at par at 
short notice and without penalty, changes in interest rates would have an immaterial effect on the fair value of these investments. If a 10% 
change in interest rates were to have occurred on December 31, 2013, any decline in the fair value of our investments would not be material in 
the context of our accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, we are exposed to certain market risks associated with credit 
ratings of corporations whose corporate bonds we may purchase from time to time. If these companies were to experience a significant 
detrimental change in their credit ratings, the fair market value of such corporate bonds may significantly decrease. If these companies were to 
default on these corporate bonds, we may lose part or all of our principal. We believe that we effectively manage this market risk by diversifying 
our investments, and investing in highly rated securities.  

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations relating to payments we make to vendors, suppliers and license partners 
using foreign currencies. In particular, some of our obligations are incurred in Euros. We mitigate such risk by maintaining a limited portion of 
our cash in Euros and other currencies.  
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timelines estimated above do not represent a forecast of when payment milestones will actually be reached, if at all. Rather, they assume 
that all development and regulatory milestones under all of our license agreements are successfully met, and represent our best estimates of 
the timelines. In the event that the milestones are met, we believe it is likely that the increase in the potential value of the related drug 
product will exceed the amount of the milestone obligation. 

(4) Research and development services under the Mundipharma Collaboration Agreement (see Note 13 to the accompanying Consolidated 
Financial Statements) over the period required to complete the jointly agreed-upon clinical development activities. 

(5) Debt obligations represent amount due under our 2018 Convertible Notes issued in December 2013, inclusive of interest payments over its 
full term (see Note 12 to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements). 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 



SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  
   

Date: March 12, 2014  

POWER OF ATTORNEY  

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Rajesh C. Shrotriya and Kurt A. Gustafson as his attorney-in-
fact, with full power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all 
exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all 
that each attorney-in-fact, or his substitute, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:  
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Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 

By:   /s/ R AJESH C. S HROTRIYA , M.D. 

  

Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D.  
Chief Executive Officer and President  
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/s/ R AJESH C. S HROTRIYA , M.D.  
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Officer, and President  
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March 12, 2014 
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March 12, 2014 
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Director  
  

March 12, 2014 
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Luigi Lenaz, M.D.     

Director  
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Director  
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Director  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  

We have audited Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(1992 framework) (the COSO criteria). Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control 
over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely 
basis. The following material weakness has been identified and included in management’s assessment. Management has identified a material 
weakness in internal control over financial reporting related to the accurate and timely accounting for accruals. Specifically, (i) ineffective design 
of controls over the process of estimating the required period-end accruals for services performed under open purchase orders, which resulted in 
overstated operating expenses and accrued liabilities in multiple reporting periods in, and prior to, 2013; and (ii) the ineffective design and 
operating effectiveness of controls over the process for identifying and recording liabilities for vendor invoices received subsequent to year end 
that related to 2013 activities, which would have resulted in understated operating expenses and accrued liabilities, if left uncorrected.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 
balance sheets of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013. This 
material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of those consolidated financial 
statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 12, 2014, which expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated 
financial statements.  
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In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, 
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on the 
COSO criteria.  
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/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

Irvine, California 
March 12, 2014 



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and 
the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years 
in the period ended December 31, 2013. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These 
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the 
related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material 
respects the information set forth therein.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Spectrum 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) and our report 
dated March 12, 2014 expressed an adverse opinion thereon.  
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Irvine, California 
March 12, 2014 



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
(In thousands, except share and par value amounts)  

   

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.  
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     December 31,   
     2013     2012   

ASSETS    
Current assets:       

Cash and equivalents     $ 156,306      $ 139,698    
Marketable securities       3,471        3,310    
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $206 and $228, respectively       49,483        92,169    
Other receivables       7,539        —     
Inventories       13,519        14,478    
Prepaid expenses and other current assets       3,213        2,745    
Deferred tax assets       1,659        12,473    

                     

Total current assets       235,190        264,873    
Property and equipment, net       1,535        2,548    
Intangible assets, net       231,352        200,234    
Goodwill       18,501        7,279    
Deferred tax assets       —          23,276    
Other assets       12,577        6,745    

                     

Total assets     $ 499,155      $ 504,955    
         

  

        

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities     $ 79,837      $ 105,252    
Accrued payroll and related expenses       6,872        4,835    
Deferred revenue       156        12,300    
Drug development liability       3,119        856    

                     

Total current liabilities       89,984        123,243    
Drug development liability, less current portion       14,623        11,377    
Deferred payment contingency       —          2,287    
Acquisition-related contingent obligations       8,329        —      
Deferred tax liability       7,168        —      
Other long-term liabilities       5,965        4,367    
Revolving line of credit       —          75,000    
Convertible senior notes       91,480        —      

         
  

        
  

Total liabilities       217,549        216,274    
Commitments and contingencies       

Stockholders’  equity:       

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized       

Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value; 1,500,000 shares authorized: no shares issued and 
outstanding       —          —      

Series E Convertible Voting Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value and $10,000 stated value; 2,000 shares authorized; 
20 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively (convertible into 40,000 shares of 
common stock, with aggregate liquidation value of $240)       123        123    

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 175,000,000 shares authorized; 64,104,173 and 60,026,675 issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively       64        60    

Additional paid-in capital       518,144        463,710    
Accumulated other comprehensive income       894        273    
Accumulated deficit       (237,619 )      (175,485 )  

                     

Total stockholders’  equity       281,606        288,681    
                     

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity     $ 499,155      $ 504,955    
         

  

        

  



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)  

   

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

Revenues:         
Product sales, net     $ 143,475      $ 254,992      $ 180,663    
License fees and service revenue       12,379        12,715        12,300    

                               

Total revenues     $ 155,854      $ 267,707      $ 192,963    
         

  

        

  

        

  

Operating costs and expenses:         
Cost of product sales (excludes amortization of purchased intangible assets)       28,580        46,633        33,838    
Selling, general and administrative       99,315        89,922        72,197    
Research and development       46,670        41,560        26,662    
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets       20,074        8,818        3,720    

                               

Total costs and operating expenses       194,639        186,933        136,417    
                               

(Loss) income from operations       (38,785 )      80,774        56,546    
                               

Other income (expense):         

Interest expense, net       (2,192 )      (485 )      297    
Change in fair value of contingent consideration related to acquisition       2,871        —          —      
Change in fair value of common stock warrant liability       —          —          (3,488 )  
Other income (expense), net       1,470        (359 )      280    

                               

Total other income (expense)       2,149        (844 )      (2,911 )  
                               

(Loss) income before income taxes       (36,636 )      79,930        53,635    
(Provision) benefit for income taxes       (25,498 )      14,271        (3,704 )  

         
  

        
  

        
  

Net (loss) income     $ (62,134 )    $ 94,201      $ 49,931    
         

  

        

  

        

  

Net (loss) income per share:         
Basic     $ (1.02 )    $ 1.61      $ 0.94    

         

  

        

  

        

  

Diluted     $ (1.02 )    $ 1.46      $ 0.86    
         

  

        

  

        

  

Weighted average shares outstanding:         

Basic       60,729,128        58,588,916        53,272,767    
         

  

        

  

        

  

Diluted       60,729,128        64,637,256        57,959,714    
         

  

        

  

        

  



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)  
(In thousands)  

   

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

Net (loss) income     $ (62,134 )    $ 94,201      $ 49,931    
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:         

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities       1,110        797        (135 )  
Income tax on unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities       (420 )      (213 )      —      
Foreign currency translation adjustments       (69 )      (84 )      —      

                               

Other comprehensive income (loss), net       621        500        (135 )  
         

  
        

  
        

  

Total comprehensive (loss) income     $ (61,513 )    $ 94,701      $ 49,796    
         

  

        

  

        

  



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
(In thousands, except share data)  

   
                                   Accumulated  

Other  
Comprehensive 

 
Income (Loss)   

                        

     Preferred Stock     Common Stock     Additional       Accumulated     Treasury Stock     
Total  

Stockholders   

     Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Paid-In Capital       Deficit     Shares     Amount     Equity   
Balance at December 31, 2010       26      $ 160        51,459,284      $ 51      $ 384,757      $ (92 )    $ (307,635 )      —        $ —        $ 77,241    

Net income       —          —          —          —          —          —          49,931        —          —          49,931    
Other comprehensive 

income, net       —          —          —          —          —          (135 )      —          —          —          (135 )  
Conversion of Series E 

preferred stock to 
common stock       (6 )      (37 )      12,000        —          37        —          —          —          —          —      

Issuance of common stock 
to 401(k) plan       —          —          65,889        —          593        —          —          —          —          593    

Issuance of common stock 
for ESPP       —          —          100,386        —          655        —          —          —          —          655    

Adjustments resulting from 
change in value of 
warrants recognized in 
equity       —          —          —          —          7,392        —          —          —          —          7,392    

Issuance of common stock 
upon exercise of stock 
options       —          —          1,126,257        1        5,136        —          —          —          —          5,137    

Issuance of common stock 
upon exercise of 
warrants       —          —          3,747,312        4        24,804        —          —          —          —          24,808    

Share-based compensation 
expense and common 
stock issued (net of 
forfeitures)       —          —          998,711        1        21,643        —          —          —          —          21,644    

Purchase of treasury stock       —          —          —          —          —          —          —          363,055        (2,926 )      (2,926 )  
Issuance of restricted stock 

for management 
incentive plan, net of 
shares 
repurchased/retired for 
employee tax 
withholding       —          —          426,562        1        (4,033 )      —          —          —          —          (4,032 )  

Fair value of common stock 
issued to Targent for 
milestone       —          —          1,311,082        1        11,777        —          —          —          —          11,778    

         
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Balance at December 31, 2011       20      $ 123        59,247,483      $ 59      $ 452,761      $ (227 )    $ (257,704 )      363,055      $ (2,926 )    $ 192,086    
Net income       —          —          —          —          —          —          94,201        —          —          94,201    
Other comprehensive 

income, net       —          —          —          —          —          500        —          —          —          500    
Issuance of common stock 

to 401(k) plan       —          —          56,254        —          691        —          —          —          —          691    
Issuance of common stock 

for ESPP       —          —          54,521        —          606        —          —          —          —          606    
Issuance of common stock 

upon exercise of stock 
options       —          —          1,287,430        2        5,815        —          —          —          —          5,817    

Issuance of common stock 
upon exercise of warrant      —          —          50,000        —          89        —          —          —          —          89    

Share-based compensation 
expense and common 
stock issued (net of 
forfeitures)       —          —          554,239        —          14,193        —          —          —          —          14,193    

Repurchase of shares to 
satisfy employee tax 
withholding       —          —          (120,197 )      —          (1,434 )      —          —          —          —          (1,434 )  

Dividends paid       —          —          —          —          (9,011 )      —          —          —          —          (9,011 )  
Purchase of treasury stock       —          —          —          —          —          —          —          740,000        (9,057 )      (9,057 )  
Retirement of treasury stock      —          —          (1,103,055 )      (1 )      —          —          (11,982 )      (1,103,055 )      11,983        —      

                                                                                                     

Balance at December 31, 2012       20      $ 123        60,026,675      $ 60      $ 463,710      $ 273      $ (175,485 )      —        $ —        $ 288,681    
Net loss       —          —          —          —          —          —          (62,134 )      —          —          (62,134 )  
Other comprehensive loss, 

net       —          —          —          —          —          621        —          —          —          621    
Issuance of common stock 

to 401(k) plan       —          —          99,359        —          860        —          —          —          —          860    
Issuance of common stock 

for ESPP       —          —          74,925        —          495        —          —          —          —          495    
Issuance of common stock 

upon exercise of stock 
options       —          —          825,884        1        3,576        —          —          —          —          3,577    

Share-based compensation 
expense and common 
stock issued (net of 
forfeitures)       —          —          471,875        —          11,913        —          —          —          —          11,913    

Repurchase of shares to 
satisfy employee tax 
withholding       —          —          (159,545 )      —          (1,509 )      —          —          —          —          (1,509 )  



Purchase of treasury stock       —          —          —          —          —          —          —          235,000       (1,651 )      (1,651 )  
Retirement of treasury stock      —          —          (235,000 )      —          (1,651 )      —          —          (235,000 )      1,651        —      



See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.  
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Issuance of common stock 
for Talon acquisition       —          —          3,000,000        3        26,307        —          —          —          —          26,310    

Issuance of 2018 
Convertible Notes       —          —          —          —          14,443        —          —          —          —          14,443    

         
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Balance at December 31, 2013       20      $ 123        64,104,173      $ 64      $ 518,144      $ 894      $ (237,619 )      —        $ —        $ 281,606    



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(In thousands)  
   
     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:         

Net (loss) income     $ (62,134 )    $ 94,201      $ 49,931    
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:        

Amortization of deferred service revenue       (12,400 )      (12,300 )      (12,300 )  
Depreciation and amortization       22,096        12,243        5,650    
Stock-based compensation       12,423        14,884        22,237    
Change in fair value of common stock warrants issued to non-employees       356        —          3,488    
Accretion of debt discount to interest expense on 2018 Convertible Notes       43        —          —      
Amortization of deferred financing costs to interest expense on 2018 Convertible Notes       101        —          —      
Bad debt expense (recovery)       127        (128 )      245    
Loss on disposal of fixed assets       —          132        38    
Non-cash foreign currency exchange loss       1,222        107        —      
Impairment of FOLOTYN distribution rights       1,023        —          —      
Change in fair value of contingent consideration related to acquisition       (2,871 )      20        —      
Change in fair value of Allos deferred development costs and deferred payment 

contingency       (2,869 )      —          —      
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable       42,559        (33,504 )      (30,897 )  
Inventories       1,570        3,530        (6,528 )  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets       (359 )      9,483        (7,115 )  
Deferred tax assets       33,252        (34,605 )      —      
Other assets       (8,989 )      —          —      
Accounts payable and other accrued obligations       (23,897 )      24,038        15,711    
Accrued payroll and related expenses       425        (9,726 )      (1,525 )  
Drug development liability       (5,917 )      2,376        3,519    
Other long-term liabilities       2,153        1,208       834   

                               

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities       (2,086 )      71,959        43,288    
                               

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:         

Sales and maturities of marketable securities       —          72,463        18,255    
Purchases of marketable securities       —          (26,430 )      (17,027 )  
Purchases of property and equipment       (161 )      (312 )      (475 )  
Purchases of available-for-sale securities       —          (1,712 )      (164 )  
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities       —          —          157    
Purchase of ZEVALIN Ex-U.S. rights       —          (25,435 )      —      
Purchase of C-E MELPHALAN rights       (3,000 )      —          —      
Acquisition of Talon, net of cash acquired       (11,169 )      —          —      
Acquisition of Allos, net of cash acquired       —          (133,264 )      —      

                               

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities       (14,330 )      (114,690 )      746    
                               

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:         

Proceeds from Mundipharma for FOLOTYN development       7,000        —          —      
Proceeds from exercise of stock options       3,576        5,817        5,137    
Proceeds from exercise of common stock warrants       —          89        24,808    
Proceeds from sale of common stock under employee stock purchase plan       495        606        655    
Payments to acquire treasury stock       (1,651 )      (9,057 )      (2,926 )  
Repurchase of restricted stock to satisfy employee tax withholdings at vesting       (1,509 )      (1,434 )      (4,032 )  
Payment of stock dividend       —          (9,011 )      —      
Repayment of capital leases       —          (9 )      (31 )  
Proceeds from revolving line of credit       100,000        125,000        —      
Repayment of revolving line of credit       (175,000 )      (50,000 )      —      
Proceeds from 2018 Convertible Notes       120,000        —          —      
Deferred financing costs       (4,573 )      —          —      
Proceeds from sale of common stock warrants related to 2018 Convertible Notes issuance       12,612        —          —      
Payment of debt issuance costs       —          (976 )      —      
Purchase of common stock call options related to 2018 Convertible Notes issuance       (25,692 )      —          —      

                               

Net cash provided by financing activities       35,258        61,025        23,611    
                               

Effect of exchange rates on cash and equivalents       (2,235 )      202        —      
Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents       16,608        18,496        67,645    

Cash and equivalents — beginning of year       139,698        121,202        53,557    
                               

Cash and equivalents — end of year     $ 156,306      $ 139,698      $ 121,202    
         

  

        

  

        

  

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:         

Cash paid for income taxes     $ —        $ 17,157      $ 2,042    
      



See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Cash paid for interest     $ 1,200      $ 495      $ 14    
         

  

        

  

        

  

Retirement of treasury shares     $ 1,652      $ 11,983      $ —      
         

  

        

  

        

  

Inventory liability assumed in acquisitions     $ —        $ 580      $ —      
         

  

        

  

        

  

Inventory included in accounts payable     $ —        $ 5,000      $ —      
         

  

        

  

        

  

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock     $ —        $ —        $ 37    
         

  

        

  

        

  

Common stock issued for Targent milestones     $ —        $ —        $ 11,778    
         

  

        

  

        

  

Common stock issued for Talon acquisition     $ 26,310        —          —      
         

  

        

  

        

  



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   

(a) Description of Business  

Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (“Spectrum”, the “Company”, “we”, “our”, or “us”), is a biotechnology 
company with fully integrated commercial and drug development operations, with a primary focus in oncology and hematology. Our strategy is 
comprised of acquiring, developing, and marketing a diverse pipeline of late-stage clinical and commercial products.  

We currently market four drugs:  
   

   

   

   

We also have a pipeline of product candidates in advanced-stage Phase 2 and Phase 3 studies. We have assembled an integrated in-house 
scientific team, including formulation development, clinical development, medical research, regulatory affairs, biostatistics and data 
management, and have established a commercial infrastructure for the marketing of our drug products. We also leverage the expertise of our 
worldwide partners to assist in the execution of our business strategies.  

(b) Basis of Presentation  

Principles of Consolidation  

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and with the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). These financial statements include the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of Spectrum and 
its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned. All inter-company accounts and transactions among the consolidated entities have been 
eliminated in consolidation.  

On April 1, 2012, we acquired the licensing rights outside of the U.S. to market ZEVALIN (the “ZEVALIN Rights”); on September 5, 
2012, we acquired Allos Therapeutics, Inc. (“Allos”); and on July 17, 2013, we acquired Talon Therapeutics, Inc. (“Talon”). Our accompanying 
Consolidated Financial Statements include the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with these acquisitions, in addition to the 
operating results and cash flows, beginning with the corresponding acquisition date for each acquisition.  

Variable Interest Entity  

We own fifty-percent of Spectrum Pharma Canada (a “variable interest entity,” as defined under applicable GAAP), which was organized 
in Quebec, Canada in January 2008. Certain of our drug clinical studies are conducted through this entity. We are obligated to fund all costs of 
this entity and have the sole rights to any revenue derived from its operations. Since we carry the full risks and rewards of this entity, we meet 
the applicable GAAP criteria as its “primary beneficiary”. As the primary beneficiary of this variable interest entity, Spectrum Pharma Canada’s 
balance sheets and statements of operations are included in our Consolidated Financial Statements as if it were a wholly-owned subsidiary for all 
periods presented.  

(c) Operating Segment  

We operate in one reportable operating segment that is focused exclusively on developing and commercializing oncology and hematology 
drug products. For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, all of our revenue and related expenses were solely attributable to these 
activities. Substantially all of our long-lived assets are located in the U.S.  
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS, BASIS OF PRESENTATION, AND OPERATING SEGMENT 

  
•   FUSILEV injection for patients in the U.S. with advanced metastatic colorectal cancer and to counteract certain effects of 

methotrexate therapy;  
  •   ZEVALIN injection for patients in the U.S. and various international markets with follicular non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma;  
  •   FOLOTYN injection for patients in the U.S. with relapsed or refractory peripheral T-cell lymphoma; and  
  •   MARQIBO injection for patients in the U.S. with Philadelphia chromosome–negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia.  



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires our management to make informed estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent liabilities. On an on-going 
basis, our management evaluates its estimates, including those related to (i) revenue adjustments; (ii) the collectability of customer accounts; 
(iii) whether the cost of inventories can be recovered; (iv) the value of goodwill and intangible assets; (v) the realization of tax assets and 
estimates of tax liabilities; (vi) the likelihood of payment and value of contingent liabilities; (vii) the fair value of investments; (viii) assumptions 
used in reporting stock-based compensation; and (ix) the potential outcome of litigation.  

Such estimates are based on our management’s judgment which takes into account historical experience and various assumptions. 
Nonetheless, actual results may materially differ from management’s estimates. In our judgment, the accounting policies, estimates, and 
assumptions described below have the potential to significantly impact our preparation of the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements:  

(i) Revenue Recognition  

(a) Product Sales : We sell our products to wholesalers and distributors. Our wholesalers and distributors purchase our products and sell 
the products directly to end-users, such as clinics, hospitals, and private oncology-based practices. Revenue from product sales is recognized 
upon shipment of product when title and risk of loss have transferred to our customer, and the following additional criteria are met:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

Our gross revenue is reduced by our gross-to-net (“GTN”) estimates, resulting in our reported “Product sales, net” in the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. We defer revenue recognition in full if/when these estimates are not reasonably determinable at the time 
of sale.  

Our GTN estimates reduce revenue in the same period that the related sale is recorded and include the following major categories:  

Product Returns Allowances : Our FUSILEV customers are typically permitted to return products within six months after its expiration 
date, subject to certain restocking fees and preauthorization requirements. We estimate potential returns, based on several factors, including 
historical rates of return, customer and end-user ordering patterns, inventory held by distributors, and sell through data of distributor sales to end 
users. In general, returned product is not resold.  

Government Chargebacks : Our products are subject to certain pricing limits under federal government programs. Qualifying entities 
purchase products through our distributors at the discounted price. Our distributors charge the difference between the list price and discounted 
price back to us, for which there may be significant lag time. Due to estimates and assumptions inherent in determining the amount and extent of 
government chargebacks we will incur, which take in account our estimates of which sales will be subject to government chargebacks and the 
amount of such chargebacks, the actual amount of government chargeback claims may be materially different from our estimates.  

Discounts : Discounts (generally prompt payment discounts) are estimated at each reporting period. We review the terms of the contracts, 
specifically price and discount structures, and applicable payment terms to estimate its value.  

Rebates : Rebates are estimated based on the customer’s actual purchase level during the rebate purchase period, and the corresponding 
contractual rebate tier we expect the customer to achieve.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND USE OF ESTIMATES 

  (1) appropriate evidence of a binding arrangement exists with our customer; 

  (2) price is substantially fixed and determinable; 

  (3) collection from our customer is reasonably assured; 

  (4) our customer’s obligation to pay us is not contingent on resale of the product; 

  (5) we do not have significant obligations for future performance to directly bring about the resale of our product; and 

  (6) we have a reasonable basis to estimate returns. 



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   
Medicaid Rebates : Our products are subject to state government-managed Medicaid programs whereby discounts and rebates are provided 

to participating state governments. Our calculations related to these rebate accruals require estimates, including estimates of customer mix 
primarily based on a combination of market and clinical research, to determine which sales will be subject to rebates and the amount of such 
rebates. Our estimate of utilization is based on historical claims and forecasting techniques, and supplemented by management’s judgment with 
respect to many factors, including changes in sales trends, an evaluation of current laws and regulations and product pricing. Due to estimates 
and assumptions inherent in determining the amount of our product sales subject to Medicaid rebates, and the time lag to receive these rebate 
notices (generally several months after the sale is made), the actual amount of these claims may be materially different from our estimates. As a 
result, adjustments may be recorded over several periods after the initial sale is recorded.  

Distribution and Data Fees : Distribution and data fees are paid to authorized wholesalers and specialty distributors of FUSILEV and 
FOLOTYN as a percentage of products sold. The services provided include contract administration, inventory management, product sales 
reporting by customer, returns processing. We estimate these fees based on a percentage of FUSILEV and FOLOTYN revenues that are 
governed by distribution agreements.  

(b) License Fees : We recognize license fees based on the terms of each contractual agreement. In general, this results in periodic revenue 
recognition as the third-party licensee has sales for which we are entitled to a royalty, or in certain cases, a lump-sum license fee in which 
revenue is recognized in that period.  

(c) Service Revenue : We receive fees under certain arrangements for our research and development services. These services are generally 
undertaken in connection with a collaboration agreement with another pharmaceutical company. Payment may be triggered by the successful 
completion of a phase of development, results from a clinical trial, acceptance of an NDA or an equivalent filing, and/or regulatory approval. We 
recognize revenue when the corresponding milestone is achieved, or the revenue is otherwise earned through our on-going activities.  

(ii) Cash and Equivalents  

Cash and equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the original purchase date.  

(iii) Marketable Securities  

Marketable securities are equity securities. These are classified as available-for-sale, with any unrealized change in value reflected in 
“unrealized gain (loss) on securities” on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).  

(iv) Accounts Receivable  

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful accounts is management’s 
best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in existing accounts receivable. Account balances are charged off against the allowance 
after appropriate collection efforts are exhausted.  

(v) Inventories  

We value inventory at the lower of the actual cost to purchase or manufacture the inventory, or the market value for such inventory (i.e., 
net realizable value). Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out method (FIFO). We regularly review inventory quantities in process and on 
hand, and when appropriate, record a provision for obsolete and excess inventory to reduce it to its net realizable value.  

(vi) Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives. In the case of leasehold 
improvements, depreciation is over the shorter of the estimated useful life or remaining term of the lease. We evaluate the recoverability of long-
lived assets (which includes property and equipment) whenever events or changes in circumstances in our business indicate that the asset’s 
carrying amount may not be recoverable through on-going operations.  
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SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   
(vii) Goodwill and Intangible Assets  

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of the net assets of the acquired businesses. Goodwill has an 
indefinite useful life and is not amortized, but instead tested for impairment annually unless there are interim impairment indicators. We perform 
our annual evaluation as of October 1 each year.  

We evaluate the recoverability of indefinite and definite lived intangible assets at least annually, or whenever events or changes in our 
business indicate that an intangible asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. Such circumstances could include, but are not limited to the 
following:  
   

   

   

(viii) Stock-Based Compensation  

We recognize stock-based compensation expense for employees and directors over the equity award vesting period, based on its fair value 
at the date of grant. The fair value of equity awards that are expected to vest is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 
period. Stock-based compensation expense recognized is net of an estimated forfeiture rate, which is updated as appropriate.  

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock option grants with service conditions for vesting and 
the Monte Carlo valuation model to value certain equity awards with market conditions and service conditions for vesting. These models require 
the use of highly subjective assumptions, including the probability of the achievement of certain market capitalization levels.  

(ix) Foreign Currency Translation  

We translate the assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries stated in local functional currencies to U.S. dollars at the rates of exchange 
in effect at the end of the period. Revenues and expenses are translated using rates of exchange in effect during the period. Gains and losses from 
the translation of financial statements denominated in foreign currencies are included as a separate component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) in the statement of comprehensive income (loss).  

We record foreign currency transactions at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction with resultant gains and losses being 
included in results of operations. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses have not been significant for any period presented.  

(x) Comprehensive Income (Loss)  

Comprehensive income (loss) is calculated in accordance with authoritative guidance which requires the disclosure of all components of 
comprehensive income, including net income (loss) and changes in equity during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances 
generated from non-owner sources.  

(xi) Basic and Diluted Net (Loss) Income per Share  

We calculate basic and diluted net (loss) income per share using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the 
periods presented. In periods of a net loss, basic and diluted loss per share are the same. For the diluted earnings per share calculation, we adjust 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding to include only dilutive stock options, warrants, and other common stock 
equivalents outstanding during the period.  

(xii) Income Taxes  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of 
assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the financial statements, as well as operating losses and tax credit carry forwards using enacted tax 
rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon 
future earnings, the timing and amount of which are uncertain.  

We have recorded a valuation allowance to reduce our net deferred tax assets, because we believe that, based upon a weighting of positive 
and negative factors, it is more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will not be realized. If we were to determine that we would be able to 
realize our deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the valuation allowance of our deferred tax  
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  (a) a significant decrease in the market value of an asset; 

  (b) a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used; or 

  (c) an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition of an asset. 



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   
assets would increase net income in the period such determination was made. In the event that we were assessed interest and/or penalties from 
taxing authorities, such amounts would be included in “income tax expense” within the Consolidated Statements of Operations and 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) in the period the notice was received.  

(xiii) Research and Development Costs  

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.  

(xiv) Fair Value Measurements  

We measure fair value based on the prices that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. We utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize 
the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. Fair value measurements are based on a three-tier hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used 
to measure fair value. These tiers include the following:  

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible at the measurement date. The fair 
value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.  

Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but corroborated by market data. These inputs include 
quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted market prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.  

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest priority to 
Level 3 inputs.  

“Cash and equivalents” within our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets include certificates of deposit and money market funds that 
are valued utilizing Level 2 inputs. “Marketable securities” consist of publicly-traded equity instruments that are valued utilizing Level 1 inputs.  

The fair value of our “drug development liability” and our “deferred payment contingency” within our accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheets was valued using a model commonly referred to as the discounted income approach model. The unobservable inputs (i.e., Level 
3 inputs) in this valuation model that have the most significant effect on these liabilities include (i) internal estimates of research and 
development personnel costs needed to perform the research and development services, (ii) estimates of expected cash outflows to third parties 
for services and supplies over the expected period that the services will be performed, and (iii) an appropriate discount rate for these 
expenditures. These inputs are reviewed for reasonableness by management on at least on a quarterly basis.  

“Acquisition-related contingent obligations” within our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets represent future amounts we may be 
required to pay in conjunction with various business combinations. See Note 10(a) for a discussion of CVRs granted as part of our acquisition of 
Talon, and Note 10(b) for the fair value of the liability associated with FDA approval of C-E MELPHALAN. These liabilities are valued using 
Level 3 inputs and include probabilities and assumptions related to the timing and likelihood of achievement of regulatory and sales milestones.  

   

(a) Cash and Equivalents and Marketable Securities  

As of December 31, 2013, we held substantially all of our cash and equivalents, and marketable securities at major financial institutions.  

Our investment policy requires that investments in marketable securities be in only highly-rated instruments, which are primarily U.S. 
treasury bills or U.S. treasury-backed securities, with limitations on investing in securities of any single issuer. We maintain cash balances in 
excess of federally insured limits with reputable financial institutions. To a limited degree, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) 
and other third parties insure these investments. However, these investments are not insured against the possibility of a complete loss of earnings 
or principal and are inherently subject to the credit risk related to the continued credit worthiness of the underlying issuer and general credit 
market risks. We manage such risks on our portfolio by investing in highly liquid, highly rated instruments and do not invest in long-term 
maturity instruments.  
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3. BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNT DETAIL 



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   
Cash and equivalents and marketable securities, including long term bank certificates of deposits, and investments totaled $159.8 million 

and $143.0 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The carrying amount of our money market funds and bank certificate of 
deposits (“Bank CDs”) approximates its fair value (utilizing Level 2 inputs – see Note 2(x) ) because of our ability to immediately convert these 
instruments into cash with minimal change in value.  

The following is a summary of our cash and equivalents and marketable securities:  
   

As of December 31, 2013, none of these securities had been in a continuous unrealized loss position longer than one year.  

(b) Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment consist of the following:  
   

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment (including leasehold improvements) for the years ended December 31, 
2013, 2012, and 2011 was $1.2 million, $1.2 million, and $0.9 million, respectively.  
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Cost   

   Gross  
Unrealized 

 
Gains   

   Gross  
Unrealized 

 
Losses   

   

Estimated  
fair  

Value   

   

Cash and  
equivalents   

   Marketable Securities   

                  Current      
Long  
Term   

December 31, 2013                       

Bank deposits     $ 55,911       $ —         $ —         $ 55,911       $ 55,911       $ —         $ —      
Money market funds       100,395               100,395         100,395          

Bank CDs       410         —           —           410         —           410         —      
Mutual funds       3,061         —           —           3,061         —           3,061         —      

                                                                             

Total cash and equivalents and marketable securities     $ 159,777       $ —         $ —         $ 159,777       $ 156,306       $ 3,471       $ —      
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

December 31, 2012                       

Bank deposits     $ 128,000       $ —         $ —         $ 128,000       $ 128,000       $ —         $ —      
Money market funds       11,698               11,698         11,698          

Bank CDs       987         —           —           987         —           987         —      
Mutual funds       2,323         —           —           2,323         —           2,323         —      

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total cash and equivalents and marketable securities     $ 143,008       $ —         $ —         $ 143,008       $ 139,698       $ 3,310       $ —      
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

     December 31,   
     2013     2012   

Computers and software     $ 5,154      $ 4,540    
Lab and media equipment       1,063        886    
Office furniture and equipment       1,575        1,492    
Leasehold improvements       2,813        2,799    
Assets held under capital lease obligations       —          146    

                     

Property and equipment, at cost       10,605        9,863    
(Less): accumulated depreciation and amortization       (9,070 )      (7,315 )  

         
  

        
  

Property and equipment, net     $ 1,535      $ 2,548    
         

  

        

  



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   
(c) Inventories  

Inventories, net consist of the following:  
   

(d) Intangible Assets and Goodwill  

Intangible assets consist of the following:  
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     December 31,   
     2013      2012   

Raw materials     $ 1,794       $ 887    
Work in process       3,312         7,302    
Finished goods       8,413         6,289    

                      

Inventories     $ 13,519       $ 14,478    
         

  

         

  

            December 31, 2013   

     
Historical  

Cost      

Accumulated 
 

Amortization     

Foreign  
Currency  

Translation      Impairment     Net Amount      

Full  
Amortization 

 
Period  
(years)      

Remaining  
Amortization 
Period (years)   

MARQIBO IPR&D     $ 17,600       $ —        $ —         $ —        $ 17,600         n/a         n/a    
MELPHALAN IPR&D       7,700         —          —           —          7,700         n/a         n/a    
MARQIBO developed technology       26,900         (1,107 )      —           —          25,793         11         11    
ZEVALIN marketing rights – U.S.       41,900         (23,455 )      —           —          18,445         10         5    
ZEVALIN marketing rights – Ex-U.S.       23,490         (5,343 )      682         —          18,829         8         6    
FUSILEV developed technology       16,778         (4,821 )      —           —          11,957         11         8    
FOLOTYN distribution rights*       27,900         (3,662 )      —           (1,023 )      23,215         10         9    
FOLOTYN developed technology       118,400         (10,587 )      —           —          107,813         13         12    

                                                           

Total intangible assets     $ 280,668       $ (48,975 )    $ 682       $ (1,023 )    $ 231,352          
         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

        

  

      

* On May 29, 2013, we amended our collaboration agreement with Mundipharma in order to modify the scope of their licensed territories and 
the respective development obligations. As a result of the amendment, Europe and Turkey were excluded from Mundipharma’s 
commercialization territory, and royalty and milestone rates were modified. The modification of our associated royalty and milestone rights 
constituted a change in the contractual provisions under which we measured our original acquired intangible asset (i.e., the FOLOTYN 
distribution rights). We determined that an impairment of the FOLOTYN distribution rights of $1.0 million resulted from the amendment and 
is recorded in the “amortization and impairment of intangible assets” in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year 
ended December 31, 2013. 

     December 31, 2012   

     
Historical  

Cost      

Accumulated 

 
Amortization     

Foreign  
Currency  

Translation     
Net  

Amount   

ZEVALIN marketing rights – U.S.     $ 41,900       $ (19,735 )    $ —        $ 22,165    
ZEVALIN marketing rights – Ex-U.S.       23,490         (2,192 )      (355 )      20,943    
FUSILEV developed technology       16,778         (2,980 )      —          13,798    
FOLOTYN distribution rights       27,900         (895 )      —          27,005    
FOLOTYN developed technology       118,400         (2,077 )      —          116,323    

                                          

Total intangible assets     $ 228,468       $ (27,879 )    $ (355 )    $ 200,234    
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Intangible asset amortization expense recognized in 2013, and 2012, and 2011 was $21.2 million, $8.8 million, and $4.7 million, 

respectively. Estimated intangible asset amortization expense (excluding incremental amortization from the reclassification of IPR&D to 
developed technology) for the five succeeding years and thereafter is as follows:  
   

Goodwill is comprised of the following (by source):  
   

(e) Other assets  

Other assets are comprised of the following:  
   

(f) Accounts payable and other accrued obligations  

Accounts payable and other accrued obligations are comprised of the following:  
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Years Ending December 31        

2014     $ 22,468    
2015       22,468    
2016       22,468    
2017       22,468    
2018       22,313    
2019 and thereafter       93,867    

           

   $ 206,052    
         

  

     

December 31, 

 
2013      

December 31, 

 
2012   

Acquisition of Talon     $ 10,526         —      
Acquisition of ZEVALIN Rights       2,525       $ 2,525    
Acquisition of Allos       5,346         4,791    
Foreign exchange translation effects       104         (37 )  

                      

   $ 18,501       $ 7,279    
         

  

         

  

     

December 31, 

 
2013      

December 31, 

 
2012   

Investments in equity securities     $ 3,593       $ 2,476    
Deposits       190         304    
Debt issuance cost       3,432         814    
Life insurance cash surrender value       5,361         2,881    

                      

   $ 12,576       $ 6,475    
         

  

         

  

     December 31,   
     2013      2012   
Trade payables     $ 12,796       $ 30,814    
Accrued rebates       28,893         11,023    
Accrued product royalty       9,498         12,275    
Allowance for returns       2,900         5,056    
Accrued data and distribution fees       2,430         8,449    
Accrued GPO administrative fees       2,327         2,650    
Inventory management fee       616         3,050    
Accrued income taxes       3         2,522    
Allowance for chargebacks       5,074         15,153    
Accrued drug development costs       6,433         11,441    
Other accrued obligations       8,867         2,819    

                      

   $ 79,837       $ 105,252    
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Amounts presented within “accounts payable and other accrued obligations” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets for GTN 

estimates (see Note 2(i) ) were as follows:  
   

(g) Other long-term liabilities  

Other long-term liabilities are comprised of the following:  
   

   

The below table presents a GTN product sales reconciliation for the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations:  
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Description    
Rebates and 
Chargebacks     

Data and  
Distribution,  

GPO Fees, and 
 

Inventory  
Management  

Fees     

Prompt  
Pay  

Discount     Returns   

Balance as of December 31, 2011     $ 9,064      $ 9,808      $ 992      $ 4,000    
Allos accruals assumed       2,371        182        —          941    
Add: provisions (recovery)       91,059        32,793        4,814        159    
Less: credits or actual allowances       (76,318 )      (28,634 )      (4,355 )      (44 )  

                                         

Balance as of December 31, 2012       26,176        14,149        1,451        5,056    
Add: provisions (recovery)       63,609        19,067        183        (2,034 )  
Less: credits or actual allowances       (55,818 )      (27,843 )      (1,317 )      (122 )  

                                         

Balance as of December 31, 2013     $ 33,967      $ 5,373      $ 317      $ 2,900    
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

     December 31,   
     2013      2012   

Accrued executive deferred compensation     $ 3,949       $ 2,366    
Deferred rent (non-current portion)       366         571    
Business acquisition liability       298         298    
Other tax liabilities       1,352         1,132    

                      

   $ 5,965       $ 4,367    
         

  

         

  

4. GROSS-TO-NET PRODUCT SALES 

     2013     2012     2011   

Gross product sales     $ 224,301      $ 383,817      $ 220,670    
Rebates and government chargebacks       (63,610 )      (91,059 )      (22,190 )  
Distribution and data fees and group purchasing organizations fees       (19,067 )      (32,793 )      (11,637 )  
Prompt pay discounts       (183 )      (4,814 )      (4,086 )  
Product returns allowance       2,034        (159 )      (2,094 )  

                               

Product sales, net     $ 143,475      $ 254,992      $ 180,663    
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The below table presents product sales, net by geography for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011:  
   

The below table presents product sales, net by product line for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011:  
   

   

2009 Stock Incentive Plan  

We have one active stockholder-approved stock-based compensation plan, the 2009 Incentive Award Plan (the “2009 Plan”), which 
replaced our former stockholder-approved plans. We may grant incentive stock options, non-qualified options, restricted stock awards, and stock 
appreciation rights under the 2009 Plan.  

The maximum number of our common stock available for issuance under the 2009 Plan is 10.0 million shares. Beginning on January 1, 
2010, and each January 1st thereafter, the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2009 Plan increases by the greater 
of (i) 2.5 million shares or (ii) a number of shares such that the total number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2009 
Plan shall equal 30% of the then number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding. As of December 31, 2013, 5.7 million shares were 
available for grant. It is our policy that before stock is issued through the exercise of stock options, we must first receive all required cash 
payment for such shares (whether through an upfront cash exercise or net-settlement exercise).  

Stock-based awards are governed by agreements between us and the recipients. Incentive stock options and nonqualified stock options may 
be granted under the 2009 Plan at an exercise price of not less than 100% of the closing fair market value of our common stock on the respective 
date of grant. The grant date is generally the date the award is approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, though for 
aggregate awards of 50,000 or less in each quarter, the grant date is the date the award is approved by our Chief Executive Officer.  

Stock-based awards generally vest 25% on the first anniversary of the date of grant, or for new hires, the first anniversary of their initial 
date of employment. Awards vest monthly thereafter on a straight-line basis over three years. Stock options must be exercised, if at all, no later 
than 10 years from the date of grant. Upon termination of employment, vested stock options may be exercised within 90 days from the last date 
of employment. In the event of an optionee’s death, disability, or retirement, the exercise period is 365 days from the last date of employment.  

Employee Stock Purchase Plan  

Under the terms of our 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), eligible employees can purchase common stock through payroll 
deductions. The purchase price is equal to the closing price of our common stock on the first or last day of the offering period (whichever is 
less), minus a 15% discount. We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, in combination with the  
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5. PRODUCT SALES, NET BY GEOGRAPHIC REGION AND PRODUCT  LINE 

     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

United States     $ 133,462         93.0 %    $ 245,697         96.4 %    $ 180,663         —   %  
                                                                

International:                  

Europe       3,953         2.8 %      3,113         1.2 %      —           —   %  
Asia Pacific       6,060         4.2 %      6,182         2.4 %      —           —   %  

                                                                

Total International       10,013         7.0 %      9,295         3.6 %      —           —   %  
                                                                

Product sales, net     $ 143,475         100.0 %    $ 254,992         100.0 %    $ 180,663         100.0 %  
         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

FUSILEV     $ 68,397         47.7 %    $ 204,253         80.1 %    $ 153,110         84.7 %  
FOLOTYN       44,370         30.9 %      20,412         8.0 %      —           —   %  
ZEVALIN       29,393         20.5 %      30,327         11.9 %      27,553       
MARQIBO       1,315         0.9 %      —           —   %      —           —   %  

                                                                

Product sales, net     $ 143,475         100.0 %    $ 254,992         100.0 %    $ 180,663         15.3 %  
         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

6. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 
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(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   
discounted employee price, in determining the value of ESPP expense to be recognized during each offering period. A participant may purchase 
a maximum of 50,000 shares of common stock during a six-month offering period, not to exceed $25,000 worth of stock on the offering date 
during each plan year.  

A total of 5.0 million shares of common stock are authorized for issuance under the ESPP. Beginning on January 1, 2010, and each 
January 1st thereafter, the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the ESPP shall increase by an amount equal to the 
lesser of (i) 1 million shares or (ii) an amount determined by the ESPP administrator. However, in no event shall the number of shares of 
common stock available for future sale under the ESPP exceed 10.0 million shares, subject to capitalization adjustments occurring due to 
dividends, splits, dissolution, liquidation, mergers, or changes in control.  

Stock-Based Compensation Expense Summary  

We classify our stock-based compensation expense (inclusive of our 2009 Plan, ESPP, and 401(k) matching) in the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Operations, based on the department to which the recipient belongs. Stock-based compensation expense included 
within operating expenses for years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was as follows:  
   

Employee stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was recognized (reduced for 
estimated forfeitures) on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and prospectively revised if 
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. We estimate forfeitures of stock options using the historical exercise behavior of our employees. 
For purposes of this estimate, we have applied an estimated forfeiture rate of 8%, 5%, and 5% for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 
2011.  

Valuation Assumptions – Restricted Stock and Stock Options  

The grant-date fair value per share for restricted stock awards was based upon the closing market price of our common stock on the award 
grant-date.  

The fair value of stock options granted was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The following 
assumptions were used to determine fair value for the stock awards granted in the applicable year:  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013      2012      2011   

Selling, general and administrative     $ 10,762       $ 13,041       $ 20,609    
Research and development       2,017         1,843         1,628    

                                 

Total     $ 12,779       $ 14,884       $ 22,237    
         

  

         

  

         

  

     Year Ended December 31, 
     2013    2012    2011 

Expected option life (in years) (a)     4.95    4.50    4.93 
Risk-free interest rate (b)     0.35% - 0.78%    0.34% - 0.51%    0.82% - 2.4% 
Volatility (c)     58.3% - 71.5%    64.2% -73.6%    55.8% 
Dividend yield (d)     0%    0%    0% 
Weighted-average grant-date fair value per stock option     $4.66    $6.20    $2.65 

(a) Determined by the historical stock option exercise behavior of our employees (maximum term is 10 years). 
(b) Based upon the U.S. Treasury yields in effect during the period which the options were granted (for a period equaling the stock options’ 

expected term). 
(c) Measured using our historical stock price for a period equal to stock options’  expected term. 
(d) We do not expect to declare any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. 
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Stock Option Activity  

Stock option activity during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 is as follows:  
   

   

The following table summarizes information with respect to stock option grants as of December 31, 2013:  
   

As of December 31, 2013, there was unrecognized compensation expense of $12.4 million related to unvested stock options, which we 
expect to recognize over a weighted average period of 2.54 years.  
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Number  of  

Shares     

Weighted-  
Average  
Exercise  

Price/Share      

Weighted-  
Average  

Remaining  
Contractual  

Term (Years)      

Aggregate 
Intrinsic  

Value   

Outstanding — December 31, 2010       8,397,094      $ 4.17          

Granted       3,622,150        7.92          

Exercised       (1,126,257 )      4.07          $ 8,255 (1)  
Forfeited       (547,479 )      4.81          

Expired       (159,987 )      5.17          
                           

Outstanding — December 31, 2011       10,185,521      $ 5.46          

Granted       1,821,915        11.57          

Exercised       (1,287,430 )      4.52          $ 11,500 (1)  
Forfeited       (316,825 )      7.93          

Expired       (3,916 )      7.69          
                           

Outstanding — December 31, 2012       10,399,265      $ 6.57          

Granted       2,041,300        8.92          

Exercised       (825,884 )      4.40          $ 3,435 (1)  
Forfeited       (202,882 )      8.22          

Expired       (82,581 )      8.91          
         

  
        

  
      

Outstanding — December 31, 2013       11,329,218      $ 7.10         7.0       $ 25,849 (2)  
         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

Vested (exercisable) — December 31, 2013       7,876,025      $ 6.11         6.2       $ 24,080 (2)  
         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

Unvested (unexercisable) — December 31, 2013       3,453,193      $ 9.38         8.9       $ 1,770 (2)  
         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

(1) Represents the total difference between our closing stock price at the time of exercise and the stock option exercise price, multiplied by the 
number of options exercised. 

(2) Represents the total difference between our closing stock price on the last trading day of 2013 and the stock option exercise price, 
multiplied by the number of in-the-money options as of December 31, 2013. The amount of intrinsic value will change based on the fair 
market value of our stock. 

     Outstanding      Exercisable   

Exercise Price    

Granted Stock 
 

Options  
Outstanding      

Weighted-  
Average  

Remaining 
Contractual 

 
Life (Years)      

Weighted-
 

Average  
Exercise  

Price      

Granted  
Stock  

Options  
Exercisable      

Weighted-
 

Average  
Exercise  

Price   

$0.92 –   3.15       1,192,794         4.5       $ 2.16         1,192,794       $ 2.16    
$3.55 –   4.95       1,924,904         5.9         4.23         1,865,794         4.23    
$5.05 –   6.90       2,862,699         5.5         6.26         2,565,220         6.19    
$7.00 –   8.99       2,329,167         8.2         8.17         1,147,138         8.26    
$9.00 – 16.32       3,019,654         9.2         10.86         1,105,079         11.09    

                                                       

     11,329,218         7.0       $ 7.10         7,876,025       $ 6.11    
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Restricted Stock Activity  

A summary of restricted stock activity is as follows:  
   

   

   

As of December 31, 2013, there was approximately $6.5 million of unrecorded expense related to issued restricted stock that will be 
recognized over an estimated weighted average period of 2.4 years.  

401(k) Plan – Stock Matching Contribution  

We issued shares of common stock to our employees in connection with our 401(k) program, partially matching our employee 
contributions, as summarized below:  
   

   

   

Authorized Stock  

On December 13, 2010, we filed the Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series B Junior Participating 
Preferred Stock with the Delaware Secretary of State which authorized 1.5 million shares to be designated as Series B Junior Participating 
Preferred Stock. On June 13, 2011, our stockholders approved an amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation to increase the authorized 
number of shares of our common stock from 100.0 million shares to 175.0 million shares. The amendment was filed with the Delaware Secretary 
of State on June 24, 2011. As of December 31, 2013, we also had 5.0 million shares of preferred stock authorized, of which 1.5 million shares 
were designated as Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock and 2,000 shares were designated as Series E Convertible Voting Preferred 
Stock.  

Stockholder Rights Agreement  

On November 29, 2010, our Board of Directors approved a replacement rights agreement, effective December 13, 2010, that replaced the 
stockholder rights agreement which was originally adopted in 2000. This replacement rights agreement will extend until December 13, 2020. A 
stockholder rights agreement is designed to deter coercive, unfair, or inadequate takeovers and other abusive  
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Number of  
Restricted  

Stock  
Awards     

Weighted Average 

 
Fair Value per  
Share at Grant  

Date   

Unvested as of December 31, 2010       359,500      $ 3.96    
Granted       1,781,000        12.48    
Vested       (1,104,025 )      12.33    
Forfeited       (83,950 )      4.78    

             

Unvested — December 31, 2011       952,525        10.11    
Granted       586,639        11.76    
Vested       (472,160 )      10.26    
Forfeited       (32,400 )      9.57    

             

Unvested — December 31, 2012       1,034,604        11.00    
Granted       523,800        8.74    
Vested       (501,660 )      9.72    
Forfeited       (49,625 )      10.60    

             

Unvested — December 31, 2013       1,007,119      $ 10.09    
         

  

        

  

* Represents our stock price on the vesting date multiplied by the number of vested shares. 

     2013      2012      2011   

Restricted stock expense     $ 4,202      $ 6,500       $ 4,100    

     2013      2012      2011   

Shares of common stock issued       99,359         56,254         65,889    
Match contribution value**     $ 860       $ 691       $ 593    

** Represents our stock price on the date of the stock match multiplied by the number of shares of common stock issued. 

7. STOCKHOLDERS’  EQUITY 
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tactics that might be used in an attempt to gain control of the Company. A stockholder rights agreement will not prevent takeovers at a full and 
fair price, but rather is designed to deter coercive takeover tactics and to encourage anyone attempting to acquire the Company to first negotiate 
with our Board of Directors.  

Under the terms of the new Stockholder Rights Agreement, the rights become exercisable upon the earlier of 10 days after a person or 
group of affiliated or associated persons has acquired 15% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock or 10 business days after a 
tender offer has commenced that would result in a person or group beneficially owning 15% or more of our outstanding common stock. These 
rights could delay or discourage someone from acquiring our business, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders. We currently have no 
stockholders who own 15% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Five days after the rights become exercisable, each right, 
other than rights held by the person or group of affiliated persons whose acquisition of more than 15% of our outstanding common stock caused 
the rights to become exercisable, will entitle its holder to buy, in lieu of shares of Series B Preferred Stock, a number of shares of our common 
stock having a market value of twice the exercise price of the rights. After the rights become exercisable, if we are a party to certain merger or 
business combination transactions or transfers 50% or more of our assets or earnings power (as defined), each right will entitle its holder to buy a 
number of shares of common stock of the acquiring or surviving entity having a market value of twice the exercise price of the right.  

Series E Preferred Stock  

In September 2003, we received gross cash proceeds of $20.0 million in exchange for the issuance of 2,000 shares of our Series E 
Convertible Voting Preferred Stock, convertible into 4.0 million shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, 20 shares of 
Series E Preferred Stock were outstanding. No dividends are payable on the Series E Preferred Stock. Pursuant to certain provisions of the 
Certificate of Designation, Rights and Preferences of the Series E Preferred Stock, we have the option to redeem all of the unconverted Series E 
Preferred Stock outstanding at the end of a 20-day trading period if, among other things, in that period our common stock trades above $12.00 
per share.  

In the event we are the subject of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, before any distribution of our assets 
shall be made to the common stockholders, the holders of the Series E Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive a liquidation preference in an 
amount equal to 120% of the stated value per share plus any declared and unpaid dividends thereon.  

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance  

As of December 31, 2013, approximately 28.1 million shares of our common stock were issuable upon conversion or exercise of rights 
granted, or to be granted, as summarized below:  
   

Warrant Activity  

We typically issue warrants to purchase shares of our common stock to investors as part of a financing transaction or in connection with 
services rendered by placement agents and consultants. Our outstanding warrants expire on varying dates through December 2015. A summary 
of warrant activity is as follows:  
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Conversion of Series E Preferred Stock       40,000    
2018 Convertible Notes       11,400,000    
Exercise of issued employee stock options       11,329,218    
Exercise of issued warrants       445,000    
ESPP shares reserved       4,540,986    
Long-term retention and management incentive plan shares       346,500    

           

Total shares of common stock reserved for future issuances       28,101,704    
         

  

     
Number of  

Shares     

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price   
Outstanding — December 31, 2010       4,192,312      $ 6.45    

Expired       (3,747,312 )      6.62    
                     

Outstanding — December 31, 2011       445,000      $ 5.04    
Exercised       (50,000 )      1.79    

                     

Outstanding — December 31, 2012       395,000      $ 5.45    
Granted       50,000        7.51    

                     

Outstanding — December 31, 2013       445,000      $ 6.39    
         

  

        

  

Exercisable — December 31, 2013       407,500      $ 6.29    
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Net (loss) income per share was computed by dividing net (loss) income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011:  
   

The following summarizes the amounts used in computing basic and diluted net income per share, for the years ended 2012 and 2011:  
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8. NET (LOSS) INCOME PER SHARE 

     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012      2011   

Net (loss) income     $ (62,134 )    $ 94,201       $ 49,931    

Weighted average shares - basic       60,729,128        58,588,916         53,272,767    
Net (loss) income per share - basic     $ (1.02 )    $ 1.61       $ 0.94    

Weighted average shares - diluted       60,729,128        64,637,256         57,959,714    
Net (loss) income per share - diluted     $ (1.02 )    $ 1.46       $ 0.86    

     
Net Income 
(numerator)      

Weighted-  
Average  
Shares  

Outstanding  
(Denominator)      

Net  
Income  

Per Share   
Year Ended December 31, 2012           

Basic net income per share:     $ 94,201         58,588,916       $ 1.61    
               

  

Diluted net income per share:           

Dilutive preferred shares          40,000       
Dilutive common stock options          4,749,299       
Incremental common stock assumed issued on exercise of in-

the-money warrants          224,437       
Unvested restrictive stock awards          1,034,604       

                         

Diluted net income per share     $ 94,201         64,637,256       $ 1.46    
         

  

         

  

         

  

     
Net Income 
(numerator)      

Weighted-  
Average  
Shares  

Outstanding  
(Denominator)      

Net  
Income  

Per Share   
Year Ended December 31, 2011           

Basic net income per share:     $ 49,931         53,272,767       $ 0.94    
               

  

Diluted net income per share:           

Dilutive preferred shares          40,000       
Dilutive common stock options          4,185,224       
Change in common stock related to Targent and management 

incentive plan milestones, as if they had been issued at the 
beginning of the quarter earned          248,193       

Incremental common stock assumed issued on exercise of in-
the-money warrants          200,656       

Unvested restrictive stock awards          12,874       
                         

Diluted net income per share     $ 49,931         57,959,714       $ 0.86    
         

  

         

  

         

  



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   
Our outstanding securities were excluded from the above calculation of net (loss) per share, using the treasury stock and if-converted 

method, as applicable, because their impact would have been anti-dilutive due to net (loss) per share in 2013:  
   

   

The table below summarizes certain asset and liability fair values that are included within our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, 
and their designations among three fair value measurement categories (as described within Note 2 (x)) :  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013      2012      2011   
2018 Convertible Notes       343,600         —           —      
Common stock options       2,934,625         —           —      
Restricted stock awards       1,007,119         —           —      
Common stock warrants       160,816         —           —      
Preferred stock       40,000         —           —      

                                 

Total       4,486,160         —           —      
         

  

         

  

         

  

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

     
December 31, 2013  

Fair Value Measurements   
     Level 1      Level 2      Level 3      Total   

Assets:              

Bank CDs     $ —        $ 410       $ —        $ 410    
Money market currency funds       —           100,395         —          100,395    
Mutual funds       —          3,061         —          3,061    
Deferred compensation investments, including life insurance cash surrender 

value       —          5,361         —          5,361    
Equity securities       3,593         —           —          3,593    

                                            

   $ 3,593       $ 109,227       $ —         $ 112,820    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Liabilities:              

Deferred executive compensation liability       —          3,949         —          3,949    
Deferred development costs       —          —           17,742         17,742    
Ligand Contingent Consideration       —          —           4,000         4,000    
Talon CVR       —          —           4,329         4,329    

                                            

   $ —        $ 3,949       $ 26,071       $ 30,020    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   

We did not have any transfers between Levels 1 and 2 for all periods presented. The following presents a roll forward of our liabilities for 
which we utilize Level 3 inputs (see Note 2(x) ) in determining period-end value. These liabilities are included on our Consolidated Balance 
Sheets within “acquisition related contingent obligations” and “accrued and deferred development costs, less current portion”. The basis of the 
Level 3 inputs utilized are discussed in the referenced Notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements for each.  

Our carrying amounts of financial instruments such as cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payable, and 
accrued liabilities, excluding acquisition related contingent consideration liabilities, approximate their related fair values due to their short-term 
nature.  
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December 31, 2012  

Fair Value Measurements   
     Level 1      Level 2      Level 3      Total   

Assets:              

Bank CDs     $ —        $ 987       $ —        $ 987    
Money market currency funds          11,698         —          11,698    
Mutual funds       —          2,323         —          2,323    
Deferred compensation investments, including life insurance cash surrender value       —          2,881         —          2,881    
Equity securities       2,480         —          —          2,480    

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

   $ 2,480       $ 17,889       $ —        $ 20,369    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Liabilities:              
Deferred executive compensation liability       —          2,365         —          2,365    
Deferred development costs       —          —          12,233         12,233    
Deferred payment contingency       —          —          2,287         2,287    
Ligand Contingent Consideration       —          —          —          —     

                                            

   $ —        $ 2,365       $ 14,520       $ 16,885    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

     
Fair Value Measurements  of 
Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)   

Balance at December 31, 2011     $ —     
Transfers in (out)       —     
Deferred development costs       12,233    
Deferred payment contingency       2,287    

           

Balance at December 31, 2012       14,520    
Transfers in (out)       —     
Deferred development costs (see Note 13 )       5,509    
Deferred payment contingency (see Note 13 )       (2,287 )  
Ligand Contingent Consideration (see Note 10

(b) )       4,000    
Talon CVR (see Note 10(a) )       4,329    

           

Balance at December 31, 2013     $ 26,071    
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   

(a) Acquisition of Talon Therapeutics, Inc.  

Talon Acquisition Overview  

On July 16, 2013, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Talon Therapeutics, Inc. (“Talon”), whereby, on July 17, 2013, 
we purchased all of its then outstanding shares of common stock. Through the acquisition of Talon, we gained worldwide rights to MARQIBO, 
an FDA-approved drug that we believe complements our other hematology and oncology products.  

Since July 17, 2013, the results of operations of the former Talon business have been included in the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2013. From July 17, 2013 through December 31, 2013, our revenue derived from the 
former Talon business was approximately $1.3 million. We had nominal earnings from the Talon business during this period.  

The Talon purchase consideration comprised of (i) an aggregate upfront cash amount of $11.3 million, (ii) issuance of 3.0 million shares of 
our common stock, then equivalent to $26.3 million (based on a closing price of $8.77 per share on July 17, 2013), and (iii) the issuance of 
contingent value rights (“CVR”) initially valued by us at $6.5 million.  

The CVR was valued using a valuation model that probability-weights expected outcomes (ranging from 50% to 100%) and discounts 
those amounts to their present value, using a discount rate of 25% (these represent unobservable inputs and are therefore classified as Level 3 
inputs – see Note 3 (x) ). The CVR has a maximum payout of $195.0 million if all sales and regulatory approval milestones are achieved, as 
summarized below:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

Direct Costs of the Talon Acquisition  

Our direct costs of the Talon acquisition included employee severance, banker, legal, and accounting fees which aggregated to $5.7 
million. This amount is included in “selling, general and administrative expenses” within the accompanying Consolidated Statements of 
Operations for the year ended December 31, 2013.  

Consideration Transferred  

The Talon acquisition purchase price was allocated to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their 
estimated fair value at the acquisition date. The following table summarizes the purchase price:  
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10. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

  •   $5.0 million upon the achievement of net sales of MARQIBO in excess of $30.0 million in any calendar year  
  •   $10.0 million upon the achievement of net sales of MARQIBO in excess of $60.0 million in any calendar year  
  •   $25.0 million upon the achievement of net sales of MARQIBO in excess of $100.0 million in any calendar year  
  •   $50.0 million upon the achievement of net sales of MARQIBO in excess of $200.0 million in any calendar year  
  •   $100.0 million upon the achievement of net sales of MARQIBO in excess of $400.0 million in any calendar year  
  •   $5.0 million upon receipt of marketing authorization from the FDA regarding Menadione Topical Lotion  

Cash consideration     $ 11,300    
CVR       6,500    
Spectrum shares of common stock       26,300    

         
  

Total purchase consideration     $ 44,100    
         

  



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   
Fair Value Estimate of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed  

Under the purchase method of accounting, the total purchase consideration is allocated to Talon net tangible and intangible assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of 
the net assets acquired on July 17, 2013:  
   

The acquired intangible assets consisted of developed technology and in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) for MARQIBO 
treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (“ALL”) and MARQIBO treatment of non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma (“NHL”) as follows in the table 
below:  
   

The fair value of the acquired IPR&D technology assets was estimated using the income approach. The income approach uses valuation 
techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount (discounted). Our measurement is based on the value indicated by current 
market expectations about those future amounts.  

Goodwill  

Goodwill presented above of $10.5 million represents the difference of the Talon business purchase price of $44.1 million minus the net 
assets acquired of $33.6 million. This goodwill includes benefits that we believe will result from combining the operations of Talon with ours, as 
well as the know-how associated with the MARQIBO compounds for future product development. In accordance with applicable GAAP, we will 
not amortize goodwill associated with the Talon acquisition, though it will be subjected to annual impairment testing. This goodwill is not 
deductible for income tax purposes.  
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Cash and equivalents     $ 131    
Inventory       611    
Prepaid expenses and other current assets       109    
Property and equipment       30    
Identifiable intangible assets       44,500    

           

Total assets acquired       45,381    
           

Accounts payable & accrued liabilities       5,231    
Deferred tax liability       6,576    

         
  

Total liabilities assumed       11,807    
           

Net assets acquired     $ 33,574    
         

  

   
           

Goodwill     $ 10,526    
         

  

     

Value of  
Intangible 

 
Assets  

Acquired      

Amortization 
 

Period*   

Developed technology —MARQIBO for ALL     $ 26,900         13 years    
IPR&D —MARQIBO for NHL       17,600              (1) 

              

Total identifiable intangible assets     $ 44,500       
         

  

   

  
* Recognized on a straight-line basis. 
(1) IPR&D is an intangible asset classified as an indefinite-lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and 

development effort, and will be amortized over an estimated useful life to be determined at the date the project is completed. IPR&D is not 
amortized during this period, but rather tested for impairment. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   
Supplemental Pro Forma Financial Information  

The following unaudited pro forma financial information is presented to reflect the results of the Company’s consolidated operations for 
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, as if the acquisition of Talon had occurred on January 1, 2012. To reflect the combined 
businesses, adjustments have been made to exclude one-time transaction costs and employee severance costs that were directly associated with 
the Talon acquisition. These pro forma results have been prepared for informational purposes only and may not be indicative of what operating 
results would have been, had the acquisition actually taken place on January 1, 2012, and may not be indicative of future operating results.  
   

Talon CVR Fair Value as of December 31, 2013  

The CVR fair value will continue to be evaluated on a quarterly basis. Any changes in its fair value results from the likelihood and timing 
of milestone achievement and/or the corresponding discount rate applied thereon. Adjustments to CVR fair value are recognized within “change 
in fair value of contingent consideration related to acquisition” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.  
   

(b) Acquisition of Rights to Captisol-Enabled ® MELPHALAN  

Overview of Acquisition of Rights to C-E MELPHALAN  

On March 8, 2013, we completed the acquisition of exclusive global development and commercialization rights to Captisol-enabled ®, 
propylene glycol-free MELPHALAN (“C-E MELPHALAN”) from CyDex Pharmaceuticals, Inc. a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ligand 
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (“Ligand”). C-E MELPHALAN is currently in a pivotal trial being conducted by Ligand for use as a conditioning 
treatment prior to autologous stem cell transplant for patients with multiple myeloma. We assumed full responsibility for its ongoing clinical and 
regulatory development program. Under the agreement, we paid Ligand a license fee of $3.0 million on April 1, 2013. We are required to pay 
Ligand additional amounts up to an aggregate $66.0 million, upon the achievement of certain regulatory milestones and net sales thresholds 
(“Ligand Contingent Consideration”). We also must pay royalties in the range of 15% to 25% on net sales of licensed products in all territories.  

We accounted for the acquisition of these rights as a business combination, using the acquisition method of accounting. This requires that 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recognized at their fair values as of the purchase date and be recorded on the balance sheet. The 
process for estimating the fair values of identifiable intangible assets involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including 
estimating future cash flows and developing appropriate discount rates. Aggregate transaction costs of $15,000 are included in “selling, general 
and administrative expenses” within the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2013.  

Consideration Transferred  

The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred consisted of the following items:  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012   

Pro Forma Total revenues     $ 155,854      $ 267,707    
Pro Forma Total costs and operating expenses       200,651        210,433    
Pro Forma Net (loss) income       (68,146 )      57,274    
Pro Forma Net (loss) income per share – basic     $ (1.12 )    $ 0.98    
Pro Forma Net (loss) income per share – diluted     $ (1.12 )    $ 0.89    

     

Fair Value 
 

of Talon  
CVR   

July 17, 2013     $ 6,500    
Fair value adjustment for year ended December 31, 2013       (2,171 )  

         
  

December 31, 2013     $ 4,329    
         

  

Cash consideration     $ 3,000    
Ligand Contingent Consideration       4,700    

           

Total purchase consideration     $ 7,700    
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   
Fair Value Estimate of Asset Acquired and Liability Assumed  

The total purchase consideration is allocated to the acquisition of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These 
amounts are based on their estimated fair values as of the closing date. The allocation of the total purchase price to the net assets acquired is as 
follows:  
   

Acquired IPR&D is an intangible asset that is classified as indefinite-lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated R&D 
effort, and is subject to impairment testing. C-E MELPHALAN rights will be amortized over an estimated useful life to be determined at the date 
the project is complete.  

We estimated the fair value of the in-process research and development using the income approach. The income approach uses valuation 
techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount (discounted). Our measurement is based on the value indicated by current 
market expectations about those future amounts. The fair value estimate took into account our estimates of future incremental earnings that may 
be achieved upon regulatory approval, promotion, and distribution associated with the rights, and included estimated cash flows of 
approximately 10 years and a discount rate of approximately 25%.  

The fair value of the contingent consideration liability assumed was determined using the probability of success and the discounted cash 
flow method of the income approach (representing unobservable inputs and are therefore classified as Level 3 inputs – see Note 3 (x) ), which 
assumes that FDA approval of C-E MELPHALAN will occur on or about December 31, 2015. Upon receipt of FDA approval, we will be 
obligated to make a milestone payment of $6.0 million to Ligand.  

We do not consider this acquisition to represent a material business combination; accordingly, we have not presented pro forma results of 
our combined operations that are otherwise required.  

Ligand Contingent Consideration Fair Value as of December 31, 2013  

The Ligand Contingent Consideration fair value will continue to be evaluated on a quarterly basis. Any changes in its fair value results 
from the likelihood and timing of milestone achievement and/or the corresponding discount rate applied thereon. Adjustments to Ligand 
Contingent Consideration fair value are recognized within “fair value of contingent consideration related to acquisition” in the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.  
   

(c) Allos Acquisition  

We acquired Allos Therapeutics, Inc. (“Allos”) on September 5, 2012, which was accounted for as a business combination. Our total 
consideration for this acquisition was $205.2 million, through which we acquired FOLOTYN development technology and FOLOTYN 
distribution rights.  

   

We entered into a credit agreement on September 5, 2012 with Bank of America, N.A, as the administrative agent and Wells Fargo Bank, 
N.A, as an initial lender, as amended July 16, 2013 (the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement provided us with a committed $50.0 
million revolving line of credit facility (the “Credit Facility”). The Credit Facility was to expire on September 5, 2014, though we repaid it in 
full, then immediately terminated it on December 20, 2013 in connection with the sale and issuance of our 2018 Convertible Notes.  
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IPR&D—C-E MELPHALAN rights     $ 7,700    
         

  

     

Fair Value of 
Ligand  

Contingent  
Consideration   

March 8, 2013     $ 4,700    
Fair value adjustment for year ended December 31, 2013       (700 )  

           

December 31, 2013     $ 4,000    
         

  

11. REVOLVING LINE OF CREDIT 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   
The Credit Facility bore interest, at our election, at a rate equal to the London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR), or the base rate, plus an 

applicable margin (2.75% to 4.25%, dependent on a defined liquidity ratio).  

We incurred $1.0 million in related loan costs and fees in securing the Credit Facility, which were capitalized and recognized within “other 
assets” on our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. This amount was amortized through “interest expense” to the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Operations, using the effective interest method, initially over the term of the Credit Facility, though the remaining 
unamortized portion was fully expensed in December 2013 when it was repaid and terminated.  

An unused line fee was payable quarterly in an amount ranging from 0.375% to 0.625% of the sum of the average daily unused portion of 
the facilities during any quarter based upon consolidated leverage ratio as at the last test date. A customary fee was also payable to the 
administrative agent on an annual basis in advance.  

We recognized $1.2 million, $0.5 million, and $-0- in 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, within “interest expense” for this retired Credit 
Facility on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

   

On December 17, 2013, we entered into an agreement for the sale of $120.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.75% Convertible 
Senior Notes due December 2018 (the “2018 Convertible Notes”). The 2018 Convertible Notes are convertible into shares of our common stock 
at a conversion rate of 95 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the 2018 Convertible Notes, totaling 11.4 million common shares if fully 
converted. The in-the-money conversion price is equivalent to $10.53 per common share. The conversion rate and conversion price is subject to 
adjustment under certain limited circumstances, as defined in the Indenture. The 2018 Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 2.75% per year, 
payable semiannually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on June 15, 2014. The 2018 Convertible Notes will mature 
and become payable on December 15, 2018, subject to earlier conversion into common stock at the holders’ option.  

On December 23, 2013 net proceeds from the sale of the 2018 Convertible Notes were $115.4 million, after deducting banker and 
professional fees of $4.6 million. We used a portion of these net proceeds to simultaneously enter into “bought call” and “sold warrant” 
transactions with Royal Bank of Canada (collectively, the “Note Hedge”). We recorded the Note Hedge on a net cost basis of $13.1 million, as a 
reduction to “additional paid-in capital” in our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Under applicable GAAP, the Note Hedge 
transaction is not expected to be marked-to-market through earnings or comprehensive income in future reporting periods.  

We entered into Note Hedge transactions to reduce the potential dilution to our common stock and/or offset any cash payments that we are 
required to make in excess of the principal amount, upon conversion of the 2018 Convertible Notes (in the event that the market price of our 
common stock is greater than the conversion price). The strike price of the “bought call” is equal to the conversion price and conversion rate of 
the 2018 Convertible Notes, matching the 11.4 million common shares the 2018 Convertible Notes may be converted into. The strike price of 
our “sold warrant” is $14.03 per share of our common stock, and is also for 11.4 million common shares.  

As of December 31, 2013, the 2018 Convertible Notes were not convertible. Prior to June 15, 2018, holders may convert all or a portion of 
their 2018 Convertible Notes only under the following circumstances: (1) during any fiscal quarter (and only during such fiscal quarter) 
commencing after March 31, 2014, if, for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the 30 consecutive trading day period 
ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter, the last reported sale price of our common stock on such trading day is 
greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price on such trading day; (2) during the five consecutive business day period 
immediately following any five consecutive trading day period in which, for each trading day of that measurement period, the trading price per 
$1,000 principal amount of 2018 Convertible Notes for such trading day was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our 
common stock on such trading day and the applicable conversion rate on such trading day; (3) upon the occurrence of certain corporate 
transactions; or (4) at any time we have not received stockholder approval, as that term is defined in the Indenture governing the 2018 
Convertible Notes. On and after June 15, 2018 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the 
maturity date, holders may convert all or a portion of their 2018 Convertible Notes at any time, regardless of the foregoing circumstances.  
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12. CONVERTIBLE SENIOR NOTES 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
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We initially may only settle conversions of the 2018 Convertible Notes by delivering shares of our common stock. However, if we obtain 

stockholder approval in accordance with applicable NASDAQ rules, we may settle conversions of the 2018 Convertible Notes by paying or 
delivering, as the case may be, cash, shares of common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of common stock, at our election.  

The carrying values of the 2018 Convertible Notes as of December 31, 2013 is summarized as follows:  
   

The following table sets forth the components of total “interest expense” recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of 
Operations for the 2018 Convertible Notes for the year ended December 31, 2013:  
   

   

As the result of Allos becoming our wholly-owned subsidiary, effective September 5, 2012, we assumed obligations under a strategic 
collaboration agreement with Mundipharma (the “Mundipharma Collaboration Agreement”). Under the Mundipharma Collaboration Agreement, 
we retained full commercialization rights for FOLOTYN in the U.S. and Canada, with Mundipharma having exclusive rights to commercialize 
FOLOTYN in all other countries in the world (the “Mundipharma Territories”).  

On May 29, 2013, the Mundipharma Collaboration Agreement was amended and restated (the “Amended Munipharma Collaboration 
Agreement”), in order to modify: (i) the scope of the licensed territory, (ii) milestone payments, (iii) royalty rates, and (iv) development 
obligations. In connection with the Amended Munipharma Collaboration Agreement, we received a one-time $7.0 million payment from 
Mundipharma for certain research and development activities to be performed by us.  

As a result, (i) Europe and Turkey were excluded from Mundipharma’s commercialization territory, (ii) we may now receive potential 
regulatory milestone payments of up to $16.0 million and commercial progress and sales-dependent milestone payments of up to $107.0 million, 
(iii) we will receive tiered double- digit royalties based on net sales of FOLOTYN within Mundipharma’s licensed territories, and (iv) we and 
Mundipharma will bear our own FOLOTYN development costs. We recorded the fair value of the related drug development liability of $12.3 
million as of September 2012, using the discounted cash flow method of the income approach. The fair value of this liability was determined to 
be $17.7 million as of December 31, 2013 (inclusive of the $7.0 million payment from Mundipharma) and is included in current and long-term 
“drug development liability” within the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. This value includes our assumptions about personnel 
needed to perform these research and development activities, third party costs for projected clinical trial enrollment, and patient treatment-related 
follow up through approximately 2031.  

We will assess this liability at each subsequent reporting date and record its adjustment through “research and development” expense in 
our Consolidated Statements of Operations.  
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Principal amount     $ 120,000    
(Less): Unamortized debt discount (amortized through December 2018)       (28,520 )  

           

December 31, 2013 net carrying amount of 2018 Convertible Notes     $ 91,480    
         

  

Contractual coupon interest expense     $ 73    
Amortization of debt issuance costs       43    
Accretion of debt discount       101    

           

Total     $ 217    
         

  

Effective interest rate       8.59 %  
         

  

13. MUNDIPHARMA AGREEMENT 
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(a) Facility and Equipment Leases  

We lease our principal executive office in Henderson, Nevada under a non-cancelable operating lease expiring April 30, 2014. We also 
lease our research and development and administrative facility in Irvine, California under a non-cancelable operating lease expiring May 31, 
2019, in addition to several other administrative office leases. Each lease agreement contains certain scheduled rent increases which are 
accounted for on a straight-line basis. Our total rental expense in 2013, 2012, and 2011 was $1.2 million, $0.9 million, and $0.7 million, 
respectively.  

Our future minimum lease payments are as follows:  
   

(b) Licensing Agreements, Co-Development Agreements, and Milestone Payments  

We are developing almost all of our drug candidates pursuant to license agreements that provide us with rights in certain territories, among 
other things, to develop, sublicense, manufacture and sell the drugs. We are generally required to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop 
the drugs, and are generally responsible for all development, patent filing and maintenance, sales and marketing and liability insurance costs. We 
are also obligated to make certain milestone payments to the licensors if we successfully reach development and regulatory milestones specified 
in the license agreements. In addition, we are obligated to pay royalties and, in some cases, milestone payments based on our net sales.  

The potential contingent development and regulatory milestone obligations under all of our licensing agreements are generally tied to 
progress through the various regulatory authorities’ approval process, which approval significantly depends on positive clinical trial results.  

Our most significant of these agreements are listed and summarized below:  

(i) ZEVALIN licensing and development in the U.S.  

In December 2008, we acquired rights to commercialize and develop ZEVALIN in the U.S. as the result of a transaction with Cell 
Therapeutics, Inc. (“CTI”). Pursuant to the transfer of the ZEVALIN assets from CTI to RIT Oncology LLC (“RIT”), in December 2008, RIT 
assumed certain agreements with various third parties related to ZEVALIN intellectual property. These agreements relate to the manufacture, 
use, and sale of ZEVALIN in the U.S.  
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     Year Ended December 31,   

     

Drug  
Development 

 
Liability,  
Current –  

FOLOTYN     

Drug  
Development 

 
Liability,  

Long Term –
 

FOLOTYN     

Total Drug  
Development 

 
Liability –  
FOLOTYN   

Balance at December 31, 2012     $ 856      $ 11,377      $ 12,233    
Transfer from long term to current       3,620        (3,620 )      —     
Amended agreement payment receipt       —         7,000        7,000    
(Less): Expenses incurred       (1,357 )      (134 )      (1,491 )  

                               

Balance at December 31, 2013     $ 3,119      $ 14,623      $ 17,742    

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Year ending December 31,    

Operating Lease 
 

Minimum  
Payments   

2014     $ 849    
2015       950    
2016       892    
2017       843    
2018       868    

           

   $ 4,402    
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In accordance with the terms of such agreements, RIT is required to meet specified payment obligations including a commercial milestone 

payment to Corixa Corporation of $5.0 million based on ZEVALIN sales in the U.S., which has not yet been met, as well as U.S. net sales-based 
royalties of low to mid-single digits to Genentech, Inc. and mid-single digits to Corixa Corporation.  

(ii) Asset Purchase Agreement between CTI and Biogen, ZEVALIN U.S.  

In connection with the joint venture arrangement with CTI, we entered into an amendment to the original asset purchase agreement 
between CTI and Biogen, modifying future milestone payments. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, as amended, (i) upon the achievement 
of the specified FDA approval milestone, which was achieved in 2009, RIT (as successor to CTI) paid Biogen an additional amount of $5.5 
million, (ii) RIT may be required to make an additional $10.0 million milestone payment upon the achievement of an additional FDA approval 
milestone, and (iii) RIT is required to make yearly royalty payments determined as a mid-single to mid-teen digits percentage of yearly net sales 
for the preceding year, increasing with the passage of time. The agreement has an indefinite term and is no longer subject to termination; 
provided, however, that the royalty obligations automatically terminate upon the latest to occur of expiration of the subject patents, the sale by a 
third party of a biosimilar product in the U.S. or December 31, 2015. CTI’s rights and obligations, including its payment obligations to Biogen 
for royalties on net sales of ZEVALIN and an additional regulatory milestone payment, under both the CTI/Biogen Agreement and the 
amendment were assigned to and assumed by RIT in connection with the closing of the joint venture transaction.  

(iii) License and Asset Purchase Agreement with Bayer Pharma, ZEVALIN Ex-U.S.  

On April 1, 2012, through our subsidiary, Spectrum Pharmaceuticals Cayman, L.P., we completed the acquisition of licensing rights to 
market ZEVALIN outside of the U.S., referred to as the ZEVALIN Ex-US Rights, from Bayer Pharma AG, or Bayer.  

We currently market ZEVALIN in the U.S. and this agreement expanded our commercial efforts to the rest of the world. ZEVALIN is 
currently approved in more than 40 countries outside the U.S. for the treatment of B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma, including countries in Europe, 
Latin America and Asia. In consideration for the rights granted under the agreement, concurrent with the closing, we paid Bayer a one-time fee 
of Euro 19.0 million, and will pay Bayer royalties based on a mid-teen digits percentage of net sales of the licensed products in all territories 
worldwide except the U.S. Unless earlier terminated, the term of the agreement continues until the expiration of our royalty payment obligations 
which, in turn, run until the last-to-expire patent covering the sale of a licensed product in the relevant country or 15 years from the date of first 
commercial sale of the licensed product in such country, whichever is longer.  

(iv) Amended and Restated License Agreement with Merck & Cie AG, FUSILEV  

In May 2006, we amended and restated a license agreement with Merck & Cie AG, a Swiss corporation, which we assumed in connection 
with the acquisition of the assets of Targent. Pursuant to the license agreement with Merck & Cie, we obtained the exclusive license to use 
regulatory filings related to FUSILEV and a non-exclusive license under certain patents and know-how related to FUSILEV to develop, make, 
use, and sell FUSILEV in the field of oncology in North America. In addition, we have the right of first opportunity to negotiate an exclusive 
license to manufacture, use, and sell FUSILEV products outside the field of oncology in North America. Also, under the terms of the license 
agreement, we paid Merck & Cie $0.1 million for the achievement of FDA approval of an injectable form of FUSILEV. Merck & Cie is also 
eligible to receive a $0.2 million payment upon achievement of FDA approval of an oral form of FUSILEV, in addition to royalties in the mid-
single digits based on a percentage of net sales. The term of the license agreement is determined on a product-by-product and country-by-country 
basis until royalties are no longer owed under the license agreement. The license agreement expires in its entirety after the date that we no longer 
owe any royalties to Merck & Cie. We have the unilateral right to terminate the license agreement, in its entirety or on a product-by-product or 
country-by-country basis, at any time for any reason.  

(v) Asset Purchase Agreement with Targent, Inc., FUSILEV  

In March 2006, we entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Targent, Inc. (“Targent”). As part of the consideration for the purchase 
of certain assets, we agreed to pay milestone payments to Targent upon the achievement of certain regulatory events as well as for certain sales 
levels for FUSILEV within a calendar year. In connection with the achievement of the FDA approval milestone in April 2011, we issued an 
aggregate of 0.7 million shares of our common stock to certain of Targent’s stockholders. We capitalized $6.3 million associated with this 
milestone as an amortizable intangible asset.  
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In addition, in connection with the achievement of the first sales milestone in May 2011, we issued 0.6 million shares of our common stock 

to certain of Targent’s stockholders. In September 2011, we achieved the second and final sales milestone and paid $5.0 million. We capitalized 
an aggregate $10.0 million associated with these milestones as amortizable intangible assets.  

(vi) License Agreement with Sloan-Kettering Institute, SRI International and Southern Research Institute, FOLOTYN  

In December 2002, Allos entered into the FOLOTYN License Agreement with Sloan-Kettering Institute for Cancer Research, SRI 
International, and Southern Research Institute. As a result of Allos becoming our wholly owned subsidiary effective September 5, 2012, we are 
bound by the FOLOTYN License Agreement under which we obtained exclusive worldwide rights to a portfolio of patents and patent 
applications related to FOLOTYN and its uses. Under the terms of the FOLOTYN License Agreement, we are required to fund all development 
programs and will have sole responsibility for all commercialization activities. In addition, we pay the licensors royalties based on worldwide 
graduated annual levels of net sales of FOLOTYN, or sublicense revenues arising from sublicensing the product, if and when such sales or 
sublicenses occur. Royalties are 8% of annual worldwide sales up to $150.0 million; 9% of annual worldwide sales of $150.0 million through 
$300.0 million; and 11% of annual worldwide sales in excess of $300.0 million.  

(vii) License Agreement with Cydex Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Captisol-enabled, Propyleneglycol-free MELPHALAN  

On March 8, 2013, we completed the acquisition of exclusive global development and commercialization rights to C-E MELPHALAN 
from Ligand (see Note 10(b) ). This product candidate is currently in a pivotal trial for use as a conditioning treatment prior to autologous stem 
cell transplant for patients with multiple myeloma. We assumed full responsibility for its ongoing clinical and regulatory development program. 
Under the agreement, we paid Ligand a license fee of $3.0 million on April 1, 2013. We are required to pay Ligand additional amounts of up to 
$66.0 million, upon achievement of certain regulatory milestones and net sales thresholds, and royalties in the range of 15% to 25% on net sales 
of licensed products in all territories.  

(viii) Exclusive Development and Commercialization Collaboration Agreement with Allergan, APAZIQUONE  

In October 2008, we signed an exclusive development and commercialization collaboration agreement with Allergan for APAZIQUONE. 
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, Allergan paid us an up-front non-refundable $41.5 million at closing and is obligated to make additional 
payments based on the achievement of certain development, regulatory and commercialization milestones.  

On January 29, 2013, we entered into a second amendment to the license, development, supply and distribution agreement with Allergan to 
amend the agreement and reacquire the rights originally licensed to Allergan in the U.S., Europe, and other territories in exchange for a tiered 
single-digit royalty on certain products containing APAZIQUONE, and relieved Allergan of its obligations for development, commercialization 
and other activities. As a result of this amendment to the agreement, Allergan has no remaining obligations to us, and we have no remaining 
performance obligations to them. However, we are obligated to pay Allergan a tiered single-digit royalty not to exceed mid-single digits based 
upon the net sales, when and if earned, of certain products containing APAZIQUONE in specified territories. Additionally, we are obligated to 
pay any royalties or other payments due to certain licensors of underlying intellectual property, as well as to provide indemnification of Allergan 
for claims arising from the manufacture, development, or commercialization of pharmaceutical products containing APAZIQUONE by us.  

(ix) Collaboration Agreement with Nippon Kayaku Co. LTD., APAZIQUONE  

In November 2009, we entered into a collaboration agreement with Nippon Kayaku Co., LTD. (“Nippon Kayaku”) for the development 
and commercialization of APAZIQUONE in Asia, except North and South Korea (the “Nippon Kayaku Territory”). In addition, Nippon Kayaku 
received exclusive rights to APAZIQUONE for the treatment of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer in Asia (other than North and South Korea), 
including Japan and China. Nippon Kayaku will conduct APAZIQUONE clinical trials in the Nippon Kayaku Territory pursuant to a 
development plan. Further, Nippon Kayaku will be responsible for all expenses relating to the development and commercialization of 
APAZIQUONE in the Nippon Kayaku Territory.  

Pursuant to the terms of this agreement, Nippon Kayaku paid Spectrum an upfront fee of $15.0 million and is obligated to make additional 
payments based on the achievement of certain development, regulatory and commercialization milestones. Under the terms  
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of the agreement, we are entitled to payment of $10.0 million and $126.0 million upon achievement of certain regulatory and commercialization 
milestones, respectively. Also, Nippon Kayaku has agreed to pay us royalties based on a percentage of net sales of the subject products in the 
defined territory in the mid-teen digits.  

Our license agreement with Nippon Kayaku provides for payments to us upon the achievement of development milestones, such as the 
completion of clinical trials or regulatory submissions, approvals by health authorities, and commercial launches of drug candidates. Given the 
challenges inherent in developing and obtaining approval for drug products and in achieving commercial launches, there was substantial 
uncertainty whether any such milestones would be achieved at the time of execution of such license agreement. We expect to recognize as 
revenue future payments received from such milestones only if achieved.  

(x) Licensing and Collaboration Agreement with TopoTarget, BELEODAQ  

In February 2010, we entered into a licensing and collaboration agreement with TopoTarget A/S (“TopoTarget”), as amended in October 
2013, for the development and commercialization of BELEODAQ. The agreement provides that we have the exclusive right to make, develop, 
and commercialize BELEODAQ in North America and India, with an option for China.  

Under continuing terms, all development, including studies, will be conducted under a joint development plan. We have final decision-
making authority for all developmental activities in North America and India (and China upon exercise of its option). TopoTarget has final 
decision-making authority for all developmental activities in all other jurisdictions. We are responsible for future costs of the ongoing 
registrational PTCL trial. We and TopoTarget will conduct future planned clinical trials pursuant to the joint development plan, of which we will 
fund 70% of the development costs, and TopoTarget will fund 30%.  

We will each pay 50% of the costs for chemical, pharmaceutical and other process development related to the manufacturing of the product 
that are incurred with a mutually agreed upon budget in the joint development plan. We have the right to manufacture clinical and commercial 
supplies of BELEODAQ. TopoTarget is obligated to purchase its BELEODAQ requirements from us on a cost plus basis.  

Pursuant to the terms of this agreement, we paid TopoTarget an upfront fee of $30.0 million in 2010. In addition, on the successful 
achievement of certain development, regulatory and sales milestones, we are obligated to issue 1.0 million shares of our common stock (subject 
to certain resale conditions) and pay TopoTarget up to $313.0 million. In February 2014, the first of these milestones was met, resulting in the 
issuance of 1.0 million shares of our common stock and the payment of $10.0 million to TopoTarget (see Note 17). We will pay TopoTarget 
future royalties in the mid-teen digits based on net sales of BELEODAQ in the defined territory.  

The agreement will continue until the expiration of the last royalty payment period in the last country in the defined territory with certain 
provisions surviving, unless earlier terminated in accordance with its terms. We may terminate this agreement with 180 days notice to 
TopoTarget. We may also terminate immediately upon a prohibition on the use of the subject product or clinical hold by the FDA. TopoTarget 
may also terminate immediately in the event of a challenge (without TopoTarget’s consent) by us of the patents that cover the product.  

(xi) Co-Development and Commercialization Agreement with Hanmi Pharmaceutical Company, SPI-2012  

In late January 2012, we entered into a co-development and commercialization agreement with Hanmi Pharmaceutical Company, 
(“Hanmi”), for SPI-2012, formerly known as “LAPS-GCSF”, a drug for the treatment of chemotherapy induced neutropenia based on Hanmi’s 
proprietary LAPSCOVERY™ Technology. In consideration for the rights granted to us under the co-development and commercialization 
agreement with Hanmi, we paid Hanmi a fee which is included in “research and development expense” in the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Operations because the technology has not yet achieved regulatory approval. Under the terms of the agreement, we will share the 
costs and expenses of the study with Hanmi, although we will have primary responsibility for them. If SPI-2012 is ultimately commercialized by 
us, we will have worldwide rights except for Korea, China and Japan upon payment of fees and milestone payments related to further 
development, regulatory approvals and sales targets.  

(c) Service Agreements  

In connection with the research and development of our drug products, we have entered into contracts with numerous third party service 
providers, such as radio-pharmacies, distributors, clinical trial centers, clinical research organizations, data monitoring centers,  
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and with drug formulation, development and testing laboratories. The financial terms of these agreements are varied and generally obligate us to 
pay in stages, depending on achievement of certain events specified in the agreements, such as contract execution, reservation of service or 
production capacity, actual performance of service, or the successful accrual and dosing of patients.  

At each period end, we accrue for all services received, with such accruals based on factors such as estimates of work performed, patient 
enrollment, completion of patient studies and other events. We are in a position to accelerate, slow-down or discontinue any or all of the projects 
that we are working on at any given point in time. Should we decide to discontinue and/or slow-down the work on any project, the associated 
costs for those projects would be limited to the extent of the work completed. Generally, we are able to terminate these contracts due to the 
discontinuance of the related project(s) and thus avoid paying for the services that have not yet been rendered and our future purchase 
obligations would reduce accordingly.  

(d) Supply Agreements  

We have entered into certain supply agreements, or have issued purchase orders, which require us to make minimum purchases from 
vendors for the manufacture of our products. These commitments do not exceed our planned commercial requirements, and the contracted prices 
do not exceed their fair market value.  

(e) Employment Agreements  

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our officers and other “key employees” under which payment and benefits 
would become payable in the event of termination by us for any reason other than cause, or upon a change in control of our Company, or by the 
employee for good reason.  

(f) Deferred Compensation Plan  

On September 2, 2011, the Board of Directors approved the Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (the “DC Plan”). 
The DC Plan is intended to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The DC Plan is 
administered by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors. The DC Plan is intended to be an unfunded plan which is maintained 
primarily to provide deferred compensation benefits for a select group of our employees, as selected by the DC Plan administrator (the “DC 
Participants”). Under the DC Plan, we provide the DC Participants with the opportunity to make annual elections to defer up to a specified 
amount or percentage of their eligible cash compensation, as established by the DC Plan administrator, and we have the option to make 
discretionary contributions. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, DC Plan deferrals and contributions totaling $3.9 million and $2.4 million, 
respectively, are included as a liability in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

(g) Litigation  

We are involved from time-to-time with various legal matters arising in the ordinary course of business. These claims and legal 
proceedings are of a nature we believe are normal and incidental to a pharmaceutical business, and may include product liability, intellectual 
property, employment matters, and other general claims.  

We make provisions for liabilities when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably 
estimated. Such provisions are reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impact of any settlement negotiations, judicial and 
administrative rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. Litigation is inherently 
unpredictable. Although the ultimate resolution of these various matters cannot be determined at this time, we do not believe that such matters, 
individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows, or financial condition.  

We are presently responding to Abbreviated New Drug Applications (“ANDAs”) filed by companies seeking to launch generic forms of 
FUSILEV and to certain shareholder suits that purportedly stem from our March 12, 2013 press release, in which we announced anticipated 
changes in customer ordering patterns of FUSILEV. These complaints allege that, as a result of the March 12, 2013 press release, our stock price 
declined. The complaints further allege that during the putative class period certain defendants made misleadingly optimistic statements about 
FUSILEV sales, which inflated the trading price of our stock. The lawsuits seek relief in the form of monetary damages, costs and fees, and any 
other equitable or injunctive relief that the court deems appropriate.  
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FUSILEV ANDA Litigation  

On January 20, 2012 and February 17, 2012, respectively, we filed suit against Sandoz Inc. and Innopharma Inc, respectively following 
Paragraph IV certifications in connection with their filing separate ANDAs, to manufacture a generic version of FUSILEV. We filed the lawsuits 
in the U.S. District Court for the Districts of Nevada and Delaware seeking to enjoin the approval of their ANDAs plus recovery of our fees and 
costs incurred in such matters. On December 9, 2013, three Mylan entities collaborating with Innopharma were joined to Innopharma case. 
While we believe our patent rights are strong, the ultimate outcome of these cases is uncertain.  

Shareholder Litigation  

John Perry v. Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et al. (Filed March 14, 2013 in United States District Court, District of Nevada; Case 
Number 2:2013-cv-00433-LDG-CWH. This putative consolidated class action raises substantially identical claims and allegations against 
defendants Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Dr. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, Brett L. Scott, and Joseph Kenneth Keller. The alleged class period is 
August 8, 2012 to March 12, 2013. The lawsuits allege a violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against all defendants 
and control person liability, as a violation of Section 20(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, against the individual defendants. The claims 
purportedly stem from the Company’s March 12, 2013 press release, in which it announced that it anticipated a change in ordering patterns of 
FUSILEV. The complaints allege that, as a result of the March 12, 2013 press release, the Company’s stock price declined. The complaints 
further allege that during the putative class period certain defendants made misleadingly optimistic statements about FUSILEV sales, which 
inflated the trading price of Company stock. The lawsuits seek relief in the form of monetary damages, costs and fees, and any other equitable or 
injunctive relief that the court deems appropriate.  

Timothy Fik v. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, et al. (Filed April 11, 2013 in United States District Court, District of Nevada; Case Number 2:2013-
cv-00624-JCM-CWH); Christopher J. Watkins v. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, et al. (Filed April 22, 2013 in United States District Court, District of 
Nevada; Case Number 2:2013-cv-00684-JCM-VCF); and Stefan Muenchhagen v. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, et al. (Filed May 28, 2013; Case Number 
2:2013-cv-00942-APG-PAL). These derivative complaints are brought by the respective purported shareholders on behalf of nominal plaintiff 
Spectrum against certain current and former directors and officers. The complaints generally allege breaches of fiduciary based on conduct 
relating to the events alleged in the consolidated Perry action. The complaints seek compensatory damages, corporate governance reforms, 
restitution and disgorgement of defendants’ alleged profits, and costs and fees. On May 15, 2013, the court entered a consolidation order staying 
the actions pending resolution of the federal securities class action.  

Hardik Kakadia v. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, et al. (Filed April 23, 2013 in the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada in and for 
Clark County; Case Number A-13-680643-B); and Joel Besner v. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, et al. (Filed May 31, 2013; Case Number A-13-682668-
C) (collectively the “State Derivative Actions”). These consolidated State Derivative Actions are brought by the respective purported 
shareholders on behalf of nominal plaintiff Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and are substantially similar to the consolidated federal derivative 
actions.  

(h) SEC Subpoena  

On April 1, 2013, we received a subpoena from the SEC for documents pursuant to a formal order of investigation. The subpoena followed 
our March 12, 2013 announcement that we anticipated a change in customer ordering patterns of FUSILEV. We continue to cooperate with this 
SEC investigation, though we cannot predict its outcome, or the timing of resolution.  

   

The components of (loss) income before (provision) benefit for income taxes are as follows:  
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15. INCOME TAXES 

     
For the Years Ended  

December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

United States     $ (30,437 )    $ 82,165      $ 53,834    
Foreign       (6,199 )      (2,235 )      (199 )  

                               

Total     $ (36,636 )    $ 79,930      $ 53,635    
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The provision (benefit) for income taxes consist of the following:  

   

The income tax provision (benefit) differs from that computed using the federal statutory rate applied to income before taxes as follows:  
   

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which reinstated the U.S. federal research and development tax credit retroactively from 
January 1, 2012 through December 31, 2013, was not enacted into law until the first quarter of 2013. The tax benefit resulting from such 
reinstatement is reflected in our 2013 tax provision.  
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For the Years Ended  

December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

Current:         

Federal     $ (8,357 )    $ 16,222      $ 1,255    
State       (691 )      3,412        2,449    
Foreign       —         —         —     

                               

   $ (9,048 )    $ 19,634      $ 3,704    
Deferred:         

Federal       36,183        (24,013 )      —     
State       (1,637 )      (9,892 )      —     
Foreign       —         —         —     

                               

     34,546        (33,905 )      —     
Total income tax provision (benefit)     $ 25,498      $ (14,271 )    $ 3,704    

         

  

        

  

        

  

     2013     2012     2011   

Tax provision (benefit) computed at the federal statutory rate     $ (12,822 )    $ 27,975      $ 18,250    
State tax, net of federal benefit       (246 )      2,442        2,918    
Expired tax attributes       —         —         385    
Research credits       (2,254 )      (2,129 )      (1,464 )  
Benefits from credit study       —         (4,148 )      —     
Common stock warrant liability       —         —         1,186    
Transaction costs       880        1,497        —     
Officers compensation       2,178        2,908        3,801    
Stock based compensation       501        134        1,676    
Permanent items and other       (1,080 )      2,111        2,039    
Domestic manufacturing deduction       767        (1,262 )      —     
Tax differential on foreign earnings       1,123        382        —     
Change in tax rate       (283 )      338        —     
Valuation allowance       36,734        (44,519 )      (25,087 )  

                               

Income tax provision (benefit)     $ 25,498      $ (14,271 )    $ 3,704    
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Significant components of our deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 are shown below. A valuation allowance has been 

recognized to offset the net deferred tax assets as realization of such deferred tax assets no longer meets the “more-likely-than-not” threshold 
under GAAP.  
   

The increase in the valuation allowance in 2013 was due to uncertainties regarding the realization of deferred tax assets acquired in 
connection with the Talon acquisition and a change in our overall assessment regarding the realization of our domestic deferred tax assets as a 
result of larger than expected operating losses sustained in 2013 and an increase in our expected operating loss for 2014. The decrease in the 
valuation allowance in 2012 was due to a change in our assessment regarding the realization of our domestic deferred tax assets as a result of 
positive earnings trends in 2010, 2011, and 2012 and operating income recorded in 2011 and 2012.  

At December 31, 2013, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $117.4 million and $132.0 million, 
respectively. We have approximately $4.1 million of foreign loss carryforwards that will begin to expire in 2028. The federal and state loss carry 
forwards begin to expire in 2018 and 2014, respectively, unless previously utilized. At December 31, 2013, we had federal and state tax credits 
of approximately $6.9 million and $2.2 million, respectively. The federal tax credit carryovers begin to expire in 2026 unless previously utilized. 
The state research and development credits have an indefinite carryover period.  

As a result of the prior ownership changes, the utilization of certain net operating loss and research and development tax credit 
carryforwards including those acquired in connection with the acquisition of Allos and Talon are subject to annual limitations under Sections 
382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state provisions. Any net operating losses or credits that would expire unutilized 
as a result of Section 382 and 383 limitations have been removed from the table of deferred tax assets and the accompanying disclosures of net 
operating loss and research and development carryforwards.  

Accounting guidance clarifies the accounting for uncertain tax positions and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process 
for recording in the financial statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Additionally, the authoritative 
guidance addresses the derecognition, classification, accounting in interim periods and disclosure requirements for uncertain tax positions. Only 
tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold at the effective date may be recognized.  
   

F-40  

     2013     2012   

Deferred tax assets:       

Net operating loss carry forwards     $ 46,482      $ 45,391    
Research credits       8,066        1,848    
Stock based compensation       3,486        2,896    
Deferred revenue       58        4,596    
Development costs       6,495        5,298    
Returns and allowances       3,117        7,889    
Other, net       5,551        6,021    

                     

Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowance       73,255        73,246    
Valuation allowance       (49,586 )      (1,818 )  

                     

Total deferred tax assets       23,669        72,121    
Deferred tax liabilities:       

Basis difference in debt       (1,082 )      —     
Depreciation and amortization differences       (28,096 )      (36,372 )  

                     

Net deferred tax (liability) asset     $ (5,509 )    $ 35,749    
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The following tabular reconciliation summarizes activity related to unrecognized tax benefits:  

   

During 2013, we continue to believe that our tax positions meet the more-likely-than-not standard required under the recognition phase of 
the authoritative guidance. However, we consider the amounts and probabilities of the outcomes that can be realized upon ultimate settlement 
with the tax authorities and determined unrecognized tax benefits primarily related to credits should be established as noted in the summary 
rollforward above.  

Approximately $0.3 million, $5.2 million and $0.2 million of the total unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively, would reduce our annual effective tax rate if recognized. Additional amounts in the summary rollforward could impact our effective 
tax rate if we did not maintain a full valuation allowance on our net deferred tax assets.  

We do not expect our unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly over the next 12 months. With a few exceptions, we are no longer 
subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax examinations for years before 2009. Our policy is to recognize interest and/or penalties related 
to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense in the consolidated statements of operations and are not material.  

During 2013, the Internal Revenue Service completed an examination of our 2010 tax return. No tax was paid as a result of the 
examination. As a result of the examination, the Company reduced tax credits carryovers by $0.8 million and net operating loss carryovers by 
$1.6 million.  

   

BELEODAQ NDA Acceptance by the FDA  

On February 5, 2014, we received a communication from the FDA notifying us that our NDA for BELEODAQ (Belinostat) for Injection 
had been accepted for filing with priority review. As a result of this achievement, pursuant to the TopoTarget agreement (see Note 14(b)(x) ), we 
paid TopoTarget $10.0 million and issued an aggregate 1.0 million shares of our common stock in February 2014.  

   

Selected quarterly financial data (unaudited) for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 is presented below:  
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     2013     2012     2011   

Balance at beginning of year     $ 5,482      $ 3,928      $ 2,803    
Adjustments related to prior year tax positions       (200 )      (527 )      5    
Increases related to current year tax positions       648        2,515        1,120    
Decreases due to settlements       (1,227 )      (434 )      —     
Decreases related to prior year tax positions       (2,491 )      —         —     

                               

Balance at end of year     $ 2,212      $ 5,482      $ 3,928    
         

  

        

  

        

  

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

17. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 

     Quarter Ended (Unaudited)   
     March 31     June 30     September 30     December 31   
2013:           

Total revenues     $ 38,667      $ 33,232      $ 42,439      $ 41,516    
Operating loss     $ (6,457 )    $ (12,529 )    $ (13,287 )    $ (6,512 )  
Net loss     $ (5,435 )    $ (9,721 )    $ (7,812 )    $ (39,166 )  
Net loss per share, basic     $ (0.09 )    $ (0.16 )    $ (0.13 )    $ (0.63 )  
Net loss per share, diluted     $ (0.09 )    $ (0.16 )    $ (0.13 )    $ (0.63 )  



SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(all tabular amounts presented in thousands, except percentages, share and per share data, and number of years)  

   

Net (loss) income per basic and diluted shares are computed independently for each of the quarters presented based on basic and diluted 
shares outstanding per quarter and, therefore, may not sum to the totals for the year.  
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Quarter Ended (Unaudited)  

(In thousands, except per share data)   
     March 31      June 30      September 30      December 31   

2012:              

Total revenues     $ 59,859       $ 68,702       $ 69,042       $ 70,104    
Operating income     $ 23,596       $ 23,028       $ 23,109       $ 11,041    
Net income     $ 46,838       $ 18,350       $ 21,524       $ 7,489    
Net income per share, basic     $ 0.80       $ 0.31       $ 0.37       $ 0.13    
Net income per share, diluted     $ 0.72       $ 0.29       $ 0.33       $ 0.12    



Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure  

None  

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures  

Our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have provided certifications filed as Exhibits 31.1 and 32.1, and 31.2 and 
32.2, respectively. Such certifications should be read in conjunction with the information contained in this Item 9A for a more complete 
understanding of the matters covered by such certifications.  

(a) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. This process includes those policies and procedures (i) that pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) that receipts and 
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; (iii) that provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our 
financial statements; and (iv) that provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to risk that the internal control may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Our management 
assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013. In making this assessment, our management 
used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework 
(1992 framework) (“COSO”).  

Based on our management’s assessment, we have concluded that as of December 31, 2013, our internal control over financial reporting 
was not effective, as evaluated under the COSO criteria. This assessment was due to management’s identification of a material weakness in the 
design and operating effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that relate to the accurate and timely reporting of our operating 
expense accruals (which in part was previously identified within Item 9A of our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K/A). This internal control 
failure relates to (i) ineffective design and operation of controls over our process of estimating the required period-end accruals for services 
performed under open purchase orders, which resulted in overstated operating expenses and accrued liabilities in multiple reporting periods in, 
and prior to, 2013; and (ii) ineffective design and operation of controls over our identification and recording of liabilities for vendor invoices 
received subsequent to year-end that related to our 2013 activities, which would have resulted in understated operating expenses and accrued 
liabilities, if left uncorrected.  

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal controls over financial reporting, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or 
detected on a timely basis.  

Notwithstanding our material weakness, we have concluded that the financial statements and other financial information included in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly present in all material respects our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows as of, and for, the 
periods presented.  
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Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has issued a report on our internal control over financial 
reporting. Ernst & Young LLP’s report appears within Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and expresses an adverse opinion on the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.  

(b) Remediation Steps to Address Material Weakness  

We have developed, and are currently implementing, a remediation plan for this material weakness. We will continue to execute our 
previously communicated remediation plan, which includes hiring additional experienced accounting personnel and expanding training for our 
accounting personnel, as well as modifying and expanding our internal controls over our recording of complete and accurate period-end accruals. 
The successful remediation of this material weakness will require review and evidence of the effectiveness of the related internal controls as part 
of our next annual assessment of our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. As we continue these remediation 
efforts, we may determine that additional measures should be taken to address these or other control deficiencies, and/or that we should modify 
the remediation plan described above.  

(c) Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

In accordance with Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with 
the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and 
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report.  

In conducting our evaluation, we concluded there is a material weakness in the design and operating effectiveness of our internal control 
over financial reporting, as described above. As a result, we have concluded that as of December 31, 2013, our disclosure controls and 
procedures were not effective in providing reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange 
Act was recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s 
rules and regulations, and that such information was accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  

(d) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

Except as disclosed above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended 
December 31, 2013 that has materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  

Item 9B.  Other Information  

None.  

PART III  

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance  

The information required under this item is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement related to our 2014 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders, or the Proxy Statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, on or before April 30, 2014.  

Item 11.  Executive Compensation  

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy Statement.  

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.  

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy Statement.  
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Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.  

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy Statement.  

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services  

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Proxy Statement.  

PART  IV  

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules  
   

The following financial statements and schedules listed below are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K:  

Financial Statements  

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012  

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011  

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011  

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.  

(All other schedules are omitted, as required information is either not applicable or the information is presented in the consolidated 
financial statements).  

SCHEDULE II – VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  

Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011  
   

   

The following is a list of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
For exhibits that previously have been filed, the Company incorporates those exhibits herein by reference. The exhibit table below 
includes the Form Type and Filing Date of the previous filing and the original exhibit number in the previous filing which is being 
incorporated by reference herein.  
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(a) Financial Statements and Schedules 

Description 

   

Balance at  
Beginning of 

 
Period   

   
Additions  

(Reductions)      

Deductions (1)   

  

Balance at 
 

End of  
Period         

Additions  
(Recovery) 
to Bad Debt 

 
Expense or 
Deferred  
Tax Asset     

Charged 
 

to Other 
Accounts        

     (in thousands)   

Year ended December 31, 2013               

Allowance for doubtful accounts     $ 228       $ 11        —         $ (33 )    $ 206    
Year ended December 31, 2012               
Allowance for doubtful accounts     $ 471       $ (128 )      —         $ (115 )    $ 228    
Year ended December 31, 2011               

Allowance for doubtful accounts     $ 339       $ 139        —         $ (7 )    $ 471    
  
(1) Deductions represent the actual write-off of accounts receivable balances. 

  (b) Exhibits 



   
64  

Exhibit 
No.    Description 

  2.1 

   

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated August 15, 2007, by and between Cell Therapeutics, Inc. and Biogen Idec Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 
10.1 to Cell Therapeutics, Inc.’s Form 8-K, No. 001-12465, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 21, 
2007, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

  2.2 

   

First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 9, 2008, by and between Cell Therapeutics, Inc. and Biogen Idec 
Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 10.48 to Cell Therapeutics, Inc.’s Form 10K, No. 001-12465, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on March 16, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

  2.3# 

   

License and Asset Purchase Agreement between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals Cayman, L.P. and Bayer Pharma AG, dated January 23, 
2012. (Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 27, 2012, and incorporated 
herein by reference.) 

  2.4 

   

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 4, 2012, by and among Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Sapphire Acquisition Sub, 
Inc. and Allos Therapeutics, Inc., including a Form of Contingent Value Rights Agreement and a Form of Tender and Voting 
Agreement. (Filed as Exhibits 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3, respectively, to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
April 5, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

  2.5 

   

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated July 16, 2013, by and among Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Eagle Acquisition Merger Sub, 
Inc., certain entities affiliated with Warburg Pincus & Co. and certain entities affiliated with Deerfield Management, LLC. (Filed as 
Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 19, 2013, and incorporated herein by 
reference.) 

  2.6 

   

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated July 16, 2013, by and among Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Eagle Acquisition Merger Sub, Inc. 
and Talon Therapeutics, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 2.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 19, 
2013, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

  2.7 

   

Contingent Value Rights Agreement, dated July 16, 2013, by and among Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Talon Therapeutics, Inc. 
and Corporate Stock Transfer Inc. as rights agent. (Filed as Exhibit 2.3 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on July 19, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

  2.8 

   

Exchange Agreement, dated July 16, 2013, by and among Talon Therapeutics, Inc. and certain entities affiliated with Deerfield 
Management, LLC, including the Registration Rights Agreement by and among Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and certain entities 
affiliated with Deerfield Management, LLC, as Exhibit A thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 2.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on July 19, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

  3.1 
   

Certificate of Incorporation, as amended through June 24, 2011. (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on March 2, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

  3.2 
   

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 8, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

  4.1 

   

Rights Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2010, between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and ComputerShare Trust Company, 
N.A. (formerly U.S. Stock Transfer Corporation), as Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit A thereto the form of Certificate of 
Designation for the Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock, as Exhibit B thereto the Form of Rights Certificate and as 
Exhibit C thereto a Summary of Rights of Stockholder Rights Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on December 13, 2010, and incorporated herein by reference.) 
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Exhibit  
No.    Description 

  4.2+ 
   

Registration Rights and Stockholder Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2010, by and between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and 
Topotarget A/S. 

  4.3 

   

Indenture, dated as of December 23, 2013, by and between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Wilmington Trust, National 
Association, dated as of December 23, 2013. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on December 23, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

  4.4 
   

Form of Note for Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s 2.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2018. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 23, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.1 

   

Sublease Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2010, between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Del Webb Corporation. (Filed as 
Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 10, 2011, and incorporated herein by 
reference.) 

10.2 

   

First Amendment to Sublease Agreement, dated November 16, 2011, between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Del Webb 
Corporation. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 2, 2012, and 
incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.3 

   

Second Amendment to Sublease Agreement, dated November 12, 2012, between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Del Webb 
Corporation. (Filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2013, 
and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.4 

   

Industrial Lease Agreement, dated as of January 16, 1997, between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the Irvine Company. (Filed 
as Exhibit 10.11 to Form 10-KSB, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 1997, and incorporated 
herein by reference.) 

10.5 

   

First Amendment, dated March 25, 2004, to Industrial Lease Agreement dated as of January 16, 1997 by and between Spectrum 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the Irvine Company. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on May 17, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.6+ 
   

Second Amendment, dated March 7, 2006, to Industrial Lease Agreement dated as of January 16, 1997 by and between Spectrum 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the Irvine Company. 

10.7+ 
   

Third Amendment, dated February 12, 2006, to Industrial Lease Agreement dated as of January 16, 1997 by and between Spectrum 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the Irvine Company. 

10.8 

   

Fourth Amendment, dated July 29, 2009, to Industrial Lease Agreement dated as of January 16, 1997 by and between Spectrum 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the Irvine Company. (Filed as Exhibit 10.29 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on April 5, 2010, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.9+ 
   

Fifth Amendment, dated November 21, 2013, to Industrial Lease Agreement dated as of January 16, 1997 by and between Spectrum 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the Irvine Company. 

10.10+ 
   

Sixth Amendment, dated January 31, 2014, to Industrial Lease Agreement dated as of January 16, 1997 by and between Spectrum 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the Irvine Company. 

10.11 

   

Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 26, 2003, by and among Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
and the purchasers listed on Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on September 30, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.12* 
   

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2003 Amended and Restated Incentive Award Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 17, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference.) 
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Exhibit 
No.    Description 

10.13* 

   

Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement under the 2003 Amended and Restated Incentive Award Plan. (Filed as 
Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 10, 2005, and incorporated herein by 
reference.) 

10.14* 
   

2003 Amended and Restated Incentive Award Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on July 2, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.15* 
   

Long-Term Retention and Management Incentive Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.36 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on August 4, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.16* 
   

Deferred Compensation Plan (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form S-8, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
September 6, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.17* 

   

Executive Employment Agreement by and between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D., entered into 
June 20, 2008 and effective as of January 2, 2008. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on June 26, 2008, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.18* 
   

Form of Indemnity Agreement of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32 to Form 10-K, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.19* 
   

2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Form S-8, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on June 29, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.20* 
   

2009 Incentive Award Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Form S-8, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 29, 
2009, and incorporated herein by reference.) 
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Exhibit 
No.    Description 

10.21* 
   

Term Sheet for 2009 Incentive Award Plan Stock Option Award. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on August 13, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.22* 

   

Term Sheet for 2009 Incentive Award Plan, Nonqualified Stock Option Award Awarded to Non-Employee Directors (Revised July 
2012). (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 9, 2012, and 
incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.23* 
   

Term Sheet for 2009 Incentive Award Plan, Restricted Stock Award. (Filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.24# 

   

License and Collaboration Agreement, dated February 2, 2010, by and between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Topotarget 
A/S. (Filed as Exhibit 10.37 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 5, 2010, and 
incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.25# 

   

Amendment to License and Collaboration Agreement, dated October 3, 2013, by and between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and 
Topotarget A/S. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K/A, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 18, 
2013, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.26# 

   

License Agreement for 10-Propargyl-10-Deazaaminopterin “PDX” dated December 23, 2002 and amended May 9, 2006 between 
Allos Therapeutics, Inc. and SRI International, Sloan-Kettering Institute for Cancer Research and Southern Research Institute. 
(Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Allos Therapeutics, Inc.’s Form 10-Q/A, File No. 000-29815, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on August 17, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.27# 

   

Second Amendment to License Agreement for 10-Propargyl-10-Deazaaminopterin “PDX” dated November 6, 2007 between Allos 
Therapeutics, Inc. and SRI International, Sloan-Kettering Institute for Cancer Research and Southern Research Institute. (Filed as 
Exhibit 10.13.1 to Allos Therapeutics, Inc.’s Form 10-K, File No. 000-29815, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on March 1, 2010, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.28# 

   

Third Amendment to License Agreement for 10-Propargyl-10-Deazaaminopterin “PDX” dated May 10, 2011 between Allos 
Therapeutics, Inc. and SRI International, Sloan-Kettering Institute for Cancer Research and Southern Research Institute. (Filed as 
Exhibit 10.3 to Allos Therapeutics, Inc.’s Form 10-Q, File No. 000-29815, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on August 4, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.29# 

   

Amended and Restated License, Development and Commercialization Agreement, dated May 29, 2013, by and between Allos 
Therapeutics, Inc. and Mundipharma International Corporation Limited (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35006, as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference.) 
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Exhibit  
No.    Description 

10.30# 

   

Amended and Restated Supply Agreement, dated May 29, 2013, by and between Allos Therapeutics, Inc. and Mundipharma Medical 
Company (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35006, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
August 9, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.31 
   

License Agreement, dated December 21, 2007, by and between Biogen Idec Inc. and Cell Therapeutics, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to 
Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 9, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.32 

   

License-Back Agreement, dated December 21, 2007, by and between Biogen Idec Inc. and Cell Therapeutics, Inc. (Filed as 
Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 9, 2012, and incorporated herein by 
reference.) 

10.33# 

   

Sublicense Agreement, dated December 21, 2007, by and among Cell Therapeutics, Inc., Biogen Idec Inc., SmithKline Beecham 
Corporation d/b/a GlaxoSmithKline and Glaxo Group Limited. (Filed as Exhibit 10.11 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on November 9, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.34# 

   

Sublicense Agreement, dated December 21, 2007, by and among Cell Therapeutics, Inc., Biogen Idec Inc., Corixa Corporation, 
Coulter Pharmaceutical, Inc., The Regents of the University of Michigan and SmithKline Beecham Corporation d/b/a 
GlaxoSmithKline. (Filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 9, 
2012, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.35 
   

Security Agreement, dated December 15, 2008, by and between RIT Oncology, LLC and Biogen Idec Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 10.35 to 
Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 10, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.36# 

   

Omnibus Amendment to Zevalin Supply Arrangements, dated October 1, 2012, by and between Biogen Idec US Corporation and 
RIT Oncology, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.. (Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Form 10-Q, as filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 9, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.37 

   

License Agreement, dated May 23, 2006, by and between Merck Eprova AG and Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Filed as 
Exhibit 10.16 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 9, 2012, and incorporated herein 
by reference.) 

10.38 

   

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated May 23, 2006, by and between Merck Eprova AG and Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
(Filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 9, 2012, and incorporated 
herein by reference.) 

10.39# 

   

License Agreement, dated March 8, 2013, by and between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and CyDex Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Filed 
as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2013, and incorporated herein by 
reference.) 

10.40 

   

Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 17, 2013, by and among Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Jefferies LLC and RBC Capital 
Markets, LLC. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 23, 2013, 
and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.41 

   

Base Call Option Transaction Confirmation, dated as of December 17, 2013, by and between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and 
Royal Bank of Canada. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 23, 
2013, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.42 

   

Base Warrant Transaction Confirmation, dated as of December 17, 2013, by and between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Royal 
Bank of Canada. (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 23, 2013, 
and incorporated herein by reference.) 
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Exhibit 
No.    Description 

10.43 

   

Additional Call Option Transaction Confirmation, dated as of December 20, 2013, by and between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
and Royal Bank of Canada. (Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 
23, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference.) 

10.44 

   

Additional Warrant Transaction Confirmation, dated as of December 20, 2013, by and between Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and 
Royal Bank of Canada. (Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 23, 
2013, and incorporated herein by reference.) 
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Exhibit  
No.    Description 

  21.1+    Subsidiaries of Registrant. 

  23.1+    Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 

  24.1    Power of Attorney (included in the signature page.) 

  31.1+    Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

  31.2+    Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

  32.1+ 
   

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)/15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 
18 U.S.C. Section 1350. 

  32.2+ 
   

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)/15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 
18 U.S.C. Section 1350. 

101.INS†    XBRL Instance Document 

101.SCH†    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

101.CAL†    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 

101.DEF†    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

101.LAB†    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 

101.PRE†    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 
  
* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 
# Confidential portions omitted and filed separately with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 promulgated 

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 
+ Filed herewith. 
† XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus 

for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections or otherwise incorporated by reference. 



Exhibit 4.2 

CONFIDENTIAL 

Execution Copy 

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AND STOCKHOLDER AGREEMENT  

This Registration Rights and Stockholder Agreement (this “ Agreement ”), dated as of February 2, 2010 is by and between Spectrum 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation having a place of business at 701 N. Green Valley Parkway, Henderson, Nevada 89074 U.S.A. 
(the “ Company ”), and TopoTarget A/S, a company organized under the laws of Denmark having its principal offices at Symbion Science Park, 
Fruebjergvej 3, 2100 København, Denmark (“ TopoTarget ”).  

WHEREAS, the Company and TopoTarget have entered into a license and collaboration agreement dated as of the date hereof (the “ 
License Agreement ,” together with this Agreement, the “ Agreements ”) that, among other things, provides pursuant to Section 7.2(a) thereof 
that the Company shall issue and deliver to TopoTarget upon the satisfaction of the condition set forth therein, one million (1,000,000) shares 
(the “ Shares ”) of the common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the Company (the “ Common Stock ”);  

WHEREAS, upon the satisfaction of the terms and conditions of the License Agreement relating to the issuance of the Shares, and 
pursuant to exemptions from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “ Securities Act ”), the Company has agreed to issue 
the Shares to TopoTarget and the parties hereto have each agreed to certain restrictions or obligations, as the case may be, relating to the Shares 
upon their issuance;  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the mutual covenants contained herein and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and TopoTarget hereby agree as follows (with 
capitalized terms used but not defined herein having the meanings ascribed to such terms in the License Agreement):  

1. RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER  

(a) Volume Restrictions .  

(1) During the period beginning on the Issuance Date and ending on the date that TopoTarget is no longer the record or beneficial 
owner of any of the Shares, including during the Effectiveness Period (as defined below), TopoTarget shall not make a Disposition of the Shares 
owned by TopoTarget in amounts that exceed, after giving effect to the proposed Disposition, either of (i) 100,000 shares in any single trading 
day (the “ Maximum Daily Sale Amount ”), or (ii) 300,000 shares during any calendar week period (the “ Maximum Weekly Sale Amount ”), in 
either case without the prior written consent of the Company, which may be given or withheld in the Company’s sole discretion. For purposes 
hereof, a “ Disposition ” shall mean any transfer, sale or other disposition, or any offer to transfer, sell or dispose, of any Share or Shares over 
the facilities of, or otherwise through, the Nasdaq Global Market or, if different, the Company’s primary listing market.  



(2) For the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing restrictions shall not apply to the sale of any shares of Common Stock other than the 
Shares, including shares of Common Stock acquired by TopoTarget on the public market. The restrictions of this Section 1(a) will, however, 
apply to shares issued as a stock dividend on the Shares or issued in a stock split, reverse stock split, or other recapitalization in each case with 
respect to the Shares covered hereby, in which event the Maximum Daily Sale Amount and the Maximum Weekly Sale Amount shall also be 
appropriately adjusted.  

(3) TopoTarget acknowledges that the restrictions on Dispositions imposed by this Section 1(a) are in addition to those that may be 
imposed by United States federal and (if applicable) state securities laws, including without limitation Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities 
Act (“ Rule 144 ”), and undertakes to comply with federal and (if applicable) state securities laws, including the restrictions of Rule 144. In 
connection with any transfer of Shares other than (i) through an effective registration statement (including the Registration Statement, as defined 
below), (ii) pursuant to Rule 144, (iii) to the Company or (iv) to an affiliate of TopoTarget, the Company may require the transferor thereof to 
provide the Company an opinion of counsel, the form and substance of which opinion (and the identity of which counsel) shall be reasonably 
satisfactory to the Company, to the effect that such transfer does not require registration under the Securities Act.  

(4) TopoTarget agrees and consents to the entry of stop transfer restrictions with the Company’s transfer agent and registrar against, 
and authorizes the Company to cause the transfer agent and registrar to decline, the transfer of the Shares except in compliance with the 
foregoing restrictions.  

(b) Legends . Prior to the Effective Time (as defined below), the certificate(s) evidencing the Shares shall bear legends in substantially the 
following form:  

“THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR 
THE SECURITIES COMMISSION OF ANY STATE IN RELIANCE UPON AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER 
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE 
OFFERED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION 
STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A 
TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS AS EVIDENCED BY A LEGAL OPINION OF COUNSEL 
TO THE TRANSFEROR TO SUCH EFFECT, THE SUBSTANCE OF WHICH SHALL BE REASONABLY ACCEPTABLE TO 
THE COMPANY.”  

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF A  
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REGISTRATION RIGHTS AND STOCKHOLDER AGREEMENT DATED FEBRUARY 2, 2010, AS AMENDED FROM TIME 
TO TIME, WHICH PLACES RESTRICTIONS ON THE TRANSFER OF THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY. ANY 
PERSON ACCEPTING ANY INTEREST IN SUCH SECURITIES SHALL BE DEEMED TO AGREE TO AND SHALL 
BECOME BOUND BY ALL THE PROVISIONS OF SUCH AGREEMENT. A COPY OF SUCH AGREEMENT IS ON FILE AT 
THE COMPANY’S PRINCIPAL OFFICE AND MAY BE OBTAINED WITHOUT CHARGE FROM THE COMPANY.”  

(c) Agreement to be Bound . Subject to the other restrictions on transfer set forth or referenced in this Agreement, TopoTarget may assign 
all of its rights and obligations hereunder with respect to some or all or its Shares, provided that the transferee has agreed in writing to be bound 
by the applicable provisions of this Agreement and that such assignment shall be in connection with a Transfer of all or a portion of the Shares 
held by TopoTarget.  

2. RESALE REGISTRATION  

(a) Direct Registration . On or prior to the 30 th day after the Issuance Date (the “ Filing Date ”), the Company shall prepare and file with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ Commission ”) a registration statement (including the Prospectus (as defined below), 
amendments and supplements to the registration statement or Prospectus, all exhibits thereto and all material incorporated by reference or 
deemed to be incorporated by reference in such registration statement, the “ Registration Statement ”) covering the resale of all of the Registrable 
Securities (as defined below) on such Filing Date for an offering to be made on a continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 of the Securities Act by 
TopoTarget and any other holder, if applicable, of the Registrable Securities (each a “ Holder ”). “ Prospectus ” means the prospectus included in 
any Registration Statement registering the Shares (as amended or supplemented by any prospectus supplement, and all other amendments and 
supplements to the prospectus). “ Registrable Securities ” means the Shares upon original issuance thereof and at all times subsequent thereto 
until the earliest to occur of (i) a Registration Statement registering the Shares has been declared effective by the Commission and such Shares 
have been disposed of in accordance therewith, (ii) the Shares are sold in compliance with Rule 144 or could (except with respect to affiliates of 
the Company within the meaning of the Securities Act) be sold in compliance with paragraph (b)(1)(i) of Rule 144, or (iii) the Shares cease to be 
outstanding.  

The Registration Statement shall be on Form S-3 (except if the Company is not then eligible to register for resale the Registrable Securities 
on Form S-3, in which case such registration shall be on another appropriate form in accordance with the Securities Act). Subject to the terms of 
this Agreement, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause a Registration Statement to be declared effective under the 
Securities Act as promptly as possible after the Filing Date. The date and time that the Registration Statement is declared effective by the 
Commission is referred to herein as the “ Effective Time ”. The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to keep such Registration 
Statement continuously effective under the Securities Act from the Effective Time until the earliest of: (i) the date on which all Registrable 
Securities covered by such Registration Statement have been sold in the manner set forth and as  
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contemplated by the Registration Statement, (ii) the date on which all the Registrable Securities held by persons who are not affiliates of the 
Company may be resold pursuant to Rule 144(b)(1)(i) under the Securities Act as determined by the counsel to the Company pursuant to a 
written opinion to such effect, addressed and acceptable to the Company’s transfer agent and the affected Holders, (iii) the date on which all the 
Registrable Securities cease to be outstanding, or (iv) an additional registration statement covering all of the Registrable Securities has been 
declared effective under the Securities Act (the “ Effectiveness Period ”).  

(b) Registration Procedures . In connection with the Company’s registration obligations hereunder, the Company shall:  
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(i) Not less than twenty (20) calendar days prior to the anticipated Filing Date, provide a questionnaire to TopoTarget requesting 
certain information, including a certified statement as to the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned and the 
person or persons that have voting and dispositive control over those Shares (the “ Selling Stockholder Questionnaire ”). 
TopoTarget shall have at least ten (10) calendar days from the date on which the Selling Stockholder Questionnaire is first 
provided to it to return a completed and signed Selling Stockholder Questionnaire to the Company. The Company shall not be 
required to take any action, including the filing of the Registration Statement, to name TopoTarget or any other Holder as a 
selling securityholder in the Registration Statement or to enable any Holder to use the Prospectus forming a part thereof for 
resales of Registrable Securities until such Holder has returned a completed and signed Selling Stockholder Questionnaire to 
the Company. 

  

(ii) After the Effective Time of the Registration Statement, the Company shall, upon the written request of any Holder of 
Registrable Securities, promptly send a Selling Stockholder Questionnaire to such Holder. From and after the Effective Time 
of the Registration Statement, the Company shall (A) as promptly as is practicable after the date a completed and signed 
Selling Stockholder Questionnaire is delivered to the Company, and in any event within fifteen (15) Business Days after such 
date, prepare and file with the Commission (x) a supplement to the Prospectus or, if required by applicable law, a post-
effective amendment to the Registration Statement and (y) any other document required by applicable law, so that the Holder 
delivering such Selling Stockholder Questionnaire is named as a selling securityholder in the Registration Statement and is 
permitted to deliver the Prospectus to purchasers of such Holder’s Registrable Securities in accordance with applicable law, 
and (B) if the Company is required by applicable law to file a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement, use its 
reasonable best efforts to cause such post-effective amendment to become effective under the Securities Act as promptly as is 
practicable; provided , that if a Selling Stockholder Questionnaire is delivered to the Company during a Suspension Period (as 
defined in Section 2(c)), the Company shall not be obligated to take the 
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actions set forth in this clause 2(b)(ii) until the termination of such Suspension Period. For purposes of this Agreement a 
“Business Day” means each day of the week excluding Saturday, Sunday or a day on which banking institutions in New 
York, New York USA are authorized by law to close. 

  

(iii) Prepare and file with the Commission such amendments, including post-effective amendments, to the Registration Statement 
and the Prospectus used in connection therewith as may be necessary to keep the Registration Statement continuously 
effective as to the applicable Registrable Securities for the Effectiveness Period and prepare and file with the Commission 
such additional Registration Statements in order to register for resale under the Securities Act all of the Registrable Securities. 

  (iv) Cause the Prospectus to be amended or supplemented by any required Prospectus supplement (subject to the terms of this 
Agreement), and as so supplemented or amended to be filed pursuant to Rule 424. 

  (v) Respond as promptly as reasonably possible to any comments received from the Commission with respect to a Registration 
Statement or any amendment thereto. 

  

(vi) Comply in all material respects with the provisions of the Securities Act and the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, with respect to the disposition of all Registrable Securities covered by a Registration Statement during the 
applicable period in accordance (subject to the terms of this Agreement) with the intended methods of disposition by the 
Holders thereof set forth in such Registration Statement as so amended or in such Prospectus as so supplemented. 

  

(vii) Notify the Holders as promptly as reasonably possible of the following: (A)(1) when a Prospectus (other than the first 
Prospectus filed pursuant to Section 2 hereof) or any Prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment to a Registration 
Statement has been filed; (2) when a Registration Statement (other than the first Registration Statement filed pursuant to 
Section 2 hereof) or any post-effective amendment, has become effective; (B) receipt by the Company of any request by the 
Commission or any other federal or state governmental authority for amendments or supplements to a Registration Statement 
or Prospectus or for additional information; (C) the issuance by the Commission or any other federal or state governmental 
authority of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of a Registration Statement covering any or all of the Registrable 
Securities or the initiation of any action, claim, suit, investigation or proceeding (including, without limitation, an 
investigation or partial proceeding, such as deposition) (each a “ Proceeding ”) for that purpose; (D) receipt by the Company 
of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification or exemption from qualification of any 
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of the Registrable Securities for sale in any jurisdiction, or the initiation or threatening of any Proceeding for such purpose; 
(E) the occurrence of any event or passage of time that makes the financial statements included in a Registration Statement 
ineligible for inclusion therein or any statement made in a Registration Statement or Prospectus or any document incorporated 
or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference untrue in any material respect or that requires any revisions to a 
Registration Statement, Prospectus or other documents so that, in the case of a Registration Statement or the Prospectus, as 
the case may be, it will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be 
stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading; and (F) the occurrence or existence of any pending corporate development with respect to the Company that the 
Company believes may be material and that, in the determination of the Company, makes it not in the best interest of the 
Company to allow continued availability of a Registration Statement or Prospectus; provided , that each Holder shall not 
disclose and shall maintain the confidentiality of any and all of such information provided pursuant to this Subsection 
(vii) until such information otherwise becomes public, unless disclosure by a Holder is required by law; provided further , that 
any notice provided pursuant to clauses (B) through (F) of this Subsection (vii) shall be accompanied by an instruction to 
suspend the use of the Prospectus until further notice by the Company. 

  

(viii) Upon request, fax or email to each Holder, without charge, upon filing with the Commission at least one conformed copy of 
each such Registration Statement and each amendment thereto, including to the extent specifically requested, financial 
statements and schedules, all documents incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference, and all exhibits 
(including those previously furnished or incorporated by reference). 

  (ix) Upon request, fax or email to each Holder, without charge, a copy of the Prospectus or Prospectuses (including each form of 
prospectus) and each amendment or supplement thereto. 

  (x) Comply in all material respects with all applicable rules and regulations of the Commission. 

  

(xi) Use its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) register or qualify the Registrable Securities covered by the Registration 
Statement as necessary under such securities or “blue sky” laws of such jurisdictions in the United States as the Holder (in 
light of its intended plan of distribution) may request in writing and (ii) take such action necessary to cause such Registrable 
Securities covered by the Registration Statement to be registered with or approved by such other governmental authorities as 
may  



   

(c) Suspension Period . Upon the occurrence of any event contemplated by clauses (B) through (F) of Section 2(b)(vii) of this Agreement, 
the Company shall, as promptly as reasonably possible under the circumstances taking into account the Company’s good faith assessment of any 
adverse consequences to the Company and its stockholders of the premature disclosure of such event, prepare, as may be required, a supplement 
or amendment, including a post-effective amendment, to a Registration Statement or a supplement to the related Prospectus or any document 
incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference, and file any other required document so that, as thereafter delivered, neither a 
Registration Statement nor such Prospectus will contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated 
therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. If the Company 
notifies the Holders in accordance with clauses (B) through (F) of Section 2(b)(vii) to suspend the use of any Prospectus until the requisite 
changes to such Prospectus have been made, or the Company otherwise notifies the Holders of its election to suspend the availability of a 
Registration Statement and Prospectus pursuant to clause (F) of Section 2(b)(vii), then the Holders shall `suspend use of such Prospectus. The 
Company will use its reasonable best efforts to ensure that the use of the Prospectus may be resumed as promptly as is practicable, except that in 
the case of suspension of the availability of a Registration Statement and Prospectus pursuant to clause (F) of Section 2(b)(vii), the Company 
shall not be required to take such action until such time as it shall determine that the continued availability of the Registration Statement and 
Prospectus is no longer not in the best interests of the Company. The Company shall be entitled to exercise its right under this Section 2(c) to 
suspend the availability of a Registration Statement and Prospectus for a period not to exceed ninety (90) days (which need not be consecutive 
days) in any twelve (12) month period (the “ Suspension Period ”).  

(d) Registration Expenses . The Company shall bear all expenses in connection with the registration of the Shares as provided in this 
Section 2, other than underwriting discounts (if applicable), brokerage fees and commissions and expenses of TopoTarget’s legal counsel.  
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  be necessary by virtue of the business and operations of the Company and do any and all other acts and things that may 

  

be necessary or advisable to enable the Holder to consummate the disposition of such Registrable Securities in such 
jurisdictions; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to qualify generally to do business in any jurisdiction 
where it would not otherwise be required to qualify but for this paragraph, subject itself to taxation in any such jurisdiction or 
consent to general service of process in any such jurisdiction. 

  

(xii) Prior to the filing with the Commission of a Registration Statement or prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto, 
including documents incorporated by reference, the Company shall furnish to the Holder and its legal counsel copies of all 
such documents proposed to be filed sufficiently in advance of filing to provide the Holder and its legal counsel with a 
reasonable opportunity to review such documents and comment thereon. 



3. INDEMNIFICATION AND CONTRIBUTION  

(a) Indemnification by the Company . The Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless each Holder, each of its officers, employees, 
affiliates, directors, partners, members, attorneys and agents and each person, if any, who controls (within the meaning of Section 15 of the 
Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act) such Holder (each, a “Holder Indemnified Party”) from and against any expenses, losses, 
judgments, claims, damages or liabilities, whether joint or several, arising out of or based upon any untrue statement (or allegedly untrue 
statement) of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement under which the sale of such Registrable Securities was registered under the 
Securities Act, any preliminary prospectus, final prospectus, any “free writing prospectus,” as such term is defined in Rule 405 under the 
Securities Act, or summary prospectus contained in the Registration Statement, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or arising out of or 
based upon any omission (or alleged omission) to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein 
not misleading, or any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact in the information conveyed to any purchaser at the time of 
the sale to such purchaser, or the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein, or any violation by the 
Company of the Securities Act or any rule or regulation promulgated thereunder applicable to the Company and relating to action or inaction 
required of the Company in connection with any such Registration; and the Company shall promptly advance and/or reimburse the Holder 
Indemnified Party, as incurred, for any legal and any other expenses reasonably incurred by such Holder Indemnified Party in connection with 
investigating and defending any such expense, loss, judgment, claim, damage, liability or action; provided, however, that the Company will not 
be liable in any such case to the extent that any such expense, loss, claim, damage or liability arises out of or is based upon any untrue statement 
or allegedly untrue statement or omission or alleged omission made in such Registration Statement, preliminary prospectus, final prospectus or 
summary prospectus, or any such amendment or supplement, in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished to the Company, in 
writing, by the Holder expressly for use therein.  

(b) Indemnification by the Holder . The Holder will, in the event that any Registration is being effected under the Securities Act pursuant 
to this Agreement of any Registrable Securities held by such selling holder, indemnify and hold harmless the Company, each of its directors and 
officers, and each other selling holder and each other person, if any, who controls the Company, its directors, its officers or such other selling 
holders within the meaning of the Securities Act, against any losses, claims, judgments, damages or liabilities, whether joint or several, insofar as 
such losses, claims, judgments, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon any untrue statement or 
allegedly untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement under which the sale of such Registrable Securities was 
registered under the Securities Act, any preliminary prospectus, final prospectus, any “free writing prospectus,” as such term is defined in Rule 
405 under the Securities Act, or summary prospectus contained in the Registration Statement, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or arise 
out of or are based upon any omission or the alleged omission to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 
statement therein not misleading, if the statement or omission was made in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished in writing 
to the Company by such selling holder expressly for use therein, or any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact in the 
information conveyed to any  
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purchaser at the time of the sale to such purchaser, or the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated 
therein, and shall reimburse the Company, its directors and officers, and each other selling holder or controlling person for any legal or other 
expenses reasonably incurred by any of them in connection with investigation or defending any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action.  

(c) Conduct of Indemnification Proceedings . Promptly after receipt by any person of any notice of any loss, claim, damage or liability or 
any action in respect of which indemnity may be sought pursuant to Section 3(a) or 3(b), such person (the “ Indemnified Party ”) shall, if a claim 
in respect thereof is to be made against any other person for indemnification hereunder, notify such other person (the “ Indemnifying Party ”) in 
writing of the loss, claim, judgment, damage, liability or action; provided, however, that the failure by the Indemnified Party to notify the 
Indemnifying Party shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party from any liability which the Indemnifying Party may have to such Indemnified Party 
hereunder, except and solely to the extent the Indemnifying Party is actually prejudiced by such failure. If the Indemnified Party is seeking 
indemnification with respect to any claim or action brought against the Indemnified Party, then the Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to 
participate in such claim or action, and, to the extent that it wishes, jointly with all other Indemnifying Parties, to assume control of the defense 
thereof with counsel satisfactory to the Indemnified Party. After notice from the Indemnifying Party to the Indemnified Party of its election to 
assume control of the defense of such claim or action, the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable to the Indemnified Party for any legal or other 
expenses subsequently incurred by the Indemnified Party in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation; 
provided, however, that in any action in which both the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party are named as defendants, the Indemnified 
Party shall have the right to employ separate counsel (but no more than one such separate counsel) to represent the Indemnified Party and its 
controlling persons who may be subject to liability arising out of any claim in respect of which indemnity may be sought by the Indemnified 
Party against the Indemnifying Party, with the fees and expenses of such counsel to be paid by such Indemnifying Party if, based upon the advice 
of counsel of such Indemnified Party, representation of both parties by the same counsel would be inappropriate due to actual or potential 
differing interests between them. No Indemnifying Party shall, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, consent to entry of 
judgment or effect any settlement of any claim or pending or threatened proceeding in respect of which the Indemnified Party is or could have 
been a party and indemnity could have been sought hereunder by such Indemnified Party, unless such judgment or settlement includes an 
unconditional release of such Indemnified Party from all liability arising out of such claim or proceeding.  

(d) Contribution. If the indemnification provided for in the foregoing Sections 3(a) and 3(b) is unavailable to any Indemnified Party in 
respect of any loss, claim, damage, liability or action referred to herein, then each such Indemnifying Party, in lieu of indemnifying such 
Indemnified Party, shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by such Indemnified Party as a result of such loss, claim, damage, liability or 
action in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the Indemnified Parties and the Indemnifying Parties in connection with 
the actions or omissions which resulted in such loss, claim, damage, liability or action, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. 
The relative fault of any Indemnified Party and any Indemnifying Party shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the  
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untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by 
such Indemnified Party or such Indemnifying Party and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct 
or prevent such statement or omission. The parties hereto agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 3
(d) were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not take account the equitable considerations referred 
to in the immediately preceding sentence. The amount paid or payable by an Indemnified Party as a result of any loss, claim, damage, liability or 
action referred to in the immediately preceding paragraph shall be deemed to include, subject to the limitations set forth above, any legal or other 
expenses incurred by such Indemnified Party in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of this Section 3(d), the Holder shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of the dollar amount of the net proceeds (after 
payment of any underwriting fees, discounts, commissions or taxes) actually received by the Holder from the sale of Registrable Securities 
which gave rise to such contribution obligation. No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the 
Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.  

4. MISCELLANEOUS  

(a) Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Jury Trial . Resolution of all disputes arising out of or related to this Agreement or the validity, 
construction, interpretation, enforcement, breach, performance, application or termination of this Agreement and any remedies relating thereto, 
shall be governed by and construed under the substantive laws of the State of New York, USA excluding any conflicts or choice of law rule or 
principle that might otherwise refer construction or interpretation of this Agreement to the substantive law of another jurisdiction and without 
regard to the United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods. If any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of this 
Agreement in that jurisdiction or the validity or enforceability of any provision of this Agreement in any other jurisdiction.  

(b) Entire Agreement . This Agreement and the documents referenced herein and therein constitute the entire agreement among the parties 
hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof. There are no restrictions, promises, warranties or undertakings, other than those set 
forth or referred to herein and therein. This Agreement and the documents referenced herein and therein supersede all prior agreements and 
understandings among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof.  

(c) Amendments and Waivers . No provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived other than by an instrument in writing signed 
by the Company and by TopoTarget.  

(d) Notices . Any notices, consents, waivers or other communications required or permitted to be given under the terms of this Agreement 
must be in writing and will be deemed to have been delivered: (i) upon receipt, when delivered personally; (ii) upon receipt, when faxed or 
emailed (provided confirmation of transmission is mechanically or electronically generated and kept on file by the sending party); or (iii) the 
third Business Day after the day deposited with  
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a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, in each case properly addressed to the party to receive the same. The mailing addresses, fax 
numbers and email addresses for such communications are:  
   

(e) No Strict Construction . The language used in this Agreement will be deemed to be the language chosen by the parties to express their 
mutual intent, and no rules of strict construction will be applied against any party.  

(f) Further Assurances . Each party shall do and perform, or cause to be done and performed, all such further acts and things, and shall 
execute and deliver all such other agreements, certificates, instruments and documents, as the other party may reasonably request in order to 
carry out the intent and accomplish the purposes of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.  

(g) Severability . If any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity or 
unenforceability shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement in that jurisdiction or the validity or 
enforceability of any provision of this Agreement in any other jurisdiction.  

(h) Successors and Assigns . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors 
and assigns, including, subject to the provisions of this Agreement, any purchasers or transferees of the Shares.  

(i) Publicity . The Company may issue a press release regarding the occurrence of this transaction and may make any and all disclosures 
that it deems necessary or appropriate in connection with its filings with the Commission or other regulatory agencies and authorities.  
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  If to TopoTarget:    TopoTarget A/S 
     Symbion Science Park 
     Fruebjergvej 3 
     2100 København, Denmark 
     Attention: 

  With a copy to:    Dechert LLP 
     1775 I Street, NW 
     Washington, D.C. 20006-2401 
     Attention: David E. Schulman, Esq. 

  If to the Company:    Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
     701 N. Green Valley Parkway 
     Henderson, NV 89074 
     Attention: Legal Department 

  With a copy to:    Edwards Angell Palmer & Dodge LLP 
     111 Huntington Avenue 
     Boston, MA 02199 
     Attention: Eugene McDermott, Esq. 



(j) Expenses . Except as otherwise specifically provided in Section 2(d) with respect to registration expenses, each party shall bear its own 
fees and expenses, including, without limitation, fees of legal counsel, that it incurs in connection with the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement and in satisfying its obligations under this Agreement.  

(k) Termination . In the event that the License Agreement is terminated for any reason without the Shares having been issued thereunder, 
this Agreement shall automatically and immediately terminate and be of no further force or effect.  

(k) Headings . The headings of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not limit or otherwise affect the meaning 
hereof.  

(l) Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in identical counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which 
shall constitute one and the same agreement. This Agreement, once executed by a party, may be delivered to the other party hereto by faxing or 
emailing a copy of this Agreement bearing the signature of the party so delivering this Agreement.  

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.  
Signature page to follow.]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Registration Rights and Stockholder Agreement to be duly executed as of the date 
first written above.  
   

SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 

By:   /s/ Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D.  
Name:   Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D. 
Title:   Chairman, CEO & President 

TOPOTARGET A/S 

By:   /s/ Hakan Astrom  
Name:   Hakan Astrom 
Title:   Chairman of the Board 

By:   /s/ Peter B. Jensen  
Name:   Peter B. Jensen 
Title:   CEO 



Exhibit 10.6 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO LEASE  
   

This Second Amendment to Lease (the “Amendment”) dated March 7, 2006, is by and between THE IRVINE COMPANY (“Landlord”), 
and SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”).  

   

On January 16, 1997, Landlord and Tenant entered into a lease for space in a building located at 157 Technology Drive, Irvine, California 
(“Premises”), which lease was amended by a First Amendment to Lease dated March 25, 2004 (as amended, the “Lease”).  

Landlord and Tenant each desire to modify the Lease to make such modifications as are set forth in “III. MODIFICATIONS” next below.  

   

A. Signage . The first 1 st sentence of Section 5.2 of the Lease is hereby deleted and substituted therefor with the following: 
 

“Provided Tenant continues to lease the entire Building, Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right to one (1) exterior building top 
sign on the Building for Tenant’s name and graphics in a location designated by Landlord, subject to Landlord’s right of prior 
approval that such exterior signage is in compliance with the Signage Criteria (defined below). Except as provided in the foregoing, 
Tenant shall have no right to maintain signs in any location in, on or about the Premises, the Building or the Project and shall not 
place or erect any signs, displays or other advertising materials that are visible from the exterior of the Building.”  

   

A. Effect of Amendments . The Lease shall remain in full force and effect except to the extent that it is modified by this Amendment.  

B. Entire Agreement . This Amendment embodies the entire understanding between Landlord and Tenant with respect to the modifications 
set forth in “III. MODIFICATIONS” above and can be changed only by a writing signed by Landlord and Tenant.  

C. Counterparts . If this Amendment is executed in counterparts, each is hereby declared to be an original; all, however, shall constitute but 
one and the same amendment. In any action or proceeding, any photographic, photostatic, or other copy of this Amendment may be introduced 
into evidence without foundation.  

D. Defined Terms . All words commencing with initial capital letters in this Amendment and defined in the Lease shall have the same 
meaning in this Amendment as in the Lease, unless they are otherwise defined in this Amendment.  

E. Corporate and Partnership Authority . If Tenant is a corporation or partnership, or is comprised of either or both of them, each individual 
executing this Amendment for the corporation or partnership represents that he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Amendment 
on behalf of the corporation or partnership and that this Amendment is binding upon the corporation or partnership in accordance with its terms.  

F. Attorneys’  Fees . The provisions of the Lease respecting payment of attorneys’ fees shall also apply to this Amendment.  
   

1  

I. PARTIES AND DATE. 

II. RECITALS. 

III. MODIFICATIONS. 

IV. GENERAL. 



Landlord and Tenant executed this Amendment on the date as set forth in “I. PARTIES AND DATE.” above.  
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V. EXECUTION. 

LANDLORD:     TENANT: 

THE IRVINE COMPANY     SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., 
      a Delaware corporation 

By   /s/ Steven M. Case      By   /s/ Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D.  
  Steven M. Case, Senior Vice President     Name   Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D. 
  Leasing, Office Properties     Title Chairman, CEO & President 

By   /s/ Christopher J. Popma      By   /s/ Shyam Kumaria  
  Christopher J. Popma, Vice President     Name   Shyam Kumaria 
  Operations, Office Properties     Title   V.P., Finance 



Exhibit 10.7 

THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE  
   

This Third Amendment to Lease (the “Amendment”) dated February 12, 2006, is by and between THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, formerly The Irvine Company, a Delaware corporation (“Landlord”), and SPECTRUM 
PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”).  

   

On January 16, 1997, Landlord and Tenant entered into a lease for space in a building located at 157 Technology Drive, Irvine, California 
(“Premises”), which lease was amended by a First Amendment to Lease dated March 25, 2004, and by a Second Amendment to Lease dated 
March 7, 2006. The foregoing lease, as so amended, is hereinafter referred to as the “Lease”.  

Landlord and Tenant each desire to modify the Lease to make such modifications as are set forth in “III. MODIFICATIONS” next below.  

   

A. Signage . The first and second sentences of Section 5.2 of the Lease, as amended by the Second Amendment, are hereby deleted in their 
entirety, and substituted therefor with the following :  

“Provided Tenant continues to lease the entire Building, Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right to one (1) exterior “building top” 
sign and one (1) exterior “eye-brow” sign on the Building for Tenant’s name and graphics in locations designated by Landlord, 
subject to Landlord’s right of prior approval that such exterior signage is in compliance with the Signage Criteria (defined below). 
Except as provided in the foregoing, Tenant shall have no right to maintain signs in any location in, on or about the Premises, the 
Building or the Project and shall not place or erect any signs, displays or other advertising materials that are visible from the exterior 
of the Building.”  

B. Security Deposit Section 4.3 of the Lease is hereby amended to provide that, upon any default by Tenant, Landlord may, in its sole and 
absolute discretion and notwithstanding any contrary provision of California Civil Code Section 1950.7, additionally retain, use or apply the 
whole or any part of the Security Deposit to pay amounts estimated by Landlord as the amount due Landlord for prospective rent and for 
damages pursuant to Section 14.2 (a)(i) of the Lease and/or California Civil Code Section 1951.2.  

C. Late Payments . The reference to “Two Hundred Fifty Dollars ($250.00)” in Section 14.3(a) of the Lease is hereby amended to “One 
Hundred Dollars ($100.00).”  

D. Waiver of Jury Trial . Section 14.7 of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and substituted therefor shall be the following:  

SECTION 14.7. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL/JUDICIAL REFEREN CE .  

(a) LANDLORD AND TENANT EACH ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT I S AWARE OF AND HAS HAD THE ADVICE OF 
COUNSEL OF ITS CHOICE WITH RESPECT TO ITS RIGHTS TO  TRIAL BY JURY, AND, TO THE EXTENT ENFORCEABLE 
UNDER CALIFORNIA LAW, EACH PARTY DOES HEREBY EXPRES SLY AND KNOWINGLY WAIVE AND RELEASE ALL 
SUCH RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEED ING OR COUNTERCLAIM BROUGHT BY EITHER PARTY 
HERETO AGAINST THE OTHER (AND/OR AGAINST ITS OFFICE RS, DIRECTORS,  
   

1  

I. PARTIES AND DATE. 

II. RECITALS. 

III. MODIFICATIONS. 



EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, OR SUBSIDIARY OR AFFILIATED ENTI TIES) ON ANY MATTERS WHATSOEVER ARISING OUT 
OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH THIS LEASE, TENANT’ S USE OR OCCUPANCY OF THE PREMISES, AND/OR ANY 
CLAIM OF INJURY OR DAMAGE. FURTHERMORE, THIS WAIVER  AND RELEASE OF ALL RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL IS 
DEEMED TO BE INDEPENDENT OF EACH AND EVERY OTHER PR OVISION, COVENANT, AND/OR CONDITION SET 
FORTH IN THIS LEASE.  

(b) IN THE EVENT THAT THE JURY WAIVER PROVISIONS OF  SECTION 14.7(a) ARE NOT ENFORCEABLE UNDER 
CALIFORNIA LAW, THEN THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION  14.7(b) SHALL APPLY. IT IS THE DESIRE AND 
INTENTION OF THE PARTIES TO AGREE UPON A MECHANISM AND PROCEDURE UNDER WHICH CONTROVERSIES 
AND DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF THIS LEASE OR RELATED T O THE PREMISES WILL BE RESOLVED IN A PROMPT AND 
EXPEDITIOUS MANNER. ACCORDINGLY, EXCEPT WITH RESPEC T TO ACTIONS FOR UNLAWFUL OR FORCIBLE 
DETAINER OR WITH RESPECT TO THE PREJUDGMENT REMEDY OF ATTACHMENT, ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR 
COUNTERCLAIM BROUGHT BY EITHER PARTY HERETO AGAINST  THE OTHER (AND/OR AGAINST ITS OFFICERS, 
DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS OR SUBSIDIARY OR AFFIL IATED ENTITIES) ON ANY MATTERS WHATSOEVER 
ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH THIS LE ASE, TENANT’ S USE OR OCCUPANCY OF THE PREMISES 
AND/OR ANY CLAIM OF INJURY OR DAMAGE, SHALL BE HEAR D AND RESOLVED BY A REFEREE UNDER THE 
PROVISIONS OF THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDUR E, SECTIONS 638 – 645.1, INCLUSIVE (AS SAME MAY BE 
AMENDED, OR ANY SUCCESSOR STATUTE(S) THERETO) (THE “REFEREE SECTIONS”). ANY FEE TO INITIATE THE 
JUDICIAL REFERENCE PROCEEDINGS SHALL BE PAID BY THE  PARTY INITIATING SUCH PROCEDURE; PROVIDED 
HOWEVER, THAT THE COSTS AND FEES, INCLUDING ANY INI TIATION FEE, OF SUCH PROCEEDING SHALL 
ULTIMATELY BE BORNE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 14.6  ABOVE. THE VENUE OF THE PROCEEDINGS SHALL BE 
IN THE COUNTY IN WHICH THE PREMISES ARE LOCATED. WI THIN TEN (10) DAYS OF RECEIPT BY ANY PARTY OF A 
WRITTEN REQUEST TO RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE OR CONTROVER SY PURSUANT TO THIS SECTION 14.7(b), THE 
PARTIES SHALL AGREE UPON A SINGLE REFEREE WHO SHALL  TRY ALL ISSUES, WHETHER OF FACT OR LAW, AND 
REPORT A FINDING AND JUDGMENT ON SUCH ISSUES AS REQUIRED BY THE REFEREE SECTIONS. IF THE PARTIES 
ARE UNABLE TO AGREE UPON A REFEREE WITHIN SUCH TEN (10) DAY PERIOD, THEN ANY PARTY MAY 
THEREAFTER FILE A LAWSUIT IN THE COUNTY IN WHICH TH E PREMISES ARE LOCATED FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
APPOINTMENT OF A REFEREE UNDER CALIFORNIA CODE OF C IVIL PROCEDURE SECTIONS 638 AND 640, AS SAME 
MAY BE AMENDED OF ANY SUCCESSOR STATUTE(S) THERETO. IF THE REFEREE IS APPOINTED BY THE COURT, THE 
REFEREE SHALL BE A NEUTRAL AND IMPARTIAL RETIRED JU DGE WITH SUBSTANTIAL EXPERIENCE IN THE 
RELEVANT MATTERS TO BE DETERMINED, FROM JAMS/ENDISP UTE, INC., THE AMERICAN ARBITRATION 
ASSOCIATION OR SIMILAR MEDIATION/ARBITRATION ENTITY . THE PROPOSED REFEREE MAY BE CHALLENGED BY 
ANY PARTY FOR ANY OF THE GROUNDS LISTED IN SECTION 641 OF THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, 
AS SAME MAY BE AMENDED OR ANY SUCCESSOR STATUTE(S) THERETO. THE REFEREE SHALL HAVE THE POWER 
TO DECIDE ALL ISSUES OF FACT AND LAW AND REPORT HIS  OR HER DECISION ON SUCH ISSUES, AND TO ISSUE ALL 
RECOGNIZED REMEDIES AVAILABLE AT LAW OR IN EQUITY F OR ANY CAUSE OF ACTION THAT IS BEFORE THE 
REFEREE, INCLUDING AN AWARD OF ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH CALIFORNIA LAW. THE 
REFEREE SHALL NOT, HOWEVER, HAVE THE POWER TO AWARD  PUNITIVE DAMAGES, NOR ANY OTHER DAMAGES 
WHICH ARE NOT PERMITTED BY THE EXPRESS PROVISIONS O F THIS LEASE, AND THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE ANY 
RIGHT TO RECOVER ANY SUCH DAMAGES. THE PARTIES SHAL L BE ENTITLED TO CONDUCT ALL DISCOVERY AS 
PROVIDED IN THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE,  AND THE REFEREE SHALL OVERSEE DISCOVERY AND 
MAY  
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ENFORCE ALL DISCOVERY ORDERS IN THE SAME MANNER AS ANY TRIAL COURT JUDGE, WITH RIGHTS TO 
REGULATE DISCOVERY AND TO ISSUE AND ENFORCE SUBPOENAS, PROTECTIVE ORDERS AND OTHER LIMITATIONS 
ON DISCOVERY AVAILABLE UNDER CALIFORNIA LAW. THE RE FERENCE PROCEEDING SHALL BE CONDUCTED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH CALIFORNIA LAW (INCLUDING THE RULES  OF EVIDENCE), AND IN ALL REGARDS, THE 
REFEREE SHALL FOLLOW CALIFORNIA LAW APPLICABLE AT T HE TIME OF THE REFERENCE PROCEEDING. IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 644 OF THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, THE DECISION OF THE 
REFEREE UPON THE WHOLE ISSUE MUST STAND AS THE DECI SION OF THE COURT, AND UPON THE FILING OF THE 
STATEMENT OF DECISION WITH THE CLERK OF THE COURT, OR WITH THE JUDGE IF THERE IS NO CLERK, 
JUDGMENT MAY BE ENTERED THEREON IN THE SAME MANNER AS IF THE ACTION HAD BEEN TRIED BY THE 
COURT. THE PARTIES SHALL PROMPTLY AND DILIGENTLY CO OPERATE WITH ONE ANOTHER AND THE REFEREE, 
AND SHALL PERFORM SUCH ACTS AS MAY BE NECESSARY TO OBTAIN A PROMPT AND EXPEDITIOUS RESOLUTION 
OF THE DISPUTE OR CONTROVERSY IN ACCORDANCE WITH TH E TERMS OF THIS SECTION 14.7(b). TO THE EXTENT 
THAT NO PENDING LAWSUIT HAS BEEN FILED TO OBTAIN TH E APPOINTMENT OF A REFEREE, ANY PARTY, AFTER 
THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION OF THE REFEREE, MAY AP PLY TO THE COURT OF THE COUNTY IN WHICH THE 
PREMISES ARE LOCATED FOR CONFIRMATION BY THE COURT OF THE DECISION OF THE REFEREE IN THE SAME 
MANNER AS A PETITION FOR CONFIRMATION OF AN ARBITRA TION AWARD PURSUANT TO CODE OF CIVIL 
PROCEDURE SECTION 1285 ET SEQ. (AS SAME MAY BE AMENDED OR ANY SUCCESSOR STATUTE(S) THERETO).  

E. Prorations . The third sentence of Article XVI of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety, and substituted therefore shall be the 
following:  

“All payments requiring proration shall be prorated on the basis of the number of days in the pertinent calendar month or year, as 
applicable.”  

   

A. Effect of Amendments . The Lease shall remain in full force and effect except to the extent that it is modified by this Amendment.  

B. Entire Agreement . This Amendment embodies the entire understanding between Landlord and Tenant with respect to the modifications 
set forth in “III. MODIFICATIONS” above and can be changed only by a writing signed by Landlord and Tenant.  

C. Counterparts . If this Amendment is executed in counterparts, each is hereby declared to be an original; all, however, shall constitute but 
one and the same amendment. In any action or proceeding, any photographic, photostatic, or other copy of this Amendment may be introduced 
into evidence without foundation.  

D. Defined Terms . All words commencing with initial capital letters in this Amendment and defined in the Lease shall have the same 
meaning in this Amendment as in the Lease, unless they are otherwise defined in this Amendment.  

E. Corporate and Partnership Authority . If Tenant is a corporation or partnership, or is comprised of either or both of them, each individual 
executing this Amendment for the corporation or partnership represents that he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Amendment 
on behalf of the corporation or partnership and that this Amendment is binding upon the corporation or partnership in accordance with its terms.  

F. Attorneys’  Fees . The provisions of the Lease respecting payment of attorneys’ fees shall also apply to this Amendment.  
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Landlord and Tenant executed this Amendment on the date as set forth in “I. PARTIES AND DATE.” above.  
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V. EXECUTION. 

LANDLORD:     TENANT: 

THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC,     SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., 
a Delaware limited liability company     a Delaware corporation 

By   /s/ Steven M. Case      By   /s/ Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D.  
  Steven M. Case, Senior Vice President     Name   Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D. 
  Leasing, Office Properties     Title   Chairman, CEO & President 

By   /s/ Christopher J. Popma      By   /s/ Shyam Kumaria  
  Christopher J. Popma, Vice President     Name   Shyam Kumaria 
  Operations, Office Properties     Title   V.P. Finance & Corporate Secretary 



Exhibit 10.9 

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE  
   

This Fifth Amendment to Lease (the “ Amendment ”) dated November 21, 2013, is by and between THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company (“ Landlord”) , and SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“ Tenant ”).  

   

On January 16, 1997, Landlord and Tenant entered into a lease for space in a building located at 157 Technology, Irvine, California (“ 157 
Technology Premises ”), which lease was amended by a First Amendment to Lease dated March 25, 2004 (“ First Amendment ”), by a Second 
Amendment to Lease dated March 7, 2006 (“ Second Amendment ”), by a Third Amendment to Lease dated February 12, 2006 (“ Third 
Amendment ”), and by a Fourth Amendment to Lease dated July 29, 2009 (“ Fourth Amendment ”). The foregoing lease, as so amended is 
hereinafter referred to as the “ Lease ”.  

Landlord and Tenant each desire to modify the Lease to add approximately 21,960 rentable square feet of space in a building located at 
153 Technology, Suite 100, Irvine, California, which space is more particularly described on EXHIBIT A attached to this Amendment and 
herein referred to as the “ 153 Technology Premises ”, to extend the Term as to the 157 Technology Premises, to adjust the Basic Rent, and to 
make such other modifications as are set forth in “III. MODIFICATIONS” next below.  

   

A. Premises/Building . From and after the “Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises” (as hereinafter defined), the 153 
Technology Premises together with the 157 Technology Premises shall collectively constitute the “Premises” under the Lease. All references to 
the “Building” in the Lease shall be amended to refer to the two (2) buildings located at 153 Technology Drive the (“ 153 Technology Building 
”) and at 157 Technology Drive (the “ 157 Technology Building ”), Irvine, California, either collectively or individually as the context may 
reasonably require.  

B. Basic Lease Provisions . The Basic Lease Provisions are hereby amended as follows:  

1. Effective as of the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, Item 1 shall be deleted in its entirety and substituted 
therefor shall be the following:  

“1. Premises: The Premises are more particularly described in Section 2.1 of the Lease.  

Address of Buildings: 153 Technology Drive, Suite 100, Irvine, CA  
                                     157 Technology Drive, Irvine, CA”  

2. Item 4 is hereby amended by adding the following:  

“ Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises ” shall mean the earlier of (a) the date which is twenty 
(20) calendar days following the date that Landlord substantially completes the “Tenant Improvements” (as defined in the 
attached Work Letter) for the 153 Technology Premises but for minor punch list matters, and to the extent required, all 
relevant governmental authorities have approved the Tenant Improvements for the 153 Technology Premises in accordance 
with applicable building codes, as evidenced by the City of Irvine’s issuance of a temporary or final certificate of occupancy 
for the 153 Technology Premises, or (b) the date Tenant acquires possession or commences use of the 153 Technology 
Premises for its regular business operations. Within twenty (20) days after possession of the 153 Technology Premises is 
tendered to Tenant, the parties shall memorialize on a form provided by Landlord the actual Commencement Date for the 153 
Technology Premises and the Expiration Date of the Lease. Tenant’s failure to execute that form shall not affect the validity 
of Landlord’s determination of those dates unless Tenant objects in writing to Landlord’s determination of such dates within 
such twenty (20) day period. In addition to the acknowledgments contained in the first sentence of Section 2.2 of the Lease, 
Tenant acknowledges that the flooring materials which may be  
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installed on the ground floor of the 153 Technology Building may be limited by the moisture content of the slab and 
underlying soils. As of the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, Tenant shall be conclusively deemed to 
have accepted that the 153 Technology Premises is in satisfactory condition and in conformity with the provisions of the 
Lease, subject only to those defective or incomplete portions of the Tenant Improvements for the 153 Technology Premises, 
which Tenant shall have itemized on a written punch list and delivered to Landlord within thirty (30) days after the 
Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises.  

Landlord represents and warrants that Blizzard (as defined below) is contractually obligated to surrender possession of the 
153 Technology Premises on or before February 28, 2014. Landlord will keep Blizzard reasonably apprised of Blizzard’s 
surrender of possession of the 153 Technology Premises. If Blizzard fails to vacate by February 28, 2014, Landlord will keep 
Tenant reasonably apprised as to Blizzard’s holdover and Landlord’s efforts to regain possession of the 153 Technology 
Premises. Further, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Amendment, if Blizzard has not surrendered possession to 
Landlord of the 153 Technology Premises by June 1, 2014, then Tenant may terminate this Amendment insofar as it pertains 
to the leasing of the 153 Technology Premises, by irrevocable written notice given to Landlord at any time thereafter but prior 
to the actual surrender of possession of the 153 Technology Premises by Blizzard. In the event of such termination, the 
“Landlord’s Maximum Contribution” (as described in Section II of the attached Work Letter) shall be amended to the amount 
of One Hundred Seventy-One Thousand Six Hundred Dollars ($171,600).  

Landlord warrants to Tenant that the windows and seals, fire sprinkler system, lighting, heating, ventilation and air 
conditioning systems and all plumbing, electrical and life safety systems serving the Building and the 153 Technology 
Premises (collectively, the “ Building Systems” ), and the roof and structural components of the Building, shall be in good 
operating condition and in compliance with current building codes, as of the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology 
Premises. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord’s warranty shall not apply to any supplemental HVAC, electrical back-up 
systems, security systems and telecommunications equipment (collectively, the “ Equipment” ) located in the 153 
Technology Premises. If Tenant notifies Landlord that the Building Systems are not in good operating condition within 
seventy (70) days following the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, then Landlord shall, except as 
otherwise provided in this Lease, promptly after receipt of such notice from Tenant setting forth the nature and extent of such 
noncompliance, rectify same at Landlord’s sole cost and expense and not as part of the Operating Expenses. Further, 
Operating Expenses shall not include any cost incurred by Landlord in connection with bringing the Common Areas into 
compliance with the requirements of the ADA and other applicable law and codes that are in effect as of the date of the 
execution of this Amendment, including any penalties or damages incurred due to such noncompliance.”  

3. Item 5 is hereby deleted in its entirety and substituted therefor shall be the following:  

“5. Lease Term: The Term of this Lease shall be sixty (60) months following Commencement Date for the 153 Technology 
Premises, plus such additional days to cause the Expiration Date to occur on the final day of the calendar month. The Term of 
this Lease for the 153 Technology Premises and the 157 Technology Premises shall be coterminous.”  

4. Item 6 is hereby amended by adding the following:  

“ Basic Rent for the 153 Technology Premises :  

Commencing on the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, the Basic Rent for the 153 Technology Premises 
shall be Twenty One Thousand Five Hundred Twenty-One Dollars ($21,521.00) per month, based on $.98 per rentable square 
foot.  
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Commencing on the first anniversary of the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, the Basic Rent for the 
153 Technology Premises shall be Twenty Two Thousand Three Hundred Ninety-Nine Dollars ($22,399.00) per month, based 
on $1.02 per rentable square foot.  

Commencing on the second anniversary of the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, the Basic Rent for the 
153 Technology Premises shall be Twenty Three Thousand Four Hundred Ninety-Seven Dollars ($23,497.00) per month, 
based on $1.07 per rentable square foot.  

Commencing on the third anniversary of the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, the Basic Rent for the 
153 Technology Premises shall be Twenty Four Thousand Five Hundred Ninety-Five Dollars ($24,595.00) per month, based 
on $1.12 per rentable square foot.  

Commencing on the fourth anniversary of the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, the Basic Rent for the 
153 Technology Premises shall be Twenty Five Thousand Six Hundred Ninety-Three Dollars ($25,693.00) per month, based 
on $1.17 per rentable square foot.  

Notwithstanding the above schedule of Basic Rent for the 153 Technology Premises to the contrary, as long as Tenant is not 
in Default (as defined in Section 14.1) under the Lease, Tenant shall be entitled to an abatement of 4 full calendar months of 
Basic Rent for the 153 Technology Premises in the aggregate amount of $86,084.00 (i.e. $21,521.00 per month) (the “ 
Abated Basic Rent ”) for the initial 4 full calendar months of the Term for the 153 Technology Premises (the “ Abatement 
Period ”). In the event Tenant Defaults at any time during the Term beyond any applicable “cure” period with the result that 
Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises is terminated, then unamortized Abated Basic Rent to the date of such 
termination (amortized over the 60 months of the Term for the 153 Technology Premises) shall immediately become due and 
payable. The payment by Tenant of the unamortized Abated Basic Rent in the event of a Default shall not limit or affect any 
of Landlord’s other rights, pursuant to this Lease or at law or in equity. Only Basic Rent for the 153 Technology Premises 
shall be abated during the Abatement Period and all other additional rent and other costs and charges specified in this Lease 
shall remain as due and payable pursuant to the provisions of the Lease.  

Further notwithstanding the above schedule of Basic Rent for the 153 Technology Premises to the contrary, in the event that 
the current tenant occupying the 153 Technology Premises, Blizzard Entertainment, Inc (“ Blizzard ”), has not surrendered 
possession thereof to Landlord by April 16, 2014, then Tenant shall receive a “day-for-day” credit against Basic Rent for the 
153 Technology Premises first coming due for each such day thereafter (and through and including April 30, 2014) that 
possession of the 153 Technology Premises is not surrendered to Landlord, and (ii) in the event that Blizzard has not 
surrendered possession of the 153 Technology Premises to Landlord by May 1, 2014, then Tenant shall receive two (2) days 
credit against Basic Rent for the 153 Technology Premises first coming due hereunder for each such day thereafter that 
possession of the 153 Technology Premises is not surrendered to Landlord.”  

Basic Rent for the 157 Technology Premises :  

Commencing July 1, 2015, the Basic Rent for the 157 Technology Premises shall be Forty Two Thousand Nine Hundred 
Dollars ($42,900.00) per month, based on $1.25 per rentable square foot.  

Commencing July 1, 2016, the Basic Rent for the 157 Technology Premises shall be Forty Four Thousand Nine Hundred 
Fifty-Nine Dollars ($44,959.00) per month, based on $1.31 per rentable square foot.  
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Commencing July 1, 2017 and continuing through the Expiration Date, the Basic Rent for the 157 Technology Premises shall 
be Forty Seven Thousand Eighteen Dollars ($47,018.00) per month, based on $1.37 per rentable square foot.”  

5. Effective as of the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, Item 8 shall be deleted in its entirety and substituted 
therefor shall be the following:  

“8. Floor Area of Premises: Approximately 56,280 rentable square feet, comprised of the following:  

153 Technology Premises – approximately 21,960 rentable square feet (and containing approximately 19,447 usable square 
feet)  

157 Technology Premises – approximately 34,320 rentable square feet  

6. Item 12 is hereby amended by deleting Tenant’s address for notices and substituted therefor shall be the following  

“TENANT  

SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  
157 Technology  
Irvine, CA 92618  
Attn: Head of Legal Department  

With a copy to:  

SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  
157 Technology  
Irvine, CA 92618  
Attn: Chief Financial Officer”  

And with an additional copy sent electronically to:  

legal@sppirx.com  

7. Effective as of the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, Item 14 shall be deleted in its entirety and substituted 
therefor shall be the following:  

“14. Vehicle Parking Spaces: Two hundred (200)”  

C. Right of First Offer . Provided that no Default has occurred and is continuing beyond any applicable notice or cure periods under any 
provision of this Lease, either at the time of the delivery of “Landlord’s Notice” or at the time of the delivery of “Tenant’s Notice” (as 
hereinafter defined), Landlord hereby grants Tenant a continuing right (“ First Right ”) to lease the space on the second floor of the 153 
Technology Building (the “ First Right Space ”), in accordance with and subject to the provisions of this Section; provided that this First Right 
shall not be effective until the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises shall occur and shall thereafter cease to be effective during 
the final twelve (12) months of the Term unless and until Tenant exercises its extension option set forth in Section III.D of this Amendment. 
Except as otherwise provided below, prior to leasing the First Right Space, or any portion thereof, to any other party during the period that this 
First Right is in effect, Landlord shall give Tenant written notice (the “ Landlord’s Notice ”) of the basic economic terms including but not 
limited to the Basic Rent, term, operating expense base, security deposit, and tenant improvement allowance (collectively, the “ Economic 
Terms ”), upon which Landlord is willing to lease such particular First Right Space to Tenant or to a third party; provided that the Economic 
Terms shall exclude brokerage commissions and other Landlord payments that do not directly inure to the tenant’s benefit. It is understood that 
should Landlord intend to lease other office space in addition to the First Right Space as part of a single transaction, then Landlord’s Notice shall 
so provide and all such space shall collectively be subject to the following provisions. Within five (5) business days after delivery of Landlord’s 
Notice, Tenant must give Landlord written notice (the “ Tenant’s Notice ”) pursuant to which Tenant shall elect to (i) lease all, but not less than 
all, of that portion of the First Right Space specified in Landlord’s notice (the “ Designated Space ”) upon such Economic Terms and the same 
non-Economic Terms as set forth in this Lease; (ii) refuse to lease the Designated Space, specifying that such refusal is not based  
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upon the Economic Terms, but upon Tenant’s lack of need for the Designated Space, in which event Landlord may lease the Designated Space 
upon any terms it deems appropriate; or (iii) refuse to lease the Designated Space, specifying that such refusal is based upon said Economic 
Terms, in which event Tenant shall also specify revised Economic Terms upon which Tenant shall be willing to lease the Designated Space. In 
the event that Tenant does not so respond in writing to Landlord’s Notice within said period, Tenant shall be deemed to have elected clause 
(ii) above. Any Tenant’s Notice electing either clause (i) or clause (iii) above shall be accompanied by Tenant’s then current annual financial 
statements, inclusive of Tenant’s most current balance sheet. In the event Tenant’s Notice elects clause (iii) above, Landlord may elect to either 
(x) lease the Designated Space to Tenant upon such revised Economic Terms and the same other non-Economic Terms as set forth in this Lease, 
or (y) lease the Designated Space to any third party upon Economic Terms which are not more favorable to such party than those Economic 
Terms proposed by Tenant. Should Landlord so elect to lease the Designated Space to Tenant, then Landlord shall promptly prepare and deliver 
to Tenant an amendment to this Lease consistent with the foregoing, and only if Tenant and Landlord fail to execute and deliver to each other an 
amendment within sixty (60) days, may Landlord pursue a lease of such space to a third party. Tenant’s failure to timely return the amendment 
shall entitle Landlord to specifically enforce Tenant’s commitment to lease the Designated Space and/or to pursue any other available legal 
remedy. In the event that Landlord leases the First Right Space, or any portion thereof, to a third party in accordance with the provisions of this 
Section, and during the effective period of this First Right the First Right Space, or any portion thereof, shall again become available for 
reletting, then prior to Landlord entering into any such new lease with a third party for the First Right Space, Landlord shall repeat the 
procedures specified above in this Section. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is understood that Tenant’s First Right shall be subject and 
subordinate to any extension or expansion rights previously granted by Landlord to any third party tenant in the Project, as well as to any such 
rights which may hereafter be granted by Landlord to any third party tenant hereafter occupying the First Right Space or any portion thereof; and 
Landlord shall in no event be obligated to initiate this First Right prior to leasing any portion of the First Right Space to the then-current 
occupant thereof. Tenant’s rights under this Section shall belong solely to Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation or any 
transferee by virtue of a Permitted Transfer, and any other attempted assignment or transfer of such rights shall be void and of no force and 
effect.  

D. Right to Extend the Lease . The provisions of Section 3.1(b) of the Lease entitled “Right to Extend this Lease,” as amended by Section 
III.B in the First Amendment and Section III.B of the Fourth Amendment, are hereby deleted in their entirety, and substituted therefor shall be 
the following:  

“(b) Provided that Tenant is not in default under any provision of this Lease, either at the time of exercise of the extension right 
granted herein or at the time of the commencement of such extension, and provided further that Tenant is occupying more than fifty 
percent (50%) of the floor area of the Premises and/or has not assigned its interest in this Lease (other than to any transferee by virtue of a 
Permitted Transfer), Tenant shall have one (1) option to extend the Term of this Lease for a period of sixty (60) months. Tenant may 
exercise its right to extend (i) as to the entire Premises, or (ii) as to only the 157 Technology Premises. Tenant shall exercise its right to 
extend the Term by and only by delivering to Landlord, not less than nine (9) months or more than twelve (12) months prior to the 
Expiration Date of the Term, Tenant’s irrevocable written notice of its commitment to extend the (the “ Commitment Notice ”). The 
Commitment Notice shall irrevocably specify whether Tenant’s exercise is as to the entire Premises or as to the 157 Technology Premises 
only, and in the absence of such specification, the exercise shall be deemed to be as to the entire Premises. The Basic Rent payable under 
the Lease during any extension of the Term shall be at be fair market rental, including subsequent adjustments, for comparable 
office/research and development space being leased by Landlord in the Irvine Spectrum area. In the event that the parties are not able to 
agree on the fair market rental within one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the Expiration Date of the Term, then either party may elect, 
by written notice to the other party, to cause said rental including subsequent adjustments, to be determined by appraisal as follows.  

Within ten (10) days following receipt of such appraisal election, the parties shall attempt to agree on an appraiser to determine the 
fair market rental. If the parties are unable to agree in that time, then each party shall designate an appraiser within twenty (20) days 
thereafter. Should either party fail to so designate an appraiser within that time, then the single appraiser designated by the other party shall 
determine the fair rental value. Should each of the parties timely designate an appraiser, then the two (2) appraisers so designated shall 
appoint a third appraiser who shall, acting alone, determine the fair rental value of the Premises. Any appraiser designated hereunder shall 
have an M.A.I. certification with not less than ten (10) years’ experience in the valuation of commercial industrial building in Orange 
County, California.  
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Within thirty (30) days following the selection of the appraiser, such appraiser shall determine the fair market rental value, including 
subsequent adjustments of the Premises. In determining such value, the appraiser shall first consider rental comparables for the Project 
taking into account size of the Lease, the length of the renewal term, market escalations, rent abatement and other economic concessions 
then being granted for lease renewals, appropriate adjustments for additional rent obligations and the credit of Tenant, provided that if 
adequate comparables do not exist then the appraiser may consider transactions involving similarly improved space in the Irvine Spectrum 
sub-market with the appropriate adjustments for differences in location and quality of project taking into account size of the Lease, the 
length of the renewal term, market escalations, rent abatement and other economic concessions then being granted for lease renewals, 
appropriate adjustments for additional rent obligations and the credit of Tenant. In no event shall the appraiser attribute factors for 
brokerage commissions to reduce said fair market rental. The fees of the appraiser(s) shall be shared equally by both parties.  

Within twenty (20) days after the determination of the fair market rental, Landlord shall prepare a reasonably appropriate amendment 
to this Lease for the extension period and Tenant shall execute and return same to Landlord within thirty (30) days. Should the fair market 
rental not be established by the commencement of the extension period, then Tenant shall continue paying rent at the rate in effect during 
the last month of the initial Term, and a lump sum adjustment shall be made promptly upon the determination of such new rental.  

If Tenant fails to timely exercise the extension rights created by this Section 3.1(b) within the time period set forth in the initial 
paragraph of this Section 3.1(b), then Tenant’s right to extend the Term shall be extinguished and the Lease shall automatically terminate 
as of the expiration date of the Term, without extension and without liability to Landlord. Excepting any Permitted Transfer, any attempt to 
assign or transfer any right or interest created by this paragraph shall be void from its inception. Tenant shall have no other right to extend 
the Term beyond the sixty (60) month extension created by this paragraph.”  

E. Operating Expenses . Effective as of the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, the provisions of Section 4.2 of the 
Lease shall be amended to provide that Tenant shall pay “Tenant’s Share” of all Operating Expenses. As used herein, “ Tenant’s Share ” shall 
mean 100% of the Operating Expenses reasonably determined by Landlord to benefit or relate substantially to the 157 Technology Building, 
plus that portion of any Operating Expenses which is determined by multiplying the cost of such item by one of the following fractions: (i) for 
Operating Expenses reasonably determined by Landlord to benefit or relate substantially to the 153 Technology Building, a fraction the 
numerator of which is the rentable square footage of the 153 Technology Premises and the denominator of which is the 153 Technology 
Building, and (ii) for Operating Expenses reasonably determined by Landlord to benefit or relate substantially to the some or all of the buildings 
in the entire Project rather than a specific building thereof, a fraction the numerator of which is the rentable square footage of the entire Premises 
and the denominator of which is the rentable square footage of some or all of the buildings in the Project.  

F. Signage . The first and second sentences of Section 5.2 of the Lease, as amended by the Second, Third and Fourth Amendments, are 
hereby deleted in their entirety, and substituted therefor with the following:  

“Provided Tenant continues to lease at least 50% of the rentable square footage of the 153 Technology Premises, Tenant shall have the 
right to one (1) position on the monument sign at the front entrance to the 153 Technology Premises and one (1) “eye-brow” sign on the 
153 Technology Building for Tenant’s name and graphics in locations designated by Landlord, subject to Landlord’s right of prior 
approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld conditioned or delayed, provided that such exterior signage is in compliance 
with the Signage Criteria (defined below). Provided Tenant continues to lease at least 70% of the rentable square footage of the 157 
Technology Premises (but without consideration to how much space it occupies within the 157 Technology Premises), Tenant shall have 
the right to maintain its two (2) exterior “building top” signs and one (1) exterior “eye-brow” sign on the 157 Building. Except for the 
exterior signage rights provided in the foregoing, Tenant shall have no right to maintain signs in any location in, on or about the Buildings 
or the Project and shall not place or erect any signs, displays or other advertising materials that are visible from the exterior of the 
Buildings (provided that any signs wholly within the Premises which are not intended to be visible from the exterior of the Buildings shall 
not be a violation of the foregoing provisions).”  
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G. Hazardous Materials . Not by way of limitation of the obligations of the parties in Section 5.3 of the Lease, the parties confirm and 
agree that: (i) Landlord’s obligations in Section 5.3 (g) of the Lease shall be applicable and binding with respect to Tenant’s lease of the 153 
Technology Premises, including without limitation, Landlord’s warranty to “Landlord’s knowledge” (as therein defined) which shall be 
applicable as of the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises, and (ii) Landlord’s obligations in Section 5.3(h) of the Lease shall 
be applicable and binding with respect to Tenant’s leasing of the 153 Technology Premises.  

H. Parking . The first sentence of Section 6.4 of the Lease is hereby deleted and substituted therefor shall be the following:  

“Tenant shall be entitled to the number of vehicle parking spaces set forth in Section III.B.6 of this Amendment on those portions of 
the Common Areas designated by Landlord for parking. Said parking shall be unreserved and unassigned, except that (i) three (3) of 
the spaces shall continue to be marked as “visitor” spaces,(ii) two (2) of said spaces shall continue to be marked as VIP spaces and 
(iii) an additional five (5) of said spaces shall be marked as “reserved” for Tenant, all of the spaces described in the foregoing 
Subsections (i), (ii), and (iii) to be located within the location generally depicted by “cross-hatching” in Exhibit B attached to this 
Amendment or in such other location(s) as may be reasonably agreed upon by the parties.”  

I. Communications Equipment . Landlord hereby grants to Tenant a non-exclusive license (the “ License ”) to install, maintain and operate 
on the roof of the 153 Technology Building a single antenna or satellite dish not exceeding forty-eight inches (48”) in height or thirty-six inches 
(36”) in diameter (the “ Antenna ”) in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions set forth below. The Antenna shall be installed at 
a location designated by Landlord and reasonably acceptable to Tenant (“ Licensed Area ”). The Licensed Area shall be considered to be a part 
of the 153 Technology Premises for all purposes under the Lease, and except as otherwise expressly provided in this Section all provisions 
applicable to the use of the 153 Technology Premises under the Lease shall apply to the Licensed Area and its use by Tenant.  

(1) The Term of the License shall be coterminous with the Lease;  

(2) Tenant shall not be obligated to pay any license fee for the use of the Licensed Area pursuant to this Section during the Term of 
the Lease.  

(3) Tenant shall use the Licensed Area only for the installation, operation, repair, replacement and maintenance of the Antenna and 
the necessary mechanical and electrical equipment to service said Antenna and for no other use or purpose. The installation of the Antenna and 
all equipment and facilities related thereto, including any required screening for the Antenna and any required conduit from the 153 Technology 
Premises to the Antenna, shall be deemed to constitute an Alteration subject to the provisions of Section 7.3 of the Lease, provided that Landlord 
shall not unreasonably withhold its approval of the same. Landlord may require appropriate screening for the Antenna as a condition of 
Landlord’s approval of the installation of the Antenna. Tenant may have access to the Licensed Area for such uses during normal business hours 
and at times upon reasonably prior notice to Landlord and shall reimburse Landlord for any reasonably out-of-pocket expenses incurred by 
Landlord in connection therewith;  

(4) The Antenna shall be used only for Tenant’s use; it shall not be used for purposes of providing telecommunications or other 
communications transmitting or receiving services to the public (other than in connection with the conduct of Tenant’s business) or to any third 
parties;  

(5) Landlord reserves the right upon reasonable prior written notice to Tenant to require the removal of the Antenna should Landlord 
reasonably determine that its presence results in material damage to the Building unless Tenant makes satisfactory arrangements to protect 
Landlord therefrom;  

(6) Tenant shall require its employees, when using the Licensed Area, to stay within the immediate vicinity thereof. In addition, in 
the event any communications system or broadcast or receiving facilities are operating in the area, Tenant shall at all times during the term of the 
License conduct its operations so as to ensure that such system or facilities shall not be subjected to harmful interference as a result of such 
operations by Tenant. Upon notification from Landlord of any such interference, Tenant agrees to immediately take the necessary steps to 
correct or substantially mitigate such situation.  
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(7) During the term of the License, Tenant shall comply with any standards promulgated by applicable governmental authorities or 
otherwise reasonably established by Landlord regarding the generation of electromagnetic fields. Should Landlord determine in good faith at any 
time that the Antenna poses a health or safety hazard to occupants of the 153 Technology Building, Landlord may require Tenant to make 
arrangements satisfactory to Landlord to mitigate such hazard or, if Tenant either fails or is unable to make such satisfactory arrangements, to 
remove the Antenna. Any claim or liability resulting from the use of the Antenna or the Licensed Area shall be subject to the indemnification 
provisions of this Lease applicable to Tenant’s use of the 153 Technology Premises;  

(8) During the term of the License, Tenant shall pay all taxes attributable to the Antenna and other equipment owned and installed by 
Tenant, and Tenant shall assure and provide Landlord with evidence that the Licensed Area and Tenant’s use thereof are subject to the insurance 
coverages otherwise required to be maintained by Tenant as to the Premises pursuant to Exhibit D of the Lease;  

(9) Upon the expiration or sooner termination of the Lease, Tenant shall remove the Antenna and all related equipment and facilities, 
including any conduit from the Premises to the Antenna, from the Licensed Area and any other portions of the Building within or upon which 
the same may be installed, and shall restore the Licensed Area and all other areas affected by such removal to their original condition (or as close 
thereto as is reasonably practicable), reasonable wear and tear excepted, all at its sole cost and expense; and  

(10) Tenant’s rights under this Section belong solely to Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any Permitted 
Transferee; any other attempted assignment or transfer of such rights shall be void and of no force and effect.  

J. Moving Allowance . Landlord shall reimburse to Tenant an amount not to exceed Sixty-Five Thousand Eight Hundred Eighty Dollars 
($65,880.00) for the “out of pocket” expenses reasonably incurred by Tenant in connection with Tenant’s move to the 153 Technology Premises 
(the “ Moving Allowance ”), which expenses shall include, without limitation, purchase and relocation of furniture, fixtures and equipment 
(“FF&E”) and moving and purchase or relocation of telecommunications and cabling equipment incurred by Tenant in connection with its 
expansion into the 153 Technology Premises. Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for such expenses up to the amount of the Moving Allowance 
within thirty (30) days following receipt from Tenant of invoices or other reasonably detailed evidence of Tenant’s expenditure of such 
expenses, provided, however, that Landlord shall have no obligation to fund any portion of the Moving Allowance for invoices or other requests 
for reimbursement received after December 31, 2014.  

K. Cabling . Landlord will request that Blizzard leave its current cabling serving the 153 Technology Premises in place for Tenant’s use, 
without representation or warranty by Landlord whatsoever with respect thereto.  

Further, Landlord shall provide Tenant access, to the extent available and co-equal to the rights of other tenants of the Project to use same, 
to an intra-Project conduit between the 153 Technology Premises and the 157 Technology Premises at no charge.  

L. Broker’s Commission . Article XVIII of the Lease is amended to provide that the parties recognize the following parties as the brokers 
who negotiated this Amendment, and agree that Landlord shall be responsible for payment of brokerage commissions to such brokers pursuant 
to its separate agreements with such brokers: Irvine Realty Company (“ Landlord’s Broker ”) and Cushman & Wakefield (“ Tenant’s Broker 
”). It is understood and agreed that Landlord’s Broker represents only Landlord in connection with the execution of this Amendment and that 
Tenant’s Broker represents only Tenant. The warranty and indemnity provisions of Article XVIII of the Lease, as amended hereby, shall be 
binding and enforceable in connection with the negotiation of this Amendment.  

M. Restoration . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Sections 7.3 and/or 15.3 of the Lease, the parties confirm and agree 
that no alterations, fixtures (excluding movable trade fixtures), additions or improvements installed or constructed by Tenant in the 157 
Technology Premises as of the date of this Amendment shall be required to be removed by Tenant at the Expiration Date or sooner termination 
of the Term of the Lease.  

N. Tenant Improvements . Landlord hereby agrees to complete the Tenant Improvements for the 153 Technology Premises in accordance 
with the provisions of Exhibit X, Work Letter, attached hereto.  
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A. Effect of Amendments . The Lease shall remain in full force and effect except to the extent that it is modified by this Amendment.  

B. Entire Agreement . This Amendment embodies the entire understanding between Landlord and Tenant with respect to the modifications 
set forth in “III. MODIFICATIONS” above and can be changed only by a writing signed by Landlord and Tenant.  

C. Counterparts . If this Amendment is executed in counterparts, each is hereby declared to be an original; all, however, shall constitute but 
one and the same amendment. In any action or proceeding, any photographic, photostatic, or other copy of this Amendment may be introduced 
into evidence without foundation.  

D. Defined Terms . All words commencing with initial capital letters in this Amendment and defined in the Lease shall have the same 
meaning in this Amendment as in the Lease, unless they are otherwise defined in this Amendment.  

E. Corporate and Partnership Authority . If Tenant is a corporation or partnership, or is comprised of either or both of them, each individual 
executing this Amendment for the corporation or partnership represents that he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Amendment 
on behalf of the corporation or partnership and that this Amendment is binding upon the corporation or partnership in accordance with its terms.  

   

Landlord and Tenant executed this Amendment on the date as set forth in “I. PARTIES AND DATE.” above.  
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IV. GENERAL. 

V. EXECUTION. 

LANDLORD:  
   
THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC  
a Delaware limited liability company      

TENANT:  
   
SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  
a Delaware corporation  

By:   /s/ Steven M. Case      By:   /s/ Ken Keller  

  

Steven M. Case, Executive  
Vice President, Office Properties        

Ken Keller, Executive Vice President  
and Chief Operating Officer  

By:   /s/ Michael T. Bennett      By:   /s/ Brett L. Scott  

  

Michael T. Bennett, Senior Vice  
President, Operations, Office Properties        

Brett L. Scott, Senior Vice President,  
Finance  



EXHIBIT A  

153 Technology, Suite 100  
   

  



Exhibit B  
   

  



EXHIBIT X  

WORK LETTER  

DOLLAR ALLOWANCE  

The tenant improvement work to be contracted for by Landlord hereunder (“ Tenant Improvement Work ”) shall consist of the design and 
construction of all tenant improvements (“ Tenant Improvements ”), including work in place as of the date hereof, required for the 153 
Technology Premises pursuant to the approved final Working Drawings and Specifications (as hereinafter defined). All of the Tenant 
Improvement Work shall be performed by a contractor selected by Landlord and in accordance with the procedures and requirements set forth 
below.  
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I. ARCHITECTURAL AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES. 

  

A. Prior to the date of this Lease, Tenant and Landlord have approved both (i) a preliminary pricing plan issued for pricing on 
October 18, 2013 (the “ Preliminary Plan ”) prepared by H.Hendy& Associates (“ Landlord’s Architect ”), and (ii) an estimate of 
the cost to complete the Tenant Improvements in accordance with the Preliminary Plan dated October 24, 2013(“ Preliminary Cost 
Estimate ”), which Preliminary Cost Estimate is based upon estimated costs provided by Landlord’s contractor. To the extent 
applicable or not otherwise specified in the Preliminary Plan to the contrary, the buildout of the Tenant Improvements shall include 
Landlord’s building standard tenant improvements, materials and specifications for the Project as set forth in Schedule I attached 
hereto (“ Building Standard Improvements ”), except for changes and additions specifically requested by Tenant and approved by 
Landlord in writing (any such addition or variation from the Standard Improvements shall be referred to herein as a (“ Non-
Standard Improvement” ). Landlord acknowledges and agrees that the Preliminary Plan does not specify any Non-Standard 
Improvements. 

  

B. Within 5 business days following Landlord’s or Landlord’s Architect’s request, Tenant shall provide in writing to Landlord or 
Landlord’s architect all specifications and information requested by Landlord for the preparation of final construction documents and 
costing, including without limitation Tenant’s final selection of paint and floor finishes, complete specifications and locations 
(including electrical, load and HVAC requirements) of Tenant’s equipment, and details of all Non-Standard Improvements (as 
defined above) which have been approved by Landlord as part of the Preliminary Plan (collectively, “ Programming Information 
”). Tenant’s failure to timely provide the Programming Information shall constitute a Tenant Delay for purposes hereof. Tenant 
understands that final construction documents for the Tenant Improvements shall be predicated on the Programming Information, and 
accordingly that such information must be accurate and complete and that any defects or problems due to incomplete or inaccurate 
Programming Information shall be the responsibility of the Tenant and that the Landlord shall have no obligation or liability for such 
defects or problems arising from any incomplete or inaccurate Programming Information. Any delays in the completion of the Tenant 
Improvements due to incomplete or inaccurate Programming Information shall constitute a Tenant Delay. 

  

C. Promptly following delivery of the Programming Information, Landlord’s Architect and engineers shall prepare and deliver to Tenant 
working drawings and specifications (“ Working Drawings and Specifications ”), and Landlord’s contractor shall prepare a final 
construction cost estimate (“ Final Cost Estimate ”) for the Tenant Improvements in conformity with the Working Drawings and 
Specifications. The Final Cost Estimate shall be based on competitive bids obtained from at least three (3) separate bids for each of 
the major trades. Tenant shall have five (5) business days after the receipt thereof to approve or disapprove the Working Drawings 
and Specifications and the Final Cost Estimate. Tenant shall not unreasonably withhold or delay its approval, and any disapproval or 
requested modification shall be limited to items not consistent with the approved Preliminary Plan or Preliminary Cost Estimate. 
Should Tenant disapprove the Working Drawings and Specifications or the Final Cost Estimate, such disapproval shall be 
accompanied by specific reasons for disapproval and a detailed list of requested revisions. Any revision requested by Tenant and 
accepted by Landlord, shall be incorporated into a revised set of Working Drawings and Specifications and the Final Cost Estimate, 
and Tenant shall approve same in writing within five (5) days of receipt without further revision. 

  

D. In the event that Tenant requests in writing a revision to the Working Drawings and Specifications (“ Change ”), and Landlord so 
approves such Change as provided in the Section next below, Landlord shall advise Tenant by written change order as soon as is 
practical of any increase in the Completion Cost such Change would cause. If the request for such Change occurs before construction 
of the Tenant Improvements commences, then Tenant shall approve or disapprove such change order, if any, in writing within four 
(4) business days following Tenant’s receipt of such change order. If the request for such Change occurs after construction of the 
Tenant Improvements commences, then Tenant shall approve or disapprove such change order in writing within three (3) business 
days following Tenant’s receipt of such change order. If Tenant approves any such change order, Tenant’s payment of such increase 
shall be paid within 10 days after delivery of invoices for same; provided, however, that the Tenant Contribution must in any event 
be paid in full prior to Tenant’s commencing occupancy of the 153 Technology Premises. If Tenant disapproves any such change 
order, Tenant shall nonetheless be responsible for the reasonable architectural and/or planning fees incurred in  
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preparing such change order. Landlord shall have no obligation to interrupt or modify the Tenant Improvement Work pending 
Tenant’s approval of a change order, but if Tenant fails to timely approve a change order, Landlord may (but shall not be required to) 
upon at least two (2) business days’ notice to Tenant, which notice shall be the same notice contemplated by Section I.F below, 
suspend the applicable Tenant Improvement Work, in which event any related critical path delays because of such suspension shall 
constitute Tenant Delays hereunder. 

  

E. Landlord agrees that it shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay its consent to Tenant’s requested Changes, provided that 
such consent may be withheld in all events if the requested Change (i) is of a substantially lesser quality than the Tenant 
Improvements previously approved by Landlord, (ii) fails to conform to applicable governmental requirements, (iii) would result in 
the 153 Technology Premises requiring building services beyond the level normally provided to other tenants, (iv) would delay 
construction of the Tenant Improvements and Tenant declines to accept such delay in writing as a Tenant Delay, (v) interferes in any 
manner with the proper functioning of, or Landlord’s access to, any mechanical, electrical, plumbing or HVAC systems, facilities or 
equipment in or serving the Building, or (vi) would have an adverse aesthetic impact visible from the exterior of the 153 Technology 
Premises or would cause additional material expenses to Landlord in reletting the 153 Technology Premises. 

  

F. Notwithstanding any provision in the Lease to the contrary, and not by way of limitation of any other rights or remedies of Landlord, 
if Tenant fails to comply with any of the time periods specified in this Work Letter, fails otherwise to approve or reasonably 
disapprove any submittal within the time period specified herein for such response (or if no time period is so specified, within five 
(5) business days following Tenant’s receipt thereof), fails to provide all of the Programming Information requested by Landlord, 
fails to approve in writing the Working Drawings and Specifications or the Final Cost Estimate within the time periods provided 
herein, fails to timely deliver the Tenant’s Contribution as required hereunder, requests any Changes, furnishes inaccurate or 
erroneous Programming Information, specifications or other information, or otherwise delays in any manner the completion of the 
Tenant Improvements (including without limitation by specifying materials that are not readily available) or the issuance of an 
occupancy certificate (any of the foregoing being referred to in this Lease as a “ Tenant Delay ”), then Tenant shall bear any 
resulting additional construction cost or other expenses, and the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises shall be 
deemed to have occurred for all purposes, including without limitation Tenant’s obligation to pay rent, as of the date Landlord 
reasonably determines that it would have been able to deliver the 153 Technology Premises to Tenant but for the collective Tenant 
Delays. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, no Tenant Delay shall occur unless and until Landlord gives to 
Tenant written notice that a Tenant Delay will commence to accrue if Tenant fails to make a decision or take an action within two 
(2) business days thereafter, and Tenant fails to make the required decision or take the required action within said two (2) business 
days. Should Landlord determine that the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises should be advanced in accordance 
with the foregoing, it shall so notify Tenant in writing. Landlord’s determination shall be conclusive unless Tenant notifies Landlord 
in writing, within fifteen (15) days thereafter, of Tenant’s election to contest same by arbitration pursuant to Paragraph III below. 
Pending the outcome of such arbitration proceedings, Tenant shall make timely payment of all rent due under this Lease based upon 
the Commencement Date for the 153 Technology Premises set forth in the aforesaid notice from Landlord (other than any amount 
Tenant is contesting). 

  

G. All of the Tenant Improvements shall become the property of Landlord and shall be surrendered with the 153 Technology Premises 
at the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, except that Landlord shall have the right, by notice to Tenant given at the time 
of Landlord’s approval of Working Drawings and Specifications and any Change, to require Tenant either to remove all or any of the 
Tenant Improvements approved in the Working Drawings and Specifications (except as to any Tenant Improvements shown on the 
approved Preliminary Plan) or by way of such Change, to repair any damage to the 153 Technology Premises or the Common Areas 
arising from such removal, and to replace any Non-Standard Improvements so approved with the applicable Standard Improvement, 
or to reimburse Landlord for the reasonable cost of such removal, repair and replacement upon demand. Any such removals, repairs 
and replacements by Tenant shall be completed by the Expiration Date or sooner termination of this Lease. Landlord confirms and 
agrees, however, that no such removal or replacement shall be required for any of the Tenant Improvements shown on the approved 
Preliminary Plan. 

  

H. Tenant hereby designates Rick Nichols (“ Tenant’s Construction Representative ”), Telephone No. (949) 788-6700, Email: 
richard.nichols@sppirx.com, as its representative and agent for all matters related to the Tenant Improvement Work, including but 
not by way of limitation, for purposes of receiving notices, approving submittals and issuing requests for Changes, and Landlord 
shall be entitled to rely upon authorizations and directives of such person(s) as if given directly by Tenant. Any notices required to be 
delivered to Tenant by the terms of this Work Letter may be sent to Tenant’s Construction Representative at the email address herein 
provided. The foregoing authorization is intended to provide assurance to Landlord that it may rely upon the directives and decision 
making of the Tenant’s Construction Representative with respect to the Tenant Improvement Work and is not intended to limit or 
reduce Landlord’s right to reasonably rely upon any decisions or directives given by other officers or representatives of Tenant. 
Tenant may amend the designation of its Tenant’s Construction Representative(s) at any time upon delivery of written notice to 
Landlord. 
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I. Landlord hereby designates Michael Johnston (“ Landlord ’s Construction Representative ”), Telephone No. (949) 720-4367, 
Email: mjohnston@irvinecompany.com, as its representative and agent for all matters related to the Tenant Improvement Work, 
including but not by way of limitation, for purposes of receiving notices, approving submittals and issuing requests for Changes, and 
Tenant shall be entitled to rely upon authorizations and directives of such person(s) as if given directly by Landlord. Any notices 
required to be delivered to Landlord by the terms of this Work Letter may be sent to Landlord’s Construction Representative at the 
email address herein provided. The foregoing authorization is intended to provide assurance to Tenant that it may rely upon the 
directives and decision making of the Landlord’s Construction Representative with respect to the Tenant Improvement Work and is 
not intended to limit or reduce Tenant’s right to reasonably rely upon any decisions or directives given by other officers or 
representatives of Landlord. Landlord may amend the designation of its Landlord’s Construction Representative(s) at any time upon 
delivery of written notice to Tenant. 

II. COST OF TENANT IMPROVEMENTS 

  
A. Landlord shall complete, or cause to be completed, the Tenant Improvements, at the construction cost shown in the Final Cost 

Estimate (subject to increases for Landlord approved Changes and as otherwise provided in this Work Letter), in accordance with 
final Working Drawings and Specifications approved by both Landlord and Tenant. 

  

B. Landlord shall pay up to Seven Hundred Sixteen Thousand One Hundred Sixteen Dollars (i.e., $171,600 + 544,516 = $716,116) (“ 
Landlord’s Maximum Contribution ”) of the final “Completion Cost” (as defined below). Tenant acknowledges that the 
Landlord’s Maximum Contribution is intended only as the maximum amount Landlord will pay toward approved Tenant 
Improvements, and not by way of limitation, any partitions, modular office stations, fixtures, cabling, furniture and equipment 
requested by Tenant are in no event subject to payment as part of Landlord’s Contribution other than as described below. In the event 
the sum of the cost of the Completion Cost of the Tenant Improvement Work is less than the Landlord’s Maximum Contribution, 
Landlord’s actual contribution toward the Completion Cost (“ Landlord’s Contribution ”) shall equal such lesser amount, and 
Tenant shall have no right to receive any credit, refund or allowance of any kind for any unused portion of the Landlord’s Maximum 
Contribution. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, however, in this Section II.B: (i) Tenant may utilize a portion of the 
Landlord’s Maximum Contribution, not to exceed the amount of One Hundred Ninety-Four Thousand Four Hundred Seventy Dollars 
($194,470.00) (i.e., based on $10.00 per usable square foot of the 153 Technology Premises) towards Tenant’s cost of purchasing 
and/or installing cabling, furniture, signage, architectural fees, and any other moving expenses for Tenant’s expansion into the 153 
Technology Premises, and (ii) Landlord’s Maximum Contribution may be utilized, at Tenant’s election, either towards the 
Completion Cost of the Tenant Improvements for the 153 Technology Premises as provided in this Work Letter or for improvements 
to the 157 Technology Premises reasonably acceptable to Landlord, provided however, that the Tenant Improvements and/or the 
improvements for the 157 Technology Premises shall be substantially completed no later than June 30, 2015 to be eligible for 
funding by Landlord, and that Landlord shall not be obligated to fund any portion of the Landlord’s Maximum Contribution towards 
the Tenant Improvements or other improvements completed after such date. 

  

C. If Tenant fails to provide to Landlord corrected Programming Information with two (2) business days after Landlord gives to Tenant 
written notice that such Programming Information is needed, then Tenant shall pay any costs due to inaccurate or incompletely 
Programming Information and the amount, if any, by which aggregate Completion Cost for the Tenant Improvement Work exceeds 
the Landlord’s Maximum Contribution. The amounts to be paid by Tenant for the Tenant Improvements pursuant to this Section II.C 
are sometimes cumulatively referred to herein as the “  Tenant’s Contribution ” . 

  

D. The “ Completion Cost ” shall mean all costs of Landlord in completing the Tenant Improvements in accordance with the approved 
Working Drawings and Specifications and with any approved Changes thereto, including but not limited to the following costs: 
(i) payments made to architects, engineers, contractors, subcontractors and other third party consultants in the performance of the 
work, (ii) salaries and fringe benefits of persons, if any, in the direct employment of Landlord performing any part of the construction 
work, (iii) permit fees and other sums paid to governmental agencies, and (iv) costs of all materials incorporated into the work or 
used in connection with the work. Unless expressly authorized in writing by Landlord, the Completion Cost shall not include (and no 
portion of the Landlord’s Contribution shall be paid for) any costs incurred by Tenant, including without limitation, any costs for 
space planners, managers, advisors or consultants retained by Tenant (other than such costs not to exceed $2.00 per usable square 
foot in connection with the planning of Tenant’s lab space). Landlord represents and warrants that no construction management or 
review fees and/or charges shall be charged to Tenant in connection with the Tenant Improvements. 

  E. Tenant shall pay to Landlord the amount of the Tenant’s Contribution set forth in the Final Cost Estimate (once approved by Tenant) 
as follows: (i) fifty percent (50%) of the Tenant’s  



   

   
   

   

   

   
5  

  

Contribution prior to the commencement of construction of the Tenant Improvements, (ii) fifty percent (50%) of the Tenant’s 
Contribution not later than thirty (30) days following the commencement of the construction of the Tenant Improvements. Following 
completion of the Tenant Improvements Work, Tenant shall pay (or be refunded) any different between the estimated and the actual 
amount of the Tenant’s Contribution towards the Completion Cost, which difference shall be calculated by first applying Landlord’s 
Contribution, in full, to the actual amount of the final Completion Cost. If the actual Completion Cost of the Tenant Improvements is 
greater than the Final Cost Estimate because of Changes, modifications or extras not reflected on the approved Working Drawings 
and Specifications, or because of Tenant Delays, then Tenant shall pay all such additional costs within ten (10) days after written 
demand for same. The balance of any sums not otherwise paid by Tenant shall be due and payable on or before the Commencement 
Date for the 153 Technology Premises. If Tenant defaults in the payment of any sums due under this Work Letter, Landlord shall (in 
addition to all other remedies) have the same rights as in the case of Tenant’s failure to pay rent under the Lease, including, without 
limitation, the right to terminate this Lease and recover damages from Tenant and/or to charge a late payment fee and to collect 
interest on delinquent payments, and Landlord may (but shall not be required to) suspend the Tenant Improvement Work following 
such default, in which event any delays because of such suspension shall constitute Tenant Delays hereunder. 

  

F. Landlord shall obtain a commercially reasonable warranty from its general contractor covering any defects in the workmanship and 
materials of the Tenant Improvement Work for a period of one year following completion thereof, and shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to enforce said warranty in favor of Tenant. Specifically excluded from this warranty shall be appliances 
(dishwashers, refrigerators, ice makers etc.) purchased on behalf of Tenant, and any appliance warranties will remain solely between 
Tenant and the appliance manufacturer. 

III. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

  

A. All claims or disputes between Landlord and Tenant arising out of, or relating to, this Work Letter shall be decided by the 
JAMS/ENDISPUTE (“JAMS”), or its successor, with such arbitration to be held in Orange County, California, unless the parties 
mutually agree otherwise. Within ten (10) business days following submission to JAMS, JAMS shall designate three (3) arbitrators 
and each party may, within five (5) business days thereafter, veto one (1) of the three (3) persons so designated. If two (2) different 
designated arbitrators have been vetoed, the third arbitrator shall hear and decide the matter. If less than two (2) arbitrators are timely 
vetoed, JAMS shall select a single arbitrator from the non-vetoed arbitrators originally designated by JAMS, who shall hear and 
decide the matter. Any arbitration pursuant to this section shall be decided within thirty (30) days of submission to JAMS. The 
decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties. In no event shall the arbitrator be empowered or authorized to 
award consequential or punitive damages (including any award for lost profit or opportunity costs or loss or interruption of business 
or income). All costs associated with the arbitration shall be awarded to the prevailing party as determined by the arbitrator. 

  

B. Notice of the demand for arbitration by either party to the Work Letter shall be filed in writing with the other party to the Work 
Letter and with JAMS and shall be made within a reasonable time after the dispute has arisen. The award rendered by the arbitrator 
shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 
Except by written consent of the person or entity sought to be joined, no arbitration arising out of or relating to this Work Letter shall 
include, by consolidation, joinder or in any other manner, any person or entity not a party to the Work Letter unless (1) such person 
or entity is substantially involved in a common question of fact or law, (2) the presence of such person or entity is required if 
complete relief is to be accorded in the arbitration, or (3) the interest or responsibility of such person or entity in the matter is not 
insubstantial. 

  
C. The agreement herein among the parties to arbitrate shall be specifically enforceable under prevailing law. The agreement to arbitrate 

hereunder shall apply only to disputes arising out of, or relating to, this Work Letter, and shall not apply to other matters of dispute 
under the Lease except as may be expressly provided in the Lease. 



Schedule I  

Tenant Improvement / Interior Construction Outline Specifications  
(By Tenant/Tenant Allowance) 

   
T ENANT S TANDARD G 
ENERAL O FFICE :   CARPET    

  Direct glue, from one of the following options:    
  Designweave-Z6354 Tempest Esq.:    Designweave – Z6356 Techno: 
  a)      553 Steel Wool     a)      336 Lido  
  b)      773 Melba Toast     b)      252 Topaz  
  c)      575 Silver Smoke     c)      518 Night Sky  
  d)      535 Dolphin     d)      997 Silver Plum  
  e)      454 Denim     e)      496 Galactic  

  VINYL COMPOSITION TILE (VCT)    
  12x12 VCT Armstrong Standard Excelon, from the following options: 
  a)      51803 Pearl White     c)      51908 Pewter  
  b)      51899 Cool White     d)      51899 Cool White  

  PAINT / WALLS 

  

5/8” gypsum drywall on 2-1/2” x 25 ga. metal studs, floor to ceiling construction, no walls shall penetrate the grid 
unless required by code. All walls shall be straight, and parallel to building perimeter walls. All offices and rooms 
shall be constructed of a standard size and tangent to a building shell or core wall. Paint finish, one standard color to 
be Benjamin Moore AC-40, Glacier White, flat finish. 

  BASE 
  2-1/2”  Burke rubber base color: Pearl 137P, straight at cut pile carpet, coved at resilient flooring and loop carpet. 

  RUBBER TRANSITION STRIP 
  Transition strip between carpet and resilient flooring to be Burke #150, color: to match adjacent V.C.T. 

  PLASTIC LAMINATE 
  Plastic laminate color at millwork to be Nevamar “Smoky White” , Textured #S-7-27T. 

  CEILING 
  2x4 USG Radar Illusions #2842 grid and scored tile on 9/16”  T-bar grid. Continuous grid throughout. 

  PERIMETER WALLS 
  Furring, 25 ga. metal studs with 5/8”  gypsum drywall, with batt insulation. 

  LIGHTING 
  2X4 fluorescent, 3-lamp energy saving ballast, 18-cell parabolic lens fixture. 

  DOORS 

  

1-3/4” solid core, 3’’-0” x 8’-10”, plain sliced white oak, Western Integrated clear anodized aluminum frames, 
Schlage “D”  series “Sparta”  latchset hardware, dull chrome finish. 

  OFFICE SIDELITES 

  

All interior offices to have sidelite glazing adjacent to office entry door. 2’ wide x door height, Western Integrated 
clear anodized aluminum frame integral to door frame with clear tempered glass. 



Tenant Improvement / Interior Construction Outline Specifications  

(Continued) 
   

T ENANT S TANDARD G 
ENERAL O FFICE 

( CONTINUED ):    

WINDOW COVERINGS  
Vertical blinds: Mariak Industries PVC blinds at building perimeter windows, Model M-3000, Color: Light Grey.  

T ENANT S TANDARD M 
ECHANICAL :  

   

HVAC  
Interior and Exterior zone VAV boxes shall be connected to the main supply air loop. Exterior zone VAV boxes 
shall be provided with single-row hot water reheat coil.  
   
Air distribution downstream of VAV boxes shall be provided complete with ductwork, 2’x2’ perforated face ceiling 
diffusers, 2’x2’ perforated return air grilles and air balance.  
   
Pneumatic thermostats with blank white cover shall be provided for each zone. Thermostats shall be located 
adjacent to light switch at 48” above finished floor.  
   
Exterior corner spaces with more than one exposure shall be provided with a separate zone.  
   
Conference Room (or Training Room) 20’x13’ or larger shall be provided with a separate zone.  
   
Exterior zone shall be limited to a single exposure and a maximum of 750 to 1000 square feet.  
   
Interior zone shall be limited to a maximum of 2000 square feet.  
   

   

FIRE PROTECTION  
Pendant satin chrome plated, recessed heads, adjustable canopies, minimum K factor to be 5.62, located at center of 
scored ceiling tile. Ceiling drops from shell supply loop.  

T ENANT S TANDARD E 
LECTRICAL :  

   

ELECTRICAL SYSTEM  
277/480 volt, three phase, four wire metered distribution section added to main service at Main Electrical Room.  
   
Electrical tenant distribution capacity suitable for 22 watts per s.f. to accommodate HVAC, lighting, data 
processing, computer loads and convenience outlets.  
   
Tenant Electrical Room, located within the lease space, to include 270/480 volt and 120/208 volt panels, 
transformer, lighting control panel, as required.  
   

   

LIGHTING  
Double switch per Title 24, paired in double gang box, Leviton “Decora” white plastic coverplate, 42” AFF to 
switch centerline. Provide occupancy sensors as required by code. 2x4 fluorescent light fixtures, 3-lamp energy 
saving ballast, 18-cell parabolic lens fixture based upon one (1) fixture per 80 square feet.  
   
Exit signs: Internally illuminated, white sign face with green text.  



Tenant Improvement / Interior Construction Outline Specifications  

(Continued) 
   

T ENANT S TANDARD E 
LECTRICAL ( CONTINUED ): 

  

OUTLETS  
Power: 15-amp 125-volt specification grade duplex receptacle mounted vertically, 18” AFF to centerline, white 
plastic coverplate. Feeds to systems furniture by Tenant to be via walls, furred columns or ceiling J-box. Power poles 
and furniture by Tenant. Ratio of one (1) feed per eight (8) workstations. Assumes four (4) circuits, eight (8) wire 
configuration of systems furniture.  
   
Telephone/Data: Single gang box with mud ring and pull string, mounted vertically, 18” AFF to centerline, Cover 
plate by telephone and/or cabling company. Teflon cable by tenant.  
   
One (1) empty 2” conduit to be routed from Tenant’s Server Room, 4x8 backboard to building main telephone 
backboard.  

T ENANT S TANDARD W 
AREHOUSE /S HIPPING 

AND R ECEIVING :   

FLOORS  
Sealed concrete.  

  

WALLS  
5/8” gypsum wallboard standard partition. Paint to match Benjamin Moore AC-40 Glacier White; rated partition at 
occupancy separation as required by code.  

  

CEILING  
Exposed structure, non-painted.  

  

WINDOWS  
None  

  

ACCESS  
7’ -6”  H x 7’ -6”  W glazed service doors. Glazing is bronze reflective glass.  

  

HVAC  
None  

  

PLUMBING  
Single accommodation restroom, if required.  
   
Sheet vinyl flooring to be Armstrong Classic Corlon “Seagate” #86526 Oyster, with Smooth White FRP panel 
wainscot to 48”  high. Painted walls and ceiling to be Benjamin Moore AC-40 Glacier White, semi-gloss finish.  

  

LIGHTING  
Chain hung florescent strip fixtures.  

  

OTHER ELECTRICAL  
Convenience outlets; surface mounted at exposed concrete walls.  

  

SECURITY  
Lockable doors.  



Exhibit 10.10 

SIXTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE  
   

This Sixth Amendment to Lease (the “ Amendment ”) dated January 31, 2014, is by and between THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, formerly The Irvine Company, a Delaware corporation (“ Landlord”) , and SPECTRUM 
PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“ Tenant ”).  

   

On January 16, 1997, Landlord and Tenant entered into a lease for space in a building located at 157 Technology, Irvine, California (“ 157 
Technology Premises ”), which lease was amended by a First Amendment to Lease dated March 25, 2004, by a Second Amendment to Lease 
dated March 7, 2006, by a Third Amendment to Lease dated February 12, 2006, by a Fourth Amendment to Lease dated July 29, 2009, and by a 
Fifth Amendment to Lease dated November 21, 2013 (the “ Fifth Amendment ”). The foregoing lease, as so amended is hereinafter referred to 
as the “ Lease ”.  

Landlord and Tenant each desire to modify the Lease to correct certain typographical errors contained in the Fifth Amendment as are set 
forth in “III. MODIFICATIONS” next below.  

   

A. The schedule for the “Basic Rent for the 157 Technology Premises” contained in Subsection III.B(4) of the Fifth Amendment is hereby 
deleted in its entirety, and substituted therefor shall be the following:  

“Basic Rent for the 157 Technology Premises :  

Commencing July 1, 2016, the Basic Rent for the 157 Technology Premises shall be Forty Two Thousand Nine Hundred Dollars 
($42,900.00) per month, based on $1.25 per rentable square foot.  

Commencing July 1, 2017, the Basic Rent for the 157 Technology Premises shall be Forty Four Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty-Nine 
Dollars ($44,959.00) per month, based on $1.31 per rentable square foot.  

Commencing July 1, 2018 and continuing through the Expiration Date, the Basic Rent for the 157 Technology Premises shall be Forty 
Seven Thousand Eighteen Dollars ($47,018.00) per month, based on $1.37 per rentable square foot.”  

   

A. Effect of Amendments . The Lease shall remain in full force and effect except to the extent that it is modified by this Amendment.  

B. Entire Agreement . This Amendment embodies the entire understanding between Landlord and Tenant with respect to the modifications 
set forth in “III. MODIFICATIONS” above and can be changed only by a writing signed by Landlord and Tenant.  

C. Counterparts . If this Amendment is executed in counterparts, each is hereby declared to be an original; all, however, shall constitute but 
one and the same amendment. In any action or proceeding, any photographic, photostatic, or other copy of this Amendment may be introduced 
into evidence without foundation.  

D. Defined Terms . All words commencing with initial capital letters in this Amendment and defined in the Lease shall have the same 
meaning in this Amendment as in the Lease, unless they are otherwise defined in this Amendment.  
   

1  

I. PARTIES AND DATE. 

II. RECITALS. 

III. MODIFICATIONS. 

IV. GENERAL. 



E. Corporate and Partnership Authority . If Tenant is a corporation or partnership, or is comprised of either or both of them, each individual 
executing this Amendment for the corporation or partnership represents that he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Amendment 
on behalf of the corporation or partnership and that this Amendment is binding upon the corporation or partnership in accordance with its terms.  

   

Landlord and Tenant executed this Amendment on the date as set forth in “I. PARTIES AND DATE.” above.  
   

   
2  

V. EXECUTION. 

LANDLORD:  
   
THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC      

TENANT:  
   
SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  

a Delaware limited liability company     a Delaware corporation 

By   /s/ Steven M. Case      By   /s/ Brett L. Scott  
  Steven M. Case, Executive Vice President     Name   Brett L. Scott 
  Office Properties     Title   Senior Vice President 

By   /s/ Michael T. Bennett      By   /s/ Abraham N. Oler  
  Michael T. Bennett, Senior Vice President     Name   Abraham N. Oler 
  Operations, Office Properties     Title   Vice President of Operations 



EXHIBIT 21.1 

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES  
   

SUBSIDIARY/AFFILIATE NAME    INCORPORATION 

OncoRx Pharma Private Limited     India 

RIT Oncology, LLC     Delaware 

Spectrum Pharmaceuticals International Holdings, LLC     Delaware 

Allos Therapeutics, Inc.     Delaware 

Allos Therapeutics Ltd.     England and Wales 

Spectrum Pharmaceuticals Cayman, L.P.  
(1% Spectrum Pharmaceuticals International Holdings, LLC and 99% 
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.)     

Cayman Islands 

Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, B.V.     Netherlands 

Spectrum Pharmaceuticals GK     Japan 

Spectrum Pharma Canada Inc.  
(50% Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  
50% Prodev Pharma Inc.)     

Canada 

Talon Therapeutics, Inc.     Delaware 



EXHIBIT 23.1 

Consent Of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-3 Nos. 333-150260, 333-142628, 333-135029, 333-125208, 
333-121612, 333-115759, 333-110103, 333-108658, 333-105814, 333-102587, 333-64444, 333-64432, 333-60966, 333-51388, 333-42852, 333-
38710, 333-37180, 333-92855, 333-73009, 333-52331, 333-37585, 333-185115, 333-190413; and Form S-8 Nos. 333-176681, 333-160312, 
333-160705, 333-164014, 333-134566, 333-119833, 333-106427, 333-54246, 333-30345) of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and in the related 
Prospectuses of our reports dated March 12, 2014, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Spectrum 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc., included in this 
Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2013.  

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  

Irvine, California  
March 12, 2014  



EXHIBIT 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

I, Rajesh C. Shrotriya, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Date: March 12, 2014  
   

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

  
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

  
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/ RAJESH C. SHROTRIYA  
Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D.  
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President  
(Principal Executive Officer)  



EXHIBIT 31.2 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER  

I, Kurt A. Gustafson, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Date: March 12, 2014  
   

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

  
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

  
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/ KURT A. GUSTAFSON  
Kurt A. Gustafson 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer) 



EXHIBIT 32.1 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Spectrum 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to such officer’s knowledge, that:  

(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the “Report”) fully complies 
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and  

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  

Dated: March 12, 2014  
   

This certification accompanies this Report pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended.  

/s/ RAJESH C. SHROTRIYA  
Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D.  
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President  



EXHIBIT 32.2 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER  

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of 
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to such officer’s knowledge, that:  

(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the “Report”) fully complies 
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and  

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  

Dated: March 12, 2014  
   

This certification accompanies this Report pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended.  

/s/ KURT A. GUSTAFSON  
Kurt A. Gustafson  
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer  


